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Town Meeting is a centuries-old practice, but yet a modern forum for local government legis-
lation in New England. A local Finance Committee, by tradition and statute, is a select group
of citizens that advise each Town Meeting on the probity, practicality and value of any of the
matters before the meeting. The Association of Town Finance Committees is a statewide Mas-
sachusetts organization dedicated to enhancing the role of finance committees in local govern-
ment through professional standards, education programs and inter-Town networking.

The ATFC maintains and publishes The Finance Committee Handbook, organizes several
annual educational and professional meetings for finance committee members, and provides,
through its affiliation with the Massachusetts Municipal Association, an avenue for member

towns and their committee members to influence state government policy that affect local cities
and towns. The ATFC Board is the elected body chartered with implementing the mission of
the ATFC for its membership, in association with MMA staff.

The Association of Town Finance Committees (ATFC) is pleased to present this updated Fi-
nance Committee Handbook. This handbook is written for both new and veteran finance and

capital planning committee members.

This handbook is a compilation of efforts of a fine group of volunteers like yourself. Experts
in municipal law and finance, including accountants, auditors, treasurers, finance directors,
administrators, attorneys, educators, bankers, state officials and finance committee members,
have freely given of their time, knowledge and experience to write this updated reference book.
It is our hope that this handbook will help you as you assist your towns. We very much want to
hear your comments and suggestions for the future.

Respectfully,

Update Editorial Board
Bruce Cates
Mary Jane Mastrangelo
Christine Muir

Handbook Coordinator
Denise Baker, MMA Senior Member Services Coordinator

Graphic Design: Full Circle Design, Melrose, MA
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THE ROLE OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

The ATFC has received many calls involving the duties and
power of the finance committee. These inquiries have usually
been instigated by clashes with the board of selectmen or
town administrator, who are often becoming more assertive
in claiming a role, or even asserting sole responsibility, in
presenting the operating budget to town meeting. This pref-
ace will duplicate parts of the following chapters, but I feel it
important to bring together key elements of this issue.

This preface will summarize this “discussion” into the broad-
er framework of the division of powers within local govern-
ment. [ see this division of powers as comparable to that at
the state and federal government. The board of selectmen
and town manager/administrator/executive secretary are part
of the executive branch of government. It is their job to col-
lect budget information, develop budget priorities and formu-
late a balanced budget, the same as a president or governor.

Once developed, that budget is presented to the finance com-
mittee, representing the legislative branch, the town meeting.
In effect, the local finance committee has the same role as the
House Ways and Means Committee in the State Legislature.
It is the finance committee’s responsibility to receive the bud-
gets from the executive branch (either as a collective whole

or individually by department), analyze them, have hearings
where the department heads and the public can testify, and
present a balanced budget to town meeting. That budget
should reflect the finance committee’s decisions based upon
their best judgement of the issues and finances of the town.
The budget before town meeting is the finance committee’s
and it is their job to explain and defend it. This does not
preclude department heads or the town administrator, if any,
from being called upon to answer questions or explain items
in more detail, but it is the finance committee’s budget.

If the board of selectmen or town administrator disagrees
with any item, they can submit a substitute motion, as is the
right of any participant at town meeting. At this stage, the

board of selectmen have an advantage over a governor in that
they can participate in the town meeting process. However,
they have the disadvantage of not being able to veto what
town meeting passes.

The statutory backing for this analysis is Chapter 39, Section
16, of the Massachusetts General Laws. It states:

“EVERY TOWN.....SHALL...BY BY-LAW PROVIDE FOR THE ELECTION OR THE
APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF APPROPRIATION, ADVISORY OR FINANCE COM-
MITTEES, WHO SHALL CONSIDER ANY OR ALL MUNICIPAL QUESTIONS FOR
THE PURPOSE OF MAKING REPORTS OR RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE TOWN..."

“Town” means town meeting. Section 16, quoted above, is
contained within the “Town meeting” section of Chapter 39
between two sections on the town moderator. Most finance
committees are appointed by the town moderator, an official
of the legislative body, town meeting.

Section 16 goes on to read:

“IN EVERY TOWN HAVING A COMMITTEE APPOINTED UNDER AUTHORITY OF
THIS SECTION, SUCH COMMITTEE, OR THE SELECTMEN IF AUTHORIZED BY A
BY-LAW OF THE TOWN, AND, IN ANY TOWN NOT HAVING SUCH A COMMITTEE,
THE SELECTMEN, SHALL SUBMIT A BUDGET AT THE ANNUAL TOWN MEETING”

In other words, unless no finance committee exists, or a by-
law or charter of the town specifically authorizes the select-
men to submit the budget, the budget shall be submitted by
the finance committee.

Finance Committee Handbook



The Department of Revenue, Division of Local Services,
reinforces this with an “In Our Opinion” 93-310 issued on

April 27, 1993 titled

“ROLE OF FINANCE COMMITTEES AND BOARDS OF SELECTMEN IN BUDGET
PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION TO TOWN MEETINGS

A BOARD OF SELECTMEN IN A TOWN WITH AN ELECTED OR APPOINTED
FINANCE COMMITTEE HAS NO STATUTORY ROLE IN THE PREPARATION AND
SUBMISSION OF THE ANNUAL BUDGET, UNLESS IT IS EXPRESSLY GIVEN A
ROLE BY BY-LAW. IF NOT, THE FINANCE COMMITTEE IS RESPONSIBLE FOR
PREPARING, SUBMITTING AND DISTRIBUTING THE BUDGET UNDER G.L. CH. 39
S16 AND CH. 41 559 AND S60."

This does not mean the finance committee should have an
adversarial relationship with the board of selectmen or town
administrator. In fact, the finance committee should develop
a good working relationship with both. By being open to
suggestions and other opinions and working out compromis-
es on key issues, the finance committee can be more effective

in presenting its recommendations to town meeting. When
compromises cannot be made, the issues should be narrowed
to provide town meeting with a clear choice.

Obviously, the content of the town by-laws, as well as the
Home Rule Charter if applicable, are critical elements in the
role of the finance committee. They often spell out the details
of the budget process and the role and powers of the finance
committee. Committee members should read these laws very
carefully and be vigilant of attempts to bypass their critical
function of providing independent and carefully considered
advice to the town meeting.

Without finance committee independent review, the town
meeting would be at a severe handicap in voting on financial
matters when all of the recommendations are coming from
one source. Separation of powers was designed by our found-
ing fathers for a reason—Defend It.

Respectfully,

Allan Tosti,

Chair, Arlington Finance Committee
Treasurer, ATFC

Editor, Finance Committee Handbook
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CHAPTER 1: TOWNS AND TOWN GOVERNMENT

INTRODUCTION

Towns in Massachusetts originated from the earliest settle-
ments in our country. The Pilgrims came to Massachusetts
Bay in the early seventeenth century, and the meetings and
decisions of the men in these settlements developed over time
into the formal legislative body known later as town meeting.
As issues became somewhat more complex and the settlers
became preoccupied with other life sustaining pursuits, a few
Freemen were “selected” to make necessary decisions between
town meetings (these individuals later became known as
selectmen). Other town positions and responsibilities also
evolved from the very character of colonial settlement life.

In addition to selectmen, the positions of constable, pound
keeper and fence viewer were prominent in the early Massa-
chusetts town governments.

Over 200 towns were ofhicially settled prior to the adoption
of the Massachusetts Constitution of 1780. Curiously, no
mention was specifically made of towns in the Constitu-
tion. However, in 1785, the Massachusetts General Court
formally confirmed the boundary lines of every town in the
Commonwealth. The legislature also determined that these
towns should continue to be corporate bodies, retaining all
powers they had exercised until that time, and subject to all
duties for which they had previously been liable. It was not
until 1821 that towns became populated enough to merit the
consideration of a separate form of government. In that year,
Boston became a city. Today, 295 of the 351 municipalities
remain incorporated as towns, retaining the basic institu-
tions of selectmen and town meeting that were created over
three centuries ago.

ORGANIZATION AND AUTHORITY OF TOWNS

Massachusetts’ local governments exist at the discretion of
Massachusetts state government. The legislature has the au-
thority to incorporate or dissolve cities and towns as corpo-
rate entities and to merge or consolidate them. In the United

States, political subdivisions of states have never been con-
sidered sovereign entities, but rather as subordinate instru-
mentalities created by the states. These municipalities (and
counties) assist the states in carrying out their governmental
functions. The Home Rule Amendment passed by the Massa-
chusetts General Court in 1966 recognized the long standing
tradition of independent towns, formally granting municipal-
ities the right of self-government in local affairs. Article 9 of
the Articles of Amendment of the State Constitution and the
Home Rule Procedures Act (Chapter 43B M.G.L) granted
cities and towns the authority to adopt, amend or repeal local
charters, ordinances or bylaws and to exercise any power or
function which the General Court has power to confer upon
them so long as that authority is not inconsistent with the
constitution or laws enacted by the Massachusetts Legisla-
ture.

While most towns possess a board of selectmen and a town
meeting, the differences in the organizational structure of
towns vary widely. A patchwork of state laws exist that enable
towns to create various official positions and bodies to carry
out governmental functions. In recent years, the need for
towns to function in a highly complex setting under intense
fiscal constraints has resulted in a reduction in the role of
part-time elected or appointed bodies. Full-time professional
administrators and department managers are now widely
used in Massachusetts local government.

Despite the variations in organizational structure throughout
town government, there are three essential organizational
forms:

* decentralized, with limited authority delegated by the
board of selectmen to professional staff or in some cases
an executive secretary;

*  moderately centralized, with legal authority delegated by
the board of selectmen to a town administrator or execu-
tive secretary; and
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highly centralized, with legal authority vested in a town
manager or town administrator.

Today, the operation of municipal government is not unlike a
large enterprise providing services to its clients. A town must
deal with labor issues, technological advances in computers
and communications, investments and financial controls,

as well as maintenance and replacement of its capital assets.
Towns must also accomplish all of this under the scrutiny of

the public.

Residents may be compared to a business’ stockholders. In
many towns, resident participation is actively sought. The
open meeting and freedom of information laws, combined
with an aggressive local print media, cable television public
access, internet blogs and internet discussion lists make the
workings of local government widely accessible. In addition,
most operation of local government is regulated in some way
by the federal and/or state government. As a result, municipal
government tends to be “public” in every sense of the word.

In all towns, a town meeting convenes each spring to appro-
priate funds and consider all local bylaws. As local govern-
ment has become more complex, larger towns have adopted a
representative form of town meeting, with members elected
by precinct or district. No matter what form of local gov-
ernment a municipality utilizes, its citizens are an essential
part of the organization, serving as the town’s legislative
body and/or on various advisory or regulatory boards (some
“towns” are essentially cities operating with a mayor or man-
ager and council).

Public education has always dominated the priorities and re-
sources of Massachusetts’” towns. All towns also regulate uses
of land, construction of buildings, preparation and sale of
food, and parking and traffic on their roadways. Other basic
programs and services include roads, waste disposal, water
and sewer, police and fire protection, emergency medical
services, libraries and cemeteries. Many towns also provide
comprehensive recreational and social services.

It is unlikely that any two Massachusetts town governments
have identical organizational structures. This is because
towns evolve unique values, needs and expectations regarding
local government and its services. Further, state law allows
towns to tailor the components of their organization to their
own particular needs. It is also worth noting that the variety

of structural options available to municipalities was great-

ly expanded in 1966, when as noted above Massachusetts
adopted the Home Rule Amendment to the state constitu-
tion, granting new powers of self-determination to cities and
towns.

In all three organizational models sketched above, complete
legislative authority rests with town meeting. Regardless

of the degree to which a town centralizes or decentralizes

its structure, there will continue to be a number of inde-
pendently elected officials, boards, and commissions. Chapter
41, Section 1B and Chapter 39 Section 14 M.G.L. require
that selectmen and the school committee be elected direct-
ly. The selectmen typically retain the authority for certain
appointments, such as board of appeals, historic district
commissions, commissioners of trust funds and various ad
hoc committees. Even in the most highly centralized munic-
ipal governments, there is a tendency to directly elect other
boards and commissions, e.g. planning boards, housing
authorities.

Ultimately each town has the discretion to create an organi-
zation that reflects its history, traditions, values and needs.
Regardless of the regulative model chosen, it is important to
realize that governmental management — both today and in
the future — requires the presence of some form of profes-
sional management.

Since the adoption of the Home Rule Amendment to the
Massachusetts Constitution, towns have exercised their right
to self-government in formulating their administrative struc-
ture. This has allowed towns to adopt their own formal char-
ter, which is a local government’s constitution, or an informal
charter, otherwise known as a legal base. Each structural
package governs how a given town operates.

A charter may set forth a municipality’s type of legislative
body, determine which officials are elected and appointed,
alter the distribution of powers and responsibilities among
local offices, and establish procedures for the operation of
town government. Town charters that provide for a different
allocation of duties and responsibilities are deemed consis-
tent with “the provisions of any law relating to the structure
of city and town government.” See Chapter 43B Section 20
M.G.L. A legal base provides the same outline of a town’s
government, but does so through a compilation of adminis-
trative bylaws, special acts and accepted state statutes.
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The legislative authority of a town rests with town meeting.
Several towns have adopted charters creating town councils
as their legislative bodies., in effect becoming cities. Most
towns in Massachusetts have open town meetings, which al-
low all registered voters in the community to take part in the
law-making process. Other communities have representative
town meetings, in which voters elect town meeting members
by district or precinct to represent them. Although the right
to vote at representative town meeting is reserved for elected
members, citizens retain the right to address an elected town
meeting upon recognition of the moderator. It should be
noted that only towns having a population of greater than
6,000 can adopt a representative town meeting (Chapter 43A
M.G.L and Article II Constitution).

Regardless of the type of legislative body, all towns possess
some authority to institute bylaws and to raise and appropri-
ate funds. State statute requires a town to hold at least one
annual town meeting each year. The annual town meeting
must be held in February, March, April or May unless other-
wise stated by a special act or the town’s charter. All munic-
ipalities must hold an annual town meeting prior to June 30

(Chapter 39 M.G.L.).

In addition to their annual town meeting, towns may hold
special town meetings as needed. Special town meetings may
be called at any time either by the board of selectmen on
their own, or upon receipt of a petition signed by 200 voters
or one tenth of the registered voters, whichever is less. The
meeting must be called within 45 days of the selectmen’s
receipt of a valid petition.

Both annual and special town meetings are called by a
warrant. The warrant is usually issued by the board of se-
lectmen and states the time, place and business (articles) for
the meeting. Annual town meeting warrants must be issued
seven days prior to the meeting. Warrants for special town
meetings must be issued 14 days prior to the meeting. Arti-
cles for annual town meeting can be placed on a warrant by
the board of selectmen or by a petition signed by at least 10
registered voters of the community. Special town meeting ar-
ticles can be placed on the warrant by the board of selectmen
or by a petition signed by at least 10 percent of the town’s
registered voters or 100 registered voters, whichever is less. It
is left to each town to determine how the public is notified.
Some towns post the warrant in several public places, others
publish it in the local newspaper. Discussion is under way as

to the legality of posting on a town’s web site. Each warrant
article is voted upon separately by members of the legislative
body. Town meeting can take action only upon subject mat-
ter contained within an article.

The moderator presides over town meetings. The moderator is
either elected for a term of one or three years, or is elected by
town meeting as its first order of business.

The legislative body of a town has the following major func-
tions:

raise and appropriate funds;
enact bylaws; and
accept state statutes.

Although action is not limited to these three items, most
votes by a town’s legislative body relate to these areas.

Bylaws are the municipal equivalent of laws. They can be
adopted only by a vote of the municipal legislative body.
Once a bylaw is adopted, it can be repealed or revised in the
same manner. The town clerk must submit all adopted bylaws
to the Attorney General’s office for review within 30 days of
a bylaw’s passage. If the attorney general does not “act” on a
bylaw within 90 days, it automatically becomes law.

Typically, there are three types of bylaws:

administrative bylaws, which regulate the government,
organization and procedure of town business, and the
conduct of citizens;

zoning bylaws, which regulate the use of land; and

personnel bylaws, which regulate administration and con-
duct of town employees, including pay and job classifica-
tion.

In addition to bylaws, the operation and administration of

a town can be affected by federal and state statutes, regula-
tions and court cases. State statutes either impact all towns or
are local option laws. Local option laws impact a town only
when the municipal legislative body votes to accept them.
Such acceptance may be rescinded by the legislative body
after a set time period. Certain decisions or opinions by the
courts at both state and federal levels of the government can
also impact how towns govern.
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A town’s charter or legal base identifies which officials are
elected or appointed. The different types of town officials
and the boards, committees, and commissions comprising
town government are NUMerous. At a minimum, unless a
charter or special act exists, every town must have a board of
selectmen, school committee, town clerk and treasurer. The
board of selectmen and school committee must be elected.
The town clerk and the treasurer may be either elected or
appointed.

The board of selectmen is made up of at least three mem-
bers, or in some towns, five members. They are elected for
three-year terms on a staggered basis. The board of selectmen
is the principal executive body of a town, having general
supervision over all matters not delegated by law or vote to
some other official or board. With the exception of a few
municipalities, no funds can be expended or paid out by the
treasurer unless approved by a warrant signed by a majority
of the board of selectmen. Nor may any money be borrowed
by the treasurer unless the selectmen approve such action.
The selectmen are also required to sign all bonds and notes
for borrowing funds, and are given authority as the town
licensing board by the state.

If approved by the voters at a town election, the position of
selectman can be combined with one or more of the follow-
ing positions or positions: board of assessors, board of health,
municipal light commission, park commissioner, water and
light commissioner, and water and sewer boards. The same
statute that allows this consolidation also authorizes the
selectmen to appoint cemetery commissioners, assessors, a su-
perintendent of streets, chiefs of police and fire departments,
a tree warden or any combination of such officers (Chapter

41 M.G.L)).

The elected school committee is responsible for the admin-
istration and budget of the town’s education system. This
includes the appointment of a superintendent of schools who,
in turn, appoints other employees of the school system. With
the passage of the Education Reform Act in 1993, the role of
the school committee has largely become one of policy-mak-
ing, with greater authority given over to the superintendent

(Chapter 71 M.G.L)).

The town clerk is recorder of official town business. S/he is
responsible for the conduct of elections and is the executive
member of the town’s registrar of voters, being responsible
for the preparation publication and circulation of the town’s
voter list. Town clerks also issue and collect fees for licenses
such as marriage licenses, sporting licenses, hunting, fishing
and trapping licenses, and dog licenses (Chapter 41 M.G.L.).

The town treasurer is responsible for the management of
town funds. Treasurers receive and disburse cash, invest
available cash, issue and manage debt obligations and
manage bank relationships. They may also administer group
insurance, payroll, and pension and retirement systems.

In addition to the above-mentioned governmental services,
every town must provide for the administration of the follow-

ing: (Chapter 41 M.G.L.)

Assessment of taxes: This is generally the responsibility of
the board of assessors.

Collection of taxes: The tax collector position is sometimes
combined with that of treasurer. In either case, the posi-
tion may be appointed or elected.

Accounting of financial records: The town accountant serves
as comptroller of the budget. All municipal expenditures
are paid through the town accountant’s office and placed
on a warrant for the board of selectmen to sign. An in-
dependent outside auditor is responsible for auditing the
“books” of the municipality.

Health activities: These are conducted under the jurisdic-

tion of the board of health.

Road maintenance: Upkeep of town roads and public ways
generally falls under the supervision of the department of
public works. In towns where there is no department of
public works, the highway department would usually be
responsible for road maintenance.

Care of public shade trees: This is the responsibility of the

tree warden.

Preservation of peace and public safety: Public safety is the
responsibility of the police and fire departments, as well
as departments such as building inspections and civil
defense.
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Other important town departments or officers include:

Planning board: All towns with a population of greater
than 10,000 must establish a planning board. The plan-
ning board administers the subdivision control law and
zoning bylaw. The size of the board is generally between
five and nine elected or appointed members.

Board of appeals: The board of appeals is a quasi-judicial
board that considers variances and special permits within
a town’s administrative and zoning bylaws. Zoning bylaws
must provide for a zoning board of appeals unless other-
wise specified in a charter.

Zoning administrator or zoning enforcement officer: This is
an appointed position and the designee is responsible for
ensuring that building and land use within a town com-
plies with the zoning bylaws.

Conservation commission: The conservation commission
promotes and develops a town’s natural resources, protects
the town’s watershed and administers the Wetlands Pro-
tection Act. A town may establish a conservation commis-
sion with three to seven members.

Finance committee: Towns with a property valuation of $1
million or more must create a finance committee (either
by charter or bylaw) . Some towns refer to this committee
as the advisory, warrant or appropriation committee. Most
committees are appointed by the moderator, although in
some towns the selectmen are the appointing authority. In
other towns, finance committee members are elected.

The finance committee’s prime responsibility is to make
recommendations on all financial matters, including the
budget, to town meeting. The finance committee has over-
sight responsibility for all municipal financial matters, as well

as other statutory authority granted to them by town bylaws
(See Chapter 3).

This chapter was prepared by: Timothy Higgins, Melvin A.
Kleckner, and Richard A. Montuori and updated by Allan
Tosti.
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CHAPTER 2: MUNICIPAL BUDGETING

INTRODUCTION

A budget is a plan expressed in monetary terms covering a
specific period of time. Regardless of the level of govern-
ment, a governmental budget consists of three elements:

°  an estimate of revenue, indicating amounts by source;

*  a statement 0f expenses, by organizational unit, program,
and/or expense item; and

*  a specified time period, usually a fiscal year.

In local government, municipalities have various reve-
nue-raising powers, some granted by state statute, others
established by local bylaw or by vote of town meeting, the
selectmen or the school committee. Towns raise revenues to
support programs and services.

Town expenses reflect the cost of programs and services that
are provided directly by a municipality’s departments or in
concert with other governmental units (e.g. regional schools).
Municipal budgets may present these expenses in a variety of
ways, offering greater or lesser detail about expenses related to
departments, programs and expected activities or outcomes.

In Massachusetts, the governmental fiscal year begins on July
1 and ends twelve months later on June 30. The fiscal year for
the federal government, however, begins on October 1 and
ends on the following September 30. (References to a partic-
ular fiscal year reflect the year of the month in which the fis-
cal year ends. FY 2018 indicates the fiscal year that will end
on June 30, 2018, for Massachusetts governmental units, or
the federal fiscal year that will end on September 30, 2018.)

Citizens are now demanding larger roles in the resource
allocation process and greater financial accountability from
public officials. Developing budgets that achieve those goals

will improve the budgeting process in our communities.

PURPOSES OF THE BUDGET

The language of budgets is dollars and cents, but a town’s
budget should communicate more than the relationship of
revenues and expenses for a given fiscal year. The Govern-
ment Finance Officers Association (GFOA) conducts the
only national awards program in governmental budgeting.
In presenting its Distinguished Budget Presentation Award,
the GFOA recognizes government entities whose budgets
serve four essential purposes. The guidelines require that the
budget document be a:

*  policy document, identifying the organization’s challenges,
programs, and financial goals and policies;

*  financial plan, presenting the town’s current financial
condition, comparing all revenues and expenditures for
the prior year, current year, and coming year, stating
economic assumptions and projecting the town’s financial
condition at the end of the budget period;

operations guide, describing municipal services and
operations, such as police and fire protection, education,
maintenance of streets, parks, water and sewer systems
and identifying measures of activity, effectiveness and
efficiency for individual programs or departments; and a

communications device, articulating a community’s chal-
lenges and priorities for the coming year and summarizing
for taxpayers and other interested individuals and organi-
zations how the town’s programs, services, and finances
will meet those challenges and accomplish those goals.

REVENUES

While demands for services generally outstrip available
resources, forecasting anticipated revenues for the coming
year establishes the framework for preparing a town budget.
The array of services provided by Massachusetts communi-
ties varies; however, towns primarily raise revenues from the
following sources:
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property taxes;
state aid;
local receipts; and

other available funds.

Taxing the value of real estate (land and structures) and per-
sonal property, including equipment owned by commercial
entities, accounts for approximately fifty percent of all local
revenue. The amount of property tax revenue a town can
raise is governed by a law known as Proposition 2 1/2 (Chap-
ter 59 s 21C M.G.L.). In general, Proposition 2 1/2 limits the
amount of property taxes raised in any year to 2 1/2 percent
of a community’s assessed valuation and limits the total ag-
gregate increase in property taxes levied from one year to the
next to 2 1/2 percent (See Chapter 6).

This legislation suggests a simple formula for estimating
property tax receipts for the coming year, however, the law
also allows for raising additional taxes based on growth in the
tax base resulting from new construction and improvements
to existing properties.

Depending on the municipality, state aid accounts for any-
where from 10 to 75 percent of local revenue, and projecting
state aid is often an imprecise process. Each year the Depart-
ment of Revenue issues a document to every city, town and
regional school district known as the Cherry Sheet - a term
derived from the color of paper it was originally printed on
(See Chapter 4 and Exhibit L). This two-page document lists
the various categories and amounts of state aid provided, as
well as offsets and charges from the state, county, and special
district assessments that the town owes to other levels of
government. Thus, the Cherry Sheet reflects state aid for the
coming year minus the deductions for these intergovernmen-
tal charges. (While these assessments are charges to the town,
they are not voted on as an appropriation by town meeting.)

The state budget is generally not enacted until the late spring
or early summer for the fiscal year that begins July 1. Yet, in
order for the budget process to proceed in an orderly fash-
ion, reasonable revenue estimates must be made six to eight
months earlier. Lacking firm estimates of state aid for the
coming year, the current year’s Cherry Sheet and estimates of
payments from the Massachusetts School Building Authority
are useful beginning points for estimating these revenues.

During the State legislative session, the Division of Local
Services projects, on their website, the cherry sheet amounts
for each city and town based upon the changing recom-
mendations from the governor, the House Ways and Means
Comnmittee, the final House, the Senate Ways and Means
Committee and the final Senate. Many finance committees
base their recommendations on the most recent projection
before going to print.

There are a number of state aid accounts that can change
significantly from year to year. Some of these (such as the
ending of a school building assistance payment schedule)
should be evident to local officials; others will be substantial-
ly more difhicult to anticipate.

Each town determines the extent to which programs and
services will be supported by fees and charges. Also, towns
may levy and collect taxes and fees within the provisions of
state statutes. Such local receipts collected by the community
include, but are not limited to, the following:

motor vehicle excise;
water and sewer charges;
penalties and interest;
charges for services;
departmental revenue;
licenses and permits;
fines and forfeits;
investment income;
hotel/motel tax; and

meals tax.

Qutside of hotel/motel, meals and motor vehicle excise taxes,
it is user fees, licenses and permits that constitute most local
receipts. While a user fee cannot be a way of instituting a
“hidden tax”, state law allows towns to establish user fees

to recover all of the direct and indirect costs of providing a
service. (See Chapter 9.) Local receipts often account for as
much as 20 percent of a town’s estimated revenues.

This category includes a variety of funds that are available for
appropriation to balance the budget. The following is not an
exhaustive list, but briefly describes the major categories of
other funds available to most towns.
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Free Cash

Free cash is also referred to as an unappropriated fund bal-
ance, and is a factor in every budget cycle. The Department
of Revenue certifies amounts of “free cash” resulting from
closing the financial books as of June 30, the end of the fiscal
year. Generally, the calculation incorporates:

surplus revenue: revenue collections in excess of estimated
revenues;

budget turn backs: unexpended appropriations;

prior year’s free cash: the fund balance from last June 30
that had not been appropriated for the current year’s
budget; and

outstanding property taxes: taxes collected from prior years.

A town’s free cash, or “budgetary fund balance,” is the
amount of funds that are unrestricted and available for
appropriation. While towns may appropriate free cash to
balance the budget for the coming fiscal year, an ample free
cash balance provides towns with financial flexibility. Town
meeting may appropriate from free cash during a given fiscal
year to meet unexpected expenses or to fund a needed capital
project. Depleting free cash, particularly to balance annual
budgets, may suggest that a community will face tighter
financial times without such funds to supplement annual rev-
enues. This drawdown on reserves might also have a negative
impact on the town’s credit rating.

Stabilization Fund

Some communities maintain a more formal “rainy day” fund
called the stabilization fund. Analogous to a bank account,
town meeting can appropriate or “make deposits” into this
fund for use at some future time. A stabilization fund can be
used for any legitimate municipal purpose. A majority vote

is necessary to appropriate into this fund, but a two-thirds
vote is required to appropriate from this fund. Legislation
passed on July 31, 2003 (Chapter 40 s5B M.G.L.) allows the
creation of multiple stabilization funds for specified purposes
(See Department of Revenue IGR No.04-201).

A municipality may also dedicate all or a portion of a revenue
stream into the fund.

In addition, pursuant to Chapter 59 Section 21C(g) M.G.L.
a municipality may approve an override for the purpose of
funding a stabilization fund.

Miscellaneous Revenue and Other Funds

These include federal and state grants, gifts, funds from the
sale of assets, insurance proceeds in excess of $20,000, trans-
fers from other town accounts (such as a parking meter fund)
and other reserve accounts permitted by state law.

Most municipal budgets focus on how a town’s limited
resources will be allocated to meet service demands, i.e., how

the community proposes to spend its money. Preparing (or at
least reviewing) spending plans, analyzing their consequenc-
es, and presenting recommendations to town meeting is the
essence of the finance committee’s charge.

Budgets present operating and capital expenditures at various
levels of detail for the different town activities. The budget
will contain departmental budget requests, non-departmental
budget requests from commissions, boards and committees,
and off-budget items. The latter may not require town meet-
ing approval but nonetheless represent charges, assessments or
other financial commitments of the town.

A typical budget for an operating department might reflect
these expenditure categories:

personnel services;
purchased services;
supplies;

other expenses; and

capital outlay.

Each category may be further described as expense objects, or
line-items, and the budget document may provide additional
supporting information, such as:

Wage and Salary Requests

Each department may present a schedule of position titles,
numbers of full-time equivalent positions budgeted, and
salary and wage schedules to support personal services budget
requests for the coming fiscal year. If union contracts are not
yet settled, an amount for a collective bargaining increase

is generally not included. However, funds for this purpose
should be set aside. State law requires a specific vote by town
meeting to fund a non-school collective bargaining settle-
ment (M.G.L Chapter 150E.).
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Because employee compensation often accounts for over 80
percent of a town’s operating expenses, the budget should
provide ample financial information supporting wage and
salary requests.

Other Operating Expenses

These expense requests should also describe in greater detail

the broad categories of purchased services (utilities, mainte-

nance, professional services), supplies (office supplies, vehicle
supplies), other expenses (travel, training) and capital outlay
(desks, chairs, office equipment).

Budget guidelines should define which capital outlays are
appropriate for operating budgets and which should be in
capital budgets.

Most towns separate as “town-wide expenses” budgetary
items that are not the responsibility of any one department.
These expenses include items such as employee benefits,
including Medicare, retirement contributions and health
insurance premiums. Other non-departmental items are: debt
service, liability insurance and requests such as reserve fund
appropriations.

In general, the level of detail supporting these requests should
reflect the magnitude of the request and its relationship to
elements of the operating budget. As the cost of employee
benefits has grown relative to wages, some towns allocate
such costs to the appropriate operating departments or
programs. If the budget request fails to relate benefit costs

to department or program costs, an analysis is necessary to
demonstrate the full cost of the department or program. In
addition, the town-wide expense of any new positions shall
always be considered.

The finance committee must consider some items as part of
the budget, even though town meeting does not appropriate
funds for such obligations. For example, a balanced budget
must include Cherry Sheet assessments, court judgements,
overlay reserves (reserves for future property tax abatements),
and deficits required to be raised in the next year’s tax rate.

(Chapter 59 s 23 M.G.L.)

A revolving fund receives its income from selling goods and
services to users or participants in a program, and expends
monies to cover the costs of such goods or the expenses of
providing the particular program or service. The intent is for
such activities to break even financially, and the revolving
fund is a mechanism that allows for fluctuations in levels of
activity. Revolving funds exist under specific statutory au-
thority and operate without appropriation by town meeting,.
M.G.L. Ch. 53 E 1/2 allows a wide variety of revolving fund
(See Chapter 3).

Revolving funds are commonly used for parks and recreation
programs; school athletic programs; community, adult educa-
tion, and continuing education programs; and school lunch
programs. A revolving fund must be authorized annually by
town meeting.

Each community should develop a separate five-year capital
plan that indicates specific capital requests for the coming
fiscal years. This section of the budget presents the purchases
proposed to replace or augment the town’s fleet of vehicles
and equipment; expenditures to replace, upgrade, or ex-
pand the town’s infrastructure — roads, streets, sewers, and
buildings; and major investments in any of the town’s fixed
assets. This section of the budget should identify the fund-
ing sources for the capital plan and for the coming year’s
requests. Chapter 11 of this handbook presents a comprehen-
sive discussion of capital planning and budgeting.

An effective budget process begins with a clear understanding
of who will be responsible for the essential budget activities:

issuing budget guidelines;
preparing budget requests;
assembling requests into a comprehensive budget for

review; and

reviewing, analyzing, and recommending a budget to
town meeting.

Statutory responsibilities, town bylaws, and the town’s orga-
nizational structure dictate, or at least influence, who is re-
sponsible for each of these activities. In general, the executive
branch of town government should be responsible for the first
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three budget development activities. The finance committee
should focus on the last of these four activities.

Municipalities with town managers or similar professional
positions generally give responsibility for budget development
to the individual(s) holding said position. In towns without
a coordinating professional manager, the budget-making
responsibility should still belong exclusively to the execu-
tive branch of the government — the selectmen. The school
superintendent and school committee, the executive branch
of government for local school systems, retain responsibili-
ty for developing the local public school system budget. In
some communities, the bylaws state that the selectmen are
responsible for presenting a comprehensive, balanced budget
to town meeting,.

The divisions of labor and responsibility are further compli-
cated when certain municipal officials are elected, or when
operating departments report to separately elected boards and
commissions. In such situations, the finance committee may
receive several budgets and must consolidate and balance
the budget itself. Unless required by town charter or bylaws,
however, it is not advisable for the finance committee to take
on the budget-making role directly. Such a role usurps some
of the powers and responsibilities of elected officials and
their appointees, and compromises the committee’s prima-
ry statutory role as objective advisor to town meeting. In
addition, this process can be a daunting task for a volunteer
committee, particularly without the help of a professional in
the town’s administration, such as the town accountant.

The practical steps in this budget-making process mirror
the development and publication of the following specific
materials:

budget calendar, setting forth responsibilities and due
dates, providing for adequate review periods, and allowing
for advance notice to the public regarding hearings prior
to the town meeting;

preliminary projections of revenue estimates and non-op-
erating expenses that the town must provide for (Cherry
Sheet and overlay assessments). Early presentation of these
projections allows all interested parties (selectmen, school
committee, general public) an opportunity to review and
question;

budget guidelines establishing overall parameters for
consolidated town and school budgets and a framework
for budget development for department heads and other
officials;

budget instructions describing how to use the standardized
forms and procedures for the preparation of the budget
requests;

budget presentation format indicating the form and content
of the budget document. Will it compare prior year’s
actual expenditures and the current year’s budget? What
supplemental data will be included? What special chal-

lenges or issues will the document address?

comprehensive budget document incorporating operat-
ing and capital budgets from all town bodies, as well as
non-departmental and other budget requests;

schedule for review and public hearings allowing for public
comment, questions, and justification of budget requests;

recommendations by the finance committee to town meet-
ing.

The work of the finance committee can be year-round, al-
though most committee activities take place from December
to May. In a typical municipality, budget guidelines, work-
sheets and instructions are distributed to departments in the
fall. Over the winter months, these requests are reviewed by
the town administrator and selectmen, by the superintendent
and the school committee, and by finance committee mem-
bers. At some point in late winter, early or even late spring,
these reviews culminate in the finance committee recommen-
dations to town meeting.

In some communities, at certain stages during the review, a
town administrator or manager may present a consolidated
budget recommendation for consideration by the board of
selectmen and finance committee.
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WHEN EVENT WHO
Aug-Oct. Certify free cash (used in coming fiscal year revenue projections.) Eoev\vlgr?ucecountant, VEpRimEnof
Begin .budget process for coming vear. selectmen, department heads, finance
October Establish next fiscal year budget guidelines. committee. school committee
Develop and distribute budget guidelines and forms. ’
October Set tax rate for communities with semi-annual billing. assessors, selectmen
Oct. - Nov. Review departmental budgets. town administrator
November Submit budget requests. CIEpEmEnt EEs, sc_h(_)ol SIS,
selectmen, town administrator
Set tax rate set for communities with quarterly billing. (New growth in tax levy
November assessors, selectmen
calculated.)
November Begin capital planning process sz 2Ciie, Eepanirient feads, fierae
g pitatp gp ' comm., CIP committee, selectmen
December Prepare initial revenue/expenditures projections for coming year. accountant, finance committee
January Release “House 17; first indication of state aid for coming fiscal year. Governor
February Begin preparation of budget recommendations. Meet with department heads. finance committee
If Legislature passes a Local Aid Resolution, Cherry Sheets will be issued. state legislature, Department of
March Prepare final revenue/expenditure projection for coming fiscal year in preparation for | Revenue
town meeting. selectmen, finance committee
) Prepare town meeting warrant recommendations. ) .
April-May : finance committee
Town meetings take place.
June Make any reserve fund transfers necessary, to complete fiscal year. finance committee
Transfer funds within and between dept. budgets selectmen, finance committee

The schedule above summarizes the major financial events
occurring during the fiscal year and notes the roles of various
local and state officials.

Town meeting dates influence the timing of some of the
scheduled activities.Any general schedule such as the one
above will not reflect the unique and special circumstances of
the Commonwealth’s diverse local communities. The sched-
ule for budget preparation depends upon a number of factors
— the town’s organizational structure, budget preparation
bylaws, staff support and town meeting dates.

BUDGET PARTICIPANTS

The calendar of events reveals a surprisingly long list of par-
ticipants who affect and influence the process of developing,
reviewing and approving budgets. With the caveat that indi-
vidual towns may depart from the norm, a brief description
follows of the roles and responsibilities of these players in the
budget process.

Board of Selectmen

The selectmen are the town’s executive board with overall
responsibility for the general operations of town government.
Because of their broad role, they should participate in the
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budget process, provide leadership in the development of the
capital improvement plan, and provide oversight and moni-
toring of the financial performance. In most towns, the board
prepares the annual municipal budget. Professional staff ap-
pointed by the board generally oversee the town’s day-to-day
operations and town finances. In particular, these appointees
may include a town administrator or town manager and/or a
finance director.

Finance Committee

The finance committee is a town’s official fiscal watchdog.

Its primary responsibility is to advise and make recommen-
dations to town meeting on the budget and other areas of fi-
nance, although in many towns they prepare and submit the
budget as well as comment on it. The state statutory authority
of the finance committee does not vary from community to
community, but the role and process does. (See “The Role of
the Finance Committee” at the beginning of the Handbook.)

Town Accountant

The town accountant is responsible for maintaining the
town’s financial records, including the statement of reve-
nues and expenditures, balance sheet, and any other records
required by law or regulation. No bill can be paid without
the approval of the town accountant. The authority of the
town accountant s strictly governed by state law. The town
accountant will generally play a key role in working with the
town’s independent auditor.

Treasurer/Tax Collector

The authority of town treasurers and tax collectors is strictly
governed by state law. Most communities have combined the
position of treasurer and tax collector, although there is no
requirement to do so. As the town’s cash manager, the trea-
surer is responsible for the deposit, investment, and disburse-
ment of town funds. While only the treasurer can sign checks
to pay the town’s bills, treasurers cannot release any funds
without the approval of the town accountant. The treasurer

is also responsible for debt management as well as banking
relations.

The tax collector is responsible for collecting property taxes
and motor vehicle excise taxes, water/sewer charges and a
variety of other municipal receipts.

Assessors

The board of assessors is responsible for the valuation of real
and personal property for the purpose of levying the property

tax. The assessors are also responsible for submitting the tax
rate recapitulation (recap) sheet to the Department of Reve-
nue, although the preparation of this document is generally a
team effort by the town’s finance officials. The tax recap sheet
is the legal document used to set a community’s tax rate. The
assessors also have the authority to grant abatements and
exemptions to taxpayers, subject to the authority provided by
state law.

Finance Director

In recent years a trend has emerged to consolidate town fi-
nancial functions in role of the finance director (M.G.L. Ch.
43 ¢ s 11). The enabling statute allows for wide local discre-
tion in defining this role. Therefore, functions and responsi-
bilities vary greatly between and among communities. Many
positions include responsibility for assessors, town accoun-
tants, treasurers and collectors.

Department Heads

As budgets have evolved from financial documents to state-
ments of programs, services and expected outcomes, the

role of the department head has become more central to the
budget process. In contrast to the practice of simply crunch-
ing numbers, department heads in most communities now
develop budget requests that describe the service impacts of
proposed spending levels. Town meeting expects department
heads to justify their requests by linking departmental spend-
ing to program benefits.

Town Meeting

Town meeting is the legislative body and appropriating
authority of a town. As such, it enacts bylaws (i.e., local laws),
approves the operating and capital budgets, authorizes the
town to borrow funds and may ratify major policies concern-
ing the financial management of the municipality.

There is a common misconception that the Commonwealth
prescribes a mandatory budget format for towns. There is no
such requirement; therefore, no two town budget documents
are alike. The Division of Local Services of the Department
of Revenue, however, has determined that towns may rely
for guidance upon M.G.L. Ch. 44 s 32, which sets forth the
budget format for cities.

Even professional governmental management and finance
associations, such as the Government Finance Officers As-
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sociation (GFOA), direct their guidelines to what should be
presented rather than how to present it. The most practical
approach to determining the format of various budget docu-
ments is to focus on the product of the budget development
process - the comprehensive balanced budget and the finance
committee’s report to town meeting. Recognize that these
documents must serve multiple purposes:

They must communicate the proposed financial plan to town
meeting and to the broader community. Ideally, the bud-

get document would meet the criteria for budget presenta-
tion set forth by the GFOA.

They must be the basis for town meeting’s appropriation of
funds for the various departments, programs, capital ex-
penditures and other non-departmental expenses.

They must establish the framework for the financial controls
necessary to administer the budget during the fiscal year,
ensuring that expenses will not exceed appropriations
and permitting appointed and elected officials to monitor
results versus the financial plan.

In addition, the format for budget presentation and town
meeting appropriations establish the parameters for expense
control and management flexibility.

Line-Item Budgets

A line-item budget presentation for each department will
likely focus all attention on expenditures and none on the
results of expenditures. Monitoring expenses and appro-
priations at the line-item level will require extensive and
time-consuming vigilance to limit spending to each specific
appropriation. Since every budget is a set of initial estimates
and because circumstances change during the year, reserve
fund transfers and supplemental appropriations may be nec-
essary to respond to mid-course corrections.

Categorical Budgets

A budget that groups line-items in departments into cate-
gories, such as personnel services and other expenses, offers
greater flexibility but still imposes somewhat rigid controls.
Such specific town meeting appropriations within each de-
partment prevent the department head, town administrator,
or selectmen from managing for results. The manager has no
discretion to determine the most effective and efficient ways
to achieve desired results and deliver services within the total
amount of departmental resources.

Single Appropriation Budgets

A budget format that presents a single appropriation amount
for each department or program simplifies the process of
monitoring and making adjustments during the year. Man-
agement can focus on delivering services rather than on
accounting details. However, in some instances this format
may grant more flexibility and authority than town meeting
wishes to convey.

Group or Departmental Appropriation Budgets

A budget presented and voted as appropriations for groups of
departments, for broad programs or even for the entire town
government gives broad spending discretion to the selectmen
and/or management team. Town meeting must have confi-
dence in the ability and commitment of these administrators
to provide the level and quality of services promised by the
budget. Group budgets should only be contemplated where
the accounting system is capable of providing reports to
monitor expenditure detail.

Maximum control is achieved by appropriating funds for
“objects of expenditure,” or line-items. Spending cannot
exceed the amount appropriated for the specific item. Man-
agers gain flexibility when appropriations encompass multiple
line-items or even multiple departments and programs. Such
a system permits over-spending line items and even depart-
mental budgets as long as total expenditures do not exceed
the amount appropriated.

This discussion of the tension between appropriation control
and managerial flexibility applies only to municipal budget
elements. In accordance with state law, the appropriation for
the local education budget is presented to town meeting as

a single amount. Town meeting has no authority to divide
elements of the school department’s budget, make line-item
amendments or direct expenditures to specific purposes with-
in the budget.

Town meeting must appropriate one amount for the local
public schools and appropriate the assessment proposed for
regional school districts. An appropriation for any amount
less than what the regional school proposes constitutes a
rejection of the regional school budget.

The Budget Building Block

Regardless of the level of detail chosen for town meeting
appropriation votes or for the finance committee’s report,

all budgeting begins with the line-item, the building block
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for budget analysis and understanding. Before decisions can
be made about allocating resources or aggregating data for
presentation, budget preparers and reviewers must achieve

a detailed understanding of where revenues come from and
what the town spends money for. Revenue and expense line-
items provide these details.

Mastering the details is essential for some players in the
budget process, but presenting line-items may in some cases
impede the understanding of others. A glossary of terms
might explain in detail, for example, the line-items captured
as “personnel services” in departmental operating budgets.
An accompanying organization chart might enumerate the
numbers and types of positions. Local receipts may account
for $4 million in estimated revenues, but the finance com-
mittee may wish to present the specific forecasts of each
revenue line-item.

As mentioned earlier, there is no state law that guides the
level of detail for budget preparation or town meeting appro-
priation, except for the requirement to appropriate a single
amount for the local education budget. Each town must
determine what level of detail is practical for its own circum-
stances.

Legal Requirements

To meet the minimum legal requirements for approving a
budget, town meeting must vote appropriations for salaries
and wages and for expenses of each town department. In
addition, town meeting must vote each year to approve the
salaries for elected officials.

In some instances, town bylaws may prescribe specific
aggregations of line-items for appropriation purposes. More
typically, there is no such stipulation, and a town may adopt
any degree of itemization within its budget to balance ex-
penditure control and management flexibility. Regardless of
the details of each appropriation, town meeting must ap-
prove any transfers of funds between separate appropriations
(Chapter 44 s 33B M.G.L. ) for all departments, except the

town’s school appropriation.

This statute does allow for transfers, without town meeting
approval, by the board of selectmen, with the approval of the
finance committee, during the last two months of the fiscal
year, or during the first 15 days of the new fiscal year to apply
to the previous fiscal year, to allow management flexibility.

It does not allow for transfers from local or regional school
appropriations or light departments.

If town meeting appropriates a sum for a reserve fund, then
the finance committee may transfer funds from this reserve
to specific departments within statutory limitations.

Budget Preparation and Presentation Documents

Given the importance of budgets as communication devices,
the finance committee must collaborate with other partici-
pants in the budget process to gather, organize, and present
budget information. This section offers specific suggestions
for three sets of documents essential to budget activities:

The budget preparation package, the documents that re-
quest and gather budget information;

The budget document, the comprehensive budget presented
to the finance committee; and

The finance committee report, the committee’s analysis and
recommendations to town meeting.

The Budget Preparation Package

As the calendar of budget events suggests, one of the first
steps in the budget preparation process is developing and
issuing budget guidelines and the forms for documenting
budget requests. Preparing and issuing this package involves
the key budget players -- the selectmen, town administrator
and finance director, as well as any other appointed and elect-
ed officials; the school committee and superintendent; and
the finance committee.

Again, it is desirable to have agreed on the formats for the
budget document and for the finance committee report
before this package is issued. Ideally, one set of guidelines
would establish the framework for budget development. Prac-
tically, the selectmen and the school committee issue separate
budget preparation packages and present budgets in different
formats.

The following list suggests elements of a typical budget
preparation package:

letter of transmittal;

budget calendar;

economic and other assumptions;
budget guidelines;

budget request forms and instructions;
operating budget;

capital budget;
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interfund transfers and other special items;
glossaries and appendices;

wage and salary schedules;

chart of accounts;

revenue and expenditure codes or line items; and

five-year capital plan.

While requests for capital budget items may be included in
this package, many towns have developed specific processes
to develop capital plans and annual capital budget requests.
Some towns have separate capital expenditure commit-

tees to guide this planning and/or to review capital plans
and requests. These parallel activities allow for appropriate
development and consideration of the service and financial
impacts of investments in the town’s fixed assets. A separate
preparation package and timetable may be effective, and
capital budget proposals may then be incorporated into the
comprehensive budget document.

The budget document format should promote an under-
standing of the proposed budget and of how the budget was
prepared. The following outline might serve as a table of
contents for the comprehensive presentation of the town’s

budget:
letter of transmittal;
table of contents;
overview letter;
community issues and challenges;
financial goals and policies;
goals and objectives of the budget;
town organization chart
budgetary guidelines:
budget process;
budget calendar;
budget format;
budget summary;
operating capital;
financial summaries;
revenues and expenditures;

property taxes, levy limits, and Proposition 2 1/2;

state and federal grants;
outstanding and proposed debt;

free cash, reserve fund, stabilization fund, and other
reserves;

statistical and graphical presentations;
departmental/boards/committee detail;
organizational narratives and charts;

goals and objectives;

program description(s) and performance objectives;
capital items;

personnel chart and historical comparisons;
glossaries;

five-year capital plan;

chart of accounts/expenditure codes;

wage and salary schedules;

relevant town bylaws;

town meeting warrant.

The budget document is the vehicle that clearly shows the fi-
nance committee, town meeting, and the community at large
the municipality’s financial plan for the upcoming year, and
how revenues and expenditures will allow for departments to
complete this plan.

The finance committee should promote the implementation
of a budget process that results in a clear and meaningful
budget document. The annual budget is the opportunity to
present the voters with a clear picture of town government:
what it is, where it is, and where it is heading.

The finance committee report is the extremely critical
end-product of the budget development process. This docu-
ment should inform town meeting of the proposed budget
and its recommendations on all financial articles. Further, the
report often establishes the appropriation framework for the
upcoming year.

Whether or not the finance committee prepares the town’s
budget, the committee is responsible for submitting recom-
mendations on the budget and other financial warrant arti-
cles to town meeting. The finance committee report provides
analyses, explanations, and justifications for its recommenda-
tions. Although the level of detail varies from town to town,
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more informative reports include financial and statistical
data, often trace historical trends and specific appropriations.
However, there is no need to duplicate information already
presented in a comprehensive budget document.

The town’s financial condition, the issues posed by the bud-
get, local bylaws, customs and traditions, and the interests
and skills of committee members will all shape the finance
committee report. Often, town staff assists the finance
committee in preparing the report, and in larger towns the
finance committee may have its own staff.

SETTING THE PROPERTY TAX RATE

Towns derive the majority of their revenue from real estate
and personal property. Although town meeting adopts a bud-
get before July 1, the start of the fiscal year, the tax rate is not
set until the following October or November. Because of the
importance of property tax to town budgets, finance com-
mittees should understand and monitor the process of setting
the tax rate, which may either validate or change revenue
estimates (assumptions used to balance the adopted budget).
These revenue estimates, whether confirmed or revised, then
become the basis for preliminary revenue forecasts for the
following budget year.

FrE CASH

A town’s free cash, or budgetary fund balance, is the amount
of funds that are unrestricted and available for appropriation.
Free cash provides towns with financial flexibility, as it is the
major source of funding for supplemental appropriations after
the establishment of an annual budget through the tax rate
approval process. Towns often appropriate all or a portion

of their free cash to support operations during the year. Free
cash is generated by actual revenue collections in excess of
estimates and actual expenditures and encumbrances less
than budgeted amounts. Depletion of free cash can indicate
tighter financial times. It is recommended that each town
develop a policy on the amount and use of free cash to avoid

wide swings in the levels available from year to year.

CASH M ANAGEMENT

At the outset it must be noted that the town treasurer is
primarily responsible for the cash management program for
the town. Cash management involves cash flow analysis,
investment planning and investments and tax collections (See

Chapter 8).

THE TAX RECAPITULATION SHEET

The vehicle for setting the tax rate is a tax recapitulation sheet
(recap sheet) that the board of assessors submits annually to
the Department of Revenue (DOR) as proof that the town
has a balanced budget within the limits of Proposition 2 1/2.
DOR must then approve the annual tax levy growth, the
recap sheet, and set the tax rate before a town can issue final
tax bills. The recap sheet reflects the total revenues a town
must raise through taxation and other sources used to fund
local appropriations as well as the assessors’ overlay and state
and Cherry Sheet assessments (See Appendix L and M for
sample copies).

CALCULATING THE TAXES TO BE RAISED

The tax recap sheet guides the calculation of the total tax to
be raised by listing the anticipated expenditures and charges
and subtracting estimated revenues. The difference is the
amount that the town must raise in real estate and personal
property taxes. The tax levy is the total amount to be raised
less total estimated receipts and other revenue sources (See

Appendix M for sample copy).

ToraL AMoOUNT To BE RAISED

The tax recap sheet first requires entering the amounts for
appropriations, anticipated charges and other expenditures
and items, including the following: (See Appendix M-2)

*  all voted appropriations;

*  offsets and charges from the state and other entities as iden-

tified on the Cherry Sheet;
*  certain deficits (if any) including “snow and ice” expenses;

*  the overlay, an allowance for property tax abatements and
exemptions determined by the board of assessors and
documented by a worksheet showing a five-year history of
such abatements;

* other required items not included in the appropriation pro-
cess, such as court judgments, tax title/foreclosure costs,
etc.

EsTIMATED REVENUES AND OTHER
RECEIPTS

Other than the tax levy, all anticipated revenues are enumer-
ated on the tax recap sheet and supporting schedules, includ-
ing the following items:
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Cherry Sheet receipts (state aid, including “offsets”)

local receipts itemized on Schedule A (and A-1, A-2, A-3 if
applicable)

free cash and other available funds appropriated by town
meeting; and

other sources voted specifically to reduce the tax rate.

There are many reasons why the revenue estimates made prior
to the spring town meeting change before setting the final
property tax levy. For example, budget estimates for major
local revenue sources are generally made in the fall based

on the prior year’s actual data and the partial results of the
current fiscal year. By the next fall, data from the year ended
June 30 is available and might justify modification of the
budget year estimate.

Similarly, the estimate of new tax levy growth might have
been based on historical data and partial current year data.
By the fall, the board of assessors should have complete
information. In advance of the tax classification hearing, the
assessors prepare the state LA-13 form which calculates the
allowable new tax levy growth to the penny.

Finance committees should understand and monitor this fi-
nal step in the process for the preceding budget cycle and use
the information it generates to develop preliminary revenues
estimates for the coming budget year.

This process demonstrates the importance of working with
other town officials in developing revenue estimates, so that
all town officials are on the same page in presenting these
revenue projections to town meeting.

A local government’s budgeting process should provide a fo-
rum for the community to understand, evaluate, discuss, and
determine the financial plan for the coming year. The budget
document and the finance committee’s report are the media
that should guide and influence these resource allocation
deliberations and decisions. Propetly prepared and presented,
these comprehensive documents will meet the tests of excel-
lence in budgeting as espoused by the GFOA, the national,

state and local government standard setters.

Financial pressures on local governments will continue.
Opposition to tax increases limits revenue growth. Demo-
graphic changes create demands for more and improved

services. Escalating service delivery costs require trade-offs in
the level and quality of town services. Recognition that these
challenges will not diminish creates a need for improvements
and innovations in financial planning and control of available
resources. Towns need to continue to improve the budget
process.

Some communities have turned to performance budgeting as
one element of a performance-based management system that
closely ties budgets to results and to the strategic plan. Such a
system shifts the focus from a traditional line-item budget to

measurable departmental service and efficiency measures.

Strategic planning, program goals and objectives, bench-
marking, and “customer opinion/satisfaction” surveys are all
mechanisms to focus on community needs and wants and to
measure the effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery.
Long-range financial planning, including revenue and expen-
diture projections, multi-year capital planning and communi-
ty-wide demographic forecasts enable a town to make better
annual budget decisions.

Municipal budgeting links these many management and
analytical techniques. The budget process must do more
than simply allocate financial resources to competing pro-
grams and services, it should articulate goals, objectives and
measurable indicators of service delivery. When the budget
process does so, the budget document will describe not only
how much money the town spends on every department and
program, but what results citizens should expect from these
departments.

This chapter was prepared by Harvey Beth, Anthony Logalbo,
John J. Ryan, Anthony Torissi and Carl Valente and was updat-
ed by Allan Tosti.
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CHAPTER 3: THE FINANCE COMMITTEE:
STRUCTURE AND FUNCTIONS

INTRODUCTION

In 1870, a group of Quincy citizens banded together to
restore financial order in their municipality, creating the
Commonwealth’s first finance committee. In 1910, the
Massachusetts courts ruled that a municipal finance commit-
tee was legal (Sinclair v. Fall River, 198 Mass 248). In that
same year, the Massachusetts General Court also acknowl-
edged the need for municipal finance committees statewide,
requiring all but the smallest municipalities to establish such
committees to assist in dealing with emerging municipal
challenges (St 1910, Ch. 130, s 2). Several additional legis-
lative assists (i.e., St 1923, Ch. 388 and St 1929, Ch. 270),
reinforced the mandated or permitted existence of municipal
finance committees.

Basic LEGISLATION
The present basic legislation, Chapter 39 s16 M.G.L. reads as

follows:

“EVERY TOWN WHOSE VALUATION FOR THE PURPOSE OF APPORTIONING THE
STATE TAX EXCEEDS ONE MILLION DOLLARS SHALL, AND ANY OTHER TOWN

MAY, BY BYLAW PROVIDE FOR THE ELECTION OR THE APPOINTMENT AND DU-

TIES OF APPROPRIATION, ADVISORY OR FINANCE COMMITTEES, WHO SHALL
CONSIDER ANY OR ALL MUNICIPAL QUESTIONS FOR THE PURPOSE OF MAKING
REPORTS OR RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE TOWN; AND SUCH BYLAWS MAY
PROVIDE THAT COMMITTEES SO APPOINTED OR ELECTED MAY CONTINUE

IN OFFICE FOR TERMS NOT EXCEEDING THREE YEARS FROM THE DATE OF
APPOINTMENT OR ELECTION.

INEVERY TOWN HAVING A COMMITTEE APPOINTED UNDER AUTHORITY OF
THIS SECTION, SUCH COMMITTEE, OR THE SELECTMEN IF AUTHORIZED BY
BYLAW OF THE TOWN, AND, IN ANY TOWN NOT HAVING SUCH A COMMIT-
TEE, THE SELECTMEN, SHALL SUBMIT A BUDGET AT THE ANNUAL TOWN
MEETING."

Almost every town across the state interprets this statute
differently and has established its local finance committee
to meet the community’s specific needs. In some towns,
for example, the finance committee may prepare as well as
comment on the budget. It is generally agreed that finance
committees may consider any matter they feel will have a
fiscal impact on the town, as well as any other matters the
committee feels are relevant. It may reasonably be argued
that little comes before town meeting that does not have a
potential fiscal impact on the town.

SURVEY RESULTS

The Association of Town Finance Committees (ATFC) has
conducted surveys which revealed several interesting pieces
of information. First, there is wide variation in the number of
members on finance committees. The most common number
is nine (35 of the 118 respondents), followed by seven and
five-member boards respectively. Of the towns responding to
the survey, 97 finance committees are appointed and only 21
are elected. Seventy of the appointed committees are appoint-
ed by the town moderator, 13 by the board of selectmen and
10 by a combination of the selectmen, town moderator and
the finance committee chair or other town officials.

The balance of the responding finance committees serve
three-year terms. One town’s committee has two-year terms
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and one has one-year terms. Three towns reported graduated
terms, from five to one-year, or from three to one-year. One
town has finance committee members who serve indefinite
terms.

There is also a great deal of variation in the frequency of
meetings among the survey’s respondents. Most municipal-
ities answering the questionnaire hold meetings one, two,
or even three times a week during budget season, and slow
to once every two weeks, once a month, or only as needed
during the rest of the year.

Only five towns compensate some or all of their finance com-
mittee members. The amount of compensation ranges from
$25 a year for a member, to $650 a year for a chairman. Forty
of the reporting finance committees reimburse their members
for expenses, usually limiting reimbursements to meals, the

ATFC Annual Meeting or mileage.

Thirty-six of the responding finance committees have sub-
committees. Some towns have as many as 30 subcommittees,
and many municipalities note that they have subcommittees
for every department in the town.

Staff support is received by 41 finance committees. Often,
this support is supplied on an as-needed basis by the secre-
tary to the board of selectmen or other full-time staff paid by
departments other than the finance committee.

Forty-two of the towns participating in the survey have cap-
ital planning committees. The number of members on these
committees ranges from three to 12. In several towns, the
capital planning committee is not currently operational, or
the municipality is in the process of reorganizing or starting
such a committee.

There are several general statutory constraints that all fi-
nance committees share. Members of finance committees are
considered municipal employees (M.G.L. Ch. 8 s 186) for
purposes of the Conflict of Interest Law (See Appendix D),
and must adhere to all state statutory requirements placed on
municipal employees. The standards of conduct for municipal
employees, both on and off the job, are detailed in the Con-
flict of Interest Law (Ch. 268A M.G.L).

Democracy at all levels is to be open to its people. In this re-
gard, the finance committee must be cognizant of and follow
the requirements of the Open Meeting Law, M.G.L. Ch. 39 s
23a-23c. (See Appendix C.) All materials collected or pre-
sented during deliberations and/or meeting(s) of the finance
committee are a matter of public record (M.G.L. Ch. 66).
Such public records are to be maintained and made available
to the public unless specifically exempted. (see Appendix B.)

With the passage of the Americans With Disabilities Act in
1990, all constituent units of state and local government,
including finance committees, must ensure that any forums
or meetings they participate in or sponsor are accessible to
people with disabilities. (See Appendix A.)

Once elected or appointed, a finance committee member
must be officially sworn in by the town clerk or the town
moderator. When a member wishes to resign, his or her letter
of resignation must be sent to the town clerk. A letter of
resignation is effective upon filing with the town clerk and
may not thereafter be rescinded. If a member resigns prior to
completing his or her term of office, a replacement is made by
the appointing authority, or in some towns may be chosen by
the finance committee itself.

In addition to following the conditions found in the various
laws mentioned above, finance committee members (like

all municipal employees) may not use any public resources

to influence the outcome of an election. Finance committee
members may express their opinions at public forums or meet-
ings (Chapter 55 M.G.L.; the Mass. Supreme Judicial Court
reaffirmed this in Anderson v. City of Boston, 376 Mass. 178).

Committee members should not allow personal friendships,
enmities, biases, preconceptions or partisan affiliations to
interfere with the fair and impartial performance of their
official duties. State conflict of interest laws forbid a finance
committee member from, among other things, using the po-
sition for personal profit. Committee members also have an
obligation to avoid not only actual conflicts of interest, but
even the appearance of bias or favoritism when acting in their
official capacity.
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As active participants in town affairs, finance committee
members come to the table with their own opinions, experi-
ences and ideas, but members must nonetheless listen careful-
ly and thoughtfully to all matters that come before them. It
is difficult to keep personal biases and preconceptions out of
official deliberations, but it is a goal to be actively pursued.
Doing so can help the committee make better decisions
overall, and can also maintain or boost public confidence in
the committee’s integrity. There have been many laws and
regulations passed over the last few years regulating munici-
pal employee conduct. It is essential that all members under-
stand and abide by them. (See Appendices B, C and D.)

The prime functions of the finance committee are to review
departmental budgets and submit a balanced budget to town
meeting. All municipal officers authorized to spend money
must annually provide the finance committee with estimates
of how much funding will be needed “for the proper main-
tenance of the departments under their jurisdiction.” These
estimates are submitted to the town accountant, or if there

is none, to the finance committee or possibly the selectmen
(Chapter 42 5.59 M.G.L.). These estimates are used in the
preparation of a town’s annual operating and capital budgets.

The Massachusetts Department of Revenue (DOR) has ruled
that finance committees are responsible for preparing and
submitting their municipality’s annual budget (Chapter 39 s
16, Ch. 41, s 59 and s 60M.G.L.), unless there is a charter or
bylaw giving this authority to the board of selectmen or town
manager (DOR’s In Our Opinion, 93-310). The exact format
of an annual town budget is community specific. DOR has
determined that while the law regarding annual municipal
budget format is directed to cities, it should also be followed
by towns.

The format found in the law addresses itself to budgetary
basics. Almost all towns and cities in the Commonwealth go
well beyond this in their annual budget presentation pack-
age (see Chapter 2). DOR has also ruled that only a town
meeting — not the finance committee or selectmen — may
determine the exact budget format to be used (see In Our
Opinion, 92-145). As a practical matter, town meeting
would have to vote to reject the present format and request a
new one for the following year.

The state also specifies that only town meeting may transfer
appropriated monies. Town meeting cannot delegate this au-
thority to the finance committee (Chapter 44 s33B M.G.L.),
(see also In Our Opinion, 92-836). However, in 2006 the
state allowed the board of selectmen, with the approval of
the finance committee, to transfer sums between May 1 and
July 15. This does not apply to appropriations for the local
or regional school systems or light boards. Transfers are by
majority vote. Further, the courts have ruled generally that
even though a town bylaw calls for the finance committee

to hold public hearings, these hearings are “incidental” to
the proper function of the committee and are therefore not
mandatory (Young v. Westport, 302 Mass.597, reaffirmed by
Illig v. Plymouth, 337 Mass. 239).

On the other hand, while finance committees may request
information from a town department, they may not seck
information from a quasi-governmental entity because such
entities are not subject to town bylaws (Clinton Housing
Authority v. FinCom. of Clinton, 329 Mass. 495). Under the
home rule amendment to the state constitution, however,
towns and cities do have the power to subpoena witnesses
and compensate them at the going rate (Article 89, s 6; also
Ch. 233, s 8 and s 10). This was tested and affirmed in the
courts (Bloom v. Worcester, 363 Mass. 136).

The law (Chapter 40 Section 6 M.G.L.) allows towns to
appropriate money — either at the annual or special town
meeting — into a reserve fund “to provide for extraordinary
or unforeseen expenditures.” DOR has expressed its opinion
that reserve fund transfers are appropriate:

to provide for urgent or unforeseen expenditures that could
not have been anticipated before town meeting; and/or;

to allow immediate expenditures of funds in the event of
an emergency (threat to public safety or health) when the
delay of having to call a special town meeting could be
potentially harmful.

In either case, the finance committee must approve all
proposed transfers from a reserve fund. It is also understood
that a reserve fund should not be to reverse a vote of town
meeting or as a “backdoor” means of increasing the budget.
Finance committees should adopt their own reserve fund
guidelines to supplement the state statute, and should help
other town officials gain a better understanding of appropri-
ate uses of a reserve fund.
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It is also important that finance committees have a balanced
approach in evaluating reserve fund transfers. For example, if
budget reductions were made in a community despite legiti-
mate warnings that there might be trouble meeting all fiscal
obligations, the finance committee may expect to see an in-
crease in reserve fund requests. It is the committee’s responsi-
bility to keep the town’s best interests in mind when deciding
which reserve fund transfer requests, if any, to approve.

This expenditure is one of the only ones which may be made
in excess of its appropriation. This deficit spending only
requires the approval of the chief administrative officer of the
town. (Chapter 44 s 31D M.G.L.) Expenses in excess of the
appropriation must be raised in the tax levy for the next fiscal
year. However, in order for this option to be available, towns
must have appropriated at least the same amount for snow
and ice removal as in the prior fiscal year.

Towns are permitted to raise revenue from a variety of
services or programs and use those funds to support said
services or programs. This type of appropriation is referred to
as a “revolving fund.” Once monies are raised and designated
for a revolving fund, the selectmen and the finance commit-
tee must approve any increase in the amount that may be
spent during the fiscal year (M.G.L. Ch. 44 s 53E1/2; also see
Chapter 2). Revolving funds must be reauthorized by town
meeting each fiscal year; if not, remaining balances may be
transferred to another departmental revolving fund or to the
general fund.

A stabilization fund is a special reserve account. This fund
may be appropriated in any fiscal year and for any municipal
purpose (Chapter 40 s 5B M.G.L.). The monies appropriat-
ed to a stabilization fund cannot be earmarked unless town
meeting establishes a special purpose stabilization fund.
While a two-thirds vote at town meeting is required to
appropriate monies from such a fund, only a majority vote is
required to appropriate monies into the fund. Furthermore,
a municipality may dedicate on a recurring basis a specific
amount to the stabilization fund each year, funded by a Prop-
osition 2 1/2 override, or dedicate all or a portion of a partic-
ular revenue stream into the fund. See Chapter 59, Section

21C (g) M.G.L. (See DOR IGR No.04-201.)

An enterprise fund may be established to segregate monies
generated from user fees to pay for the delivery of a specific
town program (M.G.L. Ch. 44 s 53F 1/2; also see Chapter
9). The state law establishing enterprise funds is a local option
statute, and as such must be accepted by town meeting,.
Enterprise funds have specific reporting requirements and
change the role of the finance committee in overseeing the
financial operation of this service.

Gifts and grants given to a town may be expended directly,
i.e. without appropriation, with the approval of the board of
selectmen (Chapter 44 s 53 and 53A M.G.L.). In most cases,
gifts or grants may be earmarked for a specific governmental
unit or project. Many grants require a local share; some gifts
have a challenge component that requires the raising of a cer-
tain amount of money from other sources before a gift will be
presented. In either situation, the finance committee should
know about all gifts and grants in their municipality.

It is recommended that all municipal departments be re-
quired to provide the selectmen and finance committee with
an inventory of existing gifts and grants, as well as a list of
state and federal grants being sought. Such departmental
lists should detail explicitly whether there is a local share
requirement, and if so whether it comes from existing funds
or whether new money must be appropriated. It is preferable
that any local share requirements come from existing funds.
Finance committees must also be aware of potential bud-
getary changes resulting from gifts or grants. For example,
after receiving external funding, a department budget request
could possibly be reduced. On the other hand, some grants
state that their funds must be used in addition to budgeted
funds. In addition, the finance committee should inquire
whether other costs, such as employee pensions or health
insurance, will be impacted.

Despite recent decreases in federal programs there is still
money available. At present, there are three general categories
of federal grants: categorical, formula and block.

Categorical grants are awarded on a regional basis for a single
purpose within a specified time frame. Massachusetts is in
Region I, with federal regional offices located in Boston. The
competition in Region I is with other New England states.
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Categorical grants are the oldest and largest type of federal
grants.

Formula grants, sometimes called “pass-through” grants, are
awarded to states on a prescribed basis. The state may either
distribute the funds to local governments or choose to pro-
vide a specific program (or programs) itself.

Block grants are the emerging future of the federal granting
system. Under block grants, old programs, existing categor-
ical and formula grants and any new programs are blended

together into single multi-functional grants, which are then
distributed to states following the formula grants concept.

The single best resource for municipalities seeking federal
domestic grants is 7he Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance
(CFDA). The CFDA lists all federal domestic assistance
grants along with their application and award processes.

A copy of CFDA is sent annually to each unit of state and
local government. Town clerks or municipal libraries gen-
erally have CFDA. It is also available at www.cfda.gov. In
addition, there are also several relational data bases available;
one is available through a library system called DIALOG.
The Department of Housing and Community Development
(DHCD) is a valuable resource for information and grant
application assistance.

The state plays several important roles in the search for addi-
tional funds. The state coordinates the federal pass-through
and block grant processes and establishes and funds state
grant programs. Massachusetts has a rich history of directly
appropriating funds for state programs. However, there is

no single catalog available for state grants. To seek out these
funds, officials must refer to the state budget. Again, DHCD
can provide assistance in identifying potential grants and
with the application process. One can also search the State

website at www.mass.gov.

Seeking funds from a philanthropy is both easier and more
complex than seeking grants from the federal or state gov-
ernment. One reason for this is that no single application
exists. However, most philanthropic applications are sim-
pler to complete and more flexible than governmental grant
applications. There is a catalog of available philanthropies,
Massachusetts Grantmakers Directory, available from the
Associated Grantmaker of Massachusetts (AGM). There are

also several relational databases available, as well as sever-
al foundation centers throughout the state. Local libraries
should have access to both. The main foundation center is
AGM,; its website is www.AGMConnect.org.

Corporations are an excellent and underutilized source of
funds and products. They will give to promote their good
name in the community and for income tax benefits. Munic-
ipal assessors can be asked for a list of the community’s 20
largest taxpayers and fundraisers can concentrate on busi-
nesses from this list.

One local acceptance statute (M.G.L. Ch. 41 s 106B) permits
towns to establish a capital planning committee. The du-
ties of capital planning committees are specific, although
membership requirements are not. These committees must
“annually review the (municipality’s) capital improvement
program.” In many towns, the finance committee also does
the capital planning. This is often not an ideal situation,
especially given the time commitment required of finance
committee members even without considering capital plan-
ning matters. One possible solution is for towns to create ad
hoc capital improvement committees with a seat reserved for
a member of the finance committee. (See Chapter 11.)

The budget is a finance committee’s major concern and is
likely where the bulk of the committee’s time will be spent.
Depending on whether a given finance committee is respon-
sible for developing the town budget from scratch or for
reviewing and making recommendations on a budget devel-
oped by the selectmen, town manager or executive secretary,
the finance committee will meet fairly regularly for three to
six months before town meeting. Most of that time will be
devoted to budget development and review.

Throughout the budget cycle, the committee’s main goals

should be:
to optimize the value of each dollar spent;

to address the town’s long range as well as immediate
needs;

to present a balanced budget to town meeting; and

to present budget recommendations in a clear and read-
able format, with sufficient detail and explanation so that
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town meeting members can understand the basic goals,
policies, tradeoffs and constraints that shaped it.

Experienced finance committee members learn to read
between the budget’s line items and see the policy decisions,
and indecisions, built into the numbers. The finance commit-

tee should be willing to share that insight with town meeting.

Under Proposition 2 1/2, municipalities cannot raise proper-
ty taxes in excess of 2.5 percent of the total full and fair cash
value of all real and personal property in a given community.
Finance committees can make the most of limited municipal
resources by encouraging thoughtful planning, improved
financial management and increased productivity through
computerization and improved work rules. Selective overrides
and fee increases can help as well. The rate of revenue in-
crease also depends upon the local development climate and
state aid to cities and towns.

Education

Education is typically a town’s largest service, ranging from
35 percent in urban districts to 70 percent in more rural
areas. The Education Reform Act of 1993 has limited town
meeting’s latitude in setting the school budget. State and
federal education mandates (e.g., special education) as well
as the “maintenance of effort” requirements of education
reform, place a floor under school budgets, while Proposition
2 1/2 sets the town revenue ceiling.

Legally, town meeting can only vote a bottom line budget
for the schools, and cannot compel the school committee

to spend this budget allocation on specific programs or line
items within the schools’ budget. As a practical matter, a
well-respected finance committee can sometimes persuade
town meeting to get the school committee’s attention on
areas of concern. For the most part, the finance commit-
tee should strive to ensure that schools maintain adequate
financial and cost controls, and to encourage the free sharing
of budget information between the town and school depart-
ment, as well as between the school department and town
meeting.

A majority of any municipal budget (potentially as much as
75 to 80 percent) is spent on salaries, benefits and pension

costs. However, finance committees have no direct responsi-
bility or control over collective bargaining and personnel pol-
icies. In some towns, the finance committee chair may play

a role in planning collective bargaining goals and strategies,
but finance committees do not play a direct role in personnel
matters.

Nevertheless, finance committees must understand the
financial implication of their town’s personnel policies and
practices. In addition, finance committees should urge the
selectmen and personnel board in their town to follow two
basic principles when engaging in the collective bargaining
process. First, town negotiators should calculate, consider and
justify the full, long-term costs of collective bargaining items
like vacation time, sick leave, step raises and other employee
benefits before agreeing to them. Special attention should

be paid to employee health insurance cost impacts. Second,
they must be prepared to layout the short-and long-term
budget impacts of collective bargaining agreements to town
meeting before town meeting is asked to ratify (i.e. fund) the
new contracts.

Regardless of who has primary responsibility for developing
and updating capital budgets, a finance committee’s budget
recommendations always need to balance capital spending
with operating budgets.

Capital budgets represent more than an edifice complex.
They embody a wide range of social, political, financial and
environmental concerns. To protect a town’s capital assets
and to promote their optimum utilization, municipalities
must give capital needs their due in allocating scarce town
dollars. Good capital planning includes budgeting for main-
tenance and repairs as well as replacement.

Building a new public facility without including sufficient
funds in the operating budget for maintenance is fiscal folly.
Likewise, it is fiscally unwise to continue pouring ever-in-
creasing maintenance dollars into old, worn out or obsolete
equipment when purchasing newer, more efficient equipment
would both cut costs and improve service delivery.

Finance committees should encourage their towns to develop
capital equipment inventories and regular maintenance and
replacement schedules, and discourage town meeting from
letting those schedules lapse.
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In recommending a capital budget to town meeting, the
finance committee should also make sure that town meeting
understands the tradeoffs and costs implicit in that budget.
For example, a bonding vote should be accompanied by

a year-by-year estimate of the repayment schedule. Town
meeting needs to understand that voting a bond issue today
means less money available for other municipal endeavors
until the bond is paid off. Likewise, some estimate of the cost
of not making the capital investment should also be includ-
ed to help town meeting understand why the expenditure is
appropriate and economically justified.

Fiscal prudence demands that municipal budgets contain
sufficient reserves to meet unexpected contingencies. The re-
serves can be built into department budgets, set aside in spe-
cial purpose reserves or placed into the town’s general reserve
fund. Towns can also let some portion of their certified free
cash remain unappropriated. In practice, a balance among all
these methods works best.

The tradeoff in maintaining reserves is that setting aside large
portions of a municipal budget for reserves leaves less avail-
able to fund direct town services in the current year. On the
other hand, without adequate reserves, unexpected calami-
ties, cost overruns or revenue shortfalls can result in disrup-
tive and ineflicient emergency cutbacks, either in the current
fiscal year or in the next.

In each budget cycle, earlier years’ actual spending should
be examined closely to see which budgets are either consis-
tently under-budgeted or subject to large fluctuations so the
finance committee can set a reasonable and responsible level
of reserves.

Reserve fund transfers should be used only for truly unex-
pected contingencies and not to compensate for inadequate
budgeting, sloppy management or predictable spending fluc-
tuations. Above all, the reserve fund should never be treated
as a slush fund in order to sidestep town meeting votes. If,
for example, town meeting voted $1 million for street repairs
when the highway director and the finance committee rec-
ommended $1.1 million, the finance committee should deny
a reserve fund request for additional road repairs unless the
repairs are made necessary by some unforeseen accident like a
broken water main.

Likewise, if a given department consistently overspends its
overtime budget, a deficit in that account can hardly be said

to be an unforeseen contingency. The finance committee may
feel compelled to grant the current year’s request, but should
consider denying future requests for the department’s over-
time costs unless the expenses are budgeted more accurately
and brought under better control.

Most town budgets are made on an incremental basis. This
means the committee takes the previous year’s budget as a
starting point, projects estimates of the coming year’s chang-
es in revenues and “fixed costs” such as utility bills, collective
bargaining salary increases or worker’s compensation costs.
Any estimated surplus or deficit is then distributed across the
town’s programs and operating budgets.

Aside from Cherry Sheet assessments such as state and coun-
ty charges, these “fixed costs” are not always truly fixed. For
example, worker’s compensation costs can sometimes be cut
by improved safety training and better claims supervision,
and some utilities costs may be reduced because of better
energy conservation practices.

True zero-based budgeting, in which all programs are re-
viewed annually and budgets are built from the bottom up,
often does not work very well in the municipal arena. Many
programs are mandated by state or federal law or by the real-
ities of everyday life. However, it does make sense to review
each department’s mission and resources every few years.
Finance committees, town managers, employees and citizens
should work together and re-examine priorities, think about
whether and how missions can be redefined and how resourc-
es can be reallocated to better meet a town’s changing needs.
This kind of planning, while more difficult in the short term,
pays off in the long run if only by keeping the budget process
from devolving into a series of ad hoc reactions to year-by-
year changes in the town’s financial picture.

In some towns, the finance committee is only the budget
committee. In others, it is a more general advisory committee
that makes recommendations to town meeting on all town
meeting warrant articles. As the standing committee of town
meeting, the finance committee has a broader and more con-
sistent perspective than the town meeting as a whole, which
meets only once or twice a year. Part of the finance commit-
tee’s role is to point out the fiscal implications of warrant arti-
cles. But another of the committee’s central roles is to present
issues to town meeting in a comprehensive, thoughtful and
orderly manner.
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Finance committee reports and recommendations should
present a clear explanation of all the relevant issues. Whatever
the committee’s recommendation, the report should highlight
key arguments and provide as much relevant information as
possible. That way the voters or representative town meet-

ing members can vote at town meeting with at least a basic
understanding of what the core issues are for a given warrant
article.

Ideally, the finance committee can support its recommen-
dations at town meeting without alienating advocates for
opposing viewpoints. Where compromise is possible, the
committee should work with the opposing sides to come to a
responsible resolution of their differences.

Although the finance committee can and should advocate for
its own position, its reports should make it clear that a given
position was reached after fair and thoughtful deliberation.
No matter how important or controversial the issue at hand may
be, the finance committee must remember that its first respon-
sibility and loyalty is to town meeting and the integrity of the
town meeting process.

Members of committees are public officials and thereby have
chosen to put aside some of their privacy. Anything said at
an open meeting by a municipal official is subject to being
recorded, televised, quoted or published. Therefore, it is
important that all officials be careful about what they say in

public.

Finance committee members, selectmen and town admin-
istrators/managers, etc. should work together and speak as a
unit whenever possible. It is not always easy for finance com-
mittee members to work in conjunction with other municipal
departments. Frequently there are conflicts whereby individu-
als or boards find themselves pitted against each other. How-
ever, it is important not to allow these conflicts to be aired in
public and to make every effort to achieve a consensus.

It can be beneficial for all local officials to cultivate a good
relationship with the local media. The media should be kept
informed of important developments, both good and bad. If
town ofhicials initiate calls to inform reporters of news before
they hear it elsewhere, they can cultivate a relationship in
which the reporter is more likely to present the official’s side
of the story. There are many municipal government issues

that the finance committee, selectmen and/or chief executive
officer should discuss together before dealing with the press.

Committees or boards may find it useful to designate a
spokesperson to deal with the press. The spokesperson can
reduce mixed messages and can ensure that the agreed upon
policies are being relayed to the media. It is important to note
when talking to a reporter that you must clearly state whether
you are representing a position of the committee or your posi-
tion as a private citizen.

One last important part of a finance committee member’s
job is knowing when to leave the committee. A good finance
committee member can make a real and important difference
in the town’s life; someone just going through the motions
by rote and habit is no longer serving his or her own or the
town’s best interests. When committee members find them-
selves dismissing people or arguments because they have
“heard it all before,” when enthusiasm gives way to impa-
tience or inattention and/or when absences become increas-
ingly frequent, it is probably time to move on.

Retiring members should ideally give the committee a year’s
notice and use that year to help groom and break in a suc-
cessor. Senior committee members, especially the finance
committee chair and subcommittee chairs, should make sure
that new members receive adequate mentoring and training.
Subcommittee chairs in particular should delegate tasks and
responsibilities to all subcommittee members, not only in
order to lighten their own burden, but to give new members
needed hands-on experience.

Being a finance committee member can sometimes be a
frustrating task. But it is a job worth doing and worth doing
well. Performed with commitment and care, a term on the
finance committee is an example of grassroots public service
at its democratic best. It can be a rewarding and satisfying
way to make one’s town a better place to live, as well as a way
to sink deeper and sturdier roots in the community.

This chapter was prepared by Marc Levy, Alice Carlozzi, Jenni-
fer Magee and Donald Levitan and was updated by Allan Tosti.
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CHAPTER 4: INTERGOVERNMENTAL FISCAL RELATIONS:
THE COMMONWEALTH

The Commonwealth’s constitution effectively requires the
legislature to pass a balanced budget. Each fiscal year, the
Governor recommends a budget to the legislature and the
legislature appropriates funds for expenditures for the fiscal
year. In all but exceptional cases, an appropriation by the
legislature must provide funds for an expenditure before the
expenditure will be recognized as an obligation of the Com-
monwealth.

THE BUDGET PROCESS AND CALENDAR

Beginning every fall, each agency submits spending plans
(projections for spending and revenue collections in the
current fiscal year and the immediately following year) to its
Executive Office. Those offices then submit their budgets to
the Executive Office for Administration and Finance (A&F).
Agencies generally hold open budget hearings and take public
testimony. The Budget Bureau, part of A&F, reviews budget
submissions and comments; establishes the Governor’s prior-
ities and vision; projects budget condition, including overall
available revenue and makes recommendations. The Gov-
ernor reviews the Budget Bureau’s recommendations. This
process can extend from September to December.

Each winter before the Governor releases a budget recom-
mendation for the upcoming fiscal year, the Governor’s
Secretary for Administration and Finance and the House
and Senate chairs of the Ways and Means committees meet
jointly to develop a “consensus” state tax forecast for the new
fiscal year to be used in the Governor’s budget and in the rec-
ommendations of ways and means committees that come lat-
er. Under section 5B of Chapter 29, the meeting takes place
by January 15 [or by January 31 for the first budget of a new
Governor|. Generally, the meeting includes a public hearing
at which economists and finance experts provide testimo-

ny on the condition of the economy and prospects for state

revenues. The “consensus” forecast also includes the amount
needed to amortize the unfunded liability of the state pen-
sion system under the statutory schedule and the amounts to
be transferred by law for use by the school building authority
and the MBTA. The “consensus” revenue testimony and the
final agreed-upon amount are helpful to municipal finance
officials in understanding the condition of the state economy
and its impact locally, and the capacity of the state to fund
municipal and school aid programs in the next year.

According to the Constitution of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, the Governor must propose a budget for the
next fiscal year within 3 weeks after the Legislature convenes
[8 weeks for a new Governor], which translates into the 4th
Wednesday of January. The resulting House 1 [House 2 in
the second year of a two-year legislative session] is the first
step in the state budget process, and communicates the Gov-
ernor’s priorities to the public.

In recent years, the House and Senate Ways and Means
committees have held joint public hearings across the state in
February and March, including a hearing on municipal and
school aid accounts, before legislative budget debate begins in
April and May.

In some years, the House and Senate adopt a Local Aid
Resolution before budget debate that sets forth minimum
amounts for the main local aid accounts [Chapter 70 school
aid and Unrestricted General Government Aid] as a way to
provide some surety to cities and towns as local budgets are
being prepared. This avoids the uncertainty of waiting until
June or July for a final legislative budget that resolves any dif-
ferences between the branches on these important accounts.

The House Committee on Ways and Means generally releases
a budget recommendation in mid-April. The Committee
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bill is assigned a new number and sent to the full House for
debate; where Representatives may offer amendments. The
House usually approves a budget by the end of April or early
May.

The Senate generally votes on a budget bill by the end of
May, and the two branches attempt to reach agreement on a
final compromise budget bill by July 1. There have been years
when due to economic conditions or political discord, state
budgets have been late.

The Governor signs or vetoes the Legislature’s budget, in
whole or in part. By a two-thirds vote in each chamber, the
Legislature can override the Governor’s veto of a line item (an
appropriation), or an outside section (rules, constraints, other
law changes associated with appropriations or law changes
unrelated to the budget).

For the purposes of the Commonwealth’s local aid program,
finance committee members will see the outcome of the bud-
get process, and program funding reflected in their munici-
pality’s Cherry Sheet.

The local aid programs are generally referred to as Cherry
Sheet programs. The Cherry Sheets are the official notifica-
tion from the Commissioner of Revenue of the next fiscal
year’s estimated state aid and assessments to cities, towns, and
regional school districts. The purpose of the Cherry Sheets is
to ensure that local budgets reflect realistic estimates of the
amount of revenue a municipality or regional school district
will receive from the state during the upcoming fiscal year

as well as the amounts the municipality or regional school
district will be assessed for participating in certain programs.
Because the Cherry Sheets are an integral part of a munic-
ipality’s budget, finance committee members should have a
clear understanding of their community’s Cherry Sheet aid
and assessments.

It is also important that finance officials closely monitor how
their local aid numbers might change during the state budget
process. Finance committee members should be aware that
the Department of Revenue now publishes local aid estimates
at each stage of the state budget process on its website, www.
mass.gov/dls. For example, initial estimates are issued based
on the Governor’s budget, followed by estimates based on
each phase of the legislative process. Once the final state bud-
get is enacted, final Cherry Sheet estimates are issued.

DOR is responsible for notifying municipalities of their
Cherry Sheet aid and assessments on forms CS 1-ER (aid/re-
ceipts) and CS 1-EC (assessments/charges). The DOR notifies
regional school districts of their receipts and charges on form
CS 2-ER. The Tax Rate Recapitulation Sheet, filed by local
assessors with the Department of Revenue, Division of Local
Services, to certify property tax rates, must reflect the aid and
assessment amounts contained on the Cherry Sheet forms
distributed to municipalities. (See Appendix L.)

There are three basic types of aid programs on the Cherry
Sheet: distributions, reimbursements and offsets. Distri-
butions provide funds on a formula basis. Reimbursements
provide full or partial funding for specific program expendi-
tures. Offset items are amounts that constitute categorical aid
and must be spent for specific programs. Offset items may
be spent without appropriation in the local budget. All other
receipt items on the Cherry Sheet are considered revenues

of the municipality’s or the regional school district’s gener-
al fund and may be spent for any purpose, subject to local
appropriation.

M.G.L. Ch. 59, Section 21 also requires the Commissioner
of Revenue to provide municipalities and regional school dis-
tricts with advance estimates of state assessments and charges
and county tax assessments. Local assessors are required to
use these figures in determining the local property tax rate.

Cherry Sheet form CS 1-EC notifies municipalities of the
estimates of charges from the state and county governments.
Regional school districts are notified of their assessments on
form CS 2-ER. In certain assessment programs, after Cherry
Sheets are issued, adjustments to the actual assessments are
applied as final data become available from the administering
agencies.

Cherry Sheet payments and assessments are generally made
on a monthly basis, depending upon the category, although
a few are made quarterly or annually. Final adjustments to
payment and assessments amounts are usually made late in
the year. A payment schedule for Cherry Sheet programs is
available on the Division of Local Services website.
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The DOR enforces the annual provision in the State budget
language that allows the withholding of Cherry Sheet aid to
municipalities that have not submitted the prior year’s Sched-
ule A to the Department of Revenue. Aid withheld is distrib-
uted to the appropriate municipality once the report has been
submitted and accepted by the Department of Revenue.

UNRESTRICTED GENERAL GOVERNMENT AID
(FORMERLY ADDITIONAL ASSISTANCE AND
LOTTERY AID)

This un-earmarked municipal aid program is funded by an
appropriation in the state budget from a combination of
state lottery and gaming revenues and state tax collections.
Amounts for individual cities and towns are set in section
three of the state budget act for the fiscal year.

COUNTY ASSESSMENTS PROCEDURES & THE
CoUNTY ADVISORY BOARD

The 351 cities and towns of the Commonwealth are orga-
nized into 14 counties that were established mainly in the
1600s as administrative units of government that provided
public services and derived revenues from member cities and
towns.

Until the 1970s, they were responsible for operations of
certain courts, jails and houses of correction and registries

of probate and deeds. Some operated agricultural schools,
hospitals and other specialized entities. County governments
assessed constituent cities and towns for part of the cost for
services through a county tax handled as a Cherry Sheet
assessment. Over the next few decades, judicial personnel and
district attorneys were transferred to the state and some court
buildings and related maintenance personnel were likewise
transferred.

Beginning in 1997, the Legislature abolished seven coun-
ties and transferred registries of deeds, sheriffs and court
maintenance functions to the Commonwealth. In those
cases in which debts and obligations exceeded cash and real
estate transferred to the state, amortization schedules were
established for the recovery of amounts expended by the
Commonwealth by way of continuation of the county tax
assessment.

The seven county governments abolished were Berkshire,
Essex, Franklin, Hampden, Hampshire, Middlesex, and
Worcester counties. In FY2010, the remaining sheriffs

departments of Barnstable, Bristol, Dukes, Nantucket,
Norfolk, Plymouth and Suffolk counties were transferred to
the state. With the exception of Suffolk County where there
are no remaining departments, the six remaining counties
will continue to operate as they have historically. Excluding
Nantucket (which is a county of one community), the other
five counties assess their constituent municipalities for part of
their budgets and have limited powers relating to borrowing
and other financial matters.

The county budget approval process is undertaken by the
county advisory board on county expenditures in Bristol,
Dukes, Norfolk and Plymouth counties. The county advi-
sory board has authority to increase, decrease, or revise the
annual and supplementary budgets submitted by the county
commissioners. This board is composed of representatives
from each of the municipalities of the county. These members
include: selectmen, town council members, city managers or
their designees, and mayors or their designees. Similarly, the
county budget approval process is performed by the county
commissioners and the assembly of delegates in Barnstable
County. In Nantucket, the selectmen serve as county com-
missioners, and the town finance committee serves as coun-
ty review committee. Generally, the role of the municipal
finance committee is confined to review and comment.

The county budget process starts with the collection of
requested appropriations from all county departments by

the county commissioners. The commissioners review the
requests, hold public hearings and vote their recommenda-
tions that are submitted to the advisory board. The advisory
board then reviews the commissioners’ recommended budget,
holds a public hearing and finally votes the budget for the
next year. Each member can enter a “Yea” or “Nay” vote with
respect to approval of the county budget. Each municipali-
ty has a weighted vote proportional to its property value. A
majority vote is required to approve the county budget.

Once the county tax levy is set (usually in September), tax
statements are sent by county commissioners to their member
municipalities. The county tax is paid directly by member
municipalities; no individual property tax owner receives a
“county tax bill.”

CounNTY TAX ASSESSMENT FORMULA & THE
TowN TREASURER

A municipality’s county tax assessment is based upon its
equalized valuation (EQV) as a share of the total county

Finance Committee Handbook | Chapter 4: Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations: The Commonwealth



EQV. These EQVs are incorporated into the county tax
assessment formula in order to determine the member munic-
ipalities’ share of the total county tax. Once the assessment
has been determined, the county commissioners send local
treasurers the member communities” county tax assessment.
County taxes are paid on a semi-annual basis in November

and May.

Under state law, the following agencies’ or counties’ assess-
ments cannot increase by more than 2.5% of a prior year’s
actual assessments: county tax, mosquito control projects, air
pollution districts, Old Colony Planning Council, Massa-
chusetts Bay Transit Authority, Boston Metropolitan Transit
Authority, and regional transit authorities. Beginning in
fiscal 2015, the cap has been changed for the Metropolitan
Area Planning Council. However, administering agencies or
authorities can increase their total assessments by more than
2.5% if they can demonstrate to the DOR that the increase is
due to the provision of new services.

State law enacted in 1980 [Proposition 23] places strict lim-
its on the amount of property tax revenue a city or town can
raise and how much the property tax levy can be increased
from year to year. Throughout the budget process, a munici-
pality should understand the impact of the law on its ability
to pay for budgetary expenditures. (See Chapter 6.)

Section 27C of Chapter 29 of the General Laws [Local
Mandates Law enacted in 1980 as part of Proposition 21/2]
provides for a Division of Local Mandate in the Office of the
State Auditor. This Division is charged with evaluating new
state laws and regulations to see if they impose new costs

to cities and towns, regional school districts or educational
collaboratives. If so, they must be fully funded by the Com-
monwealth or subject to voluntary acceptance. An aggrieved
community that believes a proposed or existing mandate is
contrary to the standards of the Local Mandates Law may

request an exemption from compliance in Superior Court.

Each level of government (federal, state, and local) enacts

laws. A body of laws referred to as municipal laws regulates
municipal governments. The intent of all enacted laws is to
impose certain regulations on the manner by which a com-
munity is governed. Municipal laws include not only the laws
of the state, but also the laws of the town or city, otherwise
known as bylaws and ordinances. By definition, a bylaw is a
local law or a municipal statute of a town.

Today, federal, state and local websites provide a great array
of timely and useful information for local officials to use

in preparing and updating budgets. The Division of Local
Services (DLS) website includes current and historical Cherry
Sheet information as well as a rich database on local finance.
The Department of Elementary and Secondary Education
(DESE) website includes information on Chapter 70 school
aid and other education aid and grant programs. The state’s
main website [www.mass.gov] provides links to these agen-
cies and others that may have helpful information. The
MMA website [www.mma.org] provides the latest news on
municipal finance.

At the local level, bylaws, ordinances and a variety of budget
and finance information are available to the public on the
municipal website. For links to cities and towns, visit www.

mma.org.

The Secretary of the Commonwealth is responsible for
publishing and making available certain information and
databases on the operation of state and local governments in
Massachusetts. This office publishes a catalog of all reports
and information available from all units of state government.

Other publications that may be of interest to local officials
are: the Code of Massachusetts Regulations, the Massachu-
setts Register, the Central Register, Advance Publication of
Current Acts and Resolves, and the Cumulative Table. The
following are brief descriptions of these resources.

Code of Massachusetts Regulations (CMR): Is the com-
plete set of administrative law (regulations) promulgated by
state agencies pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act

(Chapter 30A M.G.L).

Massachusetts Register: Is the bi-weekly publication
mandated by the Administrative Procedures Act (Chap-

ter 30A M.G.L.). The register publishes new and amended
regulations, notices of hearings and comment periods related
to prospective or draft regulations and a cumulative index
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of regulatory changes for the current year. The register also
publishes notices of public interest, as well as opinions of the
Attorney General and Executive Orders.

Central Register: s the weekly source for information about
state, county and municipal contracts being put out to bid
for the design, construction and reconstruction of public
facilities in the Commonwealth. Invitations to bid, lists of
contractors picking up specifications on a weekly basis, and
final awards of contracts are all published. Proposals and
advertisements for the lease, sale or transfer of real property
are published, as are lists of certified minority and women
contractors and contractors who have been debarred from
state work.

Advance Publication of Current Acts and Resolves:
provides publication of laws and resolves enacted during a
current legislative session as required by M.G.L. Ch. 5, s 3.
The Secretary of the Commonwealth publishes these session
laws immediately after enactment and distributes “pamphlet”
editions of the advance copies during the legislative session.
The “pamphlets” include a cumulative list containing the bill
number, title, chapter number and enactment date, and a

list of Massachusetts General Laws amended by the current
legislative actions.

Single copies of laws are available at the State Bookstore and
at the Western Secretary of the Commonwealth. Bound edi-
tions of all the laws enacted during each session are published
a few months after the session has ended.

The Cumulative Table: Informs subscribers of changes and
amendments to all state regulations. Included are the subject
matter, issue and date of the Massachusetts Register in which
the change was printed. Each monthly issue of the Cumu-
lative Table contains an order form allowing subscribers to
order an amendment directly from the State Bookstore.

An important feature of the Cumulative Table is that it noti-
fies subscribers of the promulgation of emergency regulations.
Regulations adopted on an emergency basis, though they
may be temporary, have the full force and effect of law

State Bookstore

Secretary of the Commonwealth
State House, Room 116

Boston, MA 02133

(617) 727-2834

Most of the above information can be found on the Secre-
tary of State’s, Administration & Finance’s or the Legisla-
ture’s website through Mass.Gov.

The Municipal Law Unit is part of the Administrative Law
Division within the Attorney General’s Government Bureau.
The Unit carries out the Attorney General’s statutory duty

to review local bylaws and zoning bylaws as well as proposed
municipal charters and their amendments. It decides whether
the proposals are consistent with the constitution and the
laws of the Commonwealth. If an inconsistency between the
proposed amendments and state law exists, the amendments
or portions thereof will be disapproved.

Attorney General
Municipal Law Unit

10 Mechanic St., Suite 301
Worcester MA 01608-2417

The Municipal Law Unit advises the Attorney General on
matters relating generally to municipal law and local govern-
ment. This includes pending or threatened litigation in which
the legality of state or local laws is challenged. The Attorney
General is permitted by statute to intervene in such cases.

Whenever a town seeks to adopt or amend a charter pursuant
to the Home Rule Procedures Act (Chapter 43B M.G.L) it
must submit it to the Attorney General for his/her opinion

as to the consistency between the charter (or charter amend-
ments) and state law.

The Unit works with town attorneys and local public officials
to help communities to avoid legal problems, to comply with
state law, and to function effectively in the best interests of
the citizens of the Commonwealth. Unit staff is not autho-
rized to give legal advice other than as prescribed. Neverthe-
less, time permitting, they are willing to discuss municipal
law issues with municipal attorneys and local public officials
and to suggest other resources that might offer appropriate

guidance and help.

This chapter was prepared by Representative Paul Casey, Senator
Marc Pacheco, Daniel E Donahue, Robert Wright, Marilyn
Browne and Lisa Juszkiewicz and updated by John Robertson.

Finance Committee Handbook | Chapter 4: Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations: The Commonwealth


http://Mass.Gov

il
CHAPTER 5: SCHOOL BUDGETING AND EDUCATION
REFORM

INTRODUCTION
Since the passage of the Education Reform Act of 1993,

municipalities have had to meet mandatory school spending
requirements when preparing their budgets. The original
policy goals of education reform were twofold:

* to achieve adequate funding for all local and regional
school districts over a seven year period; and

*  to bring equity to local taxation effort based on a com-
munity’s ability to pay. In many cases, achieving adequate
school spending required local governments to increase
their contributions to education in conjunction with in-
creases in state education aid. However, certain communi-
ties, with a limited ability to pay, were allowed to decrease
their local spending on education, with the state providing
enough aid to make up this difference and move the com-
munity closer to an “adequate” level of school spending.

Although FY2000 marked the seventh and last year of pre-
scribed state funding increases contained in the Education
Reform Act, the school finance formula remains operative in
statute. However, annual budget language and education aid
appropriations since FY2000 have overridden the statutory
funding formula in recent years. For example, in FY2007 a
new method of measuring ability to pay called the “aggregate
wealth model” was instituted. The new method uses updated
property values and personal income data to address issues of
inter-municipal equity so that communities with similar abil-
ity to pay eventually receive similar levels of state aid and pay
similar local contributions. The aggregate wealth model has
been used to determine local contributions and state aid for
education in each budget year since FY2007. Plans to phase
in the equity portions of the formula have been implement-
ed more slowly than originally intended as a result of state
budget constraints.

FouNDATION BUDGET

An adequate level of school spending is defined in the law as
the “foundation budget.” The foundation budget calculations
allocate fixed spending target amounts per pupil for teachers’
salaries and benefits, support staff salaries and benefits, util-
ities, maintenance costs and books and equipment, among
other things.

These calculations are adjusted annually for inflation and also
take into account the school district’s pupil characteristics
and the regional labor market. For example, the foundation
budget factors in an added cost for educating bilingual,
vocational and low income pupils. For the latter, economical-
ly disadvantaged status is contingent on a student’s partici-
pation in one or more for the following state-administered
programs: Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program
(SNAP); Transitional Assistance for Families with Dependent
Children (TAFDC); Department of Children and Families
(DCEF) foster care program; or MassHealth (Medicaid) up

to 133% of the federal poverty level (FPL). Unlike founda-
tion enrollment, economically disadvantaged headcounts

are assigned to the district where the pupils are actually
enrolled (and where the extra costs occur), even if they are
tuitioned-in from another district. It also factors in addition-
al costs for special education pupils, though these costs are
capped at a level that is lower than the actual costs of most
districts. The salary components of the foundation budget
calculations are then adjusted upward based on regional wage
levels compared to state average wage levels. The total of

all the foundation budget components make up the overall
foundation spending goal for each school district.

DETERMINING ABILITY TO PAY

As stated earlier, state budget language in FY2007 altered the
measurement of local ability to pay to rely on both property
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wealth and the income of residents. This method is referred
to as the “aggregate wealth” model and provides for equal
weighting of property wealth and personal income in the
formula. The formula establishes a statewide portion of the
foundation budget to be funded through local contributions
(59 percent or $5.975 billion in FY2017) with state aid cover-
ing the remaining 41 percent.

Once the statewide local contribution amount is determined,
percentages are calculated for both property wealth and
income such that in the aggregate each contributes exactly
half of the required $5.975 billion statewide contribution. In
FY2017, these percentages were then applied to each com-
munity’s actual 2014 equalized property valuation and 2013
aggregate personal income from Department of Revenue
income tax data to determine the expected contribution or
“target local share”, with the maximum local share set at 82.5
percent of the foundation budget. The “target aid share” rep-
resents the remaining share of the foundation budget to be
covered by the state. For FY2017, the property value percent-
age was 0.3792 percent and the income percentage was set at
1.4701 percent.

Local ability to pay then is a function of both current
property wealth as measured by equalized valuation and the
community’s aggregate personal income as reported to DOR
for state income tax purposes. Equalized values are prepared
by the Department of Revenue (DOR) every two years, and
are estimates of property values that control for differences in
local assessing practices and revaluation schedules.

The municipal revenue growth factor (MRGF) is an estimate
of the total percentage increase in a municipality’s general
purpose revenues from one year to the next. Typically, a
municipality must increase its minimum local contribution
for education by at least this growth factor percentage, thus
ensuring that the schools receive their fair share of increasing
revenues. Consequently, the MRGF is critical to estimating
required increases in school spending for budgetary purposes.

The MRGEF calculation is based on the combined percentage
increase of three separate revenue components:

Tax Levy

Increases are based on an automatic 2.5 percent increase in
the previous year’s levy limit, plus an estimate of new levy
growth based on a three-year average of new growth as a

percentage of the prior year’s levy limit. Overrides occurring
after FY1993 and all debt exclusions are excluded from the
tax levy calculations.

General Revenue Sharing

Increases or decreases are based on the annual change in gen-
eral revenue sharing as calculated by the combined change in
two Cherry Sheet programs: unrestricted general government
aid (formerly lottery and additional assistance) and state-
owned land. Initial estimates for these revenue increases are
based on the state aid figures appearing in the Governor’s
budget, which is typically released in late January.

Unrestricted Local Receipts

The seven local receipt categories used in the MRGF calcu-
lation are: motor vehicle excise, other excise (includes room
occupancy and meals tax), penalties and interest on taxes and
excise, payments in lieu of taxes, fines and forfeits, invest-
ment income and other recurring miscellaneous receipts.
User fees such as water or sewer receipts are excluded since
they are intended to offset the cost of providing particular
municipal services. The growth in local receipts is measured
by comparing the budgeted receipts in the prior year to those
budgeted in the current year (as estimated on the annual tax
rate recap). For example, in the FY2017 MRGF calculation,
the budgeted receipts for FY2015 are compared to those bud-
geted for FY2016, as this is the most current data available
when the calculation is done.

A municipality’s growth in foundation budget and its ability
to pay determine the amount of additional Chapter 70 aid
that the community will receive. The aggregate wealth model
calculations described above are used to award new aid to
communities receiving less aid than their relative wealth or
ability to pay indicates they should. For those below target
aid levels, recent state budgets have moved these commu-
nities incrementally toward their target aid amount. The
formula first increases the prior year or FY2016 required local
contributions by the FY2017 MRGF to yield a preliminary
FY2017 local contribution. This figure is compared to the
target local contribution (See Determining Ability to Pay
above) and if the preliminary contribution exceeds the target
local contribution, the preliminary contribution is reduced
by 85 percent of the difference to yield the required local
contribution. Although the anticipated five-year phase-in
toward 100 percent by FY2011 has not been achieved, the

85 percent reduction reflects progress toward equity in local
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contributions. If the preliminary contribution is less than the
target local contribution, then the community is expected

to increase its contribution by the growth factor so that the
preliminary contribution is the required contribution. If the
preliminary contribution is substantially below the target lo-
cal contribution, then additional increases beyond the growth
factor are required.

The difference between the required local contribution and
the foundation budget is provided by the state in the form
of “foundation aid.” If the required local contribution for
FY2017 plus the FY2016 Chapter 70 aid is less than the
district’s FY2017 foundation budget, then the state awards
foundation aid to cover this gap.

The total education reform school spending requirement is
called “net school spending.” This figure is the combination
of the minimum required contribution from local revenues
plus state Chapter 70 education aid. Net school spending
does not include school transportation or school construc-
tion costs. These costs vary significantly across the state and
are not included in the foundation budget, although school
construction costs and regional transportation expenses are
reimbursable through other state aid programs. Net school
spending can be met through a combination of direct appro-
priation to the school department budget and indirect costs
appearing in other municipal budgets. For example, school
health and property insurance costs may appear in the mu-
nicipal treasurer’s budget, yet they should be included in the
calculations to meet net school spending,.

To determine the school department appropriation necessary
to meet net school spending, allowable indirect costs must
first be calculated. Per ESE Regulation 603 CMR 10.04, al-
lowable indirect costs include costs such as school choice and

charter school tuition payments, school employee benefits,
property insurance, school maintenance costs incurred by
other departments and administrative costs such as account-
ing, payroll and data processing. Allowable costs and the
available methods for calculating these costs are provided on
the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education’s
(DESE’s) website: http://www.doe.mass.edu/finance/account-

ing. Deducting these indirect costs from required net school
spending yields the school department operating appropria-
tion needed to meet net school spending.

It should be noted that if municipalities receive any general

fund school revenues, such as tuition payments from other
towns or charter school reimbursements (school choice reve-
nues are considered special revenue funds), these funds must
be spent in addition to net school spending. School transpor-
tation and capital appropriations must be added to the school
operating appropriation to arrive at the total school depart-
ment appropriation.

If final Chapter 70 aid figures exceed the amount originally
estimated when determining the school department budget,
the increase does not necessarily have to be appropriated to
the school department. This depends on where the munici-
pality stands with regard to the revised net school spending
requirement (required net school spending will be revised to
reflect any additional aid). If, for example, the municipality
approved a budget with a higher than required local contri-
bution, the additional aid may be used for other purposes
provided the original school department appropriation is
enough to meet the revised net school spending requirement.

For those municipalities and regional school districts that

fail to meet at least 95 percent of their net school spending
requirement, state school aid may be reduced in the following
year. If spending is above 95 percent of net school spending,
but below 100 percent, the shortfall must be carried forward
and spent in addition to the subsequent year’s required net
school spending. In many cases, however, actual spending

is above required net school spending so the above penal-

ty provisions affect relatively few municipalities. Budgeted
school spending in the current year and actual spending from
the prior year are reported to DESE on the End-of-Year Pupil
and Financial Report on Schedules 19 and 1, respectively.

In July of 2004, the Legislature approved major reforms to
state school construction finance laws (Chapters 208 and 210
of the Acts of 2004). The legislation created the Massachu-
setts School Building Authority (MSBA) that is chaired by
the state Treasurer and includes the Secretary of Adminis-
tration and Finance, the Commissioner of Elementary and
Secondary Education and four other members. State funding
for local school projects now comes from a combination of
state borrowing and dedication of a portion of state sales

tax revenues. State reimbursement rates vary depending on

a community’s ability to pay as measured by local wealth
indicators compared to state averages. The indicators used
are per capita income as reflected on DOR state tax returns,
property wealth as determined by equalized property valua-
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tions per capita and the proportion of low income students in
the district as defined by federal eligibility for free or reduced
price lunch. MGL Chapter 70B.

Payments for ongoing projects currently receiving reim-
bursements will continue as scheduled. New projects are
eligible for “progress payments” where the Authority reim-
burses districts for eligible project costs during construction.
After entering into a Project Funding Agreement with the
MSBA, a community submits project costs incurred and paid
locally. After auditing the submitted invoices, the Authority
reimburses the community for the state’s share of eligible
project costs. Typically, this occurs within 15 days of submis-
sion of complete documentation to MSBA. Consequently,
when these communities finish their projects and convert
short-term notes to long-term bonds, the bond issue will be
only for the local share.

The special education circuit breaker program (MGL Chapter
71B §5A) is intended to provide reimbursement to school
districts for the cost of individual special education students
in excess of four times the state average per pupil foundation
budget. The reimbursement formula provides for a 75 percent
reimbursement of the amount in excess of four times the
state average per pupil foundation budget. During FY2017,
funding for this program was enough to provide for the

full 70 percent reimbursement. The circuit breaker replaces
the old “50/50” special education reimbursement program
that provided for a 50 percent state reimbursement only for
residential school placements. In contrast, the circuit breaker
provides reimbursement for all high cost special education
pupils regardless of the type of their placement.

For budgetary planning purposes, school districts should
reduce the special education appropriation by the estimated
amount of the circuit breaker reimbursement. When state
reimbursements are received, they are placed in a special fund
called the “State Special Education Reimbursement Fund”
and may be spent without further appropriation. Initially, ex-
penses incurred are charged to the regular school committee
appropriation and then these expenses are transferred to the
Fund as the state reimbursements are received. The amount
of the reimbursement is based on the costs incurred in the
prior year in excess of four times the state average per pupil
foundation budget.

As these costs tend to be volatile, finance committees should
review the actual revenues and expenditures to see how well
they match estimates. Another worthwhile practice is to
allow the SPED circuit breaker reimbursement fund to accu-
mulate a balance so this can be drawn on when unexpected
SPED costs arise. Current DESE regulations allow school
districts to carry one year’s worth of SPED reimbursements
forward into the next fiscal year.

MGL Chapter 40, Section 13E provides for the establish-
ment of a Special Education Stabilization Fund. The law

enables municipal and regional districts to establish a reserve
fund that can be used in future years for unanticipated or
unbudgeted costs of special education, out of district tuition
or transportation. Information on establishing, funding,
making payments, and reporting activity from the Special
Education Stabilization Fund are covered on DESE’s website,
hetp://www.doe.mass.edu/finance/circuitbreaker/stabilization.
html.

The Education Reform Act amended MGL Chapter 150E
as it relates to collective bargaining with school employees.
Though Chapter 150E defines the school committee as the
legal “employer” for the purposes of negotiating with school
employees, municipal officials should be aware that Chapter
150E allows a town’s chief executive officer to participate
and vote as a member of the school committee in collective
bargaining. If the town does not have a town manager or
administrator, then the chairman of the board of selectmen
(or designee) shall so participate and vote.

In a regional school district, the superintendent must notify
the chief executive officers, or the chairs of each board of
selectmen where there is no town administrator or manager,
of the member towns at least 21 days prior to the start of
negotiations. The superintendent’s notice shall designate a
time, place and date of a meeting to be held by the regional
school district at which the executive officers or select board
chairs elect one of their own to represent municipal interests
in collective bargaining. See DESE Regulation 603 CMR
41.04 for further information on the municipal representative
in regional school bargaining.

In either a local or regional school district, however, unless
the school committee chair appoints the municipal repre-
sentative to the negotiating subcommittee, the municipal
representative does not have a seat at the bargaining table.
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Rather, the statute allows the municipal representative to par-
ticipate and vote as a member of the school committee when
the committee as a whole takes up the collective bargaining
agreement. Nonetheless, the municipal official has the same
right to be kept informed about the progress of negotiations
as any other committee member.

REGIONAL SCHOOL ASSESSMENTS

When the Education Reform Act was enacted in 1993, it
changed the manner in which regional school assessments
were determined. Assessment calculations for member towns
should begin with the wealth-based minimum required
contributions of each community. The state Supreme Judicial
Court has affirmed that the Education Reform assessment
methodology supersedes the assessment formulas prescribed
in regional school agreements. So the required net school
spending portion of the regional budget should be allocated
to members based on their minimum contributions, plus

the total amount covered by Chapter 70 education aid. Any
planned spending above net school spending requirements

is then allocated among the member communities based on
the regional school agreement. The agreement also dictates
how non-net school spending such as capital and transpor-
tation costs are allocated among the member communities.
The regional district may opt to prepare its assessments based
solely on the regional agreement, but this requires unanimous
agreement of the member communities each year (MGL
Chapter 71, Section 16B).

ScHooL CoOMMITTEE’S ROLE

A factor worth noting when preparing the budget plan is the
line-item autonomy of the school committee. Though town
meeting may approve a detailed school budget, to the extent
that these line-item appropriations relate to curriculum or
school operating costs, the school committee is not bound by
them and can transfer funds among them.

If the school budget is voted as a single line-item, the school
committee may decide to use more of the appropriation to
support ineligible net school spending costs such as transpor-
tation and capital projects. Case law suggests that the school
committee cannot make these transfers — thus jeopardizing
compliance with net school spending — if their municipal-
ity’s town meeting establishes separate appropriations for
operating costs (net school spending), transportation costs
and capital projects.

Originally prepared by Rich Kingsley, this chapter was updated
by Melinda Ordway and represents the opinions of its authors
and not necessarily those of the Department of Revenue.
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CHAPTER 6: PROPOSITION 2%,

INTRODUCTION

Enacted by Massachusetts voters in 1980, Proposition 2V2
fundamentally changed the municipal fiscal landscape, revo-
lutionizing the budget process in the Commonwealth’s cities
and towns.

Before Proposition 2¥2, expenditure budgets in most commu-
nities were adopted in the spring with little, if any, analysis of
projected revenues for the next year and were driven primar-
ily by departmental spending requests. The reason was that
property taxes could always be levied at whatever amount
was needed to balance the budget when the assessors set the
tax rate in the fall. Proposition 2% dramatically changed this
process by limiting the property tax revenues cities and towns
could legally assess each year to support their budgets.

WHAT 1S PROPOSITION 2V5?

Proposition 2¥2 (Chapter 59 s 21 C M.G.L.) establishes two
types of restrictions on the annual property tax levy. First,
communities are prohibited from levying more than 2% per-
cent of the total full and fair cash value of all taxable real and
personal property in the community. This limit is called the
levy ceiling. Second, and more importantly, a community’s
levy is constrained in the amount it may increase from one
year to the next. The maximum amount a community can
levy in any given year is called the levy limit. The levy limit is
always below, or at most, equal to the levy ceiling. It may not
exceed the levy ceiling.

Under Proposition 2Y2, a community’s levy limit increases
automatically each year by two factors:

* an increment of 2.5 percent of the prior year’s levy limit, and

* adollar amount derived from the value of new construction
and other growth in the local tax base since the previous
year that is not the result of property revaluation. This
“new growth” increase, which varies from year to year,

recognizes that new development often results in addi-
tional municipal costs, such as, for example, where the
construction of a new residential subdivision causes an
increase in school enrollment or public safety expenses.

Proposition 2¥2 does provide communities with flexibility
to levy more than their levy limits. With two exceptions, all
such additional taxes must be approved by the voters at an
election by a majority vote. The law establishes two types of
tax increases: overrides and exclusions, and also details the
election procedure a community must follow to pass over-
rides and most exclusions.

A levy limit override is used to obtain additional funds

for annual operating budgets and fixed costs. An override
increases the community’s levy limit for the fiscal year voted
and becomes part of the base for calculating future years’
levy limits. The result is a permanent increase in the amount
of property taxes a community may levy. If the override

is to fund a stabilization fund, however, two- thirds of the
selectboard must vote to allocate the additional levy capacity
from the override to the same purpose in each future year for
it to be included in the levy limit for that year. See Division
of Local Services (DLS) Informational Guideline Release on
Stabilization Funds. The override may be for any amount, so
long as the new levy limit, including the override, does not
exceed the overall levy ceiling of 2.5 percent of the full and
fair cash value of the tax base. An override question is placed
on the ballot by a majority vote of the selectboard and must
follow the language specified in the law.

The second option, an exclusion, may be used to raise addi-
tional taxes to fund capital projects only. This includes public
building and public works projects, as well as land and equip-
ment purchases. A debt exclusion is used to raise additional
taxes for the annual debt service costs of projects funded

by borrowing. Debt service includes payments of principal
and interest on permanent debt and interest on temporary
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debt. A capital outlay expenditure exclusion is used when
the project is funded by an appropriation. Exclusions may be
used by a community to fund its own capital spending, and
its assessed share of capital spending by a regional school dis-
trict or other regional entity of which it is a member, whether
financed by borrowing (debt) or within the annual budget
(capital expenditure outlay). Unlike overrides, exclusions do
not become part of the levy limit and therefore, they do not
result in permanent increases in the amount of property taxes
a community can levy.

Exclusions are temporary property tax increases. The addi-
tional amount is added to the levy limit only during the life
of the debt in the case of a debt exclusion, or for the year in
which the project is budgeted in the case of a capital outlay
expenditure exclusion. Also, unlike overrides, the amount of
an exclusion is not limited. Exclusions may increase the tax
levy above the levy ceiling. The language to be used for both
exclusion questions is also found in Proposition 2%2. Both
exclusions require a two-thirds vote of the selectboard to be

placed on the ballot.

Two types of exclusions do not require voter approval. The
first is a special debt exclusion that allows a community to
raise its debt service costs for water or sewer projects outside
of the levy limit or ceiling if water or sewer rates are reduced
by the same amount. The second is a special debt, or capital
outlay expenditure, exclusion for communities with pro-
grams to assist homeowners to repair or replace faulty septic
systems, remove underground fuel storage tanks or remove
dangerous levels of lead paint in order to meet public health
and safety code requirements. Under the programs, local
boards of health contract for the work and homeowners repay
all project costs by having a portion added to their proper-
ty tax bills, with interest, for up to 20 years. The amounts
appropriated to fund the programs, or the debt service costs
on any borrowings, are automatically raised outside the levy
limit or ceiling.

Proposition 2%2 also allows a community to reduce its levy
limit by passing an underride. An underride decreases the
levy limit for the year by the amount voted. This reduces the
base for calculating future years’ levy limits, which results

in a permanent decrease in the amount of property taxes

the community may levy. An underride question requires a
majority vote of the selectboard to be placed on the ballot. It
may also be placed on the ballot by the people using a local
initiative procedure, if one is provided by law. Underrides are
approved by majority vote of the electorate.

Proposition 2¥2 does not limit appropriations, only property
taxes, and no other statute requires that the local appropri-
ating body adopt an annual expenditure within a specified
revenue figure. Since the levy limit, state aid, local receipts
and other revenues that support the budget are not final at
the time the budget is adopted, compliance with Proposition
2Y5 cannot be determined until the tax rate is set several
months into the new fiscal year. At that time the budget must
be balanced within the levy limit.

In the interest of prudence, however, communities should
attempt to adopt expenditure budgets in the spring within
reasonable estimates of property tax and other revenues likely
to be available for the year. Nevertheless, budgets with a
higher level of appropriations than supported by estimated
revenues could be in place at the beginning of the fiscal year.
Appropriations are valid spending authority in such cases
until they are rescinded by the local appropriating body.
Departments may continue to spend at appropriated levels
even though spending cuts will probably be needed to bring
the budget into balance. Alternatively, additional revenue
may be sought by placing an override or exclusion before the
voters. Approval of the ballot question will bring the budget
into balance and allow a tax rate to be set. However, defeat
of such a question does not, of its own force, rescind the
budget as a whole or any particular appropriations made for
the purposes described in the question. Difficulties can occur
in resolving any differences in the spending decisions made
by the appropriating body and taxing decisions made by the
voters. This can create uncertainty in the delivery of munici-
pal services and delays in setting the tax rate.

Towns can use another budgeting option that eliminates the
need for town meeting to take further action on the annual
budget or special purpose appropriations after an election.
When voting specific appropriations, town meeting can
decide that they will take effect only if additional property
tax revenues to support them are approved by the voters, i.e.,
the appropriations are contingent upon later approval of a
Proposition 2% ballot question. Voter action on the question
then determines whether those appropriations are effective
grants of spending authority for the year.

This option recognizes the special difficulties towns encoun-
ter in adopting a balanced budget and revisiting the budget
after an election. Town meeting action on the budget, which
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is usually submitted by the finance committee, is not con-
fined to the recommended amounts. Because of the broad
scope of action afforded under warrant articles and the
advisory status of the finance committee’s budget recommen-
dations, town meeting almost always has the power to vote
appropriations exceeding the recommended amounts and es-
timated available revenues. [School Committee of the Town
of Hanson v. Moderator of the Town of Hanson, Plymouth
Superior Court C.A. 90-0922A and 90-0923B (1991)]

(Moderator cannot limit town meeting action on budget

recommendations by requiring motions increasing an item to
include an offsetting decrease in another item or a provision
making increased appropriation contingent on Proposition
2Y5 override.) Moreover, a special town meeting must be
called whenever budget cuts or supplemental appropriations
are needed or desired. This can result in added expenses, as
well as delays in finalizing the budget and setting the tax rate.

The use of contingent appropriations is governed by Chapter
59 s21C(m) M.G.L. The basic requirements are as follows:

All or any portion of an appropriation from the tax levy,
available funds or borrowing may be voted contingent on
the subsequent approval of a Proposition 2% override or
exclusion question.

The purpose stated in the question must be substantially
the same as the purpose stated in the appropriation vote;

The appropriation is not effective until the question is
approved, i.e., the funds cannot be spent before approval;

The deadline for obtaining voter approval of override or
exclusion questions for contingent appropriations made at
an annual town meeting is September 15. More than one
election may be held, but the appropriation is null and
void if the related question is not approved by September
15;

The deadline for obtaining voter approval of override or
exclusion questions for contingent appropriations made at
any other town meeting is 90 days after the close of the
town meeting at which the appropriation vote was taken.
More than one election may be held, but the appropria-
tion is null and void if the related question is not approved

by the end of the 90 day period, and;

If the contingent appropriation was made from the tax
levy, the tax rate cannot be submitted to the Commis-

sioner of Revenue for approval until the question has been
voted upon, or the deadline for holding an election has
passed, whichever comes first.

Town meeting may make any appropriation vote contingent
upon approval of a Proposition 22 ballot question whether
or not the warrant article under which that vote is being
taken includes “contingency” language. Moreover, inclusion
of contingency language in an article does not preclude town
meeting from voting an appropriation without the contingen-

cy.

This is because of the broad scope of action afforded a town
under a town meeting warrant article. In a budget or appro-
priation article, this broad scope of permissible action enables
a town to fund an appropriation by any lawful method,
whether specified in the article or not. Since raising the funds
for an appropriation from a Proposition 22 ballot question is
a funding method, town meeting is free to use that particular
method under any appropriation article.

Any language indicating that the appropriation is being made
subject to the approval of a Proposition 2% ballot question

is sufficient to bring it within the provisions of Chapter 59
s21C(m) M.G.L. For example, “subject to approval of a ballot
question under Chapter 59 s21C M.G.L.” or “contingent
upon passage of a Proposition 2% ballot question” would
both clearly express town meeting’s intent to condition the
spending authority on subsequent voter action.

A contingent appropriation vote simply conditions the effec-
tiveness of the appropriation on the approval of a ballot ques-
tion within a certain time period. It does not place a question
on the ballot. The power to place Proposition 2% override or
exclusion questions on the ballot rests solely with the select-
board in the case of towns. They may choose not to place a
question on the ballot for any or all contingent appropria-
tions voted by town meeting. They can also decide to place a
question on the ballot for an amount less than the contingent
appropriation. In that case, approval of the question would
make the appropriation effective only to the extent of the
amount stated in the question.

A separate ballot question is not required for each contingent
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appropriation. The selectboard may include several appropria-
tions within one question. Alternatively, they can use the so-
called “menu” or “pyramid” approaches if the appropriations
are for operating or other non-capital purposes.

The only limitation is that the purpose stated in a ballot ques-
tion must be described in substantially the same manner as
the purpose of the contingent appropriation vote the question
is intended to fund. The question does not have to track the
appropriation vote word for word, but it should describe the
purpose in a similar manner. In the case of operating appro-
priations, this limitation may mean that the selectboard will
not have as much flexibility as they would otherwise have

in describing the specific positions, programs or services the
question is intended to fund.

Approval of a ballot question for the same purpose as a
contingent appropriation, within the statutory deadline,
determines whether that particular appropriation is effective.
However, the validity of a ballot question is not dependent on
the effectiveness of any particular appropriation made for the
same purpose.

In other words, an override or exclusion approved by the
voters always grants additional taxing authority to a commu-
nity. That authority is exercised by including appropriations
in the budget for the purpose stated in the question. It is fully
exercised any time all appropriations for the stated purpos-

es, whether or not made subject to a ballot question, equal

or exceed the amount in the question. Subsequent changes,
including reductions, in those appropriations will not affect
the amount of the override or exclusion unless the amended
appropriations are below the amount of the question.

In most towns, the annual operating budget is presented
under an omnibus budget article. Typically, the finance com-
mittee’s recommendations for each line item and purpose are
moved as the main motion under the article. If the finance
committee proposes any contingent operating appropriations,
the report should show the recommended amount for each
line item and in a separate column, the additional amount
recommended for that purpose contingent upon approval of
a ballot question. The amounts shown in both columns can
then be amended by town meeting. This is a practical format
that lets town meeting members consider and discuss the
effect of the proposals (both “non-override” and “override”)

on a particular department’s operations for the year. More
importantly, it clearly identifies the appropriations that are
subject to any contingencies, which avoids disputes about

a department’s spending authority if the ballot question is
defeated.

Some towns vote the entire operating budget contingent
upon approval of a ballot question for a portion of that
budget. Typically, that portion is the total amount by which
the adopted budget exceeds the recommendations of the
finance committee. The vote does not, however, include any
allocation of the contingent amount to specific line items

or purposes. This approach is not recommended because

the entire budget is probably not effective if the question is
defeated. Arguably, town meeting intended only to make
the amount any line item exceeded the finance committee’s
recommendation subject to the contingency. However, there
are often discrepancies between the total contingent amount
and the amount of increases in the individual line items.
Such discrepancies make it impossible for the town clerk to
certify the appropriations available for each department’s use
if the ballot question fails. If this approach is planned, the
election should be scheduled so that a town meeting can be
held before July 1 to adopt a budget in the event the ballot

question fails.

Special purpose appropriations for capital expenditures, such
as construction of new schools or acquisition of conservation
land, are often made contingent on passage of a Proposition
2V ballot question. Capital projects are typically funded by
borrowing, which means the debt authorization could be
contingent on passage of a debt exclusion. Projects funded
from the levy or available funds could be subject to a capital
expenditure exclusion. However, contingent appropriations
for projects for which the town cannot legally borrow, such
as painting town hall or filling potholes, can only be funded
with an override. (Chapter 59 §21C(i%2 ) M.G.L.)

The regional school budget procedure is set forth in Chapter
71§ 16B M.G.L. (See regulations issued by the Depart-
ment of Elementary and Secondary Education, 603 Code of
Massachusetts Regulations 41.05.) After the regional school
committee adopts the annual budget, each member commu-
nity is notified of its assessed share of the budget and must
act to approve or disapprove it. A member may approve the
budget by a vote expressly doing so, or by the more usual
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practice of simply appropriating its entire assessment (“a vote
or votes by a local appropriating authority to appropriate

the municipality’s apportioned share of the regional school
budget shall constitute approval of the annual regional school
district budget.”) An appropriation of less than the full
assessment results in disapproval or rejection of the budget.
Once the required number of members approves the budget
(both communities in a two-member district and two-thirds
of the communities in a three or more member district), all
members become legally obligated to fund their assessments
whether or not they approved the budget. If the original
budget is not approved, an amended budget must be adopt-
ed by the regional school committee and submitted to the
members for their consideration in much the same manner as
the original budget. In either case, members can only approve
or disapprove the budget before them. They cannot approve
or disapprove any particular portion of it.

If a town uses contingent appropriations during this process,
there are two approaches it may take. The most practical is to
appropriate a portion of the assessment for the budget being
considered (original or amended) without any contingency
and then appropriate the balance with one. In that case, the
portion with the contingency will become an effective ap-
propriation if a levy limit override question passes within the
statutory time period. The town will then have fully funded
its assessment and approved the budget. If the override fails,
the town will have disapproved the budget. Because the
amount appropriated without the contingency is still a valid
appropriation, the town will have set aside some funds to pay
for its regional school assessment. Then, if the budget under
consideration is disapproved and the requested funding level
under an amended budget is within the amount already
appropriated, the town will not have to call a special town
meeting or take any other action in order to approve that

budget.

Alternatively, the town can make the entire appropriation

for the assessment contingent on approval of an override for
all or a portion of that assessment. Approval of the over-

ride makes the entire appropriation effective and results in
approval of the budget. The disadvantage of this approach

is that the town has no appropriation for regional school
purposes if the override is defeated so it will have to hold a
special town meeting to appropriate the required funds before
it can set its tax rate.

A town may make an appropriation for its assessed share of
capital expenditures not funded by borrowing contingent on

passage of a ballot question, whether the assessment is for a
part of the annual budget or a separate, supplemental capital
budget. A capital expenditure exclusion may be used to cover
the portion of a particular year’s assessment that is attrib-
utable to that spending. (Chapter 59 §21C(i%2) M.G.L.) An
override may also be used. (Chapter 59 §21C(g) M.G.L.)

A regional school committee may treat a contingent appropri-
ation for all or part of the town’s assessed share of a certified
budget as a rejection of the budget. It does not have to wait
for the election on the question.

Proposition 2V2 expressly provides that a member of a
regional governmental unit may exclude its assessed share

of debt service on district borrowings. Chapter 59 s21C(k)
M.G.L. Member towns often wish, therefore, to approve

a regional school debt issue contingent upon passage of a
debt exclusion. This poses a difficult problem because no
appropriation is being made and, under Chapter 59 s21C(m)
M.G.L., a town is permitted only to make an appropriation
contingent upon passage of a ballot question. More impor-
tantly, a regional school district may incur debt unless one of
its members disapproves the issue within 60 days of the date
the regional school committee authorizes the debt. Chapter
71 s16(d)M.G.L. Thus, town meeting does not actually have
to approve the proposed issue. The only town meeting action
that has any legal effect is a vote expressing disapproval of
the debt. A contingent town meeting vote to approve the
debt, coupled with an unsuccessful debt exclusion, may not
constitute such a disapproval under the statute. As a practical
matter, most regional school committees treat such actions

as disapproval. In the absence of assurances that will be the
case, however, the town should probably schedule the election
first, and in sufficient time to give town meeting an opportu-
nity to expressly disapprove the debt issue within the 60-day
period should the ballot question fail.

An approved debt exclusion covers the annual debt service
on debt issued for the project or projects identified in the
question. Under Department of Revenue (DOR) guide-
lines, however, the exclusion is limited to debt service on
the amount of borrowing authorized or contemplated at the
time of election. Debt service on any additional borrowing
that may be authorized because of an increase in project
cost is not automatically covered. The guidelines require the
additional debt service to be budgeted within the levy limit
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unless it is a fairly small increase related to inflation or minor
project changes or a supplemental debt exclusion is approved
by the voters. (See DLS Informational Guideline Release No.
02-101, Proposition 2% Debt Exclusions March 2002.)

The amount excluded each fiscal year over the life of the bor-
rowing is also limited to the total principal and interest due
that year net of any reimbursement received from the state
or federal government for the project. Local revenues, such
as user charges or betterments being used to fund the debt
service, may be netted as well at the community’s option, but
if they are not, and the debt service is funded from a special
revenue or enterprise fund, the tax subsidy must be budgeted
to that fund. Under certain conditions, the DOR will ap-
prove adjustments in the annual exclusion schedule in order
to moderate the impact on taxpayers.

The calculation of a debt exclusion must be adjusted for any
premiums received upon the sale of the bond or notes for the
project, minus the cost of issuance, in order to reflect the true
interest costs incurred to finance the project. Use of the pre-
miums to pay project costs and reduction of the amount to
be borrowed by the same amount will so adjust the amount
of the exclusion. Premiums received on bonds or notes sold
on or after November 7, 2016 that are not so applied must be
reserved for appropriation for capital purposes. In those cases,
there will be no offsetting financing source for the adjust-
ment in the debt exclusion. (Chapter 44:S 20 M.G.L). See
Ask DLS in DLS City & Town, November 3, 2016.

The Division of Local Services (DLS) in the Department of
Revenue has produced a primer on Proposition 2V5: Levy
Limits: A Primer on Proposition 2%2 and a booklet about the
election procedure: Proposition 2%2 Ballot Questions: Re-
quirements and Procedures.

This chapter was prepared and updated by Kathleen Colleary,
Esq. and represents the opinions of its author and not necessarily
those of the Department of Revenue.

Also see the following Sample Contingent Appropriation
Motions for examples of presenting contingent appropriations
for operating budgets, regional school assessments and capital
projects.
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SAMPLE CONTINGENT APPROPRIATION MOTIONS
APPROACHES UNDER OMNIBUS BUDGET ARTICLES

METHOD 1: SINGLE MOTION FOR CONTINGENT AND NON-CONTINGENT AMOUNTS

ARTICLE _: TO ACT ON THE REPORT OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE ON THE FISCAL YEAR _ BUDGET
AND TO RAISE AND APPROPRIATE OR TRANSFER FROM AVAILABLE FUNDS MONEY FOR THE OPERA-
TION OF THE TOWN’S DEPARTMENTS AND THE PAYMENT OF DEBT SERVICE AND ALL OTHER NECES-
SARY AND PROPER EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR, OR TAKE ANY OTHER ACTION RELATIVE THERETO.

MOTION: I move that the town vote to raise and appropriate or transfer from available funds the amounts recommended by
the Finance Committee for departmental operating purposes, debt service and other town expenses in fiscal year _, with each
item to be considered a separate appropriation and the amounts shown in the column captioned “Contingent Appropriations”
to be appropriated contingent upon passage of a Proposition 21/2 ballot question under General Laws Chapter 59§21C.

PROPOSED FISCAL YEAR _ BUDGET

THE FINANCE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS THAT THE AMOUNTS SHOWN IN THE COLUMN CAP-
TIONED “NON-CONTINGENT APPROPRIATIONS” BE APPROPRIATED FROM THE TAX LEVY, UNLESS
OTHERWISE SPECIFIED, FOR FY _ DEPARTMENTAL OPERATING PURPOSES, DEBT SERVICE AND OTHER
TOWN EXPENSES, AND THAT THE AMOUNTS SHOWN IN THE COLUMN CAPTIONED “CONTINGENT
APPROPRIATIONS” BE APPROPRIATED FROM THE TAX LEVY CONTINGENT UPON THE PASSAGE OF A
PROPOSITION 21/2 BALLOT QUESTION UNDER GENERAL LAWS CHAPTER 59 §21C.

PURPOSE NON-CONTINGENT APPROPRIATIONS CONTINGENT APPROPRIATIONS
Selectboard’s Office

Salaries $ 45,000 6,000
Expenses 18,000 4,000
School Department 2,800,000 300,000
Town Planner

Salary 0 35,000
Expenses 0 12,000
Cemetery Commission

Salaries 8,000

Expenses 10,000

(Includes $8,000 transfer from Sale of Lots Fund)

TOTAL $8,000,000 $890,000
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METHOD 2: SEPARATE MOTIONS FOR CONTINGENT AND NON-CONTINGENT AMOUNTS

MOTION: I move that the town vote to raise and appropriate or transfer from available funds the amounts recommended by
the Finance Committee for departmental operating purposes, debt service and other town expenses in fiscal year _, with each
item to be considered a separate appropriation.

PROPOSED FISCAL YEAR _ BUDGET
THE FINANCE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING AMOUNTS BE APPROPRIATED

FROM THE TAX LEVY, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED, FOR FISCAL YEAR _ DEPARTMENTAL OPERAT-
ING PURPOSES, DEBT SERVICE AND OTHER TOWN EXPENSES:

PURPOSE RECOMMENDED

Selectboard’s Office

Salaries $45,000
Expenses $18,000
School Department $2,800,000
Town Planner

Salary 0

Expenses 0

Cemetery Commission
Salaries $8,000
Expenses $10,000
(Includes $8,000 transfer from Sale of Lots Fund)

MOTION: I move that the town vote to raise and appropriate any additional amounts recommended by the Finance Com-
mittee for the departmental operating purposes and other town expenses in fiscal year _, contingent upon passage of a Propo-
sition 21/2 ballot question under General Laws Chapter 59 §2 1 C.
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PROPOSED FISCAL YEAR_CONTINGENT BUDGET

THE FINANCE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING AMOUNTS BE APPROPRIATED
FROM THE TAX LEVY FOR FISCAL YEAR __ DEPARTMENTAL OPERATING PURPOSES AND OTHER TOWN
EXPENSES CONTINGENT UPON PASSAGE OF A PROPOSITION 21/2 BALLOT QUESTION UNDER GENERAL

LAWS CHAPTER 59 §21C.

PURPOSE RECOMMENDED

Selectboard’s Office

Salaries $6,000
Expenses $4,000
School Department $300,000
Town Planner

Salary $35,000
Expenses $12,000
TOTAL CONTINGENT APPROPRIATIONS $890,000

BALLOT QUESTIONS

Under either approach, the town has the choice whether to bundle all the contingent appropriations for operating expenditures

or the fiscal year into a single override question for the $890,000 in this example, or to put separate questions on the ballot

for different departments or groups of departments: for instance, one question for $300,000 for school department operating

expenses and another question for $590,000 for fiscal operating expenses of all other town departments. The choice of how to

structure the ballot questions is within the discretion of the selectboard. If the selectboard decides to include more than one

contingent appropriation in a question, the purpose of each appropriation the question is intended to fund would have to be

stated in the question.
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UNDER OTHER APPROPRIATION ARTICLES
REGIONAL SCHOOL BUDGET ARTICLE

(Levy Limit Override)

ARTICLE_: TO SEE IF THE TOWN WILLAPPROVETHE ____ REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT BUDGET
FOR FISCAL YEAR _ AND RAISE AND APPROPRIATE OR TRANSFER FROM AVAILABLE FUNDS $(FULL
ASSESSMENT) TO PAY ITS ASSESSED SHARE OF THAT BUDGET, OR TO TAKE ANY OTHER ACTION RELA-

TIVE THERETO.

MOTION: I move that the town raise and appropriate $(non-contingent portion) to pay its assessed shareof the_
Regional School District Budget for fiscal year _ and that it raise and appropriate the additional $(contingent portion) re-
quired to fully fund the assessment and thereby approve the district’s budget for the year, provided that this additional appro-

priation be contingent on the approval of a levy limit override question under General Laws Chapter 59 §21 C(g).
REGIONAL SCHOOL BUDGET ARTICLE
(Capital Outlay Expenditure Exclusion)

ARTICLE__: TO SEE IF THE TOWN WILL APPROVE THE REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT BUD-

GET FOR FISCALYEAR ____ AND RAISE AND APPROPRIATE OR TRANSFER FROM AVAILABLE FUNDS

$(FULL ASSESSMENT) TO PAY ITS ASSESSED SHARE OF THAT BUDGET, OR TO TAKE ANY OTHER AC-
TION RELATIVE THERETO.

MOTION: I move that the town raise and appropriate $(non-contingent portion) to pay its assessed share of the ____

Regional School District Budget for fiscal year____ and that it raise and appropriate the additional $(contingent portion)
attributable to its share of the budget for capital spending not funded by debt and thereby fully fund the assessment and
thereby approve the district’s budget for the year, provided that this additional appropriation be contingent on the approval of

a Proposition 2 1/2 capital outlay expenditure exclusion under General Laws Chapter 59 s21C (i1/2).
SEPARATE DEPARTMENTAL “CONTINGENT BUDGET” ARTICLE

ARTICLE_: TO SEE IF THE TOWN WILL RAISE AND APPROPRIATE OR TRANSFER FROM AVAILABLE
FUNDS A SUM TO SUPPLEMENT THE FIRE DEPARTMENT’S OPERATING BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR _
CONTINGENT UPON THE PASSAGE OF A PROPOSITION 2 1/2 LEVY LIMIT OVERRIDE BALLOT, OR TAKE
ANY OTHER ACTION RELATIVE THERETO.

MOTION: I move that the town raise and appropriate an additional $ for the

Fire Department’s fiscal year _ operating budget to be allocated as follows:
for expenses, provided that such

additional appropriations be contingent on the passage of a Proposition 2 1/2 levy limit override question.
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BORROWING ARTICLE

ARTICLE __: TO SEE IF THE TOWN WILL APPROPRIATE A SUM OF MONEY BY BORROWING TO DESIGN
AND CONSTRUCT A SENIOR CENTER AND TO AUTHORIZE THE TREASURER, WITH THE APPROVAL OF
THE SELECTBOARD, TO ISSUE ANY BONDS OR NOTES THAT MAY BE NECESSARY FOR THAT PURPOSE,
OR TAKE ANY OTHER ACTION RELATIVE THERETO.

MOTION: I move that the town appropriate and borrow $10,000,000 for the design and construction of a Senior Center

and authorize the treasurer with the approval of the selectboard, to issue any bonds or notes that may be necessary for that
purpose, as authorized by General Laws Chapter 44, § 7(1), or any other general or special law, for a period not to exceed the
maximum period authorized by law, and to apply any premium received upon the sale of the bonds or notes, less any premium
applied to the payment of issuance costs of the bonds or notes, to the payment of project costs approved by this vote, thereby
reducing the amount authorized to be borrowed to pay those costs by a like amount; provided, however, that this appropri-
ation and debt authorization be contingent upon passage of a Proposition 2¥2 debt exclusion question under General Laws

Chapter 59, § 21C(k).
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CHAPTER /: REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE FORECASTING

INTRODUCTION

For many years, municipalities have recognized the impor-
tance of long range financial planning. This is evidenced by
the fact that many communities now have a formal bylaw or
charter requirement that a long range capital improvement
program be prepared annually (Chapter 41 s 106B M.G.L.).
Many communities have called upon their financial officers
to construct sophisticated long-range revenue and expendi-
ture forecasts. The forecast acts as a bridge between a munic-
ipality’s capital improvement program and its annual oper-
ating budget, bringing all of the fiscal policy and economic
variables together to establish concise managerial direction.
It also allows decision-makers to understand the long-term
ramifications of short-term decisions. Capital planning, debt
management, and revenue and expenditure forecasting are
the key ingredients in developing a strong municipal fiscal
position, and are crucial to avoiding the program reductions
which would result without the use of such techniques.

The revenue constraints of Proposition 22 have changed the
municipal budgetary process and heightened the importance
of long range budget planning. It is the primary function of
a five-year revenue and expenditure forecast to summarize a
community’s projected budgetary position over a period of
time, based upon the most accurate and reliable information
available at the time of preparation. The five-year forecast
must also establish the community’s initial goals and direc-
tion, working to ensure a balanced fiscal and programmatic
service mix.

Long-range forecasting is the essential first step in the annual
budget process, determining whether a community should
reduce, level-fund or expand services. It is critical that the
report be used as a starting point in a long-term planning
process. Ultimately, as the law requires, towns and cities will
authorize a budget for the next fiscal year that has its reve-
nues and expenditures in balance. If a long-range forecast
identifies any anticipated budget gaps, the forecast sets the

parameters of the policy decisions that will be made in order
to produce future balanced municipal budgets.

ELEMENTS OF A SUCCESSFUL FORECAST

The success of a forecast depends on a high level of coopera-
tion between local financial officials including town manag-
ers, accountants, treasurers, collectors, assessors, finance com-
mittees, school officials, and boards of selectmen. In addition,
forecasts should be:

* based on assumptions that are easily understood and ad-
justable as current information becomes available;

* written so that financial and non-financial personnel can
comprehend the information;

* made available to policy makers in the community and its
release should dovetail with the early stages of a commu-
nity’s budget process.

The assumptions upon which projections are made change
with time. National or local downturns in the economy
often encourage changes in law to improve conditions.

In past years, changes to state financed programs, such as
general education assistance, special education assistance and
school building assistance, have had significant effects on the
financial condition of communities. Weak financial markets
may dramatically change actuarial calculations of contributo-
ry retirement funding, as well as impact investment earnings
and interest rate assumptions for borrowing. The effects of
financial weakness and international events may have a major
impact on the insurance industry and premiums paid by
communities for insurance coverage. Also, the energy futures
market may fluctuate dramatically, impacting all utilicy bud-
gets. This accelerated pace of change makes it necessary to
periodically update the forecast assumptions in order to keep
the forecasts useful.
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The typical revenue and expenditure forecast consists of a
summary identifying all of the major revenue and expendi-
ture centers of the community. The revenues are grouped to-
gether and added to provide a total estimated annual revenue
forecast for that year. The cost centers are grouped together,
below the revenue total, and are added to provide a total
estimated annual expenditure forecast. A simple calculation,
subtracting estimated annual expenditures from estimated
annual revenues, provides a community with a projected an-
nual surplus or deficit (Gap Analysis). That surplus or deficit
then shapes a municipality’s policy decisions.

A forecast would typically include at least the most recent
past fiscal year, the current year, and several upcoming
(forecasted) fiscal years. Many communities extend this
analysis over the horizon for three years or less. As forecast-
ing techniques are based upon historic trend analysis and
incrementalization, such short-term analyses may not pro-
vide communities with an adequate estimate of the future
fiscal condition of the community. Conversely, an extremely
long-term forecast loses accuracy. The geometric growth in
a budget gap over ten years can be so large that it places the
entire estimate’s credibility in question. The optimal term of a
forecast should, therefore, be no greater than five years.

The goal of any analysis is to examine the “big picture”

and break it down into smaller and more manageable (and
understandable) parts. Thus, for every revenue or expenditure
center included on the summary spreadsheet, a sub-schedule
should be developed, including all the factors that lead to the

specific revenue/expenditure center’s forecast.

One area where a sub-schedule would be helpful is local
receipts, as local government has gathered a tremendous
amount of data on them. Included with each year’s reca-
pitulation sheet, which is submitted to the Department of
Revenue, is a list of actual local revenue collections from the
previous fiscal year and projections for the next fiscal year
(see Appendix M-3).

A review of several prior years’ data will allow local finan-
cial planners to develop an historic trend analysis that can
be used to create a projection of future revenue based upon
actual data rather than educated guesses. Similar sub-sched-
ules can be developed for each of the major variables of the
summary spreadsheet. An example of a sub-schedule for
local receipts is shown at the end of the chapter.

A key first step in the forecasting of locally generated reve-
nues (“local receipts”) is a thorough year-end analysis of the
recently completed fiscal year. A strong understanding of how
each local receipt performed is critical. This involves working
with those departments responsible for managing programs
with fees, fines or penalties. An unquestionable understand-
ing of a community’s revenue allows for the development of a
very credible revenue base.

As municipal financial planners begin to divide their com-
munity’s overall revenue and expenditure components into
smaller variables, a better understanding develops concerning
what will affect a specific variable. Many variables are tied
directly to inflation. Some contractually agreed upon expen-
ditures may have specific annual inflation costs. Others may
lock in a cost for a period of years. Personnel costs are often
driven by collective bargaining and cost of living indices.

Potential costs for group health insurance can be forecasted
by taking into consideration such things as the number of
employees in each plan, the rate of each plan and the employ-
er/employee split of costs. Some variables, however, are not
tied solely to inflation. Energy costs, for example, are viewed
in terms of consumption as well as pure inflation. Other
variables that are too small to review, or are not controlled

by events within the community, can be forecasted by giving
them a generic inflation factor tied to the current cost of
living index. The effort of constantly expanding the variables
that go into the forecast will ultimately lead to more accurate,
and therefore more credible, forecasts. This, in turn, provides
the community with an extremely sophisticated planning
tool.

Similar to the year-end revenue analysis, communities should
undertake a comprehensive review of all prior year expen-
diture patterns. Key trends to investigate include overtime,
changes in energy consumption, health insurance enrollment,
and ‘surplus funds’ from vacancies in personnel levels.

Computer technology plays a key role in the financial plan-
ning process. Revenue and expenditure forecasting requires
only the ability to use simple spreadsheet software and word
processing software to produce a forecasting report ex-
plaining the assumptions. Within the spreadsheet software,
sub-totals of the sub-schedules can be linked to a summary
page. Thus, all adjustments that take place on the detailed
sub-schedules will immediately ripple out to the summary
page, allowing the user, and his or her readers, instant un-
derstanding of the impact of any proposed adjustment. The
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Massachusetts Department of Revenue, Division of Local
Services has an excellent publication that will help finance
committees navigate several recommended software pack-
ages: Revenue and Expenditure Forecasting Software: Users
Manual.

The primary purpose of the revenue and expenditure analysis
is to determine the annual gap between revenues and expen-
ditures. This use of the forecast is often referred to as gap
analysis. Another, more sophisticated, management tool that
can be derived from forecasts is something called an impact
analysis. Beginning with the basic gap analysis, fiscal plan-
ners isolate a specific variable and play “what if” scenarios
with it. A community may want to understand the long-term
effects of agreeing to a labor contract, for example. By placing
optional inflation factors on the personnel variables affected
by the proposed contract, fiscal planners can quickly see the
estimated fiscal effect the contract would have on the town
budget. Similarly, a community could see the impact of vari-
ous revenue enhancement proposals.

A recent trend in local budgeting is what has been coined
“policy budgeting.” Based on the approved fiscal policies

of a community, policy budgeting guides how revenues are
to be allocated. For example, policies can dictate how much
revenue will be set aside for reserves, how much will be
earmarked for capital and how Free Cash will be utilized. It
is strongly recommended that communities work to develop,
adopt, and implement prudent fiscal policies.

These policies then guide the forecasting process. For exam-
ple, if a community’s policy states that Free Cash should only
be used for one-time uses, then the financial forecast should
not assume using Free Cash to support ongoing department
expenses. Ideally, a community forecast is framed by the fis-
cal policies, and the impact of those policies are then played
out in the forecast. Decision makers are then able to see how
any proposed changes to the fiscal policies impact the bottom
line.

Local forecasters attempt to develop analyses that will pro-
vide an accurate estimate of a community’s fiscal condition in
the next year and several years thereafter. In order to provide
such a useful document, fiscal planners must begin some-

where. Thus, it makes sense that as an underlying policy of
the forecast, municipal financial planners assume that every
law that currently exists, every service which is currently
provided, and any revenue that is currently available will also
exist for purposes of the forecast. Assuming that all of the
aforementioned items remain the same allows forecasters to
examine the effects of economic variables while excluding
political variables. As an example, a local forecaster cannot
assume that an override will be successful. It is important to
estimate what the revenue/expenditure gap will be without an
override. Then an impact analysis can be used to determine
what the impact of a specific amount of an override would
likely be on the future gap.

Another pitfall common to forecasting is a tendency to break
down the expenditure side of the equation by departmental
divisions. This strategy, in its simplest form, requires an infla-
tion factor for each department rather than for what each de-
partment purchases. If fiscal planners choose a fairly sophis-
ticated analysis, it would require a break out of all line items
of each department, which would be a labor intensive and
unproductive way to proceed. The preferred format abolishes
departmental lines for purposes of the forecast, and focuses
on the purchases of the entire municipality. Fiscal planners
can break down expenditures by municipal and education.
Then a sub-schedule of each would be developed to illustrate
what is purchased and its cost. When determining an infla-
tion factor based upon purchases rather than departmental
breakdowns, different and more accurate inflation factors
can be applied to specific cost centers. This will provide for a
more accurate forecast than that provided by a generic infla-
tion factor. Another item to be factored in is personnel costs,
especially in or around contract years.

Reliable forecasting requires the seemingly contradictory ex-
istence of accuracy in an imprecise environment. The highest
degree of accuracy is especially vital now, when local govern-
ments across the country are experiencing decreasing fund
balances, increasing fixed costs, and reduced revenue resourc-
es. The Massachusetts electorate, in an effort to curb taxation
growth, has put a premium on accurate forecasting so that
local governments can better assess their financial status.

It is difficult to measure the utility of a new revenue and
expenditure forecast without reviewing the accuracy of the
forecasts and actual budgets from prior years. Gaining and
maintaining the accuracy, and therefore the credibility, of

Finance Committee Handbook | Chapter 7: Revenue and Expenditure Forecasting



revenue and expenditure analyses is vital to their success as
legitimate financial planning tools. In fact, when done cor-
rectly, revenue and expenditure forecasts can be extremely ac-
curate. Recently several municipalities in Massachusetts have
developed excellent track records for estimating their future
budgets at less than 5 percent above or below their estimates.

Adopting a conservative approach to forecasting both rev-
enues (avoiding too “rosy” of an estimate for growth) and

expenditures is the preferred approach, as starting off with
too favorable of a bottom line could backfire and hurt the
credibility of the forecast.

It is important to note that the art of forecasting is dynamic
and subject to constant change. Factors that are incorporated
within the projection will undoubtedly change, materially af-
fecting the projected annual budget estimate, either positively
or negatively. Significant projection factors that can affect
forecasting estimates include:

decisions to utilize a community’s reserve taxing capac-
ity, or to use free cash as a source of revenue within the

budget plan;
the imposition of new or increased local revenues;

decisions by the state or federal governments either to
allow cities and towns additional revenue generating
flexibility and/or to provide additional aid to local govern-
ments;

the state’s assumption of services and/or financial respon-
sibilities which are presently a cost to local communities,
or the return to municipalities of certain responsibilities or
services that had previously been under state jurisdiction;

changes in condition of the local, state and national econ-
omies;

changes in existing law and administrative rules of higher
levels of governance, and

changes in local policies with regard to what constitutes
an appropriate mix and level of municipal services as
well as what constitutes an appropriate system of service
financing.

The Forecast should be updated each month to reflect any
changes that have taken place. As the annual budget process
proceeds, policy decisions based on revenue and expenditure
forecasts can positively impact any projected revenue gap.

Ultimately, through a series of revenue enhancement and ex-
penditure control policies, any projected gap can be eliminat-
ed and the budget will be balanced. These budget balancing
decisions will have a ripple effect upon the projected gaps of
future years, and the fiscal policies adopted in the first year of
a forecast can reduce or avoid deficits in future years.

This chapter was prepared and updated by Stephen E. Cirillo
and Sean Cronin and Allan Tosti for the 2017 edition.

Finance Committee Handbook | Chapter 7: Revenue and Expenditure Forecasting



GAP REVENUE ANALYSIS
SAMPLE TowN

201 w01 s 6 2007 w8 2019 200
REVENUE
Property Taxes AT0NS7.601  WISTEIE M ANIA ISNACS IS INALS1 IS 20T VORI MIATTION:  rsosOx
Lowen] Rewwgpts 1004438 2211936¢  22ITOIIE  HINES  IAMIIN DEOLEST  JMI2EI6! 24426204
S Aok IEAILITE  164EP16) 17434076 17903063 10M106%  IAITAME 19331768 194G
Orhow 2vadatle Funde 1nasaan LR46ATS 7.%00 500 LR U 7.050.00m TR 0S 7254090 TaALS 0™
Froe Gask (e Appropewtion) 5336413 7455155  SOBAAEY 4000000 4100000 4200000 4350000 4450000
YOTAL REVEXLE ELAON  IOMA0IT  NSMONE OTELTIS AW NS  J6ETEM  WATILI0Y 180212068
Biacvam 1305087 SATRISE  E3TENS  SMEMM ASIONNE 134T0 10059468 BATNIES
Rircan e 5% 2% 1% 19w b om i L%
_EXPENDITURES
oot rrzsweral E194R410 (5165740 CASASS1 GATSOME  JOISRAIS  TIATA0  TATEINIY  ISEIRETS
Colactve Farrioing Tows 0000 FKO000  LOTE20 LOSAM0  LOTO0N L9000 R1IA009 1130000
Sebools TIITE165  BOSSI2M SSI79165  POAOSINE  MAMSI]  MMSI090  M2ESLAS 106177458
Colectyw Eanpainisg - basl 1301660 2239557 1467469  LAAS000 1530000 1430000 1450000 1480000
%903 Deparmestal Besefits AR547007  SA100257 SASONN6  SIASSONS  SASTLITE  BATINPM  GAAEIAS 6751300
Nos Deparmertal Cosoral 96476 1ATENY 726569 6TAMS 636505 TORIOY  TILMAE  TSASW

Now Deparnnestal - Dedx Service 10046804 ssEx FAILTSE 100SAMS 1AM6S2 WIELTIS 17710398 i server

Pand 1LMENME arm 2122336 2200 198 2214357 234959 2434136 251
Specul Apgropraraos 1293150 152099 24240 renen noose R [ B 7200450 TA25 M0
Xos Approxued 8180759 Sos2en1 842582 axean S4T2 M 8673776 £88013) Y09 656

TOTAL EXFEXDI VURES 221504087 290GA0T0 7ISAMM0TI MIEMET IMIGEN 2O BMATER X79MTTEY ERNICEE

Hiaowam ELR P M4 LR RLES ) 8153755 weaem 1566%402 1ILTRON 1033548

Wircan (= L) I8N 10% i a“n " A% %

EMELATIVE 9 c 0 (806960) (1887671) (6192154) (7915486) (97511

CEFIQYASA & OF OF REV Ay 20 24 30N R

LocAL RECEIPT SCHEDULE
SAMPLE TowN

U a4 LS aue Vi Uiy iy B
Metor Ve de Dese VVE) 4950000  4950.000 5150000 SI50000 S0 5SRO S677463  STILOW
Cither €35 (Loxad Opticn Taees) 1390000 215000 2278000 247M000 2568500  204L410 2896,23%  29%003
Pt s infenist on tases 410,00  4%3,000 @0000 000  W022W 514506 527,676 540,668
Faymants mLicuof Taxcs L1000 LIZ5000 L165000 1260000 %, 700 783 4 15,203 g, 007
Chargesfor Services - trasn dsposal 2600000 2600000  2,550000 2650000  2,650000 2652000 2650000 2630000
Pt ds o 0 o (] ] 0 e ]
Copertrant s Reveres - SChooks 329,000 240,000 240,000 ST #31,500 1% 10 34,093 153, 790
Ceportrmentsl Reverue - Utrones 100000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 105 000 10%,000 108,000
Cither Deprtental Reverue 2265063 277A9 2824270 2,001 2%ATIE 30279 30793 1M TS
Uearses & Parmits 3103975 3180975 3,INITS JHLWTS 3ZS4ATT 39INWS  3%0,%T 358464
Anas andforats AU 4200000 400000  AZGINO AXO000 4200000 Q200000 4200000
Irvestirert ircame WA000 250000 #0000 250,000 262% 262.0% 29,22 27,95

[ b Total locl Rmadgts 0448 209%6 277027 2370 3M2AN  BEUMN 24126762 MAMTA |

Finance Committee Handbook | Chapter 7: Revenue and Expenditure Forecasting



Property Taxes:

1. Fiscal Year 2018 Base
This is the levy limit, not your actual tax levy which may
be lower.

2. Plus 2.5%
This is your automatic and allowable 2.5% increase.

3. plus FY2019 Estimated New Growth
This is your Fiscal Year 2019 estimated new growth from

your assessor.

4. Plus FY2019 Override
This is your Fiscal Year 2019 Override, if you have suc-
cessfully voted a new override to begin this year.

5. Plus Debt Exclusion
This is your new or existing debt exclusion. Check with
Treasurer to review the debt schedule to obtain actual
debt payments for the appropriate fiscal years. (Remem-
ber, only qualifying debt should be included here and you
must subtract certain state or federal grants such as School
Building Assistance). Ensure that the debt included in this
line has been properly voted. This can include interest on
short term debrt.

6. Plus Capital Exclusion
This includes only successfully voted capital exclusions
(this is essentially a one year override).

Other Recurring Revenue:

7. State Aid - Cherry Sheet
This is your State Aid Revenue component. Use the green
sheet only. You will need to use an estimate until the actu-
al Cherry Sheets are released.

8. Local Receipts (not allocated in numbers 9, 10 & 11)
These are the fees that are generated at the local level. Mo-
tor vehicle excise is usually the largest component. A team
approach with your town accountants input is suggested
for this estimate.

9. Offset Receipts
This is regulated by Chapter 44, S53E M.G.L. If your
community has adopted this, insert your receipt estimate
here*

10.Enterprise Receipts
This is regulated by Chapter 44, S53 F1 /2 M.G.L. If your
community has adopted this, insert your receipt estimate
here*

11.Revolving Funds
This is regulated by Chapter 44, S53 E 1/2. M.G.L. If
your community has adopted this, insert your receipt
estimate here.*

* REMINDER: There will typically be a direct expense that
off-sets these receipts.

Other Available Funds:

12. Free Cash
This is the amount of free cash certified by DOR annu-
ally that the town chooses to use for operating budgets.
Your available free cash will also depend on whether
you have appropriated any amounts from this current
certification.

13. Stabilization Fund
This is a reserve account that is available for any lawful
purpose. Appropriations from this reserve require a 2/3
vote at town meeting,.

14. Overlay Surplus
This is the amount of overlay no longer required for
potential abatements, exemptions, or pending Appellate
Tax Board cases. This amount must be designated as
surplus by the Board of Assessors.

15. Other
Examples may be: unexpended funds from complete
projects in old special articles

Charges Against Revenue:

16. State & County Charges - Cherry Sheet
These are the State charges (the pink sheets), you will
have to estimate this if the cherry sheets have not been
released.

17. Overlay
This is the amounts needed for property tax abatements
or exemptions. The estimate is arrived at by the board of

aSSESSOrIS.

18. Offsets- Cherry Sheet
These are specific programs listed on the Cherry Sheets
that are earmarked.

19. Amount Certified for Tax Title
This is an amount to be raised for the purpose of starting
the Tax Title process for delinquent taxpayers.

20. Debt & Interest not provided for
This is unanticipated borrowing from the current fiscal
year that was not budgeted for.
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21. Final Court Judgments
Costs from rendered court judgements.

22. Opverlay Deficits
This occurs if the Board of Assessors grants more in
abatements than what is available (overlay reserve), re-
sulting in an overlay deficit. This may also occur for prior
year abatements, if the Board of Assessors settles or loses
a case before the appellate Tax Board.

23. Revenue Deficits
This occurs if the actual receipts received are lower than
the budgeted amounts, and this is not offset by unex-
pended appropriations. Then the revenue deficit must be
raised in the next year’s tax rate.

24. Snow & Ice Deficit
This occurs if the community incurred a deficit because
of severe weather, which deficit must be raised in the next
year’s tax rate.

25. Offset Receipt Deficit
This is if you have adopted Chapter 44, S53 M.G.
L.(number 10 from above) and your actual receipts were
below your estimates, then you should raise this in the
next year’s tax rate.

26. Other
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Fiscal Year 2019

(1) Fiscal Year 2018 base

(2) Plus 2.5%

(3) Plus FY 2019 New Growth
(4) Plus FY 2019 Override

(5) Plus Debt Exclusion

(6) Plus Capital Exclusion

Total Property Tax Revenue
OTHER RECURRING REVENUE:

(7) State Aid - Cherry Sheet

(8) Local Receipts (not allocated below)
(9) Offset Receipts

(10) Enterprise Receipts

(11) Revolving Funds

Total Other Recurring Revenue
OTHER AVAILABLE FUNDS
(12) Free Cash

(13) Stabilization Fund

(14) Overlay Surplus

(15) Other

Total Other Available Funds

TOTAL REVENUE

CHARGES AGAINST REVENUES

(16) State & County Charges - Cherry Sheet
(17) Overlay

(18) Offsets - Cherry Sheet

(19) Amounts Certified for Tax Title
(20) Debt & Interest not provided for
(21) Final Court Judgments

(22) Overlay deficits

(23) Revenue Deficits

(24) Snow & Ice Deficits

(25) Offset Receipt Deficits

(26) Other

TOTAL CHARGES AGAINST
REVENUES

RECONCILIATION: TOTAL REVENUES

TOTAL CHARGES AGAINST REVENUES

TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR LOCAL
APPROPRIATIONS

This document is designed for estimating purposes only
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CHAPTER 8: CASH MANAGEMENT AND BANKING
RELATIONS

INTRODUCTION

Cash management is a significant component of the overall
financial management of a municipality. It is the process
used to manage the funds available to a local governmental
entity in order to ensure maximum cash availability and yield
on the investment of idle cash resources consistent with safe
investment policies.

While the role of the finance committee is generally a sup-
portive one rather than one of direct oversight or responsibil-
ity, the more information a finance committee has about the
handling of municipal cash, the better able it is to determine
whether the process is going well.

A good cash management program benefits a jurisdiction

by increasing non-tax revenues, improving the control and
timely handling of cash, increasing contact with the financial
community and sometimes lowering borrowing costs by good
timing. All of this should be done, of course, while maintain-
ing the safety of the municipality’s funds, and adhering to
state statutes.

LEGAL LIMITATIONS ON AND REQUIREMENTS
OF MuNIcCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICIALS

Municipal finance operations and practices are governed

by Massachusetts General Laws (M.G.L). The Division of
Local Services (DLS) of the state Department of Revenue
(DOR) has statutory responsibilities to make sure that cities
and towns abide by the state statutes. The DLS legal bureau
makes legal information available on its website (www.mass.
gov/dls). It also answers questions submitted via email at
DSLAW@dor.state.ma.us. Publications helpful to financial
officials on the local level are available at the DOR website,

http://www.mass.gov/dor/local-officials

Chapter 44 § 53-55 M.G.L. spells out the requirements for a
municipal treasurer to follow in investing public funds. There
are specific limitations on these investments. These sections

of the law may be found at https://malegislature.gov/Laws.

The Massachusetts Inspector General’s office has issued

a publication titled Banking Services Procurement Guide

Jfor Local Government Treasurers. It describes in detail the
requirements under Massachusetts procurement law which
local government treasurers must follow in obtaining bank-
ing services.

The Massachusetts Collectors and Treasurers Association
(MCTA) Treasurer’s Manual is available at their website:

http://mctavirtualtownhall.net/Pages/index#.

Relevant chapters in this manual are Chapters 11 and 12.
The entire manual can be downloaded free of charge. Also
available from MCTA is a model investment policy, which
local treasurers can adapt for their use.

CASH M ANAGEMENT

The primary goals of a cash management system are:

* Liquidity - 0 maximize the amount of cash available to
meet both the weekly/monthly cash requirements of the
municipality and the amount of money available for in-
vestment (or alternatively, to reduce temporary borrowing
to meet current disbursements); and

* Safety and yield - 70 earn the maximum available return
on funds through legally permissible investments.

Other important goals that can be achieved through a good
cash management program are:
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Develop or strengthen internal control in areas of cash
receipts and cash disbursements;

Improved collection policies/practices with respect to out-
standing taxes and fees; and

Establish clear lines of communication and authority be-
tween the treasurer and department heads relating to their
cash needs.

The basic elements of a cash management program include:

Cash flow analysis;
Forecasting disbursements and receipts;
Investment program; and

Banking relations.

At a minimum, cash flow data should be prepared on a
monthly basis for the current year. Larger communities with
significant budgets may wish to compile information on a
daily, weekly or biweekly basis to get the most usable and
meaningful information.

The cash flow is constructed from two main types of inflows
and outflows of cash: recurring types, which can be antici-
pated regularly month after month, such as property taxes or
payroll expenses; and extraordinary types, which result from
non-recurring items or programs, such as federal grants or
capital expenditures.

A cash manager should use past history of major collections
and disbursements (the previous three to five years provides
the best data) to identify recurring patterns, and then adjust
these flows for predicted changes in the timing of the pat-
terns and for the anticipated rise and fall of income and
expense amounts.

The municipality’s operating budget can provide those who
are preparing the cash flow analysis with useful and necessary
information. The percentage increase in payroll and other
expenditures, changes in seasonal spending patterns and ad-
justments caused by the addition or deletion of programs can
be detected in an analysis of the budget.

On the disbursement side, payroll accounts for approximately

70 percent of most local government budgets. Thus, person-
nel expenditures should be identified first.

Personnel expenditures are relatively constant and therefore
can be reliably predicted. Payroll records or the upcoming
budget are used to determine yearly personnel costs, then
that amount is divided by the number of pay periods for the
gross payroll. The gross, which includes federal and state
income taxes (plus any employer share of Medicare taxes)
and fringe benefits such as health insurance and retirement,
should all be factored into the cash flow. The disbursement
forecast should also include adjustments for seasonal or
temporary workers and seasonal payments such as vacation
advances in the summer months.

Once payroll disbursements have been forecasted, the cash
manager should then forecast other cash payments. This
might be accomplished by analyzing each departmental bud-
get for non-payroll items and then examining the more ex-
pensive items first. Discussions with department heads should
reveal patterns of past cash disbursements for these items,
and the predicted pattern and amount of disbursement for
the upcoming year. Care should be taken to ensure that these
amounts coincide with the treasurer’s sense of reasonable
payments and past disbursement experience. Department
officials may have incorrect impressions of their department’s
cash disbursements because they do not always monitor the
timing and volume of cash outflows.

Receipts can be forecasted as easily as disbursements. Real
Estate and Personal Property taxes have due dates set by
statute. Motor Vehicle Excise and Utility bills have similar
collection dates. Local Aid is distributed on monthly basis.
Seasonal increases in receipts such as beach fees or new home
constructions or renovations should again be easily tracked
with just a few years of historical data. A conservative
approach should be recommended for the estimation of one
time receipts such as the sale of Town-owned property.

Once forecast calculations are completed, the next step is to
construct a monthly calendar specifying, by date, the amount
of money needed, the purpose for specific funding with its
recipient(s) against projected general receipts. This similar
process needs to be accomplished well in advance to identify
a shortfall. A Revenue Anticipation Note (RAN) may be
issued through the State House Note program for a period

of up to one year to address a negative cash flow situation.

These RAN’s are provided for under M.G.L c. 44 §4.
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Computer spreadsheets should be developed in the Town
Treasurer’s office which can be used each year to forecast
disbursements and revenues. The Massachusetts Collectors’
and Treasurers’ Association has held workshops where trea-
surers share various forms and spreadsheets which they have

developed.

M.G.L. Ch. 44 §55B requires that all monies not required for
current operations be invested. The available investments for
these funds, except for trust, certain special purpose funds
and retirement funds, are stipulated in M.G.L. Ch. 44 § 55.
This section was updated under the Municipal Moderniza-
tion Act of 2016. In summary, a treasurer shall not have on
deposit any sum of money that would exceed 60% of the
capital and surplus of such bank or trust unless additional
security has been pledged. These investments are limited to
term deposits or certificates of deposits having maturity of
up to 3 years, deposits in trust companies, national banks,
savings banks, banking companies or cooperative banks or
obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the US
government. Additional investments such as United States
Government securities or their agencies purchased under an
agreement with a bank or banking company with conditional
repurchase agreements as well as shares of beneficial interest
issued by money market funds may also be an option. Please
refer specifically to the law regarding these investments.

The use of a combined investment fund (for example the
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust, MMDT) is au-
thorized. The State Treasurer has contracted with an invest-
ment manager (currently Federated Investors) to administer
and manage the MMDT. There are two funds available. The
Cash Portfolio is a cash portfolio investing in CDs, T-Bills,
repos, Bankers Acceptances and Commercial Paper. The
Short Term Bond Fund provides a longer investment horizon
participating in a diversified portfolio of high quality invest-
ment grade fixed-income assets. MMDT is a highly liquid
pool, where funds can be transferred out on same day, but
can also be used to schedule future dated distributions.

Trust funds are invested in accordance with Chapter 44 § 54
M.G.L. In addition to the options listed above, § 54 allows
for a wider variety of investments as provided for by the

State Banking Commission for trust funds that in aggregate
exceed $250,000. Pension funds are under the jurisdiction of
the local or county contributory retirement system and are
not subject to the provisions of Chapter 44.

Safety of principal is the foremost objective of an investment
program.

Investments should be undertaken in a manner that seeks

to ensure the preservation of capital through the mitigation
of credit risk and interest rate risk. These risks should be
lessened by the diversification and prudent selection of invest-
ment instruments and choice of depository. Credit risk is the
risk of loss due to the failure of the security issuer or backer.
Interest rate risk is the risk that the market value of the secu-
rity will fall due to changes in general interest rates.

Public investments in Massachusetts are not protected
through any provisions in State law. Therefore, they routinely
sit uncollateralized unless municipalities take measures to
require it. Banking institutions are willing to put up collater-
al but may do so at a cost to the town in the form of a lower
interest rate. The Treasurer’s banking relationships should
help minimize the disparity.

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation coverage is limited
to $250,000 per customer per bank. Auditors are required
under the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB
I1I) to note in the audit of a municipality whether invest-
ments are collateralized or not. The Massachusetts Munic-
ipal Depository Trust is not considered an uncollateralized
product under the regulation. When obtaining investments
through banks or broker/dealers, it is important that a mu-
nicipality take delivery on securities or, at the very least, that
they be held in custody in the name of the municipality by a
third party. These agreements should be readily available for
your auditors to review.

Traditionally, banks have served local governments primarily
as depositories for funds for security purposes, to serve as
paying agent for payroll and accounts payable services, and
providers of credit to meet municipal borrowing needs. In the
past, it was appropriate that criteria such as convenience of lo-
cation and community relations governed the municipality’s
choice of its depository or depositories.

Currently, banks are offering more and more financial ser-
vices that complement or even duplicate functions tradition-
ally performed by the municipality itself; i.e. lockbox, remote
deposit, and electronic payments. Depending on a number of
factors — including the cost of purchasing these services from
a bank relative to the cost of providing them in-house, and
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the extent to which the municipality desires to upgrade its
financial management capacity - the municipality may wish
to procure a portion of the many services now provided by

banks.

Not all banks are equipped to offer the full-range of services
needed by a municipality. As a result, many municipalities
are not aware of these opportunities to update their banking
procedures, and are still functioning under longstanding,
outmoded banking relationships. As an integral part of im-
proving financial management functions and moving toward
a more effective cash management system, municipalities
should reevaluate their banking relations in light of current
opportunities.

A Treasurer should review relevant banking information and
request weekly/monthly quotations for investment rates. Mul-
tiple quotes should be received for any term investment. This
competition greatly enhances cash management.

The way in which municipalities configure their bank
accounts is a key determinant of the effectiveness of a given
community’s cash management system. A review of common
practices suggests that many local governments can achieve
substantial gains in investment income by making some
straightforward changes in their account management. These
changes can involve both the number and type of accounts.

The majority of your banks offer online account access with
features such as the review of account activities, electronic
statements, internal fund transfers and ACH/wire transfer
capabilities. Technology allows for more frequent account
reconciliations which allow a more accurate analysis. Larg-
er disbursements such as debt service and regional school
assessments may be made electronically specifically on their
due date to maximize the time period the money is invested.
These services may be offered at little or no charge to the
municipality depending on their banking relationships.

A good cash management system is designed to help a mu-
nicipality maximize the benefit it gets from its cash resources
by ensuring that the municipality:

collects its accounts receivable in a thorough and timely
manner;

maintains “on hand” (in its checking accounts) only
enough cash to pay out immediate accounts payable as
they come due; and

invests all other cash as quickly as possible into invest-
ments yielding the highest possible return.

The more effectively the municipality can perform these
functions, the more investment income it will earn. In turn,
the more investment income it earns, the greater the financial
resources available to the municipality to pay for the public
services it provides.

The table at the end of this chapter presents a list of services
offered by banks, companies, MMDT and federal and state
governments to help address these cash management needs.
If at certain points in the course of the cash management
cycle the community might have short-term cash shortfalls,
borrowing to meet these obligations becomes a cash manage-
ment service obtained from the bank. (See Chapter 12.)

Collection services offered by banks are designed to accelerate
a municipality’s cash receipts and thereby allow the mu-
nicipality to invest those receipts in a timely manner. This
“acceleration” is accomplished by decreasing the collection
float. Collection float can be reduced by instituting one or a
combination of the following banking services:

A lock box system speeds up the collection process by elim-
inating handling by municipal collectors” offices of certain
routine remittances;

Over-the-counter payment can help to accelerate a munici-
pality’s bill collection by increasing the taxpayer’s bill-pay-
ing convenience by providing over-the-counter collection
at a bank;

Armored cars and night depositories can also improve the
speed at which a municipality’s receipts are deposited in
its accounts, and can be put to use either to meet current
obligations or to begin earning interest. Aside from the
security advantages afforded by a night depository, this
service is especially beneficial if the municipality’s ac-
counts are structured to earn interest overnight, that is,
beginning immediately upon deposit;

Wire transfers, used in lieu of checks, involve the electron-
ic transmission of payments from one bank to another
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through a wire system. Wire transfers are not cost effec-
tive for all transactions. In general, wire transfers will be
cost effective for large transactions such as intergovern-
mental grants, proceeds from investment sales and debt
issuances, and tax or utility payments from out-of-town
organizations;

Electronic tax payments are becoming increasingly popular
with taxpayers. Banks may offer the service directly or
team with companies specializing in the service. Costs,

if any, are usually borne by the taxpayer and the result is
timely payments. Care must be made that an adequate
system for tracking and crediting payments is provided;

Credit and debit cards are also popular among taxpayers.
While there may be some cost to the municipality, and
reconciliation is an added task, the convenience to taxpay-
ers may offset these costs by getting tax and fee payments
into the hands of the municipality early;

Federal Automated Clearing House Direct Deposits and Di-
rect Debits allow a treasurer to make same day payments
and receive same day deposits at a minimal cost. This has
many of the beneficial features of wire transfers, but at a
reduced cost.

Banks will charge municipalities for services rendered. The
price of a particular banking service will depend on many
factors, including the number of municipalities purchasing
the service, the costs of the equipment and labor needed to
provide the service and how much of the service the munici-
pality will use.

Commonwealth of Massachusetts procurement laws require
that cities and towns seek proposals for banking services from
a number of different banks. Banking services should be bid
periodically to ensure the most competitive cost structure.
The treasurer should send a “Request for Proposal” to quali-
fied banks, and should also place a legal advertisement in at
least one local newspaper. The office of the Inspector General
of the Commonwealth has issued an acceptable format for
the process (see www.mass.gov/ig).

The municipality can pay for its banking services in several
ways:

Direct payment, in which the bank prices each service
offered, and the municipality reimburses the bank pe-
riodically for charges incurred during that period from

appropriated funds in the treasurer or collector’s budget;

Compensating balances, where instead of charging the mu-
nicipality a fee to be paid directly for service(s), the bank
specifies a minimum balance that the municipality must
maintain with the bank in non-interest bearing accounts.
The bank can then lend this money (subject to the reserve
requirement) and earn interest, which will at least cover
the cost of services provided to the municipality;

Hybrid, where the bank offers an earnings credit based on
balances and then bills for the net amounts not covered by
the credit.

Services offered by banks represent efficiencies of scale and
proprietary technologies. These opportunities are available
at a cost to the municipality. A simple equation noting a
total cost to outsource a service and the additional gains to
the municipality’s operation can easily be computed. For
example, a town may opt to use a lock box service for excise
bills. A cost of 25¢ per bill processed for 10,000 bills expect-
ed yields a cost of $2500. The cost of hiring a part-time clerk
to process these bills might easily exceed this dollar amount.
The decision would be made to enjoy the bank’s economy

of scale and have the larger institution perform the service
without hiring an additional employee.

The compensating balance method of municipal banking

is more difhicult to evaluate and can present some hidden
pitfalls for municipalities. Under a direct payment system,
the municipality receives an itemized statement of charges for
service. The compensating balance method presumes an es-
tablished deposit and a presumed interest rate in exchange for
an estimated use of certain banking services. It is difficult for
a Treasurer to accurately assign a dollar amount to its bank-
ing services. Also, compensating balance agreements may
extend out to three years. It may be difficult to renegotiate or
opt out of the longer term agreement if unfavorable circum-
stances exist. With direct payment, the municipality rather
than the bank would have access to this “extra” cash and
could invest it to its own rather than the bank’s advantage.

The Municipal Modernization Act removed the exemption
to c. 30B for contracts for bank services that are subject to
the maintenance of a compensating balance. The municipal
procurement statute ¢.30B applies to banking services. The
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Act also eliminated the DOR’s role in prescribing types of
services and in receiving reports of these services.

Chapter 44 § 53F M.G.L., expressly authorizes a munici-
pal or district treasurer to enter into formal “compensating
balance” agreements with banking institutions. It should be
noted, however, that the law also:

Requires that any such agreement be in writing and not
exceed three years;

Provides for specific limitations on the types of services which
may be procured under a compensating balance agreement;

Establishes a local approval process for all such agreements
and

Sets in place annual reporting requirements relating to such
agreements, and requires the treasurer to disseminate the
report to the local administration as well as the Office of
the Inspector General.

The important thing for municipal financial officers to

realize about compensating balances is that they represent a
real dollar cost to the municipality in terms of lost interest
income — income that the municipality could have earned by
investing the amount of the compensating balances in the
highest interest-bearing accounts available to it. When this
cost is equal to the municipality’s banking service charges
and is used to pay those charges, the municipality does not
lose anything through the compensating balance method and
earns a return on all collected balances.

Communities that utilize compensating balances to pay for
services should insist that banks agree to provide, as part of
the arrangement, ongoing information on the costs incurred
by the community based on the volume of transactions and
agreed-upon fees. In addition, town fiscal officers should
make sure the earnings on the compensating balance are
reported by the bank and monitored by the community,
with earnings in excess of the cost of services being remitted
to the community. From a municipality’s standpoint, this
accountability and monitoring ensures the most desirable and
advantageous arrangement of payment for banking services,
regardless of what banking services system is being utilized.
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CATEGORIES OF SERVICES AND RELATED

CASH MANAGEMENT GOALS

CATEGORY

SERVICES

GOAL

Collection Services

Lock-Box System
Over-The-Counter Payment
Armored Car Services
Night Depository

Wire Transfers

Electronic Payments
Credit/Debit Cards

Direct Deposits and Debits

Accelerate Cash Receipts

Account Services

Regular Checking Accounts
Concentration/Zero Balance Accounts
Wire Transfers

Daily Account Notification

Check Sorting

Account Reconciliation

Online Banking

Checks on CD-Rom

Savings Bond Issuance For Employees
Direct Payroll Deposit

Online Payment of Withholding Taxes

Minimize “Idle” Account Balances

Investment Services

Money Market Instruments
Investment Advice

Time Deposits

Retirement Plan Services
Trust Services

Sweep Accounts

Promote Effective Use Of “Idle Cash In Earning

Borrowing Services

Financial Advisory Services
Underwriting Services

Paying Agent Services

Lending Activities Related To Community
And Economic Development Projects
Bond Counsel Services

Meet Short and Long Term Borrowing Needs

This chapter was prepared by Elizabeth W. Klepeis, Donald
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CHAPTER 9: USER FEES AND ENTERPRISE FUNDS

INTRODUCTION

The federal court system has defined a tax as “an enforced
contribution to provide the support of government.” United

States v. Tax Commission of Miss., 421 U.S. 599 (1975).

In Massachusetts, property tax revenues derive from a tax
rate and property values, with little or no link to specific gov-
ernment services. In contrast, user fees and charges support
the provision of a specific municipal service, with the users
having the option to decline the service and avoid the fee.

Historically, user fees have been a viable but largely underuti-
lized source of revenue. With the constraints on property tax

increases imposed in 1982 by Proposition 2 %2, towns increas-
ingly turned to user fees to support services once financed

by property taxes. Thus, much of the state’s guidance on this

subject was established in the mid to late 1980’s.

UsER FEES DEFINED

A Massachusetts Department of Revenue’s Division of Local
Services 1988 IGR defined User Charges/Fees as: “A munici-
pal funding source where payment is collected from the user
of a service to help defray the cost of providing the service.”
The reader may wish to review the state’s current versions of
Municipal Finance Glossary and Querview of Statutory Treat-

ment of Municipal Revenues for additional guidance on this

subject.

A user fee is simply a charge to the user of a specific govern-
ment service. The underlying philosophy is that those who
use or benefit from a program or service should pay for it.
The direct and indirect costs of various services are analyzed,
fee mechanisms studied, and fees and rates established to
recover the full cost of service delivery.

User fees consist of two broad types of charges, and it is
essential to distinguish between them. User charges are based

on the goods and services used by an individual, group or
business, for example sewer and water user charges. Other
fees, such as licenses and permits, might reflect the costs of
the government’s review and regulatory processes.

User Charges

Such charges introduce a business-like relationship between
the user/customer and the governmental unit imposing the
charges. The customer has the option to avoid both the
service and the charges, and the governmental entity pro-
vides only the level and quality of service for which users are
willing to purchase.

Individuals, groups, businesses, and organizations pay these
charges for goods or services received. The revenues from
these charges are intended to help defray the costs of services,
not to regulate the activities. Examples of this type of charge
may include the use of public buildings or recreational facili-
ties, copying, notary services, etc.

User Fees

This second category comprises fees assessed on individuals,
groups, businesses and organizations for the opportunity to
participate in a government-regulated activity. Examples of
these regulation-oriented charges include fees for permits to
build or modify structures, court and legal expenses, and
permits to conduct garage sales. These user fees might be
considered “mandatory,” since an individual or business may
not proceed with a covered activity without regulatory review
and the payment of the associated license or permit fee.

LEGAL TEST OF USER CHARGES

Just as the federal courts have defined taxes, the Massachu-
setts court system has established a three-point test to deter-
mine whether a user fee, may be classified as such. Emerson

College v. Boston, 391 Mass. 415 (1984).
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In the Emerson case, the court reached the conclusion that
the charges imposed by the city produced revenue to defray
the cost of a public benefit rather than a fee paid for a benefit
limited to the owners of the property.

This landmark case resulted in the identification of three
common traits that are used to distinguish fees from taxes in
Massachusetts. They are:

the service must provide a direct benefit to a party in ex-
change for payment in a way not shared by other members
of society;

the service must be optional, with the party having the
choice to refuse the service and

the charge must compensate the specific governmental unit
Jor the cost of delivering that service only. (The governmen-
tal unit may not collect user fees to simply raise general
revenue.)

There have also been Massachusetts court cases where im-
posed charges have been upheld as valid fees. In Southview
Co-Operative Housing Corp. v. Rent Control Board of
Cambridge, 396 Mass. 395 (1985), the court concluded that
charges levied against landlords in filing petitions for individ-
ual rent adjustments were valid fees. In another case known
as Commonwealth v. Caldwell, 25 Mass. App. Ct. (1987),
the court also found that a mooring and slip fee assessed to
vessel owners by a Harbormaster acting under a municipal
ordinance was a valid fee and not a tax.

In both of the above cases, the court determined that the
revenues raised directly compensated the government unit for
the cost of providing the service. On the flip side, municipal-
ities may be imposing fees that exceed the cost of the services
being provided. Communities should take care to verify

that local fees are based upon reasonable costs. User fees
should not be used to generate revenue in excess of the cost of
providing the particular service. The burden for proving the
illegality of a user fee rests with the party challenging it.

Apart from the role user charges play in a town’s fiscal plan,
proponents of user fees and charges argue that they offer
substantial additional benefits to communities. These benefits
include:

promotes equity by passing the cost of providing a service
directly to the end user, rather than burdening those who

neither need nor want these services. Moreover, user fees
can replace and enable general fund revenue to sustain
services that benefit the broader community;

improves allocation of public resources, predicated on a free
market. When the consumer determines both the value
of the service and the level of demand, government is
encouraged to provide only the amount of service needed.
Public administrators can adjust fee schedules or eliminate
services based on citizen demand;

establishes a revenue source that may vary with the demand
for specific services. As demand for a service increases, so
does the revenue stream; as demand declines, revenues do
the same;

enables pricing flexibility created by economies of scale.
As demand rises for certain services, delivery costs may
be reduced, reflecting the lower costs of more efficient
operations and

allows linkages to other governmental efforts. User charges
can be established to benefit the local quality of life. The
use of increasing block rates in water and sewer utilities
is an example of fee structures that are deemed to protect
the environment because they promote water conserva-
tion.

While user fees offer advantages for funding public services,
detractors of the practice also abound. The most common
argument against user fees is their potential to be regressive
in nature. They profess that user fees place a greater burden
on lower income residents than on middle or upper-income
residents. The argument is that those who may most need a
service may be least able to pay for it.

The issue that user fees may be regressive is not the major
argument here in Massachusetts; it is that user fees represent
a way of circumventing the limits of Proposition 2V2.

Thus, some interpret user fees as back door taxes that are
used to fund municipal services formerly funded by general
revenues. Subscribers to this point of view consider such user
fees an unfair burden on the specific users, who once paid
for these services through property taxes or other general
revenues.

Unlike local income, property and other taxes, user fees
are not deductible for federal income tax purposes. In some
communities, town meeting members each year move to shift
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some fees for services to the tax levy. They reason that the tax
deductions for higher property taxes will reduce out-of-pock-
et costs after taxes. This argument is generally not valid with
respect to itemized charges for services to a specific property
that are added to the property tax bill. The federal personal
income tax code allows deductions for property taxes only
when the taxes are based solely on the value of the property.

More recently, the State Supreme Judicial Court re-examined
the issue of fees, and distinguished between “regulatory” fees;
defined as reasonable fees that are charged to defray the cost
of issuing a license that the municipality lawfully requires for
one to engage in a particular activity, from “proprietary” fees;
defined as fees exacted in exchange for the use of municipal
property (e.g., a water or sewer system user fees). In Silvav.
City of Attleboro, 454 Mass. 165 (2009), the “voluntariness”
standard set out in the Emerson case was determined not to
apply to a regulatory fee (in the Silva case, the fee was for a
burial permit).

An enterprise fund accounts for the income, expense, assets
and liabilities of financing specific services to the public,
where the governing body intends to recover the costs of
providing the services through user charges.

Governmental units operate and finance these service activ-
ities in a manner similar to a private business or enterprise.
Rates and user charges are established, either as part of the
budget process or as a separate, formal rate-setting procedure,
to cover direct and indirect costs, including depreciation of
assets, expenses, replacement or improvement of assets, and
efforts to retain earnings for future capital investments.

While sound business practice and long-term financial
planning might dictate creation of an enterprise fund, munic-
ipalities may also do so to achieve some broader public policy
objectives. Some elected and appointed officials believe that
those who benefit from a particular government program
should pay for the program through user fees. These officials
may conclude that an enterprise fund is the best mechanism
for systematically accounting for all direct and indirect oper-
ational costs and revenues. Thus, an enterprise fund not only
yields the financial data needed to periodically determine the
required level of revenues, but also responds to public policy,
management control, accountability and other objectives.

By accepting the provisions of G.L. Chapter 44, §53 FV4,

a town may establish an enterprise fund to segregate the
accounting for a group or class of similar municipal services.
Without accepting the special legislative provisions, all user
fee receipts and related disbursements are commingled within
the general fund.

If no special legislation is adopted, service expenses in excess
of revenues must be raised through the property tax levy or
from other general revenues. Revenue surpluses are rolled
into the general fund balance and may not be applied to
reduce future user fees or be appropriated to maintain assets
used to deliver services.

The most significant difference between general governmen-
tal accounting practices and enterprise funds is the recogni-
tion of revenues when earned and expenses when incurred
(the full accrual basis of accounting). Municipal accounting
in Massachusetts is generally on a full cash or modified
accrual basis.

Only Massachusetts cities and towns may adopt an enter-
prise fund pursuant to G.L. c.44, § 53F%5. Regional schools,
vocational-technical schools and/or special purpose districts
may not adopt an enterprise fund, unless permitted by
special legislation. Enterprise funds may be established, “for
a utility, health care, recreational or transportation facility.”
Examples include:

Public utilities — water, wastewater, solid waste;
Health care — ambulance service, nursing homes;
Recreation — skating rinks, pools, golf courses and

Transportation — airports, marinas.

A community may not establish enterprise funds for nor-
mal government operations or services such as public safety,
inspectional services or cemeteries.

In April of 2008 the Division Of Local Services issued
Informational Guideline Release (IGR) No. 08-101. This
document is now known as the Enterprise Manual and it is
the definitive source of general information relative to the
operation of an enterprise fund in Massachusetts.

The first decision a community must reach before determin-
ing which accounting system will be most appropriate is

whether or not a town should fully recover the costs associat-
ed with certain municipal services. In reaching this decision,
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a town should consider the following questions:
Who are the customers receiving the services?

Are comparable services being provided by the private
sector? By neighboring towns?

Is there a statutory obligation to provide this service?
What are the long-range plans for this service?

Do the user fees being charged cover direct and indirect
service costs?

While there are no “right” answers to these questions, towns
generally create enterprise funds for services that meet the

following profile:

the service is widely accepted by a broad base of custom-
ers;

competition is limited, and the service enjoys competitive
advantages: price, location, etc.;

the governmental unit intends to continue providing the
service, that is, to stay “in the business™

user fees either cover all costs or may be increased or
restructured to do so;

accountability for the service;

response operation is clear.

Finance committees may wish to assess fee for service
programs in their budgets to determine whether or not an
enterprise fund is appropriate. The enterprise fund approach
can ensure that the infrastructure for critical services, such as
water and sewer, can be properly maintained and upgraded.
Many communities are finding that the demands for services
funded by the tax levy leave few resources for timely capital
investment in their infrastructure.

Whether accounted for in the general fund or by an enter-
prise fund, user fees may be considered, adopted, and period-
ically evaluated through a five-step process:

1. define the services to be provided on a user fee basis;
2. estimate demand for the services;

3. calculate the full cost of the services using cost-account-
ing techniques;

4. determine the total cost of delivering a “unit” of service;
and

5. establish a fee structure to recover service costs and pre-
serve the asset base.

This process requires good business instincts and some
competency in cost accounting. A thoughtfully appointed
finance committee can be rich in these interests and skills.
While many members may initially be unfamiliar with the
idiosyncrasies of municipal accounting, most can easily relate
to activities similar to those of a business in the private sector.
If a business analysis suggests that there is a market for a
particular municipal service and that customers will pay fees
adequate to recover costs, then the committee’s efforts should
focus on accounting for service costs.

The town’s accounting system may track all revenues and
expenditures in the general fund, but which costs are related
to a specific service? The direct costs of a service are generally
obvious: wages and salaries, electricity and other utility costs,
supplies, materials and some capital outlays. However, mu-
nicipalities must also consider a service’s indirect costs, such
as insurance, employee pension costs, operational overhead,
municipal space, debt service, etc. These expenses usually
appear in other areas of the town’s budget. The annual cost of
capital investments in inventories, facilities, equipment and
infrastructure must also be accounted for. The local govern-
ment’s financial systems should properly track the addition,
deletion and depreciation of their communities’ capital
investments and inventories.

Considerable analysis may be required to identify and quan-
tify indirect costs associated with a specific service. Typically,
the town’s budget presents lump sum appropriations and the
accounting system records gross expenses for costs such as
worker’s compensation premiums, group health and medical
insurance and principal and interest payments. Identifying
and separating these indirect costs is essential to implement-
ing an enterprise fund.

Enterprise funds account for their fixed assets and long-term
liabilities on their balance sheets and income statements. This
method of accounting enables rate setters to properly pro-
vide for the annual depreciation expenses and capital outlay
requirements of the enterprise.

This chapter was originally prepared by Donald Levitan, Sheryl
McMahon, Mark Morse and Kevin Gookin. It has been sub-
stantially updated over the years by Michael Daley, the chapter
author for all subsequent editions.
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CHAPTER 10: MUNICIPAL ACCOUNTING AND AUBITING

ACCOUNTING: THE BAsics

The dictionary definition of accounting is “the art or sys-
tem of recording, classifying and summarizing commercial
transactions in monetary terms.” The objectives of municipal
accounting include the demonstration, by public officials, of
the following:

°  their exercise of appropriate stewardship over resources pro-

vided,

*  their expenditure of funds in accordance with the dictates of
the governing body (town meeting) and outside federal and
state agencies;

©  their presentation of year-end financial statements in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is
the authoritative standard setting body that provides guid-
ance on how to prepare financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Users
of these financial statements (such as investors and rating
agencies) rely on the GASB to establish consistent reporting
standards for all governments in the United States. This con-
sistent application is the only way users can assess the finan-
cial condition of one government compared to others.

Governments must adhere to GASB pronouncements in
order to issue their financial statements in conformity with
GAAP. The users of the financial statements also rely on the
independent auditor’s opinion. If your financial statements
have significant departures from GAAP, the independent
auditors’ may issue a modified opinion or a disclaimer (where
no opinion is given). These types of opinions may have an
adverse effect on your bond rating and your ability to borrow
money. In many cases, the failure to issue audited financial
statements will result in a violation of an existing bond cove-
nant and can have serious implications.

It is important to remember that the GASB is an indepen-
dent body not associated with the United States Government
or the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. The GASB pro-
nouncements are not a federal or state mandate for financial
statement reporting.

The accounting process in Massachusetts municipal govern-
ment is unique; it is a shared responsibility among a num-
ber of financial and operating departments. The primary
accounting responsibility lies with the town accountant.
However, other municipal officials, such as the assessor,
collector, treasurer, school business manager and water and
sewer manager, also track and record financial activity. While
this process can be criticized as duplicative, it can be a strong
internal control provided the individual departments recon-
cile their accounting records with each other on a disciplined
basis.

The process of “Accounting” is simply the system of record-
ing the financial transactions of an entity. The actual indi-
vidual accounting entries are repetitive by nature and are not
complicated. However, how these individual transactions are
classified, summarized and reported is the key for an effective
accounting system.

The process of municipal accounting is threefold:

1. The town conducts its business and records its financial
activity simultaneously on books of original entry.

2. At the end of the fiscal period (a month, quarter or at
year-end), the accounting organization “closes its books.”
This is a collaborative process that confirms that financial
transactions were accurately recorded. Bank reconcilia-
tions are a classic example of the closing process. A key
element of the accounting close is the reconciliation of
independent departmental records with other applicable
departments. Differences should be investigated and cor-
rections made on a timely basis.
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3. 'The preparation of management reports for the adminis-
tration, department heads and, ultimately, the taxpayer.
Monthly financial reports typically include budget and
expense reports for individual departments indicating the
status of their allotted budgets.

The accounting system should have a series of key controls

in place that are performed consistently and that verify the
balances recorded on the accounting ledgers are properly
approved and classified. These procedures should clearly iden-
tify and correct errors in a timely manner. Reconciliation of
account receivables, cash and departmental balances should
be completed at least on a monthly basis.

Finance committee members can assess the sophistication of
their town’s financial organization by observing the frequen-
cy and timeliness of the accounting closings and the quality
and relevance of management reports. A classic symptom of
a sub-standard operation is the inability to close the books
as of June 30 (the last day of the fiscal year) and complete an
audit on a timely basis. In the private sector, this process is
typically completed within three months.

At least some members of most finance committees have
outside business and/or financial expertise. The differences
between private and public sector accounting historically
have been extensive. In June 1999, the GASB issued State-
ment 34 — “Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments”
which closes the differences dramatically. It established new
criteria on the form and content of governmental financial
statements. GASB Chairman Tom L. Allen called Statement
34 “the most significant change in the history of governmen-
tal accounting. It represents a dramatic shift in the way state
and local governments present financial information to the
public.” The GASB continues to issue new pronouncements
which change the governmental financial statement reporting
model almost annually.

Under the new model, anyone with an interest in public fi-
nance—citizens, the media, bond raters, creditors, legislators,
and others—will have more and easier-to-understand infor-
mation about their governments. Among the major innova-
tions of Statement 34, governments will:

Report on the overall state of the government’s financial
health, not just its individual “funds”

Provide the most complete information ever available
about the cost of delivering services to their citizens;

Include, for the first time, information about the gov-
ernment’s public infrastructure assets—such as bridges,
roads, and storm sewers;

Prepare an introductory narrative section analyzing the
government’s financial performance;

The government now presents an Entity-wide Statement of
Net Position and a Statement of Activities under the full
accrual basis of accounting that is the same basis of ac-
counting used by the private sector. In these statements, all
short-term assets and liabilities, such as cash, receivables and
warrants payable, are included as well as long-term assets and
liabilities, such as capital assets, bonds payable and compen-
sated absences. In most cases, revenues are recognized when
earned and expenses when incurred regardless of when the
cash is received or disbursed. The remaining major difference
between government and private sector accounting is GASB
75 related to Other Post Employment Benefit liabilities
(OPEB). This new standard is required to be implemented in
FY2018. The fundamental change requires the unfunded lia-
bility to be recorded as an accounting liability. To get a sense
of the impact on your Town’s net position read your current
financial statements and these liabilities disclosed in the notes
and required supplementary information.

Accountants and auditors in the Commonwealth currently
use either one of two accounting systems or both systems
at the same time. These systems are statutory and uniform
municipal accounting.

Statutory System

The statutory system is the older of the two accounting sys-
tems. It uses a single fund (i.e., one general ledger) to record
all transactions that occur during the course of the year. If,
for example, the municipality is building a wastewater treat-
ment facility that is being funded by grants and long-term
debt, these activities are accounted for along with normal
annual operating expenses in the general ledger. While the
accountant and the treasurer may be able to differentiate
between these types of activities, managers and interested
outside parties may have difficulty understanding financial
statements prepared from this system because all activities are
mingled together.
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Although the Statutory System is allowed, it is no longer
recommended. It is difficult to separate the budgeted activity
from the non-budgeted activities and does not facilitate time-
ly financial reporting and preparation of the year-end audited
financial statements.

Uniform Municipal Accounting System (UMAS)

UMAS is a multi-fund accounting system based on the na-
tional Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP) for
governmental units. Because GAAP principles are accepted
and used nationally, someone in a town in the state of Utah
can read a set of financial statements from a town in Massa-
chusetts and be able to understand the figures and compare
them to those from any other municipality. This updated
accounting system recognizes the variety of activities per-
formed by a municipality in several funds. Using the previous
example of constructing a new wastewater treatment facility,
under a UMAS system: normal municipal operations would
be accounted for in a general fund; the construction of a
wastewater treatment facility would be accounted for in a
capital project fund; and other town projects that expended
or brought in money would be accounted for in still other

funds.

Today, town accountants are increasingly sensitive to national
governmental accounting models. While UMAS continues

as a “guide”, the state also looks to outside agencies, such as
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB),

to establish the principles of accounting and reporting to be
followed in Massachusetts.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)

Generally accepted accounting principles are uniform
minimum standards and guidelines for financial accounting
and reporting. The uniqueness of governmental operations
requires a separate GAAP for governments. Since 1984, the
establishment of governmental GAAP has been the respon-
sibility of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB). GAAP is intended to achieve some level of stan-
dardization among entities’ financial reporting and account-
ing methods. GAAP covers matters such as fund accounting,
methods of recognizing revenue and expenditures, account-
ing consistency between periods, long-term liabilities and
disclosure requirements for external financial statements.

Auditors, in issuing their year-end reports, state that the
town’s financial statements are fairly presented “in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles”.

As stated previously, while the state remains concerned with
statutory compliance, GAAP, as promulgated by GASB, is
now the requirement for year-end reporting by Massachu-
setts towns. Finance committee members (ideally through
an audit committee) should familiarize themselves with the
accounting principles followed by their town and ensure that
such principles are in compliance with GAAP.

An audit is an independent examination of a municipality’s
financial transactions and account balances that determine
whether a town’s financial statements are “fairly presented.”
The audit process involves a review of fiscal procedures and
controls, the establishment of audit scopes, the conduct of
tests and independent confirmation and calculation of assets,
deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows.

Since the mid-1970’s, independent audits in Massachusetts
have become commonplace. Audits are mandated by the fed-
eral government for those communities receiving in excess of
a stated amount of federal aid. In addition, the bond market
expects audited financial statements to support debt sales.

The major argument for an audit is the annual outside
discipline imposed on the audited financial organization(s).
The presence of an outside professional “looking over the
shoulder” is, among other things, an incentive for accounting
officials to maintain sound procedures and accurate books of
account.

A clean audit does not guarantee the absence of fraud. While
auditors plan and construct their audits to identify fraud that
would result in misleading financial statements (this consti-
tutes a “major” fraud), most towns cannot afford a forensic
audit whereby each and every financial transaction is subject
to outside scrutiny.

There are three products of audits: financial statements, a
schedule of federal awards and a management letter. The
management letter outlines the auditors’ recommendations
for improvements in accounting procedures, internal control
and other matters. Management letters can also be notewor-
thy for what they do not say. A truly “clean” management
letter represents a validation that the accounting organization
and processes are in good shape.

A sometimes disproportionate level of interest is placed on
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audit management letters versus the financial statements.
This is because the letter is written “in English” and mu-
nicipal officials who do not understand the financials may
be embarrassed to ask questions concerning them. Finance
committee members should ask for and review both the
management letter and audited financials, and should take
the initiative in understanding, and communicating to other
local officials, what the financials disclose concerning the
town’s finances.

Municipal officials should also conduct an exit interview with
the independent auditors to learn first-hand of the audi-

tors’ assessment of the financial condition of the town. The
discussion can give municipal officials the chance to learn of
noteworthy trends, financially-troubled operations and the
viability of systems and controls in their community.

Audit committees are commonplace in the private sector, but
in only a few municipalities in Massachusetts. However, in
the last several years there has been a trend for more commu-
nities to form audit committees. In some instances, boards
of selectmen, school committees and/or finance committees
function as an ad hoc audit committee. A well-constructed
audit committee can bring together qualified and interested
citizens who have the time and inclination to review indepen-
dent audits and their results in-depth.

Increasingly, cities and towns will implement audit commit-
tees. Finance committees and their members can serve their
communities well by actively participating in the formation
and operation of viable and independent audit committees.

Municipal accounting results in the generation of informa-
tion that is useful to finance committees for decision-making
purposes. It is essential that the information provided by the
accounting process be accurate, timely and relevant.

There are three elements that should be present to ensure that
the accounting process assists a finance committee in the
discharge of its responsibilities. These are:

a qualified, dedicated financial “staff” in the town hall.
Appointed and/or elected officials should be prepared to

work with each other for the common good. The finance
committee should be wary of an overly political environ-
ment within the town’s financial organization whereby
officials refuse to work with or otherwise communicate
with each other;

a data processing system that is current and supports,
rather than inhibits, the process. The system need not be
complex, but it should be comprehensive. All too fre-
quently, the computer can be the “whipping boy” (justi-
fiably or otherwise) for the failure to provide appropriate
information;

a finance committee that includes individuals with outside
financial, business and/or accounting expertise. Acknowl-
edging that the finance committee members are volun-
teers, those with private sector financial or business expe-
rience can ask the right questions, request the appropriate
information and act as mentors for committee members
without specific fiscal expertise.

At a minimum, the town accountant must provide budgetary
information to the finance committee as it prepares for an
upcoming budget cycle. Finance committees should also be
provided monthly appropriation status reports. This infor-
mation can include prior year actual expenditures, current
year expenditures compared to the budget, forecasted current
year expenditures and budgeted expenditures for the next
fiscal year. Revenue data and/or free cash forecast may also be

provided.

However, the track record for submitting interim accounting
reports to the finance committee is very mixed. In some cas-
es, finance committees receive no interim reports, especially
in communities where the finance committee may be passive
or inexperienced and does not know what to request from the
town’s accounting functions. This lack of reporting can be
contrasted to reporting standards in the private sector, where
comprehensive monthly — and even weekly or daily — fi-
nancial statements are routine.

Although many municipalities” fiscal reports deal with
budgetary performance only, finance committees should
strive toward a reporting standard that includes a compre-
hensive financial statement package containing balance
sheets, statements of revenues and expenditures, changes in
fund balances and cash flows. If such information cannot be
submitted on a monthly basis, then the finance committee
should request it quarterly. It is possible that requests for such
information will meet with resistance; however, the reaction
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of towns’ fiscal reporting officers to such requests will tell a
great deal about the underlying sophistication of the munici-
palities’ management systems.

GASB 34 defines what the minimum financial reporting
requirements are for a governmental entity’s basic financial
statements and required supplementary information (RSI).
Listed below are the components of these requirements.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) includes
an introduction of the basic financial statements and provides
an analytical overview of the financial activities. This is a key
document to read, as it should highlight the financial posi-
tion and results of operation of the Town in plain English.
The focus is on the entity-wide full accrual activities and the
major governmental and proprietary funds.

A. The Government-Wide financial statements use the full
accrual basis of accounting and include two financial
statements. The Statement of Net Position is a statement
of financial position at a certain point in time (June 30th)
where Assets + Deferred Outflows — Liabilities — Deferred
Inflows = Net Position. The Statement of Activities re-
ports the changes in net position for that fiscal year. It is
presented on the “net cost” approach where program rev-
enues are subtracted from functional expenses to identify
the net (expense)/revenue by functional activity.

These are the statements that most closely resemble the pri-
vate sector.

B. Fund Financial Statements (for each of the three fund

categories).

Governmental Category — includes the General,
Special Revenue, Debt Service, Capital Projects and
Permanent Fund Types (focusing on “Major” funds)
using the modified accrual basis of accounting. The
financial statements include:

Balance Sheet

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances — Budget and Actual. Presented for the

General Fund and each major Special Revenue Fund
with a legally adopted budget. This may also be present-
ed as RSI in a Schedule after the Notes to the Financial
Statements.

Proprietary Category — includes the Enterprise (fee
for service activities such as water and sewer) and
Internal Service (usually self-insured health insurance)
Fund Types using the accrual basis of accounting. The
financial statements include:

Statement of Net Position

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund
Net Position

Statement of Cash Flows

Fiduciary Category — includes the Pension Trust,
OPEB Trust, Investment Trust, Private-Purpose Trust
and Agency Fund Types using the accrual basis of
accounting. The financial statements include:

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

The annual financial statements can be difficult to interpret
if you are not fully aware of the unique accounting methods
used to prepare them. Listed below are some of the items that
may help a reader understand what the financial statements
are really saying.

Understand the nature of any report “modifications’ previ-
ously known as “Qualifications”, as some are more serious
than others.

General Fund’s Financial Position
Understand the components of fund balance.

General Fund unreserved fund balance should be positive
and a policy should be established that sets a specific year-
end balance.

Long-term stability of the fund balance position should
be maintained. The outstanding receivable balance should
not be too high as it would indicate a problem in collec-
tion or the validity of the balance.

Recent changes for fund balance presentation made by
the GASB now require, in most cases, that the Town’s
Stabilization Funds be combined with the General Fund.
Therefore the unreserved fund balance may be significant-
ly higher than you expect due to the new reporting model.
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However the GASB required that a new note to the
financial statements be added that identifies all compo-
nents of fund balance, including any Stabilization Funds
combined with the General Fund.

Refer to the Budget-to-Actual Statement to see how much
“Free Cash” was used. If used, it means that a current
period loss was budgeted.

Ask for the accountant to provide a year-end budget-to-ac-
tual report by department. Review this to determine if
100% of the appropriation is either expended or encum-
bered. In difficult financial times this may be an indicator
that a department may have overspent their budget and
are shifting current expenses to the next fiscal year.

There must be a consistent “Structural Balance” main-
tained where recurring revenues are sufficient to cover
recurring expenditures.

Understand the components of “Operating Transfers”.

Check to see if the General Fund is subsidizing enterprise
operations (water & sewer). This would indicate that the
“users” are not paying for the full cost of the services.

During the budget process review any Enterprise Fund
fringe benefit and overhead transfer to the General Fund.
UMAS allows for a reasonable cost allocation of amounts
such as pension, health insurance and shared services
such as the Treasury function appropriated in the General
Fund to be recovered from Enterprise Funds. Over time
the cost allocation methodology may not propetly reflect
the current budget reality.

Governmental Major Funds

The General Fund is always presented in a separate column of
the fund based financial statements as a major fund. GASB
also requires any other major special revenue, capital projects,
debt service, or permanent fund also be presented as a major
fund. These funds are typically significant capital projects
(i.e. new high school) or the community preservation fund.
There are dollar thresholds established by the GASB where

a major fund is required but a community has the option

to show any fund as major. Your community may want to
suggest that a fund with a lot of local interest be shown in its
own column.

Special Revenue Fund

This is a self-supporting fund that should not have any
deficits within a sub-fund.

Footnotes should disclose any permanent deficits that

must be funded by the General Fund.

Review the balance sheet for any significant receivables
which may indicate an unusual delay in collecting reve-
nues.

Capital Projects Fund

This fund, for one-time projects, is funded through a
combination of grants, local contributions and long-term
bonds. If the financial statements show a deficit fund
balance it may be only temporary until the long-term
bonds are issued. If the deficit is permanent, it should be
disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements.

This liability is not part of the general fund’s balance but
has a significant impact on financial position.

Review the notes to the audited financial statements that
include the schedule of future payments.

Review Bond Anticipation Notes outstanding in conjunc-
tion with the amount of authorized and unissued debt.

Low outstanding debt may be an indication that capital
needs have not been addressed on an ongoing basis. The
need for significant future capital outlays may have an
adverse effect on financial position.

Internal Service Funds

These funds account for the self-insured risk financing ac-
tivities, such as health insurance. Revenues are mainly from
employer and employee contributions.

Special attention must be paid to any significant accumu-
lated surplus or deficit.

A significant deficit will have an adverse effect on the
overall financial position.

A significant surplus will have a positive effect on the
overall financial position.

Gain an understanding on the accrued liability known as

“Incurred But Not Reported” (IBNR).
Unfunded Liabilities

The Unfunded Pension liability is now reported in the
financial statements and disclosed in the footnotes or

the required supplementary information section of the
statements. There may also be reference to a regional re-
tirement system that will have the information. These past
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service costs must be funded in the future and will have
an impact on financial position and future operations.

Postemployment retirement benefits (retiree’s health insur-
ance) are reported on the budgetary statements on the
pay-as-you-go method.

The GASB issued Statements #74 and #75 that changed
the requirements of financial reporting of postemploy-
ment benefits other than pensions. It requires the Town
to complete an actuarial valuation and develop a funding
plan. The community does not have to implement the
funding plan but it will have to report the total unfunded
liability starting in FY2018. Several communities have
passed legislation that established a postemployment trust
fund which will be used to set aside funds to eliminate
the unfunded liability over time. In addition, legislation
was passed that amended Chapter 32 by adding Section
20 which now allows communities to establish a postem-
ployment trust fund without special legislation. For most
communities the unfunded actuarial liability is signifi-
cantly larger than the unfunded pension liability. It is
recommended that you discuss the implication of these
new GASB statements with the town accountant or your
independent audit firm.

Compensated Absences are the earned, but not yet paid,
vacation and sick leave termination benefits. The liability
is recorded in the Statement of Net Position and not in
the Fund Based Financial Statements. Large accumulated
balances can have an adverse effect on financial position
or in the case where after the termination payments are
made to a long-time employee the remaining budget may
not be sufficient to hire a replacement.

Landfill Liability is the estimated cost of closing and
postclosure care that will require future resources to be
allocated to comply with Federal and State regulations. A
footnote should disclose the details of the accrued liability.

A community’s financial information is available to officials
in the form of year-end financial statements, management
letters, and internally produced interim reports. It is man-
agement’s responsibility to assure that there are systems

in place to compile and report the financial position in a
timely and accurate fashion. It is the official’s responsibility
to obtain the knowledge to adequately identify and analyze

the components of financial reports that have a direct impact

on the community’s current and future financial position.
Failure to generate such data should constitute a “red flag”

that the town’s financial systems and policies need re-tooling
to move into the modern-day environment. These updates
may require the support of the finance committee to invest in
upgraded computer systems and/or additional staffing levels.

This chapter was compiled from information provided by James
F. Russell, Donald Levitan and James E. Powers and was up-
dated by James E. Powers.
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CHAPTERTT: CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLANNING (GIP)
AND BUDGETING

Planning for and financing the replacement of a town’s
infrastructure is an enormous task with significant long-term
benefits and consequences. Evaluating assets and their ex-
pected useful lives, projecting replacement costs, examining
financing options, determining bonding levels, estimating
user fees and tax levies and evaluating the impact on property
owners are all important steps in the process. This section of
the handbook presents information for finance committee
members on what capital planning and budgeting is, how it
should be done, who should do it, and the role of the finance
committee in these activities.

Chapter 41 s 106B M.G.L. states that a town may create a
capital planning committee by bylaw, but does not require
such a committee. As indicated in previous sections of this
handbook, a finance committee’s role is community-specif-
ic. In some towns, the finance committee also serves as the
capital planning committee. In some towns, a separate capital
planning committee is responsible for the annual budget

and capital plan. In other towns, typically larger ones with
stafling capabilities, town administration staff prepare and
present the capital budget to the finance committee.

CariTAL PRrROJECTS, CAPITAL BUDGETS AND
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMS

A capital project differs from an operating expense. This
handbook defines capital projects as major, non-recurring
expenditures, for one of the following purposes:

* acquisition of land for a public purpose;

* construction of a new facility or external expansion or
major rehabilitation of an existing one. Examples of such
town facilities include public buildings, water and sewer
lines, roads and playing fields;

* any planning, feasibility, engineering or design study
related to a capital project or to a capital improvement
program consisting of individual projects;

* equipment for public improvements when they are first
constructed such as furniture, office equipment or play-
ground equipment;

* major equipment which is expensive and has a relatively
long life such as a fire apparatus, garbage trucks and con-
struction equipment;

Typically capital projects do not include:

* equipment such as furniture or police or public works
vehicles which are replaced annually in approximately the
same quantity;

* equipment with a useful life of five years or less.

Most towns establish a policy for the dollar value and useful
life of a capital project to further distinguish between capital
expenditures and operating expenses. There is no formula for
setting these criteria. Some larger towns and cities treat as
capital budget requests purchases that cost $25,000 or more
and have a useful life of five or more years. Departments
include all other expenses in their operating budget requests.
Smaller towns may use a lower number, e.g. $10,000, for the
threshold cost for a capital item. Some communities also fo-
cus on the useful life of an asset, using as little as three years
or as much as seven years as a criterion.

Other considerations might influence a town’s policies
regarding capital versus operating expenses. Such consid-
erations may include the town’s total budget or the budget
of the department requesting a capital project, or the fre-
quency with which a department requests the capital item.
For example, a police cruiser may be a capital item in some
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towns, but in other towns cruisers are replaced so frequently
that they are considered operating costs. If an item is replaced
annually, such as police cruisers, it is important to keep it in
the operating budgets to reflect the true cost of providing the
service annually. These types of items should not be compet-
ing with capital projects which are scheduled intermittently
over future years. Whatever criteria a town chooses, it is
important to be consistent from one year to the next and to
apply the criteria uniformly to all requests.

The annual capital budget is the amount of funds appropri-
ated by town meeting in a single fiscal year for all capital
projects. A capital budget total should include three types of
budgetary information: the total of direct expenditures for
capital purposes in the fiscal year; the interest and princi-
pal owed on existing debt (debt service), and the estimated
amounts proposed to be paid for new bonds to be issued
having a first payment due in the fiscal year. For appropri-
ation purposes, the capital budget amounts may be incorpo-
rated into the main operating budget article or they could be
adopted as separate line items in an omnibus capital article.
Some towns vote a number of capital articles at each Town
Meeting or group projects by function into different articles.
However it is presented for appropriation, for information
purposes, the capital budget, including for debt service on
prior project, should be shown in one summary sheet to
illustrate the total spending planned for capital purposes

in a single fiscal year. The projects approved in the capital
budget may not all be completed in the year in which they
are approved, and thus are usually voted as part of a capital
article that will continue into the future until the projects are
completed, or Town Meeting votes any remaining funds for
a different use or any remaining balances close out to Free
Cash. It is not unusual for a Town to have multiple capital
project articles simultaneously in existence from different
fiscal years.

The capital improvement program or plan, often referred

to as the CIP, is a plan for future capital expenditures, for
which no funds have yet been requested of Town Meeting, or
appropriated. The plan identifies individual capital projects,
anticipated start and completion dates, the amount to be
spent each year and the method of financing each project in
the plan. Generally, the CIP covers five years into the future.
The annual capital budget (the appropriation request articles)
should reflect the first year of the CIP. The capital budget

is also year two of last year’s CIP, brought current to reflect
decisions made last year and current fiscal realities. For ex-
ample, if there are multi-year leases, or a larger project has an

increment to be appropriated over a multi-year time period
that should have been included in the CIP, and provides the
starting place for preparation of each year’s capital budget.

An orderly capital improvement program has many benefits
for a town. These benefits include:

focusing attention on town objectives and financial capac-
ity;

coordinating the proper scheduling of individual projects
in relationship to each other;

facilitating understanding of the relationships between
capital needs and operating budgets;

reducing the risk of having to make expensive emergency
repairs and preventing injuries and claims resulting from
continued use of outdated equipment and facilities;

enhancing the community’s credit rating, controlling its
tax rate, and avoiding sudden changes in its debt service
requirements;

helping to maintain a consistent minimum level of spend-
ing for capital projects. In a tight fiscal year, many towns
find it tempting to defer or eliminate capital spending as
a way of resolving a projected operating budget deficit.
Identifying the impact this would have on current and
future capital projects can help in setting these priorities;

identifying opportunities to save money by combining
projects. For example, vendors may be willing to reduce
prices for a new phone system if more than one building is
being improved at the same time;

identifying and coordinating the most appropriate means
of financing projects. For example, purchase of land for
open space could be funded from a combination of the tax
levy, debt financing, a state grant, or Community Pres-
ervation Act (CPA) funds if the town has accepted this
program. The CIP can help increase the opportunities for
identifying such alternative sources of funding the CIP;
and

keeping the public informed about capital needs and proj-
ects, which can help in building and maintaining public
support for specific projects.

identifying potential areas for cooperation with abutting
towns in considering the acquisition of large pieces of
equipment or constructing new facilities. Items such

as ladder trucks, libraries, etc. may be considered on a
regional basis as revenues for such assets become more
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difficult to find.

identifying potential sources of funding for energy
efficiency projects may be easier if there is sufficient lead
time.

The existence of a systematic capital planning process is an
important consideration for the agencies that rate municipal
debt. Both Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s rating agencies
evaluate the extent to which a town is anticipating and plan-
ning for its capital needs.

Towns vary vastly in their structures, traditions and resourc-
es, so responsibilities for preparation of a CIP vary as well.
There is no right or wrong approach, but experience has
shown that some approaches work better than others.

First, if at all possible, responsibility for preparation of the
CIP should not rest solely with the finance committee, any
one department, board or committee. Preparation of the CIP
is a formidable task.

The finance committee should receive the report of the com-
mittee or staff who prepare the CIP, and should collaborate
with the CIP committee as necessary. Below are some com-
mon approaches for developing the CIP and capital budget.

Bylaw Authorized Committee

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, a capital planning com-
mittee can be created by bylaw. Chapter 41 s 106B M.G.L.
states that such a bylaw shall prescribe the composition, mode
of appointment or election and terms of the members of said
capital planning committee.

Board of Selectmen-Appointed Committee (permanent or

ad hoc)

This approach suggests that the overall responsibility for
presentation of a capital improvement budget should be with
the board of selectmen. The board appoints the CIP commit-
tee and gives them overall direction, and the CIP committee
reports back to them. The board may adopt or modify the
CIP committee’s recommendations to them, and then they
submit the capital budget to the finance committee and town
meeting.

Staff Responsibility

In some communities, the town manager, town adminis-
trator or finance director is assigned responsibility for the
preparation of the capital budget and the CIP. He or she is
often assisted by other town staff, such as the treasurer, town
accountant, planning director, town engineer, etc. The CIP
and capital budget request is then forwarded to the board of
selectmen and the finance committee.

Hybrid Approaches

In some towns, a combination of these approaches is used.

In the Town of Sudbury, a committee of residents is estab-
lished by a Capital Planning bylaw, but a second committee
comprised of department heads from the town, elementary
and regional school departments, led by the Town’s facilities
director, prepares and submits a draft CIP report to the town
manager. This report already weighs overall town priorities
as ranked by the department heads and the town manager.
The town manager then submits the draft report and project
descriptions to the CIP committee. The CIP committee holds
public hearings, makes its own analysis, and then presents
the recommended annual capital budget to the board of
selectmen, and finance committee.

Whichever approach works best for individual towns, it is
important to be sure that the membership of the capital com-
mittee work closely and cooperatively with Town and School
staff. Citizen committee members are able to contribute their
knowledge and opinions but should not attempt to substitute
their judgment on equipment or other capital projects for
that of professional department heads who will need equip-
ment and are accountable for the operational results of the
department they oversee.

Regardless of who is responsible for preparing the CIP in a

community, the steps are similar.

1. Organize and prepare for capital planning;

prepare an inventory of existing facilities;

determine the status of previously approved projects;
prepare project requests;

develop project evaluation criteria;

A

evaluate project requests;
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7. establish project priorities;
8. assess financial capacity and

9. develop a CIP report with financing plan.

Organize and Prepare

If a town is putting together a formal capital planning pro-
cess for the first time, there are certain organizational tasks
that need to be addressed. Alternatives for organizational
structure should be examined. If a committee is assigned
responsibility for CIP efforts, the town should try to insure
that the committee will have the time to devote to the pro-
cess and adequate staff support. Members of the committee
should have a long-range perspective on the town’s needs,
and good collaboration and communication skills in order to
foster participation and support.

Next, those responsible for preparing the CIP should estab-
lish policies to guide all participants in the process. These
policies should cover such things as the definition of a capital
project, criteria for prioritizing projects, methods and timing
of hearings and other citizen participation. Finally, forms, in-
structions and a calendar of important dates and steps should
be developed. Forms are important because they help ensure
that consistent and complete information is obtained from all
those who are making capital requests. Instructions should be
clear on how the forms are to be completed.

Prepare an Inventory of Existing Facilities

The next step is to inventory all existing town and school
facilities and fixed assets, and assess their condition. Basic
inventory information consists of a description of the as-

set: its location, age, condition, original cost, current value,
maintenance and operating costs, type and extent of use,
depreciation, estimated replacement costs and any proposed
date for rehabilitation or replacement. This should include
roofs, floors, boilers, and other key elements of buildings.
Most towns should be able to obtain valuable information
on town-owned assets from the Town Accountant. Audit
standards (GASB 34) require Town Accountants to add
fixed asset information to the Town’s general ledger. These
fixed assets records are valuable for insurance purposes and
internal control of property as well as for planning the CIP.
Often the town’s insurance carrier has a list of insured assets
that can serve as a basis for inventory. At a minimum, the
inventory should include all buildings and equipment; it is
desirable for the inventory to include utilities, community
facilities, road and sewers as well. Towns that are required to

comply with GASB 34 should already have begun the process

for establishing a database of information on fixed assets. The
town accountant should be able to provide a fixed asset report
to those preparing the CIP.

Determine the Status of Previously Approved Projects

The status of projects already approved by town meeting is
the next important piece of information required in devel-
oping the CIP. Identifying projects that are underway, or
approved but not yet begun, will clarify whether additional
funds are required or if unspent funds will be available from
completed or discounted projects.

Develop Project Requests

The process should start with sending to department heads
and other appropriate officials and boards a timetable,
standardized capital project request forms and instructions
for completing requests. This package should include proj-
ect evaluation criteria. The request forms should ask for a
description of any proposed capital project, its purpose and
justification, who benefits, how needs are currently met, a
detailed costs breakdown, proposed capital expenditures by
year, relationship to other projects, effect on the operating
budget (including maintenance costs) and recommended
method of financing. Projects can be developed into sections
for consideration as well. For example, design and engineer-
ing funds can be budgeted for in one year, with construction
funds scheduled for a following year.

Department heads are not the only ones who should be asked
to prepare and submit project requests. Citizen advisory com-
mittees and elected officials can also see the need for projects
and can complete requests as well.

Develop Project Evaluation Criteria

It is useful to develop and agree on criteria for evaluating
projects before beginning the actual ranking of the projects.
Criteria may vary for different towns. Below are typical crite-
ria used by towns for evaluating capital requests:

Risks to public safety or health
Projects that would protect against a clear and dire risk to

public safety or public health

Required by federal or state law
Projects such as fuel tank replacement or asbestos removal

Deteriorated facility
Projects that reconstruct or rehabilitate a facility to avoid
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or postpone replacing it with a new, more costly facility or
piece of equipment

Systematic replacement

Projects that would replace or upgrade a facility or piece
of equipment as part of a systematic replacement program.
This criterion assumes a replacement or upgrading at the
current level of service; a replacement that significantly
expands or increases the level of service would be evaluat-
ed under other criteria.

Improvement of operating efficiency

Projects that substantially and significantly improve the
operating eficiency of a department, or an expenditure
that has a very favorable return on investment with a
promise of reducing existing or projected future increases
in operating expenses.

Coordination

Projects that are necessary to ensure coordination with
another CIP project (such as scheduling a sewer project
to coincide with a street reconstruction project so that the
street is not dug up a year or two after it is completed).

A project may be necessary to comply with requirements
imposed by others.

Equitable provision of services and facilities

Projects that would serve a special needs group or that
make equivalent facilities or services available to neighbor-
hoods or population groups that are now “underserved” in
comparison with townspeople generally.

Protection and conservation of resources

Projects that protect those natural resources that are at
risk, of being reduced in amount or quality or that protect
the investment in existing infrastructure against excessive
demand or overload that threatens the capacity or useful
life of a facility or piece of equipment.

Enhancement to economic development program
Projects which improve the Town’s competitiveness for
commercial development, such as adding walkways or
other amenities to a commercial area.

Evaluate Project Requests

All project requests should then be evaluated by the CIP
committee or staff. A standardized evaluation sheet should
be prepared on each project, which should address questions
such as:

Does the requested project contribute to the achievement
of existing town goals, policies, plans and work programs?

What are the general benefits of the project?
Is the project acceptable to the public?

What is its total cost (both capital and annual operating
expenses)? Is it funded by the tax levy or by borrowing
and how would it affect the tax rate?

Does the project have its own funding source, such as user

fees or an enterprise fund or the Community Preservation
Act?

Are there legal requirements that must be met?

Are there any special circumstances worthy of note? The
CIP committee records such notes in evaluating each
request.

Establish Project Priorities

Once all the project requests have been evaluated, they need
to be ranked in order of priority. Few towns, if any, have the
resources to fund all requests. Some recommend comput-

ing a numerical “score” for each project in an effort to be
more objective about the relative importance of each project.
The town of Lexington uses five categories for assigning a
“score” for each project, as follows: Justification (25 percent),
Efficiency (15 percent), Service (15 percent), Financing (20
percent) and Departmental Priority (25 percent) to arrive

at weighted scores. Others feel that because the projects are
usually so varied in terms of the service area(s) they cover
and the public service goals they pursue, that requests are not
comparable. Whether or not a numerical ranking system is
used, all projects should be assigned an overall priority rating,
such as the following:

Priority A

Urgent, high priority projects which should be done if at all
possible. A special effort should be made to find sufficient
funding for all of the projects in this group.

Priority B
High priority projects which should be done as funding

becomes available.

Priority C

Worthwhile projects to be considered if funding is available;
may be deferred to a subsequent year.

Priority D
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Low priority projects; desirable but not essential; insufficient
data/analysis to support request.

Assess Financial Capacity

Since municipalities work with limited resources, each
capital request must compete for funding with other capital
needs and with operating expenses. Unless the selectmen are
prepared to seek an operating override, a capital exclusion or
a debt exclusion of Proposition 2 1/2, the amount of mon-
ey that can be raised from the tax levy must be considered
“fixed.” Towns must, therefore, give careful consideration to
their capacity to finance the CIP. Some of the questions that
should be asked to help assess this fiscal capacity include:

A starting place for this assessment is the development of an
overall debt service report. This report is generally developed
by staff and can greatly assist the capital planning committee,
the finance committee, the board of selectmen, and other
key town officials in developing long term, strategic plans. A
debt service report should include the following;:

1. Spreadsheets containing historical debt information on
previous debt issuance and repayment schedules.

2. Debt repayment schedules for amounts due in future
years.

3. Projections for debt schedules for projects that have been
approved but not yet permanently borrowed.

4. Projections for debt service for projects that are being
considered in the future.

These spreadsheets should show the debt information sorted
in different ways.

1. By source of repayment. General fund deb, user fee sup-
ported debt and CPA funded debt are the primary sources
of debt repayment for towns.

2. By type of project. This includes separating out school
from town debt or equipment related versus land pur-
chase.

3. By Proposition 2% limitations. Debt that is issued within
the limits of Proposition 2% should be isolated from that
issued outside the limits.

Charts should also be developed based on these spreadsheets
for ease of interpretation and use. In addition to showing
total amounts to be paid, staff could also develop estimates
of impact on the tax rate and average property tax bills for all

general fund supported debt, and on user fee rates if the debt
will be repaid out of user fees.

With this type of report in hand, decision makers can ask
key questions to decide how much more capital spending is
preferred by the community and can be taken on relative to
policy decisions about the desirable amount of spending for
capital.

These key questions include the following:

What percentage of each year’s fiscal resources should be
allocated to operating capital and debt service?

What are other non-tax levy revenue sources available to
support capital spending? These include user fees, private
contributions from entities such as a “friends group” or a
local foundation, federal and state aid, etc.

What are the long-term financial projections for revenues
and expenditures?

What is the current policy of the town for using free

cash and/or a stabilization fund for capital projects? State
law enabling the creation of multiple stabilization funds
became effective in 2003, and towns are beginning to use
them for funding a CIP. (See the DOR IGR No.04-201).

Can any of the CIP capital project be financed through
use of the Community Preservation Act? If the town has
accepted the CPA, proposed projects to acquire open
space, develop affordable housing opportunities, create or
expand recreational projects, or restore historical assets
can be funded from CPA money. For example, the town
of Ashland used CPA funds as part of its overall financing
plan when renovating their Historic Town Hall. The CIP
committee should work closely with the Community Pres-
ervation Committee (CPC) to plan capital projects that
are properly the purview of both committees.

Are there possibilities for regionalization of the use of the
asset? Would other towns or cities nearby be interested in
working cooperatively to acquire the asset, thereby sharing
the cost?

These questions should be considered early in the budget
planning cycle, and are properly within the agenda of the
finance committee as well as the board of selectmen. The
finance committee should also establish its role in developing
guidelines and recommendations for the CIP committee to
use in conducting its analysis.

Sources of revenues that might be devoted to capital projects
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(e.g., any revenue from non-recurring sources) could also be
identified by the finance committee and/or board of select-
men. Larger towns with sizable capital needs should consider
developing a separate capital and debt policy to guide the
CIP committee and town meeting in the prudent use of debt.
Issuing debt for capital projects is addressed in greater detail
in Chapter 12.

The CIP report brings together a municipality’s data gath-
ering, evaluation process and financing opportunities.
Proposed projects have been evaluated and assigned into
priority groups, and the CIP committee can then recommend
including in the CIP projects which are of highest priority.
The committee can also recommend funding in the capital
budget for those projects the town appears to have the capac-
ity to finance.

These recommendations should be incorporated into a CIP
report. Depending on the structure and mission of the CIP
committee, the report should be presented to the board of
selectmen, finance committee, the town meeting, or the town
manager. Key sections of the reports should include:

a capital budget message and overview;
summary recommendations;
detailed recommendations and comments;

a statement of the CIP committee mission, membership,
and enabling bylaw;

CIP policies and goals, including debt policies, fiscal
capacity assessments, and capital definitions and

graphs and charts. These should include different ap-
proaches to showing key data such as historical capital
spending by function (e.g. education, public safety, public
works, technology, etc.); by financing source (e.g. bond-
ing, free cash, other funds), and as a percentage of overall
budgetary spending,.

In some towns, all project requests submitted for consider-
ation are included in the CIP report. The evaluation criteria
and priority rankings would indicate why specific project
requests were not included in the CIP itself.

If the report is presented to the board of selectmen, they may
hold hearings public meetings on the CIP, amend the CIP or
the capital budget, then forward the capital budget and the

CIP to the finance committee or separate capital expendi-
tures committee. These committees review and recommend
action not only on the capital budget, but also in consider-
ation of the overall capital program and the operating budget.

Town officials should be aware that many of the steps out-
lined here can be accomplished more efficiently with the use
of computers and software. While most towns use some com-
bination of word processing and spreadsheet software in this
effort, some towns have turned to database software to collect
and evaluate project requests, leading to the identification of
priority projects for the capital budget as well as producing

a multi-year Capital Improvement Plan. Department heads
use pull-down menus to enter each project, with descriptions,
costs and coding of relevant evaluation criteria. The full set of
projects can then be sorted numerous ways (by department,
year of funding needed, type of project) and can be updat-

ed easily as decisions are made or new cost information is
obtained.

The CIP process and committee will have more credibility
and greater impact on the town’s capital and financial plan-
ning if its presence and mission is institutionalized. A town
bylaw is one approach for setting forth the capital planning
process, including the appointing authority, responsibili-

ties for any committee and a timetable for capital planning
activities. Another is to have the board of selectmen approve a
policy with the process articulated in the policy. The capital
planning process should be incorporated in the town’s budget
calendar.

Department heads, especially, will be better able to meet
their CIP responsibilities if they are given advance informa-
tion about dates set for project requests, project hearings, etc.
Standardized forms, distributed on time, i.e. consistent with
the established calendar, will also help the process.

A critical factor in the success of any capital improvement
program is the support it receives from all participants in-
cluding department heads, town management, selectmen and
the finance committee.

The finance committee will make its job easier in the long
run by collaborating with the CIP committee (or staff) to
accomplish the following;:

make sure department heads are aware that capital
requests first go to the CIP committee, not the finance
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committee. The finance committee should not consider
a capital item unless it has been submitted to the CIP
committee first;

* reject any operating budget request that meets the defi-
nition of a capital project item, as defined in the town’s
criteria for capital expenses. These requests should be sent
back to the department, with instructions to send it to the
CIP committee and

¢ focus on the long-range planning efforts of the town and
emphasize the importance of the CIP process and com-
mittee in that effort.

This chapter was prepared and updated by Maureen G. Valente.
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CHAPTER 12:

INTRODUCTION

Municipalities seek to borrow funds for two general purposes
identified by the need and term of the borrowing, i.e. short
and long term:

* short-term basis — notes are issued for one year or less
to meet interim cash requirements prior to the receipt of
funds from property taxes, state grants, federal grants or
the proceeds of a bond sale and

* long-term basis — bonds are issued on a permanent
basis to fund capital improvements or for other purposes
allowed by statute.

The purpose, length to maturity, debt limits and procedures
for the issuance of municipal debt, for both short and long
term, are tightly regulated by Chapter 44 M.G.L., and other
statutes such as those regulating school buildings, com-
munity preservation, urban renewal and certain economic
development. In general, a town borrows by issuing securi-
ties (notes or bonds) in exchange for the funds received. The
securities must be signed by the treasurer as well as the board
of selectmen, and are a legal commitment on the part of the
town to pay the purchaser of the securities a specified sum of
money plus interest on a certain date. The process of issuing
debt can be quick and easy or long and time consuming,
depending upon the amount being borrowed, the time period
over which the debt will be repaid and the type of issuance,
i.e. short or long term.

SHORT TERM BORROWING

Notes are issued for four purposes:

1. Revenue Anticipation Notes (RANs) are issued in antici-
pation of the collection of local revenue, primarily proper-
ty taxes. This debt is authorized by Chapter 44 s 4 M.G.L.
and is initiated by the town treasurer with the approval of
the board of selectmen. The town must have a cash flow

BORROWING

that demonstrates a need for the borrowing. No action is
required by the finance committee or town meeting.

2. State Aid Anticipation Notes (SAANS) are issued in
anticipation of the receipt of a state grant. This debt is
authorized by Chapter 44 s 6A M.G.L. and is initiated
by the town treasurer with the approval of the board of
selectmen. The town must have a state grant indicating
the state’s financial commitment. No action is required by
either the finance committee or town meeting.

3. Federal Aid Anticipation Notes (FAANG) are issued in
anticipation of the receipt of a federal grant. This debt is
authorized by Chapter 74 of the Acts of 1945. The bor-
rowing is initiated by the treasurer with the approval of
the board of selectmen and the State Municipal Finance
Oversight Board. The municipality must have a federal
grant agreement indicating the federal government’s fi-
nancial commitment. No action by the finance committee
or town meeting is required.

4. Bond Anticipation Notes (BANs) are issued in antici-
pation of the receipt of proceeds from the sale of bonds
by the town. This debt is authorized by Chapter 44 s
17 M.G.L. and a loan authorization of the town meet-
ing. The borrowing is initiated by the treasurer with the
approval of the board of selectmen after all legal require-
ments have been met. Action by the finance committee
and town meeting is required in the authorization process.

LoNG TERM BORROWING

A town authorizes the issuance of debt for a variety of capital
and some non-capital purposes as provided by statute. Mu-
nicipalities borrow and repay the debt over a number of years
in order to finance capital projects they could not afford to
pay from their operating budget. In addition, the argument
can be made that people who enjoy the use of a major facility
in the future should bear some of the cost burden. Debt, in
the form of loan authorizations, must be authorized by a two-
thirds vote of the town meeting. Details of the authorization
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and issuance process will be discussed more fully below.

PARTICIPANTS IN THE PROCESS

The key players in this process include:

° town treasurer;

*  other municipal officials;
* bond counsel;

e inancial advisor;

e underwriter;

*  Massachusetts Department of Revenue, Division of Local
Services;

* credit rating agencies.

TowN TREASURER

This municipal official has the statutory responsibility, with
the approval of the board of selectmen, for the issuance of the
town’s debt. S/he also has responsibility for the investment of
borrowed funds and the payment of debt service. It is critical,
therefore, that the treasurer be included in discussions of debt
policy from the very beginning of the process.

OTHER MUNICIPAL OFFICIALS

Other officials, including the finance committee, board of
selectmen, town accountant and town administrator, need to
be involved in the planning and authorization process. This is
especially important in presenting the loan authorization to
town meeting and planning the repayment of the projected
debt service. In addition, their input is needed when presen-
tations are made to the credit rating agencies.

BonD COUNSEL

A law firm with expertise in municipal law and bonding is
referred to as bond counsel. These attorneys will guide the
town through the legal process of issuing debt and issue a le-
gal opinion to the purchasers of the securities on their legality
and tax exempt status.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

A financial institution with expertise in municipal finance,
municipal borrowing and the municipal securities market is
called a financial advisor. These advisors will guide the town
through the planning, authorization and debt issuance.

UNDERWRITER

An underwriter is a bank or securities firm that purchases the
town’s securities with the intent of reselling them to inves-
tors. Some banks also purchase municipal securities with the
intent of holding them in their own portfolio.

MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
DivisioN or LocAL SErvICEs (DLS)

This department of the Commonwealth is responsible for
regulating and providing technical assistance to local govern-
ment. Additionally, the DLS’ Bureau of Accounts, through
its State House Loan Program, provides a certification service
for the issuance of notes and small amounts of bonds. This
program has been in existence since 1910 and provides a very
cost-effective process for the issuance of debt. It does have
limitations and its use must be examined with each sale. DLS
has a municipal data bank that can be accessed in a variety of
ways and is very useful in analyzing the town’s economic and
financial condition.

CREDIT RATING AGENCIES

These firms rate the creditworthiness of a municipality which
significantly impacts the interest rate on a town’s securities.
With the exception of small bond and note sales issued
through the state’s Bureau of Accounts, it is necessary for a
town to apply for a credit rating on bond issues and on note
issues over a certain size.

There are several rating agencies, and they, like other ven-
dors, charge a fee for their services to the town. A good credit
rating depends on a variety of factors, some of which can be
achieved by good management at the local level. Most rating
agencies use four factors to determine credit ranking:

¢ debt factors: How much debt does the town have and how
quickly is the debt retired? What are the future borrowing
plans? What is the unfunded pension and health insur-
ance liability for the town’s retired employees? Is there a
capital plan?

* economic factors: What are the income and wealth
characteristics of the community? Is there much com-
mercial/industrial diversity? How susceptible is the town
to regional and national economic changes? What is its
capacity for growth?

* administrative factors: What is the town’s management
capacity? What is its political environment? How much
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capital and long term planning is being done? Are there
fiscal policies and are they followed?

financial factors: What is the rate of tax collection? How
successfully has the town avoided short-term revenue
borrowing? Are there adequate reserves? How diversified
is the town’s revenue base? What are its operating results?
(For more detail see Appendix E.)

In terms of debt planning, there are three areas a town needs
to consider. The first, and most critical, is determining how
the town will pay for the resulting debt service; the second is
gaining town meeting approval and thus acquiring the au-
thority to borrow; and the third is planning for issuance. The
project approval process requires the community to pass and
approve the project on its merits and need, and the ability of
the community to afford the resulting debt service. While the
treasurer is responsible for executing the debt issuance of the
approved project and should be part of the approval process
from conception, the planning of major projects should be

a joint project of all appropriate officials from beginning to

end.

Communities must review their ability to add or absorb debt
obligations. The demographics, economy and Proposition 2V2
can have a significant impact on the response to new debt. As
stated in Chapter 11, the prioritizing of capital projects will
assist in overall debt planning.

In most towns there will be three options to absorb the debt
service of a significant project. These include:

absorbing the debt service within the current operating
budget;

supporting the debt service from designated revenues such
as water and sewer and

excluding the debt service from the limits of Proposition
2.

Absorbing the debt service in the operating budget involves
multi-year planning and the integration of the new debt
service in the budget prepared for its absorption. This usually
centers around the current debt service budget, which under

most circumstances declines each year. With careful plan-
ning the new debt service can be initiated as old debt service
is being retired. Planners need to be sure that they are not
counting on revenue streams that will end with the debt
service such as state school building assistance, debt exclusion
revenue or special revenue from water and sewer.

This option is available in very limited situations where the
debt service of a capital project can be supported by depart-
mental revenues. This occurs most commonly for water and
sewer projects, transfer stations and improvements that can
be paid from betterment assessments or funds raised under
the Community Preservation Act. Towns must first make the
determination that fee rather than tax revenue is the most
appropriate vehicle for payment, and that the rate setting au-
thority will set the rates to cover the debt service fully. Bonds
will still be general obligation debt of the town, for this is
the least expensive financing vehicle; however, the revenue

to cover the debt service will come from the rate payer rather
than the taxpayer.

An additional option involves state or federal assistance in
the form of grants for specified projects. The most common
form is school building assistance for the construction or
renovation of school buildings. (See State School Building
Assistance discussed below.) The state also has reimbursement
programs for library projects, Clean Water Trust for sewer,
water and some landfill projects (discussed below) and the
Federal Rural Development Agency, formerly known as the
Farmers Home Loan, program

If the town cannot afford to absorb the debt service within
its operating budget and fee revenue is either not available

or not appropriate, the only available option is to seek voter
approval for a debt exclusion for a given project. This option
is discussed more fully in Chapter 6. If the voters approve

an exclusion, the debt service, both long and short term,

is excluded from the property tax limits of the town in the
years the debt service is due. When the debt for the project is
retired, the exclusion is eliminated.

Every municipality must be diligent in controlling its debt
position. The impact of unplanned debt service on town bud-
gets can be severe. Even with a Proposition 2%2 debt exclu-
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sion, the impact of putting substantial debt onto the tax rate
can make or break the willingness of a community to pay
for future projects. Therefore, as part of the capital planning
process, it is critical to develop a policy or guidelines deter-
mining the issuance, timing and tax impact of current and
future debt. These guidelines should be developed in concert
with the treasurer, financial advisor, board of selectmen,
finance committee, town administrator and capital planning
committee.

Controlling the debt position does not exclude a viable proj-
ect from approval, but it controls the financial impact of that
project on the taxpayer. It forces the community to address
and monitor the impact of rulings by state and federal agen-
cies, town meeting and the issuance practices of overlapping
districts (i.e., regional high school, counties, water/sewer dis-
tricts, etc.) and brings them into the overall planning process.

The capital planning document may include elements that
require some debt be excluded from Proposition 2 1/2, or
funded within the levy limit. Some communities place all
capital projects over $1 million on the ballot for a Proposition
2 1/2 exclusion because it removes that cost from the general
operating budget. Some fund a base level of capital within
the general operating budget. Others set an annual limit
within the general operating budget of how much will be
borrowed annually.

Careful financial and strategic planning processes must be
maintained to ensure that communities can continue to sus-
tain the approved debt level into the future.

Borrowing for long term capital projects is authorized by a
two-thirds vote of town meeting. The project must be de-
scribed in a warrant article, and the article should state that
borrowing is at least an option for the financing of the proj-
ect. The motion voted upon by town meeting authorizing the
borrowing must state a sum of money, authorize said sum to
be raised by borrowing, and pass the authorization, either by
a declared unanimous vote or by a counted two-thirds vote.
Legislation allows a declared 2/3 vote if certain actions are
taken previously to allow such votes. These actions include a
town bylaw or a vote of each town meeting at its beginning.
It is very important that bond counsel draft, or at least re-
view, the warrant article and motion before action is taken.

Once town meeting has authorized the borrowing and dis-
solved, the treasurer can proceed to satisfy legal requirements.
These will be listed in a requirement letter from bond coun-
sel. Most of the requirements involve certifications from the
town clerk that all state and local statutes have been complied
with and proper notice has been given to all appropriate par-
ties in connection with the bond authorization. Debt limits
need to be met, and often approvals by various state agencies
are needed. Once all of these requirements are met, the town
may proceed to borrow.

The actual borrowing depends on the need for a given project
and the ability of the town to absorb the debt service. The
issuance of short-term debt is quick and requires only the
payment of interest for up to two years. Long-term debt
requires the first payment of principal in the next fiscal year,
but locks in interest rates for the life of the loan. The exact
timing and combination of financing vehicles requires the
cooperation of the many officials and advisors mentioned
earlier in this chapter.

Municipal borrowing has become a more complex topic as
federal regulations have increased and new financing vehicles
have become available. The next sections will touch upon a
few of these.

Towns can sell their bonds by either a competitive or ne-
gotiated sale. With a competitive sale, the issuer’s financial
advisor assists the issuer in structuring the issue, preparing
and distributing a disclosure statement, obtaining a bond
rating and advertising the sale. On the day of the sale, each
competing underwriter submits a bid on the issue and the
bonds are awarded to the underwriter (usually an underwrit
ing syndicate comprised of several firms) that bids the lowest
“true interest cost” on the issue. The advantages of a com-
petitive sale are that the process is open to all underwriters,
avoids any potential charges of favoritism in the choice of
underwriters and ensures that the town will get a number of
bids. Most towns will get the lowest possible interest rate on
their bonds by selling competitively.

There are certain special circumstances, however, where a ne-
gotiated sale can produce the lowest cost for the issuer. With
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a negotiated sale, there is no bidding by underwriters for the
issue. Instead, the issuer selects an underwriter(s) either by an
REFP process or based on a pre-existing relationship. The un-
derwriter works with the Town’s financial advisor leading up
to the sale, communicates with potential buyers of the bonds
during an intensive “pre-sale” activity period and, based on
the pre-sale activity, determines the appropriate pricing for
the issue. The Town’s financial advisor reviews the underwrit-
er’s pricing of the issue to ensure the town receives a good
offer. 'The town’s financial advisor is not allowed to also serve
as underwriter on the bonds.

Negotiated issues are most appropriate in the following situ-
ations:

if market conditions are exceptionally volatile or disrupted
for any reason;

for complex refunding issues where specific needs and
results must be met, and where the restructuring demands
of the issue could take longer and extend beyond the stan-
dard competitive market expectation for an award.

for issuers with credit problems and a low bond rating,
where the underwriter must explain the credit in detail to
potential investors; and

for new or very small issuers that are unknown in the debt
markets.

These conditions generally require a greater degree of pre-sale
activity and communication with investors than perhaps can
be achieved with a competitive sale. In general, most Massa-

chusetts towns issue bonds and notes by competitive sale.

In July of 2004, the state legislature passed and the Governor
signed a major redrafting of the School Building Assistance
Program, creating a new Massachusetts School Building Au-
thority (MSBA). This is an independent public entity under
the control of a seven member Board. The State Treasurer
serves as chairman of the Board. While most of the State’s
priority setting standards are similar to that under the prior
legislation, there are significant differences in reimbursement
rates, application procedures and financing, which should be
understood by every city, town and school district. The new
statute divides projects into three general categories during
the transition process.

First, all cities, towns and school districts that are currently

receiving reimbursements will continue to receive them as
previously scheduled. There will be no reduction in amounts,
except those caused by the final state audit of the project and
those that have been refunded where savings are shared pro
rata with the MSBA. This is the same as the prior law and

regulations.

Second, any remaining school projects that were on the 2004
Priority lists were grandfathered. They are being funded at
the same percentage reimbursement rate as previously listed.

The third group consists of municipalities that had not sub-
mitted their projects to the State prior to the new legislation
taking effect. For this group, there was a moratorium in
place until July 1, 2007. On July 1, 2006, the Board over-
seeing the program published new regulations and standards
for new school projects. After July 1, 2007, municipalities
applied for State grants for their school projects. The Board
considered all the new applications, ranked them using
previously agreed upon standards, and approved the num-
ber of projects within their financial capability. The budget
for the new School Building Authority is “off budget” and
eventually based on the revenues from one cent of the State
sales tax. All other projects were rejected and must reapply
the next year. There is no priority list. There is no guarantee
when or if a particular school project will be approved. Thus
any municipality will be taking a significant risk if it starts a
project before a grant is approved. The grant will be paid as
construction proceeds, and the municipality borrows only
its own share of the project. For bonding purposes however,
the municipality must authorize the full amount of project
costs to be reduced by the percentage of State reimbursement.
There is specific language required by the MSBA to be used
to authorize the feasibility stage and the construction stage of
the project and the issuer should obtain this language from
bond counsel.

The school building construction program is spelled out in
Chapter 70B of the Massachusetts General Laws. This pro-
vides the legislative support for the School Building Author-
ity to receive applications, determine eligibility, rank, and
approve the grants to cities, towns and districts to reimburse
them for their school building costs. The purpose of the pro-
gram is “to promote thoughtful planning and construction of
school facility space in order to insure safe and adequate plant
facilities for the public schools, and to assist towns in meeting
the cost thereof.”

The Authority has been working to review statutes and
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regulations including school building size and cost standards,
reimbursement rates and a wide range of other issues. The
legislation required that reimbursement rates for all new (post
July 1, 2007) projects be reduced by 10 percent from the
predecessor program. Thus the reimbursements went from
the 50-90 percent range to 40-80 percent.

Towns should proceed carefully with the plans for new
school projects and should review the regulations on the Au-
thority’s section of the State Treasurer’s Web site (www.mass.

gov/MSBA).

Towns needing to finance sewer, water, and some landfill
projects may find it advantageous to issue bonds through the
Massachusetts Clean Water Trust. The Trust was created un-
der Ch. 275 of the Acts of 1989 to administer the Common-
wealth’s water pollution abatement revolving fund program.
The Trust is governed by a three-member board of trustees
including the state treasurer, the secretary of the Executive
Office of Administration and Finance and the commission-
er of the Commonwealth’s Department of Environmental
Protection.

As implemented by the Trust, the revolving fund program
incorporates a federal program that capitalizes the Trust and
a state program that provides subsidies to local communities.
The Trust issues bonds whose proceeds are used to make
loans to communities with approved projects. Towns that are
approved for borrowing from the trust must enter into a loan
agreement with the Trust which obligates towns to pay the
principal and interest on the Trust’s loans to the town. Towns
are also required to deliver their own bonds to the Trust, as
evidence of the borrower’s obligation contained in the loan
agreement.

Pursuant to the act creating the Trust, projects funded under
the revolving fund program are eligible for varying levels of
financial assistance in the form of loan subsidies. The exact
amount of the subsidy depends on certain characteristics of
the community. The percentage level of the subsidy is set by
the state legislature. As a result of the subsidy, most com-
munities will find it advantageous to issue eligible bonds
through the Trust rather than sell bonds on their own. A
town’s financial advisor can provide additional information
on the program.

A betterment or special assessment is a compulsory charge
levied against specific properties in an effort to defray all

or part of the cost of a public improvement that primarily
benefits certain properties. Betterments generally refer to
the construction of streets, public parks and other public
improvements where the taking of land and the payment of
damages are required. Special assessments usually apply to
the construction and maintenance of sewers, drains, side-
walks and water extensions. The purpose of betterments and
special assessments is to charge those property owners who
receive special benefits from a public improvement beyond
the general benefits received by the community as a whole.
Betterments and special assessments are not considered taxes,
so are not included within the limitations of Proposition 2
1/2.

A typical form of betterment or special assessment financing
of capital improvements would have a town issue bonds to
pay for the improvement and levy a betterment or assessment
against the properties benefiting from the project to offset

all or part of the annual debt service cost. Massachusetts
General Laws prescribe the procedures and limits on better-
ments and special assessments. For example, for sidewalks,
special assessments upon abutting properties are limited to
50 percent of the cost (Chapter 83 .26 M.G.L.). In general,
town policies and state statutes will determine the percentage
of the cost of an improvement that can be levied against a
property owner and the percentage of the cost borne by the
town. Legal authority for special assessments and betterments
for Massachusetts towns can be found in Ch. 80, 83, 80A
and 40.

During periods when interest rates decline, a town may have
an opportunity to save money by refunding some or all of

its outstanding debt. The refunding process involves the
issuance of refunding bonds and is analogous to refinancing
a home mortgage to get lower rates. New debt (refunding
bonds) is issued and the proceeds are used to retire the out-
standing higher interest (refunded bonds) debt. Savings result
from the annual debt service on the new bonds being less
than the previous debt service.

Refunding is generally classified as either current or advance.
With a current refunding, proceeds of the refunding bonds
are used to retire outstanding bonds on the call date. The
overlap between the settlement of refunding bonds and the
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call of existing bonds must be 90 days or less, and by law
there must be a present value savings from the financing.

Advance refunding is used when towns want to issue refund-
ing bonds because of low interest rates, but the first date on
which the existing bonds are repaid (called) is more than 90
days away. Proceeds of an advance refunding bond issue are
typically held by an escrow agent, who invests the proceeds
in an escrow account whose interest earnings and principal
are sufficient to be used to pay interest on the refunded bonds
and to call the refunded bonds on the call date. Certain
conditions must be met for a successful advance refunding
including the following: the existing bonds must be callable;
strict federal regulations must be followed regarding the
investment of the refunding bond proceeds; and the pres-
ent value savings should be large enough to make the issue
worthwhile. A town’s financial advisor can perform the anal-
ysis to determine the financial feasibility of a refunding.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986, as amended, has had significant
impact on municipal debt issuance. First, it strengthened

the distinction between governmental use bonds — bonds
used for schools, roads, public buildings, etc. — and private
activity bonds — bonds issued for projects that benefit only
certain parties. For most towns issuing bonds, these changes
are not significant. However, in cases where the facility being
financed is leased to or is operated by a private company un-
der a management contract (for example, a civic center or golf
course), there may be private activity bond questions. Bond
counsel should be consulted in these situations.

The second and most significant impact of tax reform is the
limitations it places on the ability of an issuer to earn per-
missible arbitrage on borrowed funds. Prior to tax reform,
treasurers took the proceeds of funds borrowed at tax exempt
rates and invested them at higher taxable rates. The new

law limits arbitrage by requiring that investment income
from bond or note proceeds that is greater than the yield to
investors on the issuer’s borrowings be rebated to the feder-
al government. If a community does not comply with this
requirement, it risks losing the tax exempt status on its bonds
and notes.

There are exemptions from these arbitrage limitations, and
issuers should work closely with their financial advisor and
bond counsel to plan their debt in a way that takes advantage
of these exemptions. There are still opportunities to earn sig-

nificant arbitrage if debt issuance is planned and structured
appropriately.

The arbitrage regulations below need to be followed:

Unless debt is issued by a “small issuer”, that is, an entity
issuing $5 million or less of new money tax exempt debt in

a calendar year, the proceeds shall be used within certain
prescribed time frames, or be subject to fines and penalties as
described above. This amount is increased to $15 million if at
least $10 million is school related.

The following are the general rules and time frames for
spending borrowed funds in order to avoid rebate. All funds
must be used according to the following schedules, or sooner:

1. Construction Debt
First six months: 10%
First year: 45%
Eighteen months: 75%
Two years: 95%

Three years: 100%

2. Capital Expenditure Debt Other Than
Construction Projects
First six months: 15%
First year: 60%
Eighteen months: 100%

3. All Other Municipal Purpose Debt
First six months: 100%

The third tax reform change is that it restricts certain buyers
of tax exempt securities. The major provision disallows a fed-
eral tax deduction for financial institutions holding securities
of municipalities who issue more than $10 million of original
issue tax exempt debt (including leases) in a calendar year.
Since financial institutions are major buyers of tax exempt
bonds it may be economically beneficial for issuers to plan
their debt issuance to stay within the limit. Current data
suggest that so-called “bank-qualified” issues — i.e., bond

or notes of issuers within the limit — sell in the market at

5 to 10 basis points (.05 percent - .10 percent) lower than
non-qualified issues. A town’s financial advisor can assist in
formulating a debt issuance plan that takes maximum advan-
tage of bank qualification.

Rule 15¢ 2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, provides that underwriters may not purchase or sell
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municipal securities of an issuer unless the issuer undertakes
to provide continuing disclosure over the life of the bonds,
subject to certain exemptions. In order to make their bonds
acceptable to the market, issuers covenant at the time of
delivery of the bonds to provide continuing disclosure. The
obligation of the issuer under the covenant is to provide cer-
tain financial information and operating data no later than
a specified period following the close of each fiscal year and
to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated
events, if material, within 10 days of such event.

The continuing disclosure information is required to be
uploaded to a national electronic platform repository referred
to as EMMA (Electronic Municipal Market Access). Most
municipalities in Massachusetts contract with their financial
advisor to submit the required continuing disclosure informa-
tion on their behalf.

BORROWING PURPOSES AND LIMITS

Purposes for which a municipality may borrow and its debt
limits are listed in Chapter 44 s 7,8 and 10 M.G.L. Ques-
tions should be posed to the town’s financial advisor or bond
counsel.

This chapter was prepared by Allan Tosti, Edward Dlott, Mary
Ellen Normen Dunn, Donna A. Madden and Elizabeth Klepeis
and updated by Cinder McNerney.
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BORROWING PURPOSES TABLE
Before and After the Municipal Modernization Act
Effective November 7, 2016

BORROWING WITHIN DEBT LIMIT - G.L. C. 44,8 7

Purpose in Clause PURPOSE (Before 11/7/2016) Purpose in Clause
Below Before Municipal Below After Municipal
Modernization Act Modernization Act
1 Constructing or reconstructing surface drains, sewers, sewerage systems and 1
sewage treatment and disposal facilities
1A Lining by cement or metal of sewers constructed for sanitary and surface drain- 1
age purposes and for sewage disposal
2 Acquiring land for public parks or playgrounds or public domain under G.L. c. 45 1
2A Constructing an artificial ice-skating rink for which refrigeration equipment is 1
required on land owned by the city or town
2B Constructing an outdoor swimming pool on land owned by the city or town 1
3 Acquiring land, or interests in land, for any purpose a city or town is authorized 1
to acquire land or interests in land, not otherwise specifically provided for; con-
structing buildings or additions to buildings a city or town is authorized to build
where the additions increase the floor space of the buildings, including original
equipment and furnishings of the buildings or additions
3A Remodeling, reconstructing or making extraordinary repairs to public buildings 1
owned by the city or town, including original equipment and landscaping, pav-
ing and other site improvements incidental or directly related to the remodeling,
reconstruction or repair
3B Making energy conservation, alternative energy or renewable energy improve- 1(Not including improve-
ments to public buildings or facilities owned or leased by the city or town, or on | ments to property not owned
property owned or leased by the city or town by the municipality)
3C Funding the revolving loan fund established under G.L. c. 44, § 53E3/4 to assist 2
in the development of renewable energy and energy conservation projects on
privately-held buildings, property or facilities within the city or town
4 Constructing or reconstructing bridges of stone or concrete or of iron 1
superstructure
5 Constructing (original), extending or widening public ways, including land dam- 1
ages and the cost of pavement and sidewalks laid at the time of the construc-
tion; constructing stone, block, brick, cement concrete, bituminous concrete,
bituminous macadam or other permanent pavement of similar lasting character;
constructing (original), surfacing or resurfacing municipally owned and operated
off-street parking areas, under specifications approved by the MDOT
6 Installing macadam pavement or other road material; resurfacing municipally 1
owned or operated offstreet parking areas with pavement or other road material
under specifications approved by MDOT; constructing sidewalks of brick, bitumi-
nous concrete, stone or concrete
7 Constructing walls or dikes to protect highways or property 1
8 Purchasing land for cemetery purposes 1
Acquiring equipment 1
9A Remodeling, reconstructing or rehabilitating existing firefighting apparatus and 1
heavy equipment including, but not limited to, front-end loaders, road graders,
sidewalk plows and motorized sweepers
10 Connecting residences or other buildings with common sewers, when all or part | 1(if construction in the public
of the cost is to be assessed to abutting property owners way or on public property)
" Paying final judgments 3
12 No Clause 12 N/A
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BORROWING WITHIN DEBT LIMIT - G.L. C. 44,8 7

Purpose in Clause PURPOSE (Before 11/7/2016) Purpose in Clause
Below Before Municipal Below After Municipal
Modernization Act Modernization Act
13 In Boston only, acquiring fire or police boats 1
14 Installing traffic signals, public lighting, fire alarms or police communications 1(See also clause9 — com-
and extending and improving those installations puter hardware/software
15 In Boston only, constructing (original), extending or widening ways other than 4

public ways, within, bounding or connecting with public park in the city by the
board of park commissioners of the city, with permanent pavement of a lasting
character conforming to specifications approved by MDOT, including land dam-
ages and cost of pavement and sidewalks laid at the time of the construction;
or constructing the ways with stone, block, brick, cement concrete, bituminous
concrete, bituminous macadam or other permanent pavement of similar lasting
character under specifications approved by MDOT

16 Paying fire insurance policy premium covering a period of 5 years N/A

17 Improving tidal and non-tidal rivers and streams, harbors, tide waters, fore- 1
shores and shores along a public beach under G.L. c. 91, § 29; constructing or
reconstructing public wharves

17A Dredging tidal and non-tidal rivers and streams, harbors, channels and 1
tidewaters
18 Paying for expert appraisal of taxable property or preparation of assessors N/A

maps, including aerial photography

19 Making payments under contracts with the Commonwealth under G.L. c. 40, § 6
4D for purposes for which loans may be authorized under this section

20 Developing land for burial purposes and for constructing paths and avenues and 1
embellishing the grounds in a cemetery owned by the city or town

21 Paying for architectural services for plans and specifications for any proposed 7
building for which a city, town or district may borrow, or for additions to build-
ings owned by a city, town, or district where the additions increase the floor
space of the building

22 Paying for engineering or architectural services for plans and specifications for 7
any project not defined in Clause 21 for which a city, town or district may borrow

23 Constructing municipal tennis courts, including platform tennis courts and 1
acquiring land and constructing buildings, including original equipment and
furnishings

24 No Clause 24 N/A

25 Constructing and reconstructing municipal outdoor recreational and athletic 1
facilities, including acquiring and developing the land for the facilities

26 Paying for energy audits as defined in G.L. c. 25A, § 3, if authorized separately 8
from debt for energy conservation or alternative energy projects

27 Preserving and restoring publicly-owned freshwater lakes and great ponds 1
under G.L. c. 21, § 37A

28 Developing, designing, purchasing and installing computer hardware, other data 9

processing equipment and computer assisted integrated financial management
and accounting systems

29 Developing, designing, purchasing computer software incident to the purchase, 9
installation and operation of computer hardware and other data processing
equipment and computer assisted integrated financial management and ac-
counting systems

30 Installing, repairing, or replacing exposed structural or miscellaneous steel, 1
which has been treated with the hot-dip galvanizing process

31 Removing asbestos from municipally owned buildings 1
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BORROWING WITHIN DEBT LIMIT - G.L. C. 44,8 7

Purpose in Clause
Below Before Municipal
Modernization Act

PURPOSE (Before 11/7/2016)

Purpose in Clause
Below After Municipal
Modernization Act

section with a maximum useful life of at least 5 years

32 Cleaning up or preventing pollution caused by existing or closed municipal 10
facilities not referenced in G.L. c. 44, § 8(21), including cleanup or prevention
activities taken under G.L. c. 21E or G.L. c. 21H

33 Constructing or reconstructing seawalls, riprap, revetments, breakwaters, bulk- 1
heads, jetties and groins, stairways, ramps and other related structures

34 Constructing other public works, improvements or assets not specified in this 1

BORROWING WITHIN DEBT LIMIT - G.L. C. 44,8 8

Purpose in Clause Below Before Municipal
Modernization Act

PURPOSE (Before 11/7/2016) Purpose in

Clause Below After Municipal
Modernization Act

1

Temporary loans under G.L. c. 44, 88 4, 6, 6A,
17 and 17A

1

Providing and distributing food, temporary
shelter and other necessaries of life during
emergencies under G.L. c. 40, §19

Establishing or purchasing a water supply
system; taking or purchasing water sources,
either from public land or private sources,
water or flowage rights, or land for the pro-
tection of water system

Conducting groundwater inventory and
analysis of the water supply, including pump
tests and quality tests, in connection with
development of new or additional water
supply sources

Constructing or enlarging reservoirs; con-
structing filter beds, standpipes, buildings for
pumping stations including original pumping
station equipment, and buildings for water
treatment, including original equipment; and
acquiring land or any interest in land neces-
sary in connection with those purposes

Remodeling, reconstructing or making
extraordinary repairs to reservoirs and filter
beds

Laying and relaying of water mains of 6-16
inches in diameter; lining and relining those
mains with linings of at least 1/16 of an inch;
developing additional well fields, for wells;
and acquiring pumping station equipment

Constructing and reconstructing and laying
and relaying aqueducts and water mains 16
or more inches in diameter; and lining those
mains with linings of at least 1/16 of an inch

Extending water mains

Purchasing and installing water meters
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BORROWING WITHIN DEBT LIMIT - G.L. C. 44, § 8

Purpose in Clause Below Before Municipal PURPOSE (Before 11/7/2016) Purpose in Clause Below After Municipal
Modernization Act Modernization Act
7B Paying share of municipality’s cost to in- 7

crease the storage capacity of any reservoir,
including land acquisition, constructed by the
water resources commission for flood preven-
tion or water resources utilization

7C Purchasing, replacing or rehabilitating water 7A
departmental equipment

8 Establishing, purchasing, extending, or en- 8
larging a gas or electric lighting plant, a com-
munity antenna television system, whether
or not operated by a gas or electric lighting
plant, or a telecommunications system oper-
ated by a municipal lighting plant

8A Remodeling, reconstructing, or making 8A
extraordinary repairs to a gas or electric
lighting plant, a community antenna televi-
sion system, or a telecommunications system
operated by a municipal lighting plant

9 Emergency appropriations approved by 9
Director of Accounts

Borrowing may be authorized by (1) treasurer,
with approval of chief executive officer, of
city, town or district under expedited proce-
dure or (2) regular procedure

Emergency means a sudden, unavoidable
event or series of events which could not rea-
sonably have been foreseen or anticipated at
the time of submission of the annual budget
for approval and does not include funding of
collective bargaining agreements or items
previously disapproved by the appropriat-

ing authority for the fiscal year in which the
borrowing is sought

9A Emergency appropriations for capital purpos- 9A
es authorized by treasurer, with approval of
chief executive officer, of city, town or district
under expedited procedure

Emergency means a sudden, unavoidable
event or series of events which could not rea-
sonably have been foreseen or anticipated at
the time of submission of the annual budget
for approval

10 Acquiring land or constructing buildings or 10
other structures, including the cost of original
equipment, as memorials to members of the
army, navy, marine corps, coast guard, or air
force

1" No Clause 11 N/A
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BORROWING WITHIN DEBT LIMIT - G.L. C. 44, § 8

Purpose in Clause Below Before Municipal PURPOSE (Before 11/7/2016) Purpose in Clause Below After Municipal
Modernization Act Modernization Act
12 Acquiring street railway property under G.L. 1"

c. 161, 88 143-158 operating the same, or
contributing toward the capital expenses of a
transportation area

13 Acquiring, constructing, establishing, 12
enlarging, improving or protecting public
airports, including acquiring land, including
those airports jointly owned by two or more
municipalities

14 Eradicating Dutch elm disease, including 13
payment of assessments and charges made
under G.L. c. 132

15 Constructing sewers, sewerage systems and 14
sewage treatment and disposal facilities; or
making a lump sum payment of the cost of

tie-in to those services in a contiguous city
or town

16 Constructing municipal golf courses, includ- 15
ing acquiring land, constructing buildings and
paying for original equipment and furnishings

17 Making payments under contracts with the 16
Commonwealth under G.L. c. 40, § 4D for
purposes for which loans may be authorized
under this section

18 Constructing a regional incinerator for dis- 17
posal of solid waste, refuse and garbage by
two or more communities

19 Lending or granting funds to industrial devel- 18
opment financing authorities and economic
development and industrial corporations

20 Undertaking projects fully or partially fi- 19
nanced by the Farmers Home Administration
of the United States Department of
Agriculture under Chapter 50 of Title 7 of the
United States Code

21 Cleaning up or preventing pollution caused 20
by existing or closed landfills or other solid
waste disposal facilities, including clean-up
activities under G.L. c. 21E or G.L. c. 21H

22 Constructing incinerators, refuse transfer 21
facilities, recycling facilities, composting
facilities, resource recovery facilities or other
solid waste disposal facilities, other than
landfills, for disposing of waste, refuse and
garbage

23 Remodeling, reconstructing or making 22
extraordinary repairs to incinerators, refuse
transfer facilities, recycling facilities, re-
source recovery facilities or other solid waste
disposal facilities, other than landfills, owned
by the city, town or district, and used for
disposing of waste, refuse and garbage
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BORROWING WITHIN DEBT LIMIT - G.L. C. 44, § 8

Purpose in Clause Below Before Municipal PURPOSE (Before 11/7/2016) Purpose in Clause Below After Municipal
Modernization Act Modernization Act
24 Closing out a landfill area, opening a new 23

landfill area, or making improvements to an
existing landfill area

25 Acquisition of a dam or the removal, repair, 24
reconstruction and improvements to a dam
owned by a municipality, as may be neces-
sary to maintain, repair or improve such dam.
Includes dams, as defined by G.L. c. 253, § 4,
and appurtenant real property, acquired by
gift, purchase or eminent domain not owned
or held in trust by the Commonwealth when
the municipality acquires them
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Il
CHAPTER 13: MUNICIPAL CONTRACTING AND
PROCUREMENT

PowEeR TO CONTRACT

A town is authorized to make contracts for the exercise of its
corporate powers in accordance with M.G.L. Chapter 40 s 4
which states:

A city or town may make contracts for the exercise of its
corporate powers, on such terms and conditions as are au-
thorized by the town meeting in a town, the town council
in a town without a town meeting, the city council in a
city with the approval of the mayor or the city council in a
Plan D or Plan E city with the approval of the manager, or
as otherwise authorized in accordance with a duly adopted
charter. A city or town may not contract for any purpose,
on any terms, or under any conditions inconsistent with
any applicable provision of any general or special law.

The section above does not expressly authorize any particular
town board or official to sign contracts. In general, the autho-
rization to sign contracts must be set forth in either the town
charter or bylaws, or established by town meeting vote. Some
state statutes also grant the power to contract. For example,
a municipal airport commission is authorized by M.G.L.
Chapter 90 s 511, to make contracts for airport improvements
and to purchase supplies and materials. Another example is
an historic district commission, which is authorized under
M.G.L Chapter 40 s 8D, to “enter into contracts with indi-
viduals, organizations and institutions for services furthering
the objectives of the commission’s program.”

Unless otherwise specified in the charter, bylaws, or town
meeting vote, the actual terms and conditions of municipal
contracts may be negotiated and agreed to by the board or
official authorized to enter into a particular contract. Con-
tracts subject to the Uniform Procurement Act may not
exceed three years unless authorized by a majority vote of

town meeting. See M.G.L Chapter 30B s 12 b. A charter or
bylaw provision may also authorize contracts that are more
than three years long.

If the town charter or bylaws do not authorize a particular
board or committee to execute contracts, the following sam-
ple bylaw should be considered for adoption:

Unless otherwise provided by a vote of town meeting, the
[town manager] [board of selectmen] [chief procurement
officer designated pursuant to M.G.L. Chapter 30B] is
authorized to enter into any contract for the exercise of the
town’s corporate powers, on such terms and conditions as
are deemed appropriate.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the [town manager]
[board of selectmen] [chief procurement officer] shall not
contract for any purpose, on any terms, or under any con-
ditions inconsistent with any applicable provision of any
general or special law.

Even if a contract has been properly authorized and execut-
ed, it must be supported by an adequate appropriation. If a
contract is a multi-year contract and sufficient funds are not
appropriated in a subsequent fiscal year, the town is required
to cancel the contract. (See M.G.L. Chapter 30B, Section
12(d).) Construction contracts must include a certification
of the auditor or accountant that sufficient funds have been
appropriated to pay for the scope of work with additional
certifications required for change orders. (See M.G.L. c. 44,
s 31C.)

INTERMUNICIPAL AGREEMENTS

The statute governing inter municipal agreements, Chapter
40, s 4A, was amended in 2008 to remove legislative, or
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Town Meeting, approval required in order to execute such
agreements in communities with a Town form of govern-
ment. (See St. 2008, c. 188.) Instead, the authority to enter
into such interlocal agreements is vested with the Board of
Selectmen. As was the case before the 2008 Act, the statute
requires authorization by the City Council with approval

of the Mayor in those municipalities with a City form of
government. Further, the Prudential Committee would
approve of such agreements in Districts instead of at a district
meeting as required previously. The amendment in no way
changes the reporting requirements and financial safeguards
that must be included in such agreements. These agreements
may be for up to 25 years. For those inter municipal agree-
ments involving the expenditure of funds for establishing
supplementary education centers and innovative educational
programs, the agreement and its termination must be autho-
rized by the school committee.

There are four basic statutory schemes governing public
bidding procedures for municipal contracts. There are also
several provisions of the General Laws that require competi-
tive bidding for certain other types of contracts. For example,
Chapter 40 s 22D, requires competitive bidding in the award
of police-directed towing contracts and Chapter 45 s 5A,
requires sealed proposals and awards to the highest respon-
sible bidder for the lease of concession stands in town parks.
Energy management contracts are governed by Chapter

25A and overseen by the Division of Capital Asset Manage-
ment. Moreover, some towns continue to have charter or
bylaw provisions establishing additional local public bidding

requirements.
The principal state-law schemes are:

Uniform Procurement Act

M.G.L. Chapter 30B. This chapter governs the general
bidding procedures for the procurement of all town supplies
and services costing $10,000 or more, unless the particular
contract is contained in the list of exemptions set forth in
M.G.L. Chapter 30B s 1. This list of exemptions is extensive
and includes, among other exemptions, intermunicipal agree-
ments (see above), solid waste contracts, engineering agree-
ments, insurance contracts and certain professional services
agreements. Generally, if the cost of the supply or service is
estimated to cost $10,000 or more but less than $50,000, the
town may procure such supply or service by obtaining three
telephone or written quotes and awarding the contract to the
person or business offering the lowest quotation. If the cost is

estimated to be less than $10,000, Chapter 30B only requires
that “sound business practices” be utilized. In 2010, the
Legislature added the following definition of “sound business
practices” as: “ensuring receipt of favorable prices by periodi-
cally soliciting price lists or quotes.” (See Chapter 188 of the
Acts of 2010, Section 12). This means that, even for pro-
curements valued at less than $10,000, municipalities should
periodically gather information on going rates in order to be
better-informed about market conditions.

If the cost of the contract is estimated to be $50,000 or more,
the town must issue a written invitation for bids (“IFB”),
advertise the procurement in accordance with established
procedures and award the contract to the lowest responsible

and eligible bidder. (See M.G.L. Chapter 30B s 5.)

Alternatively, if the chief procurement ofhicer determines that
selection of the most advantageous offer requires a compara-
tive judgment of other factors in addition to price, the town
may issue a request for proposals (‘RFP”) in accordance with
M.G.L. Ch. 30B s 6. This procedure requires the submission
by each offer of a separately sealed price and non-price pro-
posal. The non-price proposals are opened first and evaluated
and ranked in accordance with published evaluation criteria.
Thereafter, the price proposals are opened and the contract
may be awarded to the person offering the most advantageous
proposal taking into consideration price and the evaluation
criteria. If the contract is awarded to a person other than the
one offering the lowest price, the chief procurement officer
must explain in writing the reasons for the award.

As part of its 2010 Municipal Relief Act (see Chapter 188

of the Acts of 2010), the Legislature amended Chapter 30B
to authorize a municipality to access another municipality’s
competitively solicited contract for goods and supplies. Cities
and towns now may freely cooperatively purchase goods (but
not services) from competitively solicited contracts made by
other municipalities within and outside each state, including,
but not limited to, those contracts offered through regional
and national cooperative purchasing organizations. (Codi-

fied as M.G.L. Chapter 30B Section 22.)

In addition, the Act amended Chapter 30B to authorize local
procurement officials to use reverse auctions for the acqui-
sition of supplies and services valued at $50,000 or more.

(Codified as M.G.L. Chapter 30B Section 6A).

The Uniform Procurement Act also requires a public proposal
process for the disposition or acquisition of interests in real
property (i.e., fee simple interests, easements, or leasehold
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interests) if the value of the real property interest exceeds
$35,000. In the case of acquisition of real estate, the town
may forego a public proposal process if the town determines
in writing that the real estate to be acquired has unique qual-
ities or location.

Otherwise, whenever disposing of or acquiring real property,
a town must advertise in accordance with the separate adver-

tising procedures contained in M.G.L. Chapter 30B s16.

Table 13 summarizes the procurement procedures for pur-
chase of supplies and services, for the disposal of surplus sup-
plies and for the acquisition and disposal of interests in real
property. This table is designed as a guide to the applicable
procedures. It is not a comprehensive treatment of all statu-
tory requirements. For detailed, step-by-step procedures and
requirements, see M.G.L Chapter 30B s 1-19. Refer also to
the Inspector General’s manual, Municipal, County, District,
and Local Authority Procurement of Supplies, Services and

Real Property, updated in November of 2016.

Public Works Contracts (“Non-Building” or “Horizontal
Construction”)

Contracts for the construction, reconstruction, alteration, re-
modeling or repair of any public works project costing more
than $10,000 must be awarded in accordance with the sealed
bidding procedures of M.G.L Chapter 30 s 39M. Generally,
this provision requires the preparation of written specifica-
tions and an invitation for bids, advertising of the contract
in accordance with established procedures, and award of the
contract to the lowest responsible and eligible bidder. Pub-
lic works projects include municipal infrastructure projects
involving “horizontal construction” such as sewer and water
projects, highway and bridge projects, landfill closures and
site work and to grading projects.

This statute also applies to the purchase of construction mate-
rials costing more than $10,000 and public building projects,
as described in the designer selection section below, which
are estimated to cost in excess of $50,000 but not more than
$100,000. Construction materials may also be purchased
under M.G.L. Chapter 30B s5, as a “supply.”

Public Building Construction Contracts (“Building” or
“Vertical Construction”)

Contracts for the design and construction of public build-
ings are subject to the requirements of M.G.L. c. 149. This
chapter requires that procurement be done through sound
business practices (up to $10,000), solicitation of written

responses ($10,000-$50,000), or solicitation of sealed bids
($Over 50,000-$100,000). For projects over $10,000,000
(and for sub-bids of $25,000 and over), a prequalification
process must be performed. Advertising, bonding, and
DCAM certification requirements also apply.

If a contract involves the construction, reconstruction, instal-
lation, demolition, maintenance or repair of any building by
the town estimated to cost in excess of $150,000, the contract
must be awarded in compliance with the Filed Sub-Bid Law,
M.G.L Chapter 149 ss 44A through 44M. This provision
requires the preparation of written specifications and an invi-
tation for bids, the separate solicitation of filed sub-bids and
general bids if the estimate of the work will exceed $25,000
for each sub-trade, advertisement of the contract in accor-
dance with established procedures and award of the contract
to the lowest responsible and eligible bidder. A “building” is
defined as any structure including four walls and a roof, but
for the purposes of this statute, does not include sewer or
water pumping stations that are newly constructed as part of
a water or sewer project.

The table that follows summarizes the advertising and bid-
ding requirements prescribed by M.G.L. Chapter 30 s 39M,
and M.G.L. Chapter 149 s 44A through 44M, which apply
to contracts for the construction, reconstruction, alteration,
remodeling, demolition or repair of public works projects
and public building projects, respectively. The table is offered
as a guide only and is not a comprehensive treatment of all
statutory requirements. For detailed procedures regarding
the bidding and advertising requirements for public design
and construction contracts, see the statutes identified above
or consult with counsel. You may also refer to the Inspector
General’s manual entitled “Designing and Constructing Pub-
lic Facilities,” and October 2016 Update Reflecting Munic-
ipal Modernization Act changes, which can be found at the
Inspector General’s web site: www.mass.gov/ig.

Designer Selection Law

If a contract involves the procurement of design services for a
public building project where the estimated cost of construc-
tion exceeds $100,000 or the design fee is $10,000 or more,
the contract must be awarded in compliance with designer se-
lection procedures established by the town and in accordance
with M.G.L Chapter 7 s 38A 1/2 through 380. Contracts for
the design of buildings constructed in connection with water,
sewer, and highway projects are exempt from this law.
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VALIDITY OF CONTRACTS AWARDED IN any payment on such an illegal contract, regardless of wheth-

VIOLATION OF LAW er the vendor has actually provided supplies or services under

the contract. (See M.G.L Chapter 30B s 17(b).)

If a contract has not been properly authorized in accordance
with M.G.L. Chapter 40 s 4, has been awarded in violation
of required public bidding procedures, or has been entered

This chapter was prepared by the law firm of Kopelman & Paige
and updated by Juliana deHaan Riee in 2012 and Douglas W.

into without an adequate appropriation, the contract is void Heim in 2014 and 2017,

and unenforceable and the town is not permitted to make

DOLLAR AMOUNT OF STATUTORY | PUBLISHED PROCEDURE AWARD TO ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS OR
CONTRACT REFERENCE = ADVERTISEMENT EXCEPTIONS
Supplies & Services less than | §4 None Required Employ “Sound Periodic solicitation of price
$10,000 Business Practices” as lists or quotes. May use for
defined by c. 30B §2. purchases of up to $35,000 from
Massachusetts farms
Supplies & Services 84 None Required Solicit 3 Quotes Lowest quote
$10,000-$50,000 (telephone or written) | (telephone or written)
Supplies & Services 85 Posting, Newspaper, & | Sealed Bids (IFB) Lowest
$50,000+ Invitation for Bids Commbuys ($100,000 responsive and
+also Goods and responsible
Services Bulletin) bidder
Supplies & Services $50,000 | §6 Posting, Newspaper & | Separately sealed Most Chief procurement officer —
+Request for Proposals Commbuys ($100,000 | price and non-price advantageous determination of need for non-
+also Goods and proposals (RFP) based on non- price factors
Services Bulletin) price and price
factor
Supplies & Services Reverse | §6A Operational Services
Auction Division Procedure
Supplies & Procurement 87 None Required Direct Negotiation Sole Source Sole Source determination by
Services Sole Source officer. Additional record keeping
$50,000 Maximum (Library
& School Books, Software
Maintenance, Utilities any
Amount)
Supplies & Services §8 Goods and Services Comply with ¢.30B Lowest Price Emergency declaration by
Emergency Bulletin (as soon as procedures to extent procurement officer. Procure only
practicable) possible (3 quotes to meet emergency needs.
recommended)
Supplies & Services Disposal | §15 Municipality may Any value — Surplus supplies swapped or
Up To $10000 promulgate own may be given sold within a local jurisdiction or
procedures to tax-exempt with other local governments,
charitable the Commonwealth, other state
organization by governments, or with the federal
majority (Town government are exempt from
Meeting) vote 30B.
Supplies & Services §15 Same as §5 above for | Sealed bids, auction, Highest Price May be listed as trade-in in
(Disposal)$10,000+ bid or auction established markets IFB/RFP. Special procedure for
disposal to charity
Real Property More Than 816 Newspaper; greater Sealed Proposal Most For disposition: declaration of
$35,000 Acquisition or than 2500 sq. ft. — also Advantageous availability. Determination of
Disposal Central Register Offer (if not value; For acquisition: uniqueness
highest & prices, | determination; notice of award to
must publish Central Register
explanation)

Table 13 Uniform Procurement Act Procedures (M.G.L. C.30B)
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CHAPTER 14: INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

INTRODUCTION

It’s 10:15 p.m. You've been meeting with the police chief for
the last two hours. Quite understandably, everybody is get-
ting impatient and a little contentious. Nobody remembered
to bring their information about the police department’s
overtime budget. The finance committee thinks, but cannot
prove conclusively, that overtime is now a larger percentage
of all personnel services for police than it has ever been.
However, no one has any way to compare the last few months
with the same period last year or the year before. And, even
for this year, no one can tell if there has been a “spike” in
overtime because of several recent severe snowstorms, or if
this pattern of perceived over expenditure has been persistent
throughout the whole year.

Providing access to a computer and printer in the meeting
room would mean that the finance committee could look up
all of this information in a matter of seconds from the town’s
actual payroll files, print it out, give each member of the fi-
nance committee and the police chief a clean copy and focus
the discussion on the overtime budget rather than speculate
about the facts.

The advent of secure, mobile technologies such as tablets
means that any individual member of the finance committee
ought to be able to view whatever budgetary information
they wish in the middle of a meeting--or at any other time--
without having to make a special request of the full finance
committee or the town’s staff. This access also means that
there may not be a need to print out this information since
everyone on the finance committee can be looking at the
same information at the same time from their own comput-
ing device such as a laptop, tablet or other mobile device.

The lesson is clear: the days of carrying spreadsheets and

thick binders or reams of paper to every meeting should be
over. The town’s information system and other information
technology (IT) resources have become finance committee

members’ stock in trade, helping them do their jobs better
and faster.

The growing use of town information systems hosted in the
Cloud, not on the physical premises of the town, also chang-
es the landscape of what the finance committee members can
do and how they do it. “Cloud” here refers to off-premises
systems, accessed over the Internet, which enable any autho-
rized person to access what their individual security allows, at
any time of the day or night. This Chapter 14 later addresses
cloud computing in greater detail.

WHAT DoES THE FINANCE COMMITTEE
NEED?

Finance committees need to gather and use financial infor-
mation to meet the full range of their responsibilities by law
and custom. These needs fall into four main areas:

° access;
* analysis;
* planning; and

* public information.

ACCESS

In order to meet their responsibilities, finance committees
need access to municipal data. In many towns, this means
the availability of physical reports provided by the town ac-
countant or other town officials. In others, finance committee
members can access town-government information directly
from town systems. In order to do this, they need to receive
training, provided by the town, in how to use the particular
applications software the town uses in its financial functions.

Advances in I'T now mean that a finance committee should
not have to ask permission to get municipal financial infor-
mation from its own town. The finance committee should
have secure, independent access established in advance by the

Finance Committee Handbook | Chapter 14: Information Technology



town. This means that the finance committee may view or
print municipal financial information, even from home.

Towns should have a workstation and printer available in the
conference room in town hall to allow the finance commit-

tee, as well as other municipal officials, to access information.

These are small investments for towns to make to facilitate
important town government work.

In addition, as the Introduction to this chapter just men-
tioned, the members of the finance committee should have
secure, mobile access to the town’s financial information
from their smartphone, tablet or other mobile device. This
includes being able to print wirelessly at meetings or other-
wise.

Information technology gives the finance committee several
tools for analysis. Again, as with access, training is the key to
the finance committee’s use of I'T for analysis. Tools for anal-
ysis available to finance committee members should include:

Standard Reports

Every vendor of municipal application software includes nu-
merous standard or “canned” reports with its system. These
reports can provide a wealth of information, ranging from
year-to-date expenditures to delinquencies in receipts from
taxes or utilities.

Report Generators

These are also known as “query” tools. They enable a
non-technical end-user to ask ad hoc questions--for example,
identifying which departmental accounts have a balance
greater than or less than a certain percentage of their bud-
geted amount. The user can often get the answer to such
questions, in detail, in a matter of seconds.

Dashboards

Leading vendors of municipal information systems offer the
option to have dashboards. These are graphical displays of
information which can be especially helpful to a finance
committee in the same way as they are to municipal man-
agers and supervisors. The dashboard is designed to provide
customized, ready access to graphical displays of informa-
tion. This often focuses on such things as (1) percentages
of revenues or expenditures year-to-date or (2) year-to-year
comparisons.

Spreadsheets

The key to using spreadsheets in the finance committee’s
work is keeping them up-to-date without having to re-enter
information that has already been entered into the town’s
information system for other municipal use. Several soft-
ware tools can extract pertinent data from existing files in
the town’s information system. Many vendors have already
programmed spreadsheet extractions for municipal data
files; similarly, many report generators have a spreadsheet
extraction process built into them. The report generator itself
may serve as the “bridge” between municipal financial appli-
cations and the finance committee’s spreadsheets.

Also, if spreadsheets are kept on a town’s financial system un-
der appropriate security, the finance committee should have
fairly easy access to needed information.

Planning

The finance committee needs to plan more than just the
upcoming fiscal year. While developing next year’s budget is
the primary responsibility of most finance committees, pro-
jecting revenues and expenditures for future years (a practice
known as multi-year fiscal planning) creates the framework
for prudent, annual budgetary decision-making.

Municipalities in Massachusetts and elsewhere in the United
States provide workstations and printers for their “stock-
holders” to use. These are usually located either in the town
hall or the library--the two locations where most people seek
information about their town government.

Security always needs to be implemented to ensure that files
and equipment are not tampered with or removed. Munic-
ipalities should provide access to public workstations and
printers free of charge. The town will save substantial funds
by enabling people to get the information they need without
having to take the staff’s valuable time to respond to every
inquiry. Users should not be charged to cover the cost of
certain supplies (e.g. printer paper): this is a time-consuming
nuisance for the customer and the town’s staff.

Towns should be using the Internet, through their municipal
web site, to keep the public informed about their work. For
example, the finance committee, working in cooperation
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with the town’s staff and selectmen, should make available on
the town’s web site:

the agenda and minutes for each of the finance com-
mittee’s meetings, accumulating these permanently and
making them searchable.

hyperlinks from the agendas and minutes to supporting
documents such as memos and spreadsheets from the
finance committee itself or the town’s staff.

the operating budget as proposed by the town manager/
selectmen.

the capital improvement plan (CIP) as proposed by the
town manager/selectmen.

the finance committee’s warrant /report for town meeting.

the final operating budget and CIP as voted by town

meeting.

In this context, it is important to observe that almost all of
these documents are public record; using the town’s web site
to share them on a timely basis with the public will enhance
the standing of the finance committee in the community.
The finance committee’s use of the Internet should be coordi-
nated with the town’s general strategy for Internet access.

Internet access can also be helpful to finance committee
members when traveling. This is now a widespread practice
throughout the United States.

Leading budget preparation packages from established
municipal vendors can save hundreds of hours every year
for elected officials, departments, staff, finance committees
and capital committees. Many budget preparation packages
automatically “read” the most current information from a
municipality’s general ledger system in real time--up to the
second. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, such automatic
updating not only saves time, it eliminates concerns about
using old information in the budgeting process. Some of the
features and functions that leading off-the-shelf budgeting
packages offer at a reasonable cost include:

Individual department access for budget requests

Security can allow each department or division to input or
view information only for its own range of accounts. For
example, within the department of public works, the water
and sewer division could input only figures for its part of the

budget while the highway division could input or access only
its own range of accounts.

Individual department access for inputting narrative
information

Each department should be able to present its own justifica-
tion for the funds it is requesting. Departments should be
able to do this for every object or sub-object of expenditure,
as well as each source of revenue.

Individual department ability to recommend priorities
for the next year

The police department, for example, might state that a third
new cruiser is a lower priority than a new boat for harbor
patrol and rescue.

Maintenance of multiple, concurrent budget scenarios for
the next several years

Local officials are always faced with uncertainty about such
budgeting factors as levels of local aid or trends in the state
and national economy. Multiple, concurrent budget scenar-
ios enable the town to keep several different projections for
budgets for the next year or the next several years, based (for
example) on optimistic, pessimistic or middle-of-the road
assumptions.

Projection of next year’s budget from the current year’s

budget

This can be done by applying across-the-board percentage or
dollar increases for all accounts, for individual accounts or for
a range of accounts.

Provision for budgeting allotments by percentage or
dollar amount

Municipal revenues and expenditures vary from season to
season. Having a budget that assumes snow falls 12 months a
year or that collections of property taxes occur in equal one-
twelfths is misleading. Budget-to-actual reports should reflect
this month-by-month allotment in order to provide managers
and policy makers with sound guidance on the status of mu-
nicipal finances. The system should provide its own internal
checks to be sure that the community has allotted all funds
budgeted in each scenario. This is quite important in cash
flow management as well as revenue/expenditure forecasting.

Provision for automatic roll-forward of budget informa-
tion without rekeying
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This should occur at every step of the process, from the de-
partment’s original request to final vote by town meeting.

Maintenance of the history of all adjustments to the bud-
get after its adoption

This applies to amendments and transfers affecting both
revenues and expenditures. For each such action, the system
should keep the record of the amounts involved, the accounts
to and from which they have moved, the date requested, the
reason for the request and the date approved. This is espe-
cially important since the enactment of Chapter 44 Section
33B of the General Laws, which gives towns greater flexibility
in making budgetary transfers in the last two months of the
fiscal year without having to go to town meeting,.

Linkage of the budget preparation system to other appli-
cations in the system

This should include, for instance, spreadsheet software, word
processing, graphics and the report generator software. These
linkages help greatly in presenting the budget both internally
and to the public.

The finance committee needs to look long and hard at how
the town plans to manage its investment in I'T. Management
is a key issue which has become more and more challenging
as towns have expanded their use of I'T.

This attention to the management of IT ought to occur in
the same way that the finance committee should be analyzing
how the town plans to staff and support an additional ambu-
lance or provide for the operating and maintenance costs of a
new (or renovated) school or any other asset.

The finance committee should be reviewing in detail several
elements of successful management of I'T before reaching any
decisions on its recommendations to town meeting. These
include, among other things:

1. The town’s formal, written strategic plan for I'T to guide
its investment in and management of these critical
resources. This plan should address town-wide needs for
IT on a comprehensive basis and be updated annually as
part of the town’s budgetary process. This annual update
is important because of the rapid pace of change in IT
and its increasing impact on almost every aspect of town

government.

2. 'The need for appropriate stafling and support of this func-
tion on a town-wide basis. Towns can only implement and
support I'T successfully to the extent that they provide
appropriate staffing whether by employees or contractors.

3. Having a broadly based user-organization which takes a
regular, active role in decisions about the direction and
management of I'T throughout the town.

4. The need for the town to fund both end-user and techni-
cal staff training on an annual basis, including out-of-state
travel to meetings of users’ groups.

5. The need to integrate requirements for the updating of
IT with other elements of the town’s capital improvement
program (CIP) such as improvements to its water or sewer
systems, or the procurement of fire apparatus or police
cruisers. For example, the CIP should include funds to
replace at least one-fifth of the town’s PC’s or printers each
year.

6. The use of performance-based “fly-before-you-buy”
Requests for Proposals (RFP’s) and contracts for ma-
jor procurements of systems and software for any town
departments. Performance-based contracts tie payment
to the actual performance of the system in production in
the town and also require the vendor to complete critical,
pre-implementation tasks such as training and conversion
before acceptance testing can begin.

Some towns in Massachusetts and their school districts have
had one town-school IT organization for more than 30 years.
With ever-increasing fiscal pressures, more and more towns
and school districts are showing ever-greater openness to
considering how they might benefit from this kind of local
consolidation of IT services.

Establishing a single, unified organization, strategy and
infrastructure for the town and school department can have
several, important advantages for a municipality.

1. Achieving economies of scale can be relatively significant
in various areas from stathng and servers to implementa-
tion and support of applications.

2. Having standards for applications, hardware and infra-
structure throughout the town-school enterprise can make
support of users and technologies both more cost-effective

and of higher quality.
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Implementing town-school cooperation requires careful
planning and coordination. Among other things, governance
between the town and schools needs to be established on a
formal, written basis between the board of selectmen and
school committee with specific recognition of the ongoing
role of the town’s chief administrative officer and the superin-
tendent of schools.

Cloud computing has been used to provide information sys-
tems to towns for more than 15 years. In the cloud model, a
company hosts the software that the town’s staff uses, provid-
ing access to the town’s applications to any person who has
secure, Internet-based access. Cloud computing is commonly
referred to as Software as a Service (SaaS).

The cloud model differs fundamentally from the traditional
“turnkey” model where the town would buy a server, set up a
computer room, license the software, establish a data network
and hire or contract for staff to manage the system.

The cloud model has several potential advantages.

It may minimize the front-end cost to the town by elimi-
nating or reducing the need to:

Build and maintain a separate computer network;
Buy a server to run the applications;

Pay for the full cost of licenses for application and
system software;

Hire staff to support the system and applications;
Construct and maintain a computer room; and

Manage enterprise-level security.

It can provide higher quality software than the town
might otherwise be able to afford, especially for smaller
commuanities.

The town only pays for what it actually uses. Thus, the
town has greater flexibility over time in how it provides
access to the applications.

Payment for cloud services can be credited to the town’s li-
censing of the application software, if and when the town
should decide to bring the application in house.

Some costs remain the same. Key among these are the need
(1) to provide ample training for all users both initially and
on an on-going basis; and (2) to execute the conversion of

files and records from the old system as completely and well
as possible.

Remember that cloud computing is a business. Towns need
to apply the same rigorous practices in procurement, imple-
mentation and support of cloud systems, beginning with the
drafting of the Request for Proposals for cloud services and
the related performance-based contract, as it would do for its
own in-house system.

Let’s ask a few questions:

How much does Homeland Security actually cost your
town? How do you know?

How much is the town spending among all of its depart-
ments for services to youth or seniors? How do you know?

Towns face a special challenge in identifying and understand-
ing the costs of activities like Homeland Security, youth or
senior services which may cross multiple departmental lines.

Homeland Security, for example, can entail direct operating
and capital expenditures which involve police, fire, EMS,
public works, the board of health and others. In addition,
there are indirect costs such as the percentage of time which
the town administrator may be spending on Homeland
Security.

What does this have to do with municipal IT?

The basic answer is that towns could and should be using
their computer-based systems to budget for and track ex-
penditures for activities like these that cross multiple depart-
ments or town agencies.

The good news is that this can be done very easily. And the
ability to do this program-based budgeting and accounting
has probably been sitting there on your system, unused and
already paid for, for several years.

The chart of accounts included in almost every vendor’s fi-
nancial system for towns in Massachusetts already has at least
one additional dimension in its chart of accounts for exactly
this type of activity.

Where the first four dimensions of the chart of accounts
typically are used in accordance with the Department of
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Revenue’s Uniform Massachusetts Accounting System,
(UMAS) standards for fund, function, department and
object of expenditure, there is also a fifth dimension which
can be used for activity or program. This would cover things
like Homeland Security, youth or senior services which are
not limited to a single department or town office. The other
benefit of this approach is that it does not interfere at all with
the normal appropriations process of town meeting.

Every town also has a clear precedent for this use of the fifth
dimension of its chart of accounts. Your school department,
whether local or regional, has had to do this same activity for
decades.

The challenge rests with the finance committee and other
local leaders to be smart in how they use their comput-
er-based chart of accounts to improve financial management.
Establishing this use of the fifth dimension in your chart

of accounts will also require working especially closely with
your board of selectmen, town manager/administrator, town
accountant, IT staff, other officials and auditor.

Cooperating with other towns or regional planning agencies
(RPAY%) in your area may offer the same kinds of opportuni-
ties for enhancing cost-effectiveness and quality of IT services
which were discussed previously in this chapter under Town-
School Cooperation.

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, through its Com-
munity Innovation Challenge (CIC) grant program, has
provided substantial funds to towns and RPA’s since 2012

to stimulate interlocal cooperation in IT. This funding has
generated a relatively significant amount of interlocal coop-
eration far beyond the scale of what had existed previously in
the Commonwealth.

This is not a new concept. The most obvious example across
the United States for decades has been voluntary regional
arrangements for 9-1-1 centers or public safety answering
points (PSAP’s). More recently, some local governments have
been implementing a single regional database for functions
related to inspections and permits.

Each town which may be interested in this kind of interlocal
cooperation should ask the following questions among others.

1. Do the towns generally get along well? Do they have a

history of having cooperated previously in any function of
town government?

2. What functions does each town see as potentially bene-
fiting most from this kind of cooperation in IT? Do they
have common needs related to public services or I'T?

3. What kind of arrangement for governance can be estab-
lished among the elected and appointed leadership of each

of the participating towns?

4. How should costs be shared? Are there some costs which
are common to all of the participating towns and others
which may be unique to one or more of the towns?

5. Have the towns considered in depth the technical and
legal issues related to licensing of their application and
system software or other goods or services? This can be an
especially tricky and potentially costly area to navigate.

6. Who will be in charge operationally? Is there one person
who will act as I'T director for the towns? How will IT
staff otherwise be consolidated?

Gov 3.0 refers to the two-way exchange of information
between a governmental entity and the public using social
media. By social media, one means Internet-based technolo-
gies such as Twitter and Facebook among others.

Where citizens in previous years could exchange information
with their municipality only through a specific municipal
application such as Tax Billing and Collection or Inspections
and Permits, social media enable anyone in the public to
provide information to the municipality on a completely ad
hoc basis. This could range from such things as the picture of
a pothole to a video of a crime or fire.

Finance committees should be concerned with Gov 3.0 since
it raises the same question as any other municipal expendi-
ture which the finance committee is legally obligated to re-
view: what is the fiscal prudence of this investment? Where
does it fit into the town’s strategy for IT and its approach

to the daily delivery of public services? Is there a basis in
sound policy, good management and responsible finance for
proceeding with Gov 3.0 in its various forms? How will the
town staff and support Gov 3.0 on an ongoing basis?

Where Gov 3.0 is the next major step in town-citizen inter-
action, the finance committee should monitor deliberations
in the town regarding Gov 3.0 closely since this area of IT in
town government is expanding continuously and relatively
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significantly.

BYOD: Bring Your Own Device

Personal technology--the use of individual devices like tablets
and smartphones--is now everywhere in American society.

This phenomenon is generally referred to as “BYOD” or
Bring Your Own Device. It is closely related in its role in and
impact on town government to Gov 3.0: Social Media as this
chapter just discussed.

They key issue for many town departments, from the Select-
men and Town Administrator to Public Works, Communi-
ty Development, Health, Police, Fire and others is how to
integrate BYOD into the framework of town operations on a
day-to-day basis.

Security is perhaps the overwhelming concern here for local
officials. For example, if a town employee or finance com-
mittee member can access financial information from a tablet
or smartphone, what does this mean to the integrity of this
information?

The proliferation of BYOD in town government has brought
a new and large burden, known as Mobile Device Manage-
ment or MDM. MDM is a necessary part of the deploy-
ment of IT in town government. Indeed, the onus of MDM
increases as the town expands its mobile environment in
different ways. This also constitutes another necessary and
not inconsequential cost to a town.

Personnel and support are also key considerations in the
world of BYOD. Will the town be able to manage all aspects
of BYOD by using its own staff or will it need to pay for a
specialized contractor to be able to set up and support the
BYOD environment?

While BYOD has applications to town government which
are interesting and potentially beneficial, it must be managed
with great care.

Public Records and Public Meetings.

The advent of social media and BYOD raises serious ques-
tions about the nature of public records and public meetings
in this next step in the evolution of the digital age.

For example, what happens in the case of a three-person
board of selectmen when two of the members use social me-

dia to share information or engage in a dialogue regarding a
pending vote? What electronic or physical records may exist
of this interaction?

These issues are starting to receive more and more attention
from courts, legislatures and public officials at all levels of
government. The finance committee should be aware of and
monitoring these developments as they may affect your town.

(See Appendix B.)

A finance committee’s work depends on the quality of its
interaction with other town officials. Financial information
resides in many different places, many of which are not nec-
essarily accessible by computer. As much as I'T may help each
finance committee member, cooperation on a face-to-face
basis is still necessary.

The last several years have seen the advent of important
resources regarding municipal finance. These include infor-
mation provided by the Massachusetts Municipal Association
at www.mma.org, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts at
www.mass.gov and others on the Internet.

Massachusetts Municipal Association

The Massachusetts Municipal Association (MMA), of which
the ATFC is an affiliate organization, provides a wealth of
information useful to finance committees on its web site,

Www.mma.org.

The MMA’s web site operates at two levels.

First, the public part offers many resources. Finance Com-
mittee members will most likely want to click on the tab at
the top of page titled Resources and then on the link be-

low for Local Aid & Finance. The Local Aid and Finance
page presents a wide range of links to multiple categories of
information and valuable resources originating both with the
MMA and the Commonwealth. It also provides news items
of current interest. The public part also has a tab for Mem-

bers which then links to the page for the ATFC.

Second, the MMA has a members-only section. Every
individual finance committee member (whose town is a
dues-paying member of the ATFC) is eligible to have access
to the members-only section. This can be used to communi-

cate with other MMA members. While useful all year, the
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member-only section can be especially valuable during the
peak months of the budget season.

Mass.Gov

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts web portal is www.

mass.gov.

Information specific to municipal government is found at
www.mass.gov/dor/local-officials. This is the “home” of the

Department of Revenue’s Division of Local Services.

It brings together in one place access to a wide variety of
information on cities and towns.

National Resources

Finance committees can use the web sites of leading national
and international organizations to find much valuable infor-
mation on budgeting and other financial policies and prac-
tices. The two organizations which are the leaders in this area
are the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA),
whose web site is www.gfoa.org, and the International City/
County Management Association (ICMA), whose web site is

WWw.icma.org

CONCLUSION

The finance committee needs to keep in mind a few im-
portant principles related to information technology. First,
finance committee members need to make the effort to be
trained on their town’s information system in order to get the
greatest benefit from these resources for their work. Second,
whatever a finance committee does with IT needs to be coor-
dinated with the town’s general efforts in I'T. And finally, fi-
nance committees must remember that their use of the town’s
information systems will give them a better understanding of
the value of these resources and the need to support prudent
investments in them.

This chapter was prepared and updated by Sheldon S. Cohen,
independent consultant in municipal information technology.

He may be reached at shelcons@aol.com.
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CHAPTER 15: MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT BENEFITS

INTRODUCTION

All Massachusetts municipalities provide their employ-

ees with a pension benefit governed by Chapter 32 of the
Massachusetts General Laws. Almost all municipalities
provide some health and other benefits at retirement. These
are commonly referred to as Other Post Employee Benefits
(OPEBs). The OPEB liability consists of the government enti-
ty’s share of health and other benefits costs for a retiree, plus
dependents, plus the governmental entity’s share of health
insurance costs for eligible survivors. These plans typically
represent a large portion of the municipality’s annual budget
and have substantially increased the liabilities shown on the
balance sheet.

PENSION

There are 104 Retirement Systems in Massachusetts — State,
Teachers, 12 Counties, 6 Authorities and 84 municipalities.
Those municipalities without their own retirement system
belong to their county system on a cost-sharing basis. The
State is responsible for the administration and funding of all
teachers. The Public Employees Retirement Administration
Commission (PERAC) is responsible for oversight of the

other retirement systems. www.mass.gov/perac/

Chapter 32 of the M.G.L. dictates the benefits, contributions
by the employee and employer, administration and invest-
ment options of the plans. They are defined benefit pension
plans with mandatory contributions by the active partic-
ipants. Each retirement system is administered by a five
member retirement board. The members are the municipal
auditor or accountant, an appointee of the Board of Select-
men or Mayor, two members of the system elected by the
membership, and an independent appointee by the other four
members of the retirement board.

The assets of the system are invested in a qualified trust to
be administered by the retirement board. The trust receives

payments from the employers and employees, and makes
payments to retirees and beneficiaries. Monies are invested
in qualified securities at the direction of the retirement board
and its investment consultant. The trust pays the expenses of
the administration of the retirement system.

Full-time and part-time permanent employees are eligible for
the plan from the first day of employment. Part-time em-
ployees must work a minimum number of hours to qualify
as determined by the appropriate retirement board. Their
contributions are co-mingled with all other funds. However,
if the situation occurs where their contributions are returned
to them, they will receive interest on the contributions at a
designated rate.

Besides retirement annuities, the plan also provides special
benefits upon disability or death during active employment.
Retirement pensions are based on years of service, pension-
able compensation, age at retirement and the employment
classification. Employment classification (commonly called
Group) is a designation whereby the employee may be eligible
to retire with an enhanced benefit. General employees are
designated Group 1 and have a normal retirement age of 65.
Hazardous duty employees are Group 2 and have a normal
retirement age of 60. Firemen and Police are designated
Group 4 and have a normal retirement age of 55. For those
employees hired after April 1, 2012, their normal retirement
date is 2 years later than the ages shown above. A nominal
benefit is added for those classified as a Veteran.

Participants are not eligible for Social Security pension ben-
efits. Therefore, neither the employee nor the municipality
pays into the Social Security system for a pension benefit.
Those hired after 1985 are eligible for Medicare coverage,
paid for by employee and employer contributions.

Either annually or bi-annually, an actuarial valuation is
performed for the retirement system. The purpose of the val-
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uation is to determine the health of the plan and how much
needs to be included in the municipal budget to pay for the
benefits. An actuarial valuation determines the value of all
benefits accrued to date by the retirees, beneficiaries and
actives based on a set of assumptions. This value is called the
Accrued Liability. The actuarial valuation also determines
the Normal Cost — the value of benefits to be earned in the
coming year.

The Pension budget is equal to the employer’s portion of the
Normal Cost, plus an amortization of the portion of the
Accrued Liability not already covered by the Assets held in
the Trust. The amortization period is limited to 2040 for all
liabilities realized prior to 2020. Unfunded liabilities realized
after 2020 may be amortized up to 20 years.

For all systems, particularly county systems, all assets are
available to pay benefits to all participating employers.
Therefore, assets are not segregated between employers, and
the allocation of the Pension budget to participating employ-
ers is based either on the total payroll of the employer or on
an actuarial basis. The method of allocation is a decision
made by the retirement board.

Starting with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015, the
determination of the funded status and annual cost of the
plans is no longer the same. The Governmental Accounting
Standards Board issued statements 67 & 68 covering the
recording of the assets, liabilities, and costs of pension plans.
These statements have de-linked accounting and funding
requirements. Through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014,
a municipality’s balance sheet has shown $0 for the pension
liability. Starting with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015,
the entire Unfunded Accrued Liability has been shown on
the balance sheet. See the Accounting section for more infor-
mation on the new accounting requirements.

For more information on the retirement systems, including
yours, please visit the PERAC website.

Almost all municipalities provide some form of Other Post
Employment Benefits (OPEB) plan for their retired employ-
ees and beneficiaries. Subsidized healthcare and nominal life
insurance are the most common. Some also subsidize dental
insurance. Chapter 32B of the MGL governs health and
other benefits. But there is no standard plan like Pension.

Each municipality decides on its level of coverage, medical
plans, plan provisions, eligibility and co-share of costs. In
most municipalities, an employee who is 55 years old and has
worked for 10 years for at least 20 hours per week is eligi-
ble for OPEB benefits. Chapter 32B does stipulate that the
retirees shall not pay more than 50% of the cost of coverage.
All employees who are eligible for Medicare must participate
upon reaching their Medicare eligibility age. Unlike Pen-
sion, OPEB benefits for teachers are the responsibility of the
municipality. This, combined with health care costs rising at
a rate faster than revenues and a large number of municipal
retirements, makes the OPEB liability a large and growing
portion of local budgets.

Administration of the plan is generally handled by the
Human Resources department. Eligibility for benefits is

the same as for pension benefits, with the exception of some
communities that have implemented continuous service poli-
cies. For the municipalities that have created a trust for their
OPEB plan, no active employee contributions are required.
There are municipalities outside of Massachusetts that do
require contributions and there is no known prohibition from
requiring active contributions in Massachusetts. Chapter 32B
allows for communities to establish their own trust or invest
in the Commonwealth’s State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund.

Governmental Accounting Standards require a municipality
to conduct an actuarial valuation to determine the value of
the promise made to their retirees and beneficiaries. The
actuarial valuation is performed in much the same way as the
pension valuations. Both determine the Accrued Liability,
Normal Cost and Unfunded Accrued Liability. These val-
uations determine the accounting expense to be included in
the income statement and the liability to be included in the
balance sheet. However, unlike pension, there is currently no
requirement to fund the obligation.

Starting with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2017, the deter-
mination of the funded status and annual cost of the plans
will no longer be the same as under the previous years. Un-
der GASB Standards #43 and #45, a municipality’s balance
sheet has shown entries based on the difference between the
OPEB expense and the amount funded. The new statement
will require that the entire Unfunded Accrued Liability be
shown on the balance sheet. See the Accounting section for
more information on the new accounting requirements.

It is expected that including both the pension and OPEB
unfunded liabilities on the balance sheets will reduce the net
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assets shown to values near $0 for most municipalities. Some
are expected to show a negative net asset balance.

Public employees receive a unique retirement package in
Massachusetts. Most private companies have replaced defined
benefits retirement plans with defined contribution plans
(that the employer may or may not contribute toward), and
fewer than 10% of the private sector offers retiree health in-
surance. Massachusetts’ lawmakers and stakeholders are cur-
rently engaged in a conversation about the structure of retiree
benefits. There is broad recognition that the current system is
too costly and therefore unsustainable. The challenge ahead
for municipal officials is balancing attractive retirement
packages to recruit and retain employees with the competing
needs and fiscal realities facing every city and town.

This chapter was prepared by Daniel Sherman and Katie
Sagarin McCue and updated by Daniel Sherman.
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APPENDIX A: AMERICAN DISABILITIES AGT

OVERVIEW

State and local governments throughout the U.S. are required
by the Americans with Disability Act (ADA) of 1990, P.L.
101-336, not to practice discrimination against any disabled
individual. The stress is on the services, programs and activ-
ities offered by these governments. The Finance Committee
should double check to ensure that all budget items are in
conformity with the law.

As of January 26, 1993, state and local governments were
required to evaluate current services, policies and practices

to identify and modify those that are discriminatory. State
and local governments that employ fifty or more people must
maintain the evaluation, for public inspection, for three years
and designate an employee responsible for handling com-
plaints. As many public entities completed their self-evalu-
ations more than twenty years ago, it should be noted that
the Department of Justice expects periodic re-examination
of policies and practices. In recent years, there has been
substantial focus on public way maintenance and improve-
ments to meet increasing standards, particularly with respect
to sidewalks, curb ramps, and crosswalks. State and local
governments must also provide notice regarding the rights
and protections available to people with disabilities under the

ADA.

NONDISCRIMINATION

ADA sets the following nondiscrimination requirements for
state and local government, based largely on § 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973:

* Itis illegal to refuse to allow a person to participate in a
service, program, or activity simply because the person has
a disability.

* Programs and services must be provided in an integrated
setting unless separate programs are necessary to ensure
equal access.

* State and local governments must eliminate unnecessary
eligibility standards or rules that exclude or tend to screen
out people with disabilities.

* State and local governments must make reasonable mod-
ifications to policies, practices and procedures to ensure
equal access.

* Programs must be readily accessible to and usable by peo-
ple with disabilities.

* Itisillegal to place special charges on people with disabili-
ties to cover the costs of ensuring nondiscrimination.

These requirements also apply if a town or any of its constit-
uent units use a private facility for a governmental purpose,
including a meeting or a public forum.

ACCESSIBILITY

State and local programs, services and activities are to be
readily accessible to and usable by people with disabilities.
Programs must be made accessible unless doing so would
fundamentally change the nature of the operation or cause
undue financial or administrative burden. Extensive struc-
tural alterations of existing facilities are not required where
alternative methods, such as the reassignment of services to
accessible facilities, delivery of services at alternate accessible
sites, redesign of equipment, or home visits provide adequate
access. Structural barrier removal is required only where
there is no other way to achieve access. Such changes must
have been made no later than January 26, 1995.

Governments with fifty or more employees had to develop a
Transition Plan by July 26, 1992 if structural changes were
needed to achieve program accessibility. The Transition Plan
must identify the physical barriers, describe the methods that
will be used to make the official responsible for implemen-
tation. The plan must include a schedule for providing curb
cuts on sidewalks for which the public entity has responsibil-

ity.
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COMMUNICATIONS

Effective communication, which may include the use of
TTY/TDD, telephone relay services, sign language interpret-
ers, large print materials, or other auxiliary aids and services,
must be ensured for all applicants, beneficiaries, participants,
and others. Telephone emergency services (such as Police,
Fire, and Ambulance, including 911 service) must have TTY/
TDD to ensure direct access. Accessible routes, facilities

or equipment must be identified with appropriate accessible
signage. These actions are required unless they would cause a
fundamental alteration of the program or service or an undue
financial or administrative burden.

NEwW CONSTRUCTION AND ALTERATIONS

State and local government facilities that are built or reno-
vated after January 26, 1992 must be readily accessible to
and usable by people with disabilities. Entities can use either
the ADA Accessibility Guidelines or the Uniform Federal
Accessibility Standards (UFAS). Accessible features must be
adequately maintained.

This appendix was prepared by Christopher J. Dostoomian and
updated by Douglas W. Heim.
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APPENDIX B: PUBLIC RECORDS

INTRODUCTION

The importance of records in public business has long been
recognized by the legislature. The history of state records
management services for local government in the Common-
wealth may be traced back to 1884. The Public Records law
is located in Chapter 66 of the Massachusetts General Laws,
and the legal citation is G. L. c. 66.

On January 1, 2017, “An Act to Improve Public Records”
became effective, providing the most comprehensive over-
haul to public records laws in many years. Among the many
alterations, additions and changes introduced by the Act, the
following were highlighted by the Secretary of State:

*  Records Access Officers — Municipalities must designate
one or more Records Access Officers (“RAO”) responsible
for coordinating municipal responses to public records
requests and assisting both the public and custodians of
records in identifying and producing timely responses
and/or records.

*  Electronic Records — Records must now be provided in
an electronic format to the extent available. Moreover,
municipal RAOs are required to keep commonly request
records available online to the extent feasible.

* Response Time — Municipalities must provide records
within 10 business days of receipt of requests, petition the
Supervisor of Records for an extension, or respond setting
forth the basis of the denial of a request with such period.
Mere acknowledgement of requests is no longer sufficient.

*  Appeals, Litigation & Attorney Fees — New provisions
and related regulations have shortened the timeframe for
the Supervisor of Public Records to resolve appeals to 10
business days. If record requestors prevail in a court action
to seek records, they may also be entitled to attorney fees
and costs.

Other new provisions include changes to allowable fees asso-

ciated with obtaining and reproducing requested records

DEFINITION

“Public Records” means “‘all books, papers, maps, photo-
graphs, recorded tapes, financial statements, statistical tab-
ulations, or other documentary materials or data, regardless
of physical form or characteristics, made or received by any
officer or employee of any agency, executive office, depart-
ment, board, commission, bureau, division or authority of
the commonwealth, or of any political subdivision thereof,

or of any authority established by the general court to serve

a public purpose, or any person, corporation, association,
partnership or other legal entity which receives or expends
public funds for the payment or administration of pensions
for any current or former employees of the commonwealth or
any political subdivision as defined in section 1 of chapter 32,
unless such materials or data” are exempt under M.G.L. c. 4,

§7(26).

Finance Committee records, including all materials collected
or presented during committee or subcommittee delibera-
tions, are a matter of public record unless they fall into one
of the exemption categories. Personal notes of members are
not considered public unless they are distributed to other
committee members and are therefore part of the deliberative
process.

OPrEN MEETING LaAw

Finance Committees should be aware that, under the 2009
amendments to the Open Meeting Law, a document that
might be exempt from production under the Public Records
Law could become public if it is “used” in an open session of
a committee meeting. (See M.G.L. c. 30A, § 22(e).) It is not
clear what it means to “use” a document at a public meeting,
but certainly discussing a document in any detail or taking a
vote concerning it would arguably be “using” it at the meet-
ing. If the confidentiality of a document must be preserved
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but the committee must discuss the document to do its work,
the discussion should take place in an executive session to
avoid compromising the confidential nature of the document.

The Division of Open Government maintains Public Body
Checklists, which may aid compliance with Open Meeting

Law requirements and can be found at:

http://www.mass.gov/ago/government-resources/open-meet-

ing-law/oml|-checklists.html

For a guide on how long to retain certain public records,

please refer to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Munic-
ipal Records Retention Manual, Record Retention Schedule,
updated October 24, 2016. This helpful manual is available

on-line.

The statutory definition of “Public Records” contains twenty
-one exemptions which provide the basis for withholding
records in whole or in part. They are as follows:

specifically or by necessary implication exempted from
disclosure by statute;

related solely to internal personnel rules and practices of
the government unit, provided however, that such records
shall be withheld only to the extent that proper perfor-
mance is necessary;

personnel and medical files or information or any other
materials or data related to a specifically named indi-
vidual, the disclosure of which would may constitute an
unwarranted invasion of personal privacy;

interagency or intra-agency memoranda or letters relating
to policy positions being developed by the agency, but this
exemption does not include reasonably completed factual
studies or reports;

notebooks and other materials prepared by an employee
which are personal and not maintained as part of the files
of the agency, board, or commission;

investigatory materials necessarily compiled out of the
public view by law enforcement the disclosure of which
would prejudice effective law enforcement that such dis-
closure would not be in the public interest;

trade secrets or commercial or financial information
voluntarily provided to an agency for use in developing

policy and upon a promise of confidentiality, but this ex-
emption does not include information required by law or
as a condition of receiving a contract or other benefit;

proposals and bids to enter into any contract or agreement
until the time for the public opening of bids, and until the
time for the receipt of bids or proposals has expired; and
interagency communications made in connection with an
evaluation process for reviewing bids or proposals, prior

to a decision to enter into negotiations with or to award a
contract to a particular person;

appraisals of real property acquired or to be acquired until
(1) a final agreement is entered into; or (2) any litigation
relative to such appraisal has been terminated; or (3)

the time within which to commence such litigation has
expired;

the names and addresses of any persons who have applied
for or been issued a license to carry or possess firearms;
and the names and addresses on sales or transfers of any
firearms or ammunition;

library circulation records;

test questions and answers, scoring keys and sheets, and
other examination data used to administer a licensing
examination;

contracts for hospital or related health care services be-
tween (1) any hospital, clinic or other health care facility
operated by a unit of government and (2) a health main-
tenance organization, a non-profit hospital service corpo-
ration or medical service corporation, a health insurance
corporation or any legal entity that is self insured and
provides health care benefits to employees;

records which relate to the internal layout and structural
elements, security measures, emergency preparedness,
threat or vulnerability assessments, or any other record
relating to the security or safety of persons or buildings,
structures facilities utilities, transportation or other infra-
structure located within the commonwealth, the disclo-
sure of which is likely to jeopardize public safety;

home address and home telephone number of an employee
of judicial branch, an unelected employee of the general
court, any state, municipal or authority, except under
limited circumstances;

name, phone number and address of a family member of
a state employee contained in a record in the custody of a
government agency which maintains records identifying
persons as falling within the categories listed in the afore-
mentioned section;

Finance Committee Handbook | Appendix B: Public Records


http://www.mass.gov/ago/government-resources/open-meeting-law/oml-checklists.html
http://www.mass.gov/ago/government-resources/open-meeting-law/oml-checklists.html

adoption contact registry information;
records of the state Office of the Child Advocate;

trade secrets or other proprietary information in the
possession of a governmental entity operating as an energy

supplier;

statements of financial interest filed by members of retire-
ment boards;

trade secrets or other proprietary information of the Uni-
versity of Massachusetts.

State regulation, 950 CMR 32:00, governs public records
access. Requests for public records may be oral or written,
and may be made either in person or by mail. The requester
should provide a reasonable description of the record and the
custodian must comply as soon as is practicable and within
10 days. A custodian of public records may not request the
reason for the public records request and shall not require
proof of the requester’s identity before complying with the
request.

The fees charged for public records are regulated by 950
CMR 32:06 except where fees for copies are prescribed by
statute:

photocopies up to 5 cents per page (8 x 11)
computer printouts up to 5 cents per page

for copies of public records not susceptible to ordinary
means of reproduction, the actual cost incurred in provid-
ing a copy may be assessed

Municipal responses to a public records requests requiring
more than 2 hours of employee time to fulfill permit as-
sessment of a fee commensurate with the time and hourly
rate of the lowest paid employee with the skills necessary
to search for, compile, segregate, redact or reproduce re-
sponsive records, but may not exceed $25 per hour unless
approved by the Supervisor of Public Records.

Municipalities with populations of 20,000 people or fewer
will be permitted to charge for the first 2 hours of employ-
ee time.

A custodian of public records is to provide a good faith
estimate of the cost of producing the records.

Please note that there are no longer separate charges for Fire
& Police reports, or computer printouts.

This summary was prepared by Jane Chew and updated by
Juliana deHaan Rice in 2012 and Douglas W. Heim in 2014
and 2017.
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APPENDIX C: OPEN MEETINGS AND EXECUTIVE SESSION

OPEN MEETINGS

The Open Meeting Law is based on the premise that the pub-
lic is entitled to see the process of government and not simply
its result. In general, the public and the news media have the
right to attend all meetings. However, the law does pro-

vide ten specific exceptions to this rule that permit meeting
behind closed doors, in “executive session,” to discuss certain
subjects. While the law does not limit what may be discussed
or acted upon at any meeting, it does impose restrictions on
the way in which meetings are called, conducted, and record-
ed. Any rules of procedure adopted must be in conformance
with the Open Meeting Law.

The Open Meeting Law, M.G.L. c. 30A, Sections 18-25, is
required reading for Finance Committee members. (The
Attorney General has promulgated open-meeting regulations,

see 940 CMR 29.00 et seq.)

FirsT THINGS FIRST: WHEN IS A MEETING A
MEETING?

Basically, a meeting is any deliberation by a public body on a
matter within its jurisdiction. A “deliberation” is any oral or
written communication, including email, between or among
a quorum of the public body on any public business within
its jurisdiction, but does not include distribution of meet-
ing agendas, scheduling information, or meeting materials,
provided that no opinion of a member of the public body is
expressed.

The following activities are not considered a meeting and
therefore are exempt from the requirements of the open
meeting law: (a) an on-site inspection of a project or program,
(b) attendance by a quorum of a public body at a public or
private gathering, (c) attendance by a quorum of a public
body at a meeting of another public body nor does it include
(d) attendance by quorum at Town Meeting. Keep in mind,
however, that if a quorum of the committee engages in any

of these activities (except for attendance at Town Meeting), it
should not deliberate -- or discuss public business within its
jurisdiction -- while doing so.

WHAT 18 A PuBLIC BoDY?

The term “public body” is used throughout the statute and
these entities are subject to the Open Meeting Law require-
ments. A public body is any “multiple-member board, com-
mission, committee and subcommittee within the executive
or legislative branch or within any county, district, city,
region or town, however created, elected, appointed or other-
wise constituted, established to serve a public purpose...” The
term also includes subcommittees that are created to advise
or make recommendations to a public body.

Thus, a Town Finance Committee is a “public body” sub-
ject to the Open Meeting Law, as is a sub-committee of the
Finance Committee.

CALLING A MEETING: NOTICE
REQUIREMENTS

The public body is responsible for filing a notice of the meet-
ing with the Town Clerk at least forty-eight hours before a
meeting is to take place, not including Saturdays, Sundays
and legal holidays. Notice of the meeting, printed in “leg-
ible, easily understandable format” must include the date,
time, and place, as well as a listing of topics that the chair of
the public body “reasonably anticipates” will be discussed.
Such notice must be “posted in a manner conspicuously visi-
ble to the public at all hours in or on the municipal building
in which the clerk’s office is located.” The Attorney General
has authorized five alternative posting methods by regulation.
(See 940 CMR 29.03(2)(b)). Each municipality must adopt
one of these methods (unless postings in or on the municipal
building housing the clerk’s office are visible 24 hours a day)
and notify the Attorney General in writing of the method
chosen. That method must be used by all municipal boards
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and committees unless and until a different method is chosen

and the Attorney General notified. (See 940 CMR 29.03(1)
(©.)

In case of an emergency, defined as “a sudden, generally un-
expected occurrence or set of circumstances demanding im-
mediate action,” an open meeting may be held even though
notice was not posted in time. Some reasonable notice of an
emergency meeting should still be posted as much in advance
of the meeting as possible.

Any person may make a video or audio recording of the open
meeting of a public body so long as that person notifies the
chair of the public body beforehand and the chair informs

all in attendance at the beginning of the meeting that such a
recording has been authorized. Furthermore, any person may
transmit the meeting through any medium subject to reason-
able requirements imposed by the chair.

While anyone may attend an open meeting of a public body,
no one may address a meeting without first obtaining the
permission of the chair. All persons attending must remain
silent during the proceedings and if they do not, a warn-

ing shall be given by the chair. If the person continues to
interrupt after the warning is given, the chair may remove the
person using a constable or other officer.

As authorized by the Open Meeting Law, the Attorney Gen-
eral has promulgated regulations governing remote participa-
tion in open meetings. (See 940 CMR 29.10.) Before remote
participation may be used by a municipality’s boards and
committees, it must be adopted by the board of selectmen
(in towns) or by the mayor (in cities). Once adopted, remote
participation may be used in the following circumstances: a
quorum of the board and the chair of the meeting must be
physically present in the meeting room; members may be
absent by reason of personal illness, personal disability, emer-
gency, military service, or geographic distance; participation
must be through a method that allows all board members to
be audible to one another; and all votes must be taken by roll
call. At the commencement of the meeting, the chair must
publicly explain the reason(s) for remote participation.

As previously mentioned, the law allows a public body to
convene behind closed doors, or in “executive session,” for a
number of prescribed purposes. (See M.G.L. Chapter 30A,
Section 21.) A public body may enter into “executive session”
for the following ten (10) purposes:

1. To discuss the reputation, character, physical condition or
mental health - rather than the professional competence -
of an individual.

2. To consider the discipline or dismissal of, or to hear com-
plaints or charges brought against a public officer, employ-
ee, staff member or individual.

3. To discuss strategy with respect to collective bargaining
or litigation if an open meeting may have a detrimental
effect on the government’s bargaining or litigating po-
sition. Also, to conduct strategy sessions in preparation
for negotiations with non-union personnel; to actually
conduct collective bargaining and contract negotiations
with non-union personnel.

4. To discuss the deployment of security personnel or devic-
es, e.g., a “sting operation.”

5. To investigate charges of criminal misconduct or to dis-
cuss the filing of criminal complaints.

6. To consider the purchase, exchange, taking, lease, or value
of real property if such discussion may have a detrimental
effect on the negotiating position of the governmental

body.

7. To comply with the provisions of any general or special
law or federal grant-in-aid requirements (generally priva-
cy).

8. To hold a preliminary screening (including interviews if
they are part of the preliminary screening process) of can-
didates for employment if an open meeting would have a
detrimental effect in obtaining qualified candidates.

9. To meet with a mediator regarding any litigation or deci-
sion.

10.To discuss trade secrets or confidential, competitively-sen-
sitive or other proprietary information provided in the
course of activities conducted by a governmental body as
an energy supplier, municipal aggregator or in the course
of activities conducted by a cooperative consisting of gov-
ernmental entities.
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Although the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court (“SJC”)
unequivocally held that the attorney-client privilege applies
to public entities, including municipal boards and commis-
sions, see Suffolk Construction Co. v. Division of Capital
Asset Management, 449 Mass. 444 (2007), the Attorney
General has taken the position that a public body may meet
in executive session with its counsel only for one of the ten
enumerated executive-session reasons. This tension may be
resolved by a future court decision.

In order to enter into executive session in the aforementioned
circumstances, the law requires five (5) -- sometimes six (6)
-- events that must take place:

1. The public body must convene in open session and valid
notice must be provided for as described already;

2. A majority of members vote, by roll call, to enter into

executive session;

3. Before doing so, the chair must state the purpose of enter-
ing into executive session (one of the ten purposes in the
preceding section) as well as indicate the subjects that may
be discussed without compromising the purpose for which
the executive session was called;

4. The Chair must publicly announce whether an open
session will reconvene at the conclusion of the executive
session;

5. Accurate records of the session are maintained in accor-
dance with the statute; AND

6. If the executive session is being called under Reasons 3,
6, or 8, the Chair must publicly declare that holding the
discussion in an open session would be detrimental to the

position of the public body.

Although committee members may discuss multiple topics in
executive session, all reasons for the executive session must be
stated on the record. It is not acceptable to go into executive
session under one reason and then discuss a different matter,
even if that matter might have warranted its own executive
session.

Section 22 of the statute sets forth those requirements as they
relate to meeting minutes and retention of the same. Min-
utes must be maintained for both open and executive sessions

and must include the date, time and place, members present
or absent, the summary of discussions on each subject, list of
exhibits used at the meetings and decisions made, including a
record of all votes.

All exhibits shall be part of the official record, except materi-
als used in a performance evaluation as to professional com-
petence or in deliberations about employment or appoint-
ment. Keep in mind that discussing a confidential document
in an open session can destroy its confidential status under
Section 22 of the law. If the committee needs to discuss a
confidential document that needs to remain so, it will have
to be discussed in executive session (to comply with the law
making the document confidential, Reason No. 7).

Minutes of open meeting session must be made available
upon request to any person within 10 days. Minutes of
executive sessions may be withheld from disclosure “as long
as publication may defeat the lawful purposes of the execu-
tive session...” At reasonable intervals, or within 30 days of
a request, a public body shall review the minutes of executive
sessions to determine if continued nondisclosure is warrant-

ed.

As has been stated already, the Attorney General is vested
with the sole authority to interpret and enforce the Open
Meeting Law.

With reasonable cause, the Attorney General may conduct an
investigation by requesting that information be voluntarily
provided or, if not provided within 30 days, by taking testi-
mony under oath and requiring that documents be produced.

At least 30 days prior to submission of the Attorney General,
but within 30 days of the alleged violation, a complaint must
be filed with the public body, providing it an opportunity

to remedy the same. The public body shall notify the Attor-
ney General of any remedial action taken within 14 days of
receipt of the complaint. Upon receipt of a complaint, the
Attorney General shall determine in a timely manner wheth-
er a violation of the open meeting law occurred.

If he/she so determines, the Attorney General may: (a) com-
pel compliance, (b) compel attendance at training session,

(o) nullify action taken at meeting, (d) impose a civil penalty
upon the public body of up to $1,000 for each intentional
violation, (e) compel materials to be made public, (f) reinstate
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a dismissed employee, or (g) prescribe other action. The At-
torney General has recently defined “intentional violation” to
include practices that continue after a court or the Attorney
General has advised that the practice is illegal.

As existed previously, and as an alternate to the aforemen-
tioned procedure, the new law authorizes three or more
voters and/or the Attorney General to sue to enforce the open
meeting law. Under the new law, such a suit can be brought
in Superior Court in the county in which the public body is
located. The burden of proof will be on the public body to
show by a preponderance of the evidence that the require-
ments of the law were satisfied. The remedies detailed above
are available in such proceedings.

The law provides that the public body may defend itself from
imposition of any penalty that, after full disclosure, it acted
in good faith compliance with the advice of its legal counsel.

Section 19 of the 2009 open meeting law established the
Division of Open Government within the Attorney General’s
office to perform the duties imposed upon the AG by the
Open Meeting Law. The Attorney General shall designate
an assistant attorney general as the Director. The Attorney
General shall provide educational materials and training to
Public Bodies on the Open Meeting Law. Further, the AG is
authorized to issue advisory opinions regarding any provision
of the statute.

Secondly, this section of the law establishes a five-member
Open Meeting Law Advisory Commission consisting of the
two chairs of the Joint Committee on State Administration
and Regulatory Oversight, the Attorney General, the pres-
ident of the Massachusetts Municipal Association, and the
president of the Massachusetts Newspaper Publishers Asso-
ciation. The commission is charged to review issues relative
to the open meeting law and submit to the Attorney General
recommendations for changes to the regulations, trainings,
and educational initiatives relative to the open meeting law as
it deems necessary and appropriate.

The Open Meeting Law requires that all persons serving on a
public body certify, within two weeks of qualification for of-
fice, that they have received a copy of the law, the regulations
promulgated pursuant thereto and educational materials
prepared by the Attorney General’s office. Such certification

shall be maintained on file by the Town Clerk and serves
as evidence that the person read and understands the open
meeting law and the consequences for violating it.

This appendix was prepared by Matthew G. Feher and updated
by Juliana deHaan Rice in 2012 and Douglas W. Heim in 2014
and 2017.
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APPENDIX D: GONFLIGT OF INTEREST

INTRODUCTION

M.G.L. Chapter 268A, the conflict of interest statute, im-
poses ethical standards upon employees of state, county and
municipal governments. Its provisions are applicable to all
“municipal employees,” whether paid or unpaid, elected or
appointed, full-time, part-time or employed intermittently.
The statute expressly exempts only elected Town Meet-

ing and Charter commission members. Any member of a
Finance Committee is a municipal employee under Chapter
268A. Violations of the conflict of interest law by munici-
pal employees are punishable by a fine of up to $10,000 or
imprisonment. It is important to get advice from your Town
Counsel or the State Ethics Commission if you have any
questions about the legality of particular conduct. Some
Finance Committees may be designated “special municipal
employees” by the Board of Selectmen. A special employee is
unpaid or is paid for less than 800 hours per year. An office
may also be so designated if the position specifically allows
for private employment during normal working hours. A spe-
cial municipal employee designation allows the employee to
represent clients before Town boards (other than the one on
which the employee serves) and relaxes the requirements for
having financial interests in Town contracts. Prohibitions
against actual and apparent conflicts of interest remain in
force for special municipal employees.

PROHIBITED PARTICIPATION - FINANCIAL
INTEREST

M.G.L. Chapter 268A, Section 19 prohibits any municipal
employee (including “special employees”) from participating
as such an employee in any particular matter in which the
employee, his immediate family members, business partners,
private employers or organizations in which he serves as an
officer, director, partner, or trustee, have a “financial interest.”
As with most provisions of Chapter 268A, this prohibition is
broadly construed by the State Ethics Commission. “Par-
ticipation” includes any deliberation, discussion or voting

on municipal budgets or any other matter within Finance
Committee jurisdiction.

If a departmental budget or any other matter in which a
member has a prohibited financial interest

comes before the committee, it is recommended that the
member leave the room during the deliberation on that
subject. (See Graham v. McGrail, 370 Mass. 133 (1976).)
For example, if a member of a Finance Committee member’s
immediate family is employed in the assessors’ office and the
assessors’ budget line item includes the salary of that family
member, the Finance Committee member must not partic-
ipate in any discussion of that budget item, nor may s/he be
counted towards a quorum at that time. There are limited
exemptions from Section 19. First, if the Finance Commit-
tee is an appointed position, a member may disclose all facts
giving rise to the conflict of interest to his appointing author-
ity prior to that matter coming before the committee. If the
appointing authority makes a written determination that the
financial interest involved is insubstantial and not likely to af-
fect the integrity of the Finance Committee member’s official
actions, he may participate in the matter. This exemption
may not be used to “cleanse” participation after the fact.

Another exemption applies “if the particular matter involves
a determination of general policy and the interest of the
municipal employee or members of his immediate family is
shared with a substantial segment of the population of the
municipality.” The State Ethics Commission has determined
that a “substantial segment of the population” is any number
exceeding 10% of the residents of the town.

MuLtipLE OFFICE HOLDING AND FINANCIAL
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS WITH THE
MUNICIPALITY

Section 20 of Chapter 268A M.G.L. generally prohibits a

Finance Committee Handbook | Appendix D: Conflict of Interest



municipal employee from having a financial interest, directly
or indirectly, in a contract made by an agency of the same
city or town. This prohibition extends to holding more than
one paid, appointed position, i.e. employment “contracts.”
Elected offices are not considered to be contracts with the
town, even if they are compensated.

Section 20 is the most complex area of the conflict of inter-
est statute, and its application is driven by the specific facts
of a given situation. In general, however, it is difficult for a
municipal employee to have a financial interest in a contract
with the town or to hold two paid appointed positions. Spe-
cial municipal employees may be eligible to do so, if they file
a written disclosure of their financial interest with the Town
Clerk. A special employee may have an interest in a contract
with his own board or department if he also obtains a vote
of the Board of Selectmen approving his exemption from
Section 20. It is not a prohibited financial interest if you own
less than 1% of the stock of a company that has a contract
with the city or town.

Finance Committee members should also be aware that
many towns and cities have by-laws or ordinances which
limit or prohibit multiple office-holding. Section 20 does not
prohibit a municipal employee in a town having a population
of less than three thousand five hundred (3,500) from hold-
ing more than one appointed position with the town, provid-
ed that the Board of Selectmen approves an exemption from
the aforementioned prohibition. The Town Counsel should
be the first contact regarding any question on the application
of Section 20. The next step is to bring the matter before the
State Ethics Commission.

Chapter 268A, Section 17 generally prohibits a municipal
employee from acting as agent or representative for anyone
other than the town or city in connection with a matter
involving that town or city. For example, a Finance Com-
mittee member may not appear before a municipal board on
behalf of someone else. In addition, the member may not
receive compensation from anyone other than the town in
relation to a particular matter in which the town is a party or
has a direct and substantial interest. Members may, however,
appear before a town board on their own behalf.

Special municipal employees have a limited right to act as
an agent or representative under Section 17, provided that
(a) they have never personally participated in the matter as a

municipal official, (b) the matter is not within their “official
responsibility” and (c) the matter is not pending before their
municipal agency. While a Finance Committee member
may avoid participating in a prohibited financial interest by
stepping down from the committee (see above as it relates to
Section 19 of the statute), this lack of participation does not
change the fact that a matter is within the Finance Commit-
tee’s official responsibility for purposes of Section 17.

Section 18 of the statute contains restrictions that apply
after a member of a Finance Committee leaves public office.
The former “municipal employee” may never be paid by
anyone other than the town in connection with a particular
matter in which he/she participated while on the Finance
Committee. For example, if the committee deliberated and
recommended funding for a particular budget item, a former
member may not be paid by any private person or organiza-
tion in connection with a contract funded by that line item.
There is also a one-year ban on that former member appear-
ing personally before a municipal agency (other than on your
own behalf) in connection with any particular matter that
was under the committee’s official responsibility, whether or
not you participated in that matter.

Chapter 268A, section 23 imposes additional standards of
conduct on all municipal employees and special employees.
No municipal employee may accept private paid employ-
ment in which the responsibilities of that employment are
inherently incompatible with the responsibilities of his public
office. There are also restrictions on accepting anything of
“substantial value,” defined as anything over $50.00. The
State Ethics Commission has adopted extensive regulations
on accepting items of substantial or insubstantial value, in-
cluding what may be accepted in certain situations and when
a written disclosure may be required. (See 930 CMR 5.00.)
Also available on the Commission’s website are various forms
that may be used for making written disclosures. (See www.

mass.gov/ethics.)

Public employees must fulfill the duties of their office ob-
jectively, and not use or attempt to use their position to (a)
secure unwarranted privileges for themselves or others or (b)
solicit or receive anything of “substantial value.” (Section
23(b)(2)) The statute prohibits any municipal employee from
accepting gifts or gratuity of “substantial value” (as well as
any “bribes”). Employees are also prohibited from disclosing
any confidential records or data acquired in the course of
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their official duties.

Section 23(b)(3) prohibits any action that would lead a “rea-
sonable person” to conclude that there is an appearance of a
conflict. This would include participation in any particular
matter in which a Finance Committee member’s judgment
or motivation appears to be biased, whether or not such
participation is barred by any other section of Chapter 268A.
The member may protect himself from such an allegation,
however, by disclosing in writing to his appointing authority
the facts which could lead to such a conclusion.

Section 23 (b)(4) prohibits any municipal employee from
presenting “a false or fraudulent claim to his/her employer for
any payment or benefit of substantial value.”

Chapter 268A is both interpreted and enforced by the State
Ethics Commission.

If the State Ethics Commission determines a violation has
occurred, it may pursue administrative enforcement against
the municipal employee, which usually involves payment of a
fine. The Commission may also refer a violation for criminal
prosecution. The statute provides for fines or imprisonment.
Certain violations may also be enforced by rescinding or
cancelling actions taken by a municipal agency.

The Ethics Commission will provide opinions to a municipal
employee, but will only offer such opinions prospective-

ly - the employee should, therefore, contact the Commis-
sion prior to participating in any matter that could lead to

a violation. The Commission will not provide an opinion
about someone else’s conduct. In addition, Chapter 268A,
Section 22, entitles any municipal employee to obtain a
written opinion from the Town Counsel or City Solicitor, if
the request is made in writing, setting out all relevant facts.
Copies of such opinions must be filed with the Town Clerk
and with the Ethics Commission. The Ethics Commission
has thirty days from receipt of an opinion to issue its own
findings, either concurring or disagreeing with the opinion of
the municipal lawyer.

1. Summaries of the Conflict of Interest law: the law re-
quires the Commission to publish on its website a sum-
mary of the conflict of interest law. Each city and town

clerk will be required to provide a copy to all municipal
employees “within 30 days of becoming such an employ-
ee, and on an annual basis thereafter...” Each current
municipal employee must sign a written acknowledgement
that they have been provided with such a summary. All
acknowledgements must be filed with the city or town

clerk.

2. Mandatory Online Training: the law requires the Com-
mission to prepare and publish online training programs.
All municipal employees, including Finance Committee
members, will be required to complete such online train-
ing every two (2) years. The first round of such training
occurred in April 2010, while a second round should have
been completed by April of 2012. The Ethics Commis-
sion has prepared a municipal-specific training module
available on the web at http://www.mass.gov/ethics/

education-and-training-resources/.

3. New employees must complete the municipal-specific
online training within 30 days of hiring. If you complete
the training for one position or in connection with work
in one municipality, you do not need to complete it a
second time for another position. Those employees who
completed the program in 2015 will not need to complete
the new program until the next compliance period that
will run generally from December 2017 through April
2018, unless your municipality or agency established a
compliance period for employees that falls outside the
December through April compliance period. In that case
all public employees must complete the online training
program and provide a certificate of completion with-
in the period of ninety (90) days before, or ninety (90)
days after, the two (2) year anniversary date of their last
online training completion date. Upon completion of the
training program, the employee must supply a copy of the
certificate of completion with the municipal employer and
must be kept on file for a period of six (6) years.

4. Municipal Liaison to Ethics Commission: each city
and town must designate a “senior level employee of the
municipality” to serve as its liaison to the Commission.
Municipalities were required to designate their liaison on
or before January 27, 2010. Finance committee members
should be aware who this individual is in their communi-

ty.

This appendix was prepared by the law firm of Kopelman and
Paige, and updated by Juliana deHaan Rice in 2012 and Doug-
las W. Heim in 2014
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APPENDIX E: TOWN CREDIT RATING

A credit rating is a determination by an independent rating
authority on the ability and willingness of an issuer of debt
(bonds or notes) to make debt service payments in full and
on time. A credit rating is purchased by the issuer when it
sells its debt in order to attract as many buyers as possible. A
good credit rating will provide the basis on which buyers may
conclude that their investments are safe and that they will be
paid principal and interest when due. The credit rating also
provides the investor with the information needed to weigh
the risk of the investment with the reward (or interest rate).
This credit rating service is provided by several companies,
including Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poor’s
Corporation, Fitch Investors Service and Kroll Bond Rating
Agency.

The rating agencies have four general areas that they research
in developing their ratings on bonds or long term debt. A
lesser number of towns apply for credit ratings on their notes
(short term debt) unless they have a very large issue, so we
will focus on long term ratings. The four areas are econom-
ics, finance, debt and management.

Economics - This area focuses on the ability of the commu-
nity and its taxpayers to absorb the debt being issued. The
credit rating agency examines such topics as median family
income, per capita income, house values, breakdown of the
tax base among residential, commercial and industrial prop-
erties, unemployment rates, growth within the community
represented by such measurements as building permits and
new jobs, and the ability of the community to absorb new
growth. Of the four, economics is the most important factor
and the least amenable to short term change. To a degree it
will set the ceiling for the credit rating on your town, but it
will not provide a floor. A wealthy but mismanaged commu-
nity can be dropped to the same rating as a poor, struggling
city or town.

Finances - This area focuses on the ability of the town to

manage its budgets and finances. The town must demon-
strate that it enacts truly balanced budgets, maintains ade-
quate levels of reserves, mails and collects its taxes in a timely
manner, and meets all of its obligations on a yearly basis. The
subject of reserves is especially important because they pro-
vide the town with the ability to weather unforeseen adverse
financial events and periodic economic downturns. Analysts
will focus on the fund balances (both unassigned and total)
free cash, collection rates, overlay or revenue deficits, stabili-
zation and other reserve funds, budgets and tax recap sheets.
Short term fluctuations are not as important as long term
trends. If the trends are negative, a town must demonstrate
that it is aware of the problems and what steps are being
taken to strengthen its financial future.

Debt - This area includes not only the long and short term
debt of the town, but long term contractual obligations such
as trash disposal contracts, unfunded pension obligations,
other post employment benefit obligations such as health
insurance, and overlapping debt of the town from regional
school, sanitary or other districts. Being a developed state,
our debt is relatively low, and, thanks to various pension
reforms of the 1980’s, pension obligations are being funded.
Fully self supported enterprise funds have reduced the impact
of debt from local and regional water and sewer projects. In
order to reduce any concerns by rating agencies in this area,
it is important to plan carefully each debt authorization and
issuance to minimize the budget impact while paying off the
bonds in as short a period as possible. Designated revenue
sources such as Proposition 2 1/2 debt exclusions and water,
sewer or other revenues or a declining debt budget can be
very useful in demonstrating how additional debt service will

be absorbed within the budget.

A new long-term obligation that has recently entered this area
is retired employee benefits. This was brought to the attention
of municipalities by GASB 45. During the fiscal years 2008-
2010, depending upon the size of the budget, all governmen-
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tal entities needed to report the accrued unfunded liability of  7his appendix was written by Allan Tosti and updated by Cin-
all retired municipal employee benefits in their annual audits.  der McNerney.

The rule does not require the municipality to actually fund

the liability, but it will put the issue squarely before the town,

its citizens and the rating agencies.

Management - This area is the hardest to quantify. Basically
it represents a judgment by the agency on whether the man-
agement of the municipality understands its current prob-
lems and future challenges and has taken actions designed

to ensure long term financial stability. The agency will look
at factors such as: the ability to pass truly balanced budgets
without relying on the use of reserves; the willingness to raise
taxes and fees when the financial situation requires; and the
ability to mail and collect taxes in an effective and efficient
manner. The agencies will be interested in long term capital
plans, revenue and expenditure forecasts, updated and com-
plete accounting systems, how well the local officials work
together and fiscal policies in place, the underlying assump-
tions and trends supporting those policies and the ability of
the municipality to adhere to them.

A credit rating is more than a tool designed to obtain a lower
interest rate on bonds. It is an objective third party analysis
of how well the community and its management is doing.

As such, it can raise many emotions if the “right” rating is
not received. It is important to remember that the rating is

a reflection of the agency’s analysis of all four of the above
factors. It is very possible to have top flight management in

a municipality with a lower rating due to economic factors
beyond its control and average management in a high rated
community with very strong wealth levels. The key is to
understand why the rating was received, what the concerns
are, if any, and what needs to be done to reinforce or improve
the rating in the future. If the rating is seen as providing
objective feedback with which to improve the community’s
financial future, the rating process can provide an opportuni-
ty for you as a local official and for the community.

Municipalities have traditionally been rated lower than
corporations with similar default profiles. In effect there were
two standards. With the turmoil in the municipal securities
market caused by the downgrade of bond insurance com-
panies, state and municipal leaders began calling for the
elimination of this double standard. Under pressure from
Congress, all four credit rating agencies have upgraded mu-
nicipal credits to reflect their default potential on a par with
private corporations and made the rating process particularly
transparent for the issuer.

Finance Committee Handbook | Appendix E: Town Credit Rating



Bl (C

APPENDIX F: COMMUNITY PRESERVATION ACT (GPA)

INTRODUCTION

The Massachusetts Community Preservation Act (the “CPA”)
permits cities and towns that accept its provisions to levy a
surcharge on its real property tax levy and to receive state
matching funds for the acquisition, creation, preservation,
rehabilitation and restoration of open space, historic resources
and affordable housing. The provisions of the CPA must be
accepted by the voters of the city or town at an election after
such provisions have first been accepted by either a vote of the
legislative body of the city or town or an initiative petition
signed by 5% of its registered voters.

A city or town may approve a surcharge of up to 3% of the
real property tax levy, and it may accept one or more exemp-
tions to the surcharge under the CPA, including an exemp-
tion for low-income individuals and families and for low and
moderate-income senior citizens, an exemption for $100,000
of the value of each taxable parcel of residential real property,
and an exemption for commercial and industrial properties in
cities and towns with classified tax rates. The surcharge is not
counted in the total taxes assessed for the purpose of deter-
mining the permitted levy amount under Proposition 2V2.

A city or town may revoke its acceptance of the provisions

of the CPA at any time after 5 years from the date of such
acceptance and may change the amount of the surcharge or
the exemptions to the surcharge at any time, provided that
any such revocation or change must be approved pursuant to
the same process as acceptance of the CPA.

Any city or town that accepts the provisions of the CPA will
receive annual state matching grants to supplement amounts
raised by its surcharge on the real property tax levy. The state
matching funds are raised from certain recording and filing
fees of the registers of deeds. Those amounts are deposited
into a state trust fund and are distributed to cities and towns
that have accepted the provisions of the CPA, which distri-
butions are not subject to annual appropriation by the state
legislature. The amount distributed to each city and town

is based on a statutory formula which requires that 80%

of the amount in the state trust fund be used to match an
equal percentage of the amount raised locally by each city
and town, and that the remaining 20% of the amount in the
fund be distributed only to those cities and towns that levy
the maximum 3% surcharge based on a formula which takes
into account equalized property valuation and population, re-
sulting in larger distributions to those communities with low
valuations and small populations. The total state distribution
made to any city or town may not, however, exceed 100% of
the amount raised locally by the surcharge on the real proper-
ty tax levy.

The amounts raised by the surcharge on real property taxes
and received in state matching funds are required to be
deposited in a dedicated community preservation fund.

Each city or town that accepts the provisions of the CPA is
required to establish a community preservation committee to
study the community preservation needs of the community
and to make recommendations to the legislative body of the
city or town regarding the community preservation projects
that should be funded from the community preservation
fund. Upon the recommendations of the committee, the
legislative body of the city or town may appropriate amounts
from the fund for permitted community preservation purpos-
es or may reserve amounts for spending in future fiscal years,
provided that at least 10% of the total annual revenues to the
fund must be spent or set aside for open space purposes, 10%
for historic resource purposes and 10% for affordable housing
purposes.

The CPA authorizes cities and towns that accept its provi-
sions to issue bonds and notes in anticipation of the receipt
of surcharge revenues to finance community preservation
projects approved under the provisions of the CPA. Bonds
and notes issued under the CPA are general obligations of
the city or town and are payable from amounts on deposit in
the community preservation fund. In the event that a city or
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town revokes its acceptance of the provisions of the CPA, the
surcharge shall remain in effect until all contractual obliga-
tions incurred by the city or town prior to such revocation,
including the payment of bonds or notes issued under the

CPA, have been fully discharged.

This appendix was prepared by Richard Manley, Esq.
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APPENDIX G: GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Abatement - A reduction or elimination of a levy imposed by
a governmental unit, applicable to tax levies, motor vehicle
excise, fees, charges, and special assessments.

Accounting System - The total structure of records and
procedures which identify, record, classify, and report infor-
mation on the financial position and operations of a govern-
mental unit or any of its funds, balanced account groups, and
organizational components.

Accrued Interest - In an original governmental bond sale,
accrued interest is the amount of interest which has accumu-
lated on the bonds from the day they are dated, up to but not
including, the date of delivery (settlement date).

Amortization - The gradual elimination of an obligation,
such as a bond, according to a specified schedule of times
and amounts. The principal amount of a home mortgage, for
example, is amortized by monthly payments.

Appropriation - An authorization granted by a legislative
body to make expenditures and to incur obligations for
specific purposes. An appropriation is usually limited in
amount and as to the time when it may be expended. Only a
town meeting, council or the school committee can authorize
money appropriated for one purpose to be used for another.
Any amount which is appropriated may be encumbered (see
Encumbrance). Any part of a “general” appropriation not
spent or encumbered by June 30 automatically reverts to the
undesignated fund balance which may result in Free Cash. If
departments know of remaining unpaid bills at the close of
the fiscal year and properly notify the accountant (Chapter
41, s 58), the departmental appropriation is encumbered to
extend the general spending authorization until such time
that the bill is paid or it is decided not to spend the funds.

If these encumbrances are not acted on within a year, the
accountant generally notifies the department and closes them
out. A special warrant article/ appropriation, on the other

hand, may carry forward from year to year until unil it is
expended or closed.

Arbitrage - As applied to municipal debt, the investment of
tax exempt bond or note proceeds in taxable higher yielding
securities. This practice is restricted under Section 103 of the
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Code, and (beyond certain
limits) earnings are required to be rebated (paid) to the IRS.

Arbitrage Certificate - A certified statement requested by
purchasers and law firms serving as bond counsel in Massa-
chusetts that borrowing proceeds of a specified bond issue
shall not be used for the purposes of arbitrage. See Arbitrage.

Assessed Valuation - A valuation set upon real estate or
other property by a government as a basis for levying taxes.
In Massachusetts, assessed valuation is based on “full and fair
cash value,” the amount a willing buyer would pay a willing
seller on the open market. Assessors must collect, record, and
analyze information about the physical characteristics of the
property and the market in order to estimate the fair market
value of all taxable properties in their communities.

Audit - An examination of systems, procedures and financial
data by a certified accountant, reporting on the fairness of
financial statements and compliance with statutes and regula-
tions. (The audit is a valuable management tool for evaluat-
ing the fiscal performance of a community.)

Audit Report - The product of an audit prepared by an inde-
pendent auditor. The report often includes: (a) a statement of
the scope of the audit; (b) explanatory comments as to appli-
cation of auditing procedures; (c) findings and opinions; (d)
financial statements and schedules; and (e) statistical tables,
supplementary comments, and recommendations.

Authentication - See Certification.

Finance Committee Handbook | Appendix G: Glossary of Terms



Available Funds - These are funds established through
previous appropriations or results of favorable conditions.
These may be appropriated to meet emergency or unforeseen
expenses, large one-time or capital expenditures. Examples:
Free Cash, Stabilization Fund, Overlay Surplus, Water Sur-
plus, and enterprise retained earnings

Balance Sheet - A statement which discloses the assets, lia-
bilities, reserves and equities of a fund or governmental unit
at a specified date.

Basis of Accounting - Basis of accounting refers to when
revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the
accounts and reported on the financial statements. Basis

of accounting is related to the timing of the measurements
made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. All
governmental funds and expendable trust and agency funds
could be accounted for using the modified accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recognized when they become
measurable and available, as net current assets, with the
following guidelines: Property taxes, excise taxes, depart-
mental and governmental receivables are recorded as revenue
when received in cash, as well as amounts received during the
first 60 days of the following fiscal year. Expenditures are
generally recognized under the accrual basis of accounting
when the related fund liability is incurred. Exceptions to this
general rule include principal and interest on general long-
term debt which is recognized when due. All proprietary
funds and nonexpendable trust and pension trust funds are
accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Their
revenues are recognized when they are earned, and their
expenses are recognized when they are incurred.

Basis Price - The price expressed in yield or net return to
maturity on investment. A basis point equals 1/100th of 1%.

Betterments (Special Assessments) - Whenever a specific
area of a community receives benefit from a public improve-
ment (e.g., water, sewer, sidewalk, etc.), special property taxes
may be assessed to reimburse the governmental entity for all
or part of the costs it incurred. Each parcel receiving benefit
from the improvement is assessed for its proportionate share
of the cost of such improvements. The proportionate share
may be paid in full or the property owner may request the
assessors apportion the betterment over 20 years. Over the
lifetime of the betterment, one year’s apportionment along
with one year’s committed interest computed from October 1
to October 1 is added to the tax bill until the betterment has
been paid.

Bond - A written promise to pay a specified sum of money,
called the face value (par value) or principal amount, at a
specified date or dates in the future, called maturity date(s),
together with periodic interest at a specified rate. The differ-
ence between a note and a bond is that the latter runs for a
longer period of time.

Bond and Interest Record - The permanent and complete
record maintained by a treasurer for each bond issue. It
shows the amount of interest and principal coming due each
date, the bond and coupon numbers, and all other pertinent
information concerning the bond issue. The term is synony-
mous with Bond Register.

Bond Anticipation Note (BAN) - Once borrowing for a
specific project has been approved by two-thirds vote of town
meeting or city council and prior to issuing long-term bonds,
short-term notes may be issued to provide cash for initial
project costs. BANs may be issued for a period not to exceed
five years, but with a reduction of principal after two years
(Chapter 44, s 17). 'The final maturity date of the project
borrowing, beginning from the date the short-term note was
issued, may not exceed the term specified by statute (Chapter
44, s7 and 8). BANS are full faith and credit obligations.

Bond Authorization - See Debt Authorization.

Bonds Authorized and Unissued - Bonds which a govern-
ment has been authorized to sell but has not yet done so.
Issuance at this point is only contingent upon action by the
treasurer and mayor or selectmen.

Bond Buyer - A daily trade paper containing current and
historical information of interest to the municipal bond
business.

Bond Counsel - An attorney or law firm engaged to review
and submit an opinion upon legal aspects of a municipal
bond or note issue.

Bond Discount - The excess of the face value of a bond over
the price for which it is acquired or sold. An example is a

$1,000 bond which is sold for $990. The discount equals $10.

Bond Issue - Generally, the sale of a certain number of
bonds at one time by a governmental unit.

Bonds Payable - The face value of bonds issued and unpaid.

Finance Committee Handbook | Appendix G: Glossary of Terms



Bond Premium - The excess of the price at which a bond is
acquired or sold over its face value. An example is a $1,000
bond which sells for $1,010. The premium equals $10.

Broker - Acts as an intermediary between dealers in obtain-
ing and matching bids offers. Their fee for consummating a
transaction is charged to the seller.

Budget - A plan of financial operation embodying an
estimate of proposed revenues and expenditures for a given
period and the proposed means of financing them. A budget
may be “preliminary” - the financial plan presented to the
Town Meeting, or “final” - the plan approved by that body.
The budget should be separated into basic units, either by
department, program or service. The format is important
because by classifying by service or department, the budget
is clearly defined and more easily understood by both local
officials and Town Meeting.

Budget Message - A statement by the town’s policymakers
summarizing the plans and policies contained in the bud-
get report, including an explanation of the principal budget
items, an outline of the municipality’s experience during the
past year and its financial status at the time of the message,
and recommendations regarding financial policy for the
coming fiscal year.

Budget Unit - A department to which the town meeting
appropriates funds.

Capital Budget - An annual appropriation or spending plan
for capital expenditures (tangible assets or projects that cost
at least $25,000 and have a useful life of at least five years).
This budget should recommend the method of financing for
each item recommended and identify those items which are
recommended to be deferred due to scarce resources.

Capital Expenditures/Improvements - These are items
generally found in the capital budget such as construction,
acquisitions, site development, major repairs or replacement
to capital facilities and public ways and overhead costs. The
fees for architects, engineers, lawyers, and other professional
services plus the cost of financing, advance planning may be

included.

Capital Improvements Program - A comprehensive sched-
ule for planning a community’s capital expenditures. It
coordinates community planning, fiscal capacity and physical
development. While all of the community’s needs should be

identified in the program, there should also be a set of criteria
which prioritizes the expenditures. The capital program is a
plan for capital expenditures that extends five years beyond
the capital budget and is updated yearly.

Capital Outlay Expenditure Exclusion - A vote by a com-
munity at an election to exclude payments for a single year
capital project from the levy limit. The exclusion is limited
to one year and may temporarily increase the levy above the
levy ceiling,.

Cash - Currency, coin, checks, postal and express money
orders, and bankers’ drafts on hand or on deposit with an
official or agent designated as custodian of cash and bank
deposits.

Cash Management - The process of managing monies of a
local government in order to insure maximum cash availabili-
ty and maximum yield on short-term investment of idle cash.

Cemetery Perpetual Care - These funds are donated by
individuals for the care of grave sites. According to Chapter
114, s 25, funds from this account must be invested and spent
as directed by perpetual care agreements. If no agreements
exist, interest (but not principal) may be used as directed by
the cemetery commissioners for the purpose of maintaining
cemeteries.

Certification - The action of a bank or trust company (or
DOR’s Bureau of Accounts for State House Notes) in certi-
fying the genuineness of the municipal signatures and seal
on a bond issue. The certifying agency may also supervise the
printing of bonds and otherwise safeguard their preparation
against fraud, counterfeiting, or over-issue. Also known as
Authentication.

Certificate of Deposit (CD) - A bank deposit evidenced by
a negotiable or non-negotiable instrument which provides

on its face that the amount of such deposit plus a specified
interest payable to the bearer or to any specified person on a
certain date specified in the instrument, at the expiration of a
certain specified time, or upon notice in writing.

Cherry Sheet - Named for the cherry colored paper on
which it was originally printed, the Cherry Sheet is the
official notification from the Commissioner of Revenue of
the next fiscal year’s state aid and assessments to communities
and regional school districts. State aid to municipalities and
regional school districts consists of two major types — dis-
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tributions and reimbursements. Distributions provide funds
based on formulas while reimbursements provide funds for
costs incurred during a prior period for certain programs

or services. In addition, communities may receive “offset
items” which must be spent on specific programs. Cherry
Sheet Assessments are advanced estimates of state assessments
and charges and county tax assessments. Local assessors

are required to use these figures in setting the local tax rate.
(Because these figures are estimates, it should be noted that
based on filing requirement and/or actual data information
the final aid or assessment may differ.)

Cherry Sheet Offset Items - Local aid accounts which may
be spent without appropriation in the budget, but which
must be spent for specific municipal and regional school dis-
trict programs. Current offset items include Racial Equality
Grants, School Lunch Grants, and Public Libraries Grants.

Classification of Real Property - Assessors are required to
classify all real property according to use into one of four
classes: Residential, Open Space, Commercial, and Indus-
trial. Having classified its real properties, local officials are
permitted to determine locally, within limitations established
by statute and the Commissioner of Revenue, what per-
centage of the tax burden is to be borne by each class of real

property and by personal property owners (see Classification
of the Tax Rate).

Classification of the Tax Rate - In accordance with Chapter
40, s 56, the selectmen vote to determine the tax rate options.
Based on the residential factor adopted (see Residential Fac-
tor), any community may set as many as three different tax
rates for: residential property; open space; and commercial,
industrial and personal property.

Collective Bargaining - The negotiations between an em-
ployer and union representative regarding wages, hours, and
working conditions.

Conservation Fund - This fund may be expended for lawful
conservation purposes as described in Chapter 40, s 8C. This
fund may also be expended for damages related to the taking
of land by eminent domain provided that such taking has
first been approved by a two-thirds vote of city council or
town meeting.

Consumer Price Index - The statistical measure of chang-
es in the overall price level of consumer goods and services
based on prices of goods and services purchased by urban

wage earners and clerical workers, including families and
single persons. The index is often called the “cost-of-living
index.”

Cost-Benefit Analysis - An analytical approach to solving
problems of choice. First, different ways to achieve an objec-
tive are identified. Then an alternative is chosen to produce
the required benefits at the lowest cost or greatest benefits for
a given cost.

Contingent Debt - Debt which is not in the first instance
payable as a direct obligation of the governmental unit, but
has been guaranteed by a pledge of its faith and credit. (An
industrial revenue bond guaranteed by a municipality would
constitute contingent debt.)

Contingent Liabilities - Items which may become liabilities
as a result of conditions undetermined at a given date, such
as guarantees, pending lawsuits, judgments under appeal,
unsettled disputed claims, unfilled purchase orders, and
uncompleted contracts.

Crosswalk - A clear path linking separate considerations,
such as a crosswalk between a line-item and program bud-
get. For example, all department appropriations are set up
the same way. However, because of the programmatic and
reporting responsibilities a school department has to the De-
partment of Education (DOE), a school department generally
has a very detailed set of line-items by program. Expendi-
tures must be tracked for DOE’s purposes yet easily com-
municated to the town accountant. Therefore, a crosswalk is
established from the infinitesimal school detail to the larger
picture of the town’s appropriation.

Current Yield - The coupon rate or percent of the annual
interest divided by the market price of a bond.

CUSIP - This stands for the Standard Securities Classifi-
cation System developed by the Committee on Uniform
Security Identification Procedures of the American Bankers
Association. CUSIP provides a unique number for each new
security issued.

Debt Authorization - Formal approval to incur debt by
municipal officials, in accordance with procedures stated in

Chapter 44, specifically s 1, 2, 3, 4a and 6-15.

Debt Burden - The level of debt of an issuer, usually as com-
pared to a measure of value (debt as a percentage of assessed
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value, debt per capital, etc.). Sometimes debt burden is used
in referring to debt service costs as a percentage of the annual

budget.

Debt Exclusion - This is a vote by a municipality at an elec-
tion to exclude debt service payments for a particular capital
project from the levy limit. The amount necessary to cover
the annual debt service payment is added to the levy limit
for the life of the debt only. A debt exclusion may temporar-
ily increase the levy above the levy ceiling. Also see School
Building Assistance Program.

Debt Limit - The maximum amount of debt which a munic-
ipality may have authorized for qualified purposes under state
and self-imposed ceilings.

Debt Service - The cost (usually stated in annual terms) of
the principal retirement and interest of any particular issue.

Default - Failure to pay principal or interest when due.

Direct Debt - Debt which a municipality has incurred in its
own name, as opposed to overlapping debt.

Effective Interest Rate - For a municipal borrower, the net
cost of borrowing (expressed as an interest rate) after costs
associated with a loan is accumulated and added to the nom-
inal interest rate.

Encumbrance - Obligations in the form of purchase orders,
contract, or salary commitments which are chargeable to an
appropriation and for which a part of the appropriation is
reserved.

Enterprise Funds - An accounting mechanism which allows
a community to demonstrate to the public the portion of
total costs of a service that is recovered through user charges
and the portion that is subsidized by the tax levy. With an
enterprise fund, all costs of service delivery-direct, indirect,
and capital costs-are identified. This allows the community
to recover total service costs through user fees if it so chooses.
Enterprise accounting also enables communities to reserve
the “surplus” or retained earnings generated by the operation
of the enterprise rather than closing it out at year end. Ac-
cording to Chapter 44 s 53F, the services that may be treated
as enterprises include, but are not limited to, water, sewer,
hospital, and airport services.

Equalized Valuations (EQVs) - The determination of the

full and fair cash value of all property in the Commonwealth
which is subject to local taxation. EQVs have historically
been used as variables in distributing certain state aid ac-
counts, and for determining county assessments and certain
other costs. The Commissioner of Revenue, in accordance
with Chapter 58 s 10C, is charged with the responsibility of
biannually determining an equalized valuation for each town
and city in the Commonwealth.

Estimated Receipts - Estimates of state and local miscella-
neous receipts based on previous year’s receipts deducted by
the Assessors from gross amount to be raised by taxation.

Excess And Deficiency - Also called the “surplus revenue”
account, this is the amount by which cash, accounts receiv-
able and other assets exceed the liabilities and reserves.

Excess Levy Capacity - The difference between the levy lim-
it and the amount of real and personal property taxes actually
levied in a given year. Annually, the board of selectmen or
council must be informed of excess levying capacity and ev-
idence of such acknowledgment must be submitted to DOR
when setting the tax rate.

Exemptions - Upon approval of an application to the Board
of Assessors, these are full or partial discharges from the
obligation to pay a property tax by statute on particular cat-
egories of property or persons. Examples include hospitals,
schools, houses of worship, and cultural institutions that are
of benefit to the community. In addition, exemptions may
be granted for qualified veterans, blind individuals, surviving
spouses, persons over 70 years of age, and certain financial

hardships.

Expenditure - The spending of money by the town, or city,
for programs within the approved budget.

Federal Aid Anticipation Note (FAAN) - A short-term loan
issued to be paid off at the time of receipt of a federal grant.
FAANS are full faith and credit obligations.

Fiduciary Funds - Fiduciary funds account for assets held by
the municipality in a trustee capacity or as an agent for indi-
viduals, private organizations, other governments, and other
funds. These include expendable trust, nonexpendable trust,
pension trust, and agency funds. Nonexpendable trust and
pension trust funds are accounted for in essentially the same
manner as proprietary funds since capital maintenance is crit-
ical. Expendable trust funds are accounted for in essentially
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the same manner as governmental funds. Agency funds are
custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve
measurement of results of operations.

Financial Advisor - An individual or institution which
assists municipalities in the issuance of tax exempt bonds and
notes. This function in Massachusetts is performed either by
the public Finance Department of a commercial bank or a
non-bank advisor.

Fiscal Year - The Commonwealth, state and municipalities
(as of 1974) operate on a fiscal year which begins on July 1
and ends on June 30. The number of the fiscal year is that of
the calendar year in which the fiscal year ends; e.g., the 2015
fiscal year, July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015, usually written as
FY15. This, however, no longer coincides with the fiscal year
followed by the federal government, for beginning in 1976
the federal fiscal year was changed to begin on October 1 and
end on September 30.

Fixed Costs - These are costs which are legally or contractu-
ally mandated. (Examples: retirement, FICA/Social Securi-
ty, insurances, debt service or interest.)

Float - The amount of money making up the difference
between the bank balance for a local government’s account
and its book balance at the end of the day. The primary factor
creating float is clearing time on checks and deposits. Delays
in receiving deposit and withdrawal information also influ-
ence float.

Foundation Budget - The target set for each school district
defining the spending level necessary to provide an adequate
education for all students. The Foundation Budget is com-
prised of both local effort and state aid.

Free Cash - (Also Budgetary Fund Balance) Funds remain-
ing from the operations of the previous fiscal year which

are certified by DOR’s Director of Accounts as available for
appropriation. Remaining funds include unexpended free
cash from the previous year, receipts in excess of estimates
shown on the tax recapitulation sheet, and unspent amounts
in budget line-items. Unpaid property taxes and certain
deficits reduce the amount of remaining funds which can be
certified as free cash. The calculation of free cash is made
based on the balance sheet, which is submitted by the com-
munity’s Auditor, Accountant, or Comptroller. Typically, a
community will attempt to maintain a free cash balance of
between 3 and 5 percent of its total budget as a hedge against

unforeseen expenditures, to insure there will be an adequate
reserve to prevent sharp fluctuations in the tax rate, and to
prevent expensive short-term borrowing. (Maintenance of
an adequate free cash level is not a luxury but a necessary
component of sound local fiscal management. Credit rating
agencies and other members of the financial community ex-
pect municipalities to maintain free cash reserves; judgments
regarding a community’s fiscal stability are made, in part, on

the basis of free cash.) Also see Available Funds.

Full Faith and Credit - A legal pledge of the general taxing
powers for the payment of governmental obligations. Bonds
carrying such pledges are usually referred to as general obli-
gation or full faith and credit bonds.

Fund - an accounting entity with a self balancing set of
accounts which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on
specific activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance
with specific regulations, restrictions or limitations.

Fund Accounting - Organizing the financial records of a
municipality into multiple funds. A fund is a distinct entity
within the municipal government in which financial resourc-
es and activity (assets, liabilities, fund balances, revenues, and
expenditures) are accounted for independently in accordance
with specific regulations, restrictions or limitations. Ex-
amples of funds include the General Fund and Enterprise
Funds. Communities whose accounting records are or-
ganized according to the Uniform Municipal Accounting
System use multiple funds.

General Fund - This non-earmarked fund is used to account
for most financial resources and activity governed by the nor-
mal Town Meeting/City Council appropriation process.

General Obligation Bonds - Bonds issued by a municipal-
ity which are backed by the full faith and credit of its taxing
authority.

Governing Body - The board, committee, commissioners or
other legislative body of a governmental unit including the
school committee of a municipality.

Indirect Cost - Costs of a service not reflected in the service’s
operating budget. A determination of these costs is necessary
to analyze the total cost of service delivery. (An example of
an indirect cost of providing water service would be health
insurance costs for water employees.)
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Industrial Revenue Bond - A bond used by a municipality
or development corporation to acquire an industrial capacity
to be leased to a private corporation; these are not general
obligation bonds.

Interest - Compensation paid or to be paid for the use of
money, including interest payable at periodic intervals or as
discount at the time a loan is made.

Interest Rate - The interest payable, expressed as a percent-
age of the principal available for use during a specified period
of time. It is always expressed in annual terms.

Investments - Securities and real estate held for the produc-
tion of income in the form of interest, dividends, rentals, or
lease payments. The term does not include fixed assets used

in governmental operations.

Judgment - An amount to be paid or collected by a gov-
ernmental unit as a result of a court decision, including a
condemnation award in payment for private property taken
for public use.

Judgment Bonds - Bonds issued to fund judgments.

Land Fund - A fund established in FY86 to which may be
added an annual appropriation earmarked for the acquisition
of land or debt service on designated land purchases.

Law Enforcement Trust Fund - A revolving fund estab-
lished to account for a portion of the proceeds from the sale
of property seized from illegal drug-related activities. Funds
may be expended to defray certain qualified law enforcement
costs as outlined in Chapter 94C, s 47. Funds from this
account may be expended by the police chief without further
appropriation.

Legal Opinion - An opinion, by an attorney or law firm that
bonds have been legally issued by a public body, and that the
bonds are exempt from federal income taxes and some Mas-
sachusetts taxes under existing laws, regulations and rulings.

Levy Ceiling - The maximum tax assessed on real and
personal property may not exceed 2.5 percent of the total
full and fair cash value of all taxable property (Chapter 59 s
21C). Property taxes levied may exceed this limit only if the
community passes a capital outlay expenditure exclusion, a
debt exclusion, or a special exclusion.

Levy Limit - The maximum amount a community can levy
in a given year. The limit can grow each year by 2.5 percent
of the prior year’s levy limit (Chapter 59 s 21C (f,g,..k)) plus
new growth and any overrides. The levy limit can exceed the
levy ceiling only if the community passes a capital expendi-
ture exclusion, debt exclusion, or special exclusion.

Line-Item Budget - A budget which focuses on inputs of
categories of spending, such as supplies, equipment, mainte-
nance, or salaries, as opposed to a program budget.

Local Aid - Revenue allocated by the Commonwealth to
towns, cities and regional school districts. Estimates of local
aid are transmitted to towns, cities and districts annually by
the “Cherry Sheet.” Most of the Cherry Sheet aid programs
are considered revenues of the municipality’s or regional
school district’s general fund and may be spent for any pur-
pose, subject to appropriation.

Local Appropriating Authority - In a town, the town meet-
ing, which has the power to levy directly a property tax. Ina
city, the city council has the power.

Local Receipts - Locally generated revenues other than real
and personal property taxes and excluding enterprise fund
revenues. Examples include motor vehicle excise, investment
income, hotel/motel tax, fees, rentals, and charges. Annual
estimates of local receipts are shown on the tax rate recapitu-
lation sheet.

Lock Box - an effective case management system that reduc-
es the float: payments are mailed to a post office box. The
bank collects and processes these checks several times a day.

Maturity - The date upon which the principal of a bond
becomes due and payable.

Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust - Founded in
1977, it is an investment program in which municipalities
may pool excess cash. It is under the supervision of the State
Treasurer.

Minimum Required Local Contribution - The minimum
that a town or city must appropriate from property taxes and
other local revenues for the support of schools.

Moody’s Investment Services, Inc. - One of the leading
municipal bond rating agencies.
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Municipal(s) - (As used in the bond trade) “Municipal”
refers to any governmental unit below or subordinate to

the state. “Municipals” (i.e., municipal bonds) include not
only the bonds of all local subdivisions such as towns, cities,
school districts, special districts, but also bonds of states and
agencies of the state.

Municipal Revenue Growth Factor - An estimate of the
percentage change in a municipality’s revenue growth for a
fiscal year. It represents the combined percentage increase

in the following revenue components: automatic 2 percent
increase in the levy limit, estimated new growth, the change
in selected unrestricted state aid categories, and the change in
selected unrestricted local receipts.

M.G.L (or M.G.L.A.) - Massachusetts General Laws, Anno-
tated

Municipal Finance Oversight Board - A board authorized
by Chapter 10 s 47 to review and approve applications by
municipalities to exceed their statutory debt limit, define the
term of borrowing for certain purposes, approve “emergency
appropriations” under Chapter 44 S. 8 and designate issues of
“Qualified Bonds” under Chapter 44a.

Net School Spending (NSS) - Includes both school budget
and municipal budget amounts attributable to education, ex-
cluding long-term debt service, student transportation, school
lunches and certain other specified school expenditures. A
community’s NSS funding must equal or exceed the NSS Re-
quirement established annually by Department of Education.

New Growth - The taxing capacity added by new con-
struction and other increases in the property tax base. New
growth is calculated by multiplying the value associated with
new construction by the tax rate of the previous fiscal year.
For example, FY15 new growth is determined by multiplying
the value of new construction in calendar 2013 (as valued on
January 1, 2014) by the FY14 tax rate. All increases in value
that are not the result of revaluation or appreciation now
qualify for inclusion in new growth figures.

Nominal Interest Cost (NIC) - The computed cost of a
bond issue, used to compare competitive bids. The bidder
with the lowest net interest cost is awarded the bond issue.

Nominal Interest Rate - The contractual interest rate shown
on the face and in the body of the bond or on coupons at-

tached to the bond.

Note - A short-term loan, typically of a year or less in matu-
rity.

Notice of Sale - A detailed statement which is published to
advertise the sale of municipal bonds by competitive bid.

Objective - Precise statement of expected output.

Objects of Expenditures - A classification of expenditures
that is used for coding any department disbursement, such as
“personal services”, “expenses”, or “capital outlay”.

Official Statement - A document containing information
about a prospective bond issue or a note issue which contains
information about the issue and the issuer, and is intended
for the potential investor. The Official Statement is some-
times published with the Notice of Sale. It is sometimes
called an Offering Circular or Prospectus.

Offset Receipts - Includes certain education programs and
the aid to public libraries program which are designated on
the Cherry Sheet as offset items. These amounts can be spent
without appropriation but must be spent only for these specif-
ic programs.

Operating Budget - The plan of proposed expenditures for
personnel, supplies, and other expenses for the coming fiscal
year.

Other Amounts to be Raised - The amounts raised through
taxation, but which are not appropriations items. Generally,
these are locally generated expenditures (e.g., overlay, teacher
pay deferral, deficits) as well as state, county and other special
district charges. Because these must be funded in the annual
budget, special consideration should be given to them when
finalizing the budget recommendations to Town Meeting.
(See Tax Recapitulation.)

Overlapping Debt - The share of regional school district
and/or other regional agency debt which is allocable to and
payable by a municipality as part of the fees or assessment
from the regional entity.

Overlay - (Overlay Reserve or Reserve for Abatements and
Exemptions) An account established annually to fund antic-
ipated property tax abatements and exemptions in that year.
The overlay reserve is not established by the normal appropri-
ation process, but rather is raised on the tax rate recapitula-
tion sheet.
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Overlay Deficit - A deficit that occurs when the amount of
overlay raised in a given year is insufficient to cover abate-
ments and statutory exemptions for that year. Overlay defi-
cits must be provided for in the next fiscal year.

Overlay Surplus - Any balance in the overlay account of a
given year in excess of the amount remaining to be collected
or abated can be transferred into this account (See Overlay).
Within ten days of a written request by the chief executive
officer of a town or city, the assessors must provide a certifi-
cation of the excess amount of overlay available to transfer.
Overlay surplus may be appropriated for any lawful pur-
pose. At the end of each fiscal year, unused overlay surplus
is “closed” to surplus revenue; i.e., it becomes a part of free
cash.

Override - A vote by a community at an election to perma-
nently increase the levy limit. An override vote may increase
the levy limit to no higher than the levy ceiling. The override
question on the election ballot must state a purpose for the
override and the dollar amount. (See Underride.)

Override Capacity - The difference between a community’s
levy ceiling and its levy limit. It is the maximum amount by
which a community may override its levy limit.

Par Value - The face amount of a bond, e.g., $ 1,000 or
$5,000.

Parking Meter Receipts Reserved for Appropriation -

This fund allows a community to charge for parking and to
reserve these proceeds in a separate account. In accordance
with Chapter 40 s 22A, the proceeds may be used to offset
certain expenses for the acquisition, installation, maintenance
and operation of parking meters and the regulation of park-
ing and other trafhic activities.

Paying Agent - A bank or other institution which acts as the
agent for a municipality in making bond interest and princi-
pal payments.

Performance Budget - A budget which stresses output both
in terms of economy and efliciency.

Personnel Services - The cost of salaries, wages and related
employment benefits.

Premium - The amount by which the price exceeds the prin-
cipal amount of a bond or par value.

Price Index - A statistical measure of change in overall
prices. There are different indices, but they all compare the
change in cost of a certain “bundle” of goods and services
over a given period of time.

Principal - The face amount of a bond, exclusive of accrued
interest.

Productivity - The ratio of outputs to inputs, or the amount
of output per unit of input. Unit A is more productive than
unit B if (1) it uses less resources but has the same output, or
(2) it uses the same resources and has a greater output.

Program - A combination of activities to accomplish an end.

Program Budget - A budget which relates expenditures to
the programs they fund. The emphasis of a program budget is
on output.

Property Tax Levy - The amount a community can raise
through the property tax. The levy can be any amount up to
the levy limit plus exclusions.

Purchased Services - The cost of services that are provided
by a vendor.

Ratings - Designations used by credit rating services to give
relative indications of quality. Moody’s ratings range from
the highest Aaa down through Aa, A- 1, A, Baa- 1, Baa, Ba,
B, Caa, Ca, C. Standard & Poor’s ratings include: AAA, AA,
A, BBB, BB, B, CCC, CC, C, DDD, DD, and D.

Refunding - System by which an issue is redeemed by a new
bond issue under conditions generally more favorable to the
issuer.

Registered Bond - A bond whose owner is registered with
the issuer or its agents, either as to both principal and interest
or principal only.

Repurchase Agreement (Repo) - An agreement whereby

a local government transfers cash to a financial institution,
and the financial institution transfers securities to the local
government and promises to repay the cash plus interest in
exchange for the same securities within a given number of

days.

Reserve for Abatements and Exemptions - See Overlay.
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Reserve Fund - An amount set aside annually within the
budget of a town (not to exceed 5 percent of the tax levy for
the preceding year) or city (not to exceed 3 percent of the tax
levy for the preceding year) to provide a funding source for
extraordinary and unforeseen expenditures. In a town, the
Finance Committee can authorize transfers from this fund
for “extraordinary and unforeseen” expenditures. Other uses
of the fund require budgetary transfers by Town Meeting.

In a city, transfers from this fund may be voted by the City
Council upon recommendation of the Mayor.

Residential Factor - Adopted by a community annually, this
governs the percentage of the tax levy to be paid by property
owners. Iflocal officials choose a low residential factor, (for
example the statutory minimum set by the Commissioner

of Revenue) residential property owners will pay a propor-
tionately lower share of the total levy (split or multi-tax rate).
A residential factor of “1” will result in the taxation of all
property at the same rate (single tax rate).

Retained Earnings - An equity account reflecting the accu-

mulated earnings of an enterprise fund which may be used to
fund capital improvements, to reimburse the general fund for
prior year subsidies, to reduce user charges and for enterprise

revenue deficits (operating loss).

Revaluation (or recertification of property values) - The
Assessors of each community are responsible to develop a rea-
sonable and realistic program to achieve a fair cash valuation
of property in accordance with constitutional and statutory
requirements. The nature and extent of that program will
depend on the Assessors’ analysis and consideration of many
factors, including, but not limited to, the status of the ex-
isting valuation system, the results of an in-depth sales ratio
study, the location and style of properties, and the accuracy
of existing property record information. Every three years,
Assessors must submit property values to the state Depart-
ment of Revenue for certification. Assessors must also main-
tain these values in the years between certifications. This is
done so that each property taxpayer in the community pays
his or her share of the cost of local government - no more or
less - in proportion to the amount of money the property is
worth.

Revenue Anticipation Borrowing - Cities, towns and
districts may issue temporary notes in anticipation of taxes
(TANG) or other revenue (RANs). The amount of this type
of borrowing is limited to the total of the prior year’s tax levy,
the net amount collected in motor vehicle and trailer excise

in the prior year and payments made by the Commonwealth
in lieu of taxes in the prior year. According to ¢ 44 s 4,
towns, cities and districts may borrow for up to one year in
anticipation of such revenue.

Revenue Anticipation Note (RAN) - A short-term loan
issued to be paid off by revenues, such as tax collections and

state aid. RANGs are full faith and credit obligations.

Revenue Bond - A bond payable from and secured solely by
specific revenues and thereby not full faith and credit obliga-
tions.

Revolving Fund - Allows a community to raise revenues
from a specific service and use those revenues to support the
service without appropriation. For departmental revolving
funds, c 44 s 53E stipulates that each fund must be reautho-
rized each year at annual town meeting or by city council
action, and that a limit on the total amount which may be
spent from each fund must be established at that time. The
aggregate of all revolving funds may not exceed ten percent
of the amount raised by taxation by the town or city in the
most recent fiscal year, and no more than one percent of the
amount raised by taxation may be administered by a single
department or board. No revolving fund expenditures shall
be made for the purpose of paying any wages or salaries for
full-time employees. Revolving funds for other programs

as provided by statute are still allowed, and a departmental
revolving fund may be implemented in addition to or in
conjunction with other existing statutory revolving funds,
provided that the departmental revolving fund does not con-
flict with provisions of other revolving funds.

Sale of Cemetery Lots Fund - This fund is established to
account for proceeds of the sale of cemetery lots. The pro-
ceeds must be used to offset certain expenses of the Cemetery
Department under provisions of Chapter 114 s 43C.

Sale of Real Estate Fund - This fund is established to
account for the proceeds of the sale of municipal real estate
other than proceeds acquired through tax title foreclosure.

c 44 s 63 states that such proceeds shall be applied first to

the retirement of debt on the property sold. In the absence
of such debt, funds may generally be used for purposes for
which the town or city is authorized to borrow for a period of
five years or more.

Scale - The underwriter’s re-offering prices expressed in yields
for each maturity of a serial issue.
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School Building Assistance Program - Established in 1948
and frequently revised by statutory amendments, this pro-
gram of the Commonwealth provides grants for local and
regional school construction projects. The SBA program is
administered by the Massachusetts School Building Authori-
ty in the State Treasurer’s Office. If a community votes a debt
exclusion to fund a school construction project, the amount
of SBA funds received towards any school construction debt
must be deducted before determining the net school debt
exclusion.

Security - For Massachusetts municipalities, bonds or notes
evidencing a legal debt on the part of the issuer.

Serial Bond - A bond of an issue which has maturities sched-
uled annually over a period of years.

Sinking Fund - Amounts required to be set aside to either
purchase bonds in the open market or call bonds so that term
bonds will be retired at maturity. These are no longer legal
in Massachusetts.

Special Assessment Bonds - These bonds are payable from
the proceeds of special assessments. If, in addition to the
assessments, the full faith and credit of the governmental unit
are pledged, they are known as “general obligation special
assessment bonds.”

Special Assessments - See Betterments.

Special Exclusion - For a few limited capital purposes, a
community may assess taxes above the amount of its levy
limit or levy ceiling without voter approval. Otherwise, spe-
cial debt and capital outlay exclusions are like voter approved
exclusions. Presently, there are two special exclusion exclu-
sions: 1) water and sewer project debt service costs which
reduce the water and sewer rates by the same amount; and

2) a program to assist homeowners with the repair or re-
place faulty septic systems, the removal of underground fuel
storage tanks, or removal of dangerous levels of lead paint

to meet public health and safety code requirements. In the
second special exclusion, homeowners repay the municipality
for the cost plus interest added apportioned over a period of
time not to exceed 20 years similar to betterments.

Spread - The difference between the average re-offering price
and the bid price on a bond issue. The amount of spread is
determined by a combination of market risk, expenses and
estimated selling compensation required. It is the gross profit

to the underwriters.

Stabilization Fund - An account from which amounts may
be appropriated for any lawful purpose. Prior to FY92, use of
the Stabilization Fund was restricted to purposes for which
towns and cities could legally borrow. Revisions to Chapter
40 s 5B removed this restriction and amounts from the Stabi-
lization Fund can now be appropriated for any legal purpose.
Towns may appropriate into this fund in any year an amount
not to exceed ten percent of the prior year’s tax levy or a
larger amount with the approval of the director of accounts.
The aggregate of the Stabilization Fund shall not exceed ten
percent of the town’s equalized value, and any interest shall
be added to and become a part of the fund. A two-thirds vote
of town meeting or city council is required to appropriate
money from the Stabilization Fund.

Standard & Poor’s Corporation - One of the leading mu-
nicipal bond rating agencies.

State Aid Anticipation Note (SAAN) - A short-term loan

issued in anticipation of a state grant or aid.

State House Notes - Notes for towns, cities, counties and
districts certified by the director of accounts. State House
notes are generally less costly and easier to issue than conven-
tional issues for borrowings. Therefore, these notes are more
commonly used for temporary loans and smaller long-term
issues.

Surplus Revenue - The amount by which cash, accounts
receivable and other floating assets exceed the liabilities and
reserves.

Syndicate - A group formed by one or more firms for the
purpose of purchasing all or part of a new issue of munici-
pal securities from an issuer, and making a sale thereof. See
Underwriter.

Tailings - This fund is reserved for unclaimed checks written
on city or town accounts. The procedures for retaining
money from unclaimed checks are outlined in Chapter 2004,
s 9A. Written notice must be filed with the clerk if these
procedures are to be followed.

Tax Rate - The amount of tax stated in terms of a unit of the
tax base; for example, $14.80 per $1,000 of assessed valuation
of taxable property.
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Tax Rate Recapitulation Sheet (also Recap Sheet) - A
document submitted by a town or city to the Department of
Revenue in order to set a property tax rate. The recap sheet
shows all estimated revenues and actual appropriations which
affect the property tax rate. (In order to issue the first-half
semiannual property tax bills before October Ist, the recap
sheet should be submitted to the Department of Revenue in
September, or, in December in order to issue the third quar-
terly property tax bills before January 1st.)

Tax Title - Collection procedure which secures a lien on real
property and protects the municipality’s right to payment of
overdue property taxes. (Without following this procedure,
the lien on real property expires if three years elapse from the
October first following the assessment date, and the property
is transferred. If amounts remain outstanding on the proper-
ty after issuing a demand for overdue property taxes and after
publishing a notice of tax taking, the collector may take the
property for the city or town. After properly recording the
instrument of taking, the collector transfers responsibility for
collecting the overdue amounts to the treasurer.)

Term Bond - Bonds the entire principal of which matures on
one date. Massachusetts municipal general obligation bonds
are required by law to be retired on a serial basis.

Trust Fund - In general, a fund held for the specific purpose
stipulated by a trust agreement. The treasurer acts as custo-
dian of trust funds and invests and expends such funds as
stipulated by trust agreements or as directed by the commis-
sioners of trust funds or by town meeting. Both principal
and interest may be used if the trust is established as an
expendable trust. For non-expendable trust funds, interest
but not principal may be expended as directed.

Uncollected Funds - Recently deposited checks included in
an account’s balance but drawn on other banks and not yet
credited by the Federal Reserve Bank or local clearinghouse
to the bank cashing the checks. (These funds may not be
loaned or used as part of the bank’s reserves and they are not
available for disbursement.)

Underride - A vote by a community to permanently decrease
the tax levy limit. As such, it is the exact opposite of Over-
ride.

Underwriter - For municipal debt issues, a commercial bank
or securities dealer which purchases all or part of a new issue
in order to sell the securities to investors. A group of under-

writers is called a syndicate.

Unfunded Pension Liability - Unfunded pension liability

is the difference between the value assigned to the retirement
benefits already deemed by a town’s employees and the assets
the town’s retirement system will have on hand to meet

these obligations. The dollar value of the unfunded pension
liability is driven by assumptions about interest rates at which
a retirement system’s assets will grow and the rate of future
costs of living increases to pensioners.

Uniform Municipal Accounting System (UMAS) - A
comprehensive and practical municipal accounting system
that conforms to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP) for local governments. UMAS is regarded by the
Department of Revenue as the professional standard for
modern municipal accounting in Massachusetts. (Among
the benefits of conversion to UMAS are increased consistency
in reporting and record keeping and enhanced comparability
of data among cities and towns.)

Unreserved Fund Balance - Also referred to sometimes as
the “surplus revenue account”, this is the amount by which
cash, accounts receivable, and other assets exceed liabilities
and restricted reserves. It is akin to “stockholders’ equity”
account on a cooperate balance sheet. It is not, however,
available for appropriation in full because a portion of the
“assets listed as “accounts receivable” may be taxes receivable
and uncollected. (See Free Cash).

Valuation (100%) - Requirement that the assessed valuation
must be the same as the market value for all properties; 100
percent valuation may offer greater equity in the redistri-
bution of state aid to cities and towns based upon local real
estate values.

Warrant - A list of items to be acted on by Town Meeting.
(A treasury warrant and the assessors’ warrant authorize the
treasurer to pay specific bills and the tax collector to collect
taxes in the amount and from the persons listed, respectively.)

Water Surplus - For water departments operating under
Chapter 41 s 69B, any revenues in excess of estimated water
receipts or unspent water appropriations close to a water
surplus account. Water surplus may be appropriated to fund
water-related general and capital expenses or to reduce water
rates.

Waterways Improvement Fund - An account into which 50
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percent of the proceeds of the boat excise are deposited. Use
of these proceeds is limited to certain waterway expenses as

outlined in Chapter 40 s 5G.

Wire Transfer - A method of moving funds from one bank
to another through the use of the bank wire system or Feder-
al Reserve System, so that funds are in transit for a minimum
period of time.

Yield - The net annual percentage of income derived from an
investment. The yield of a bond reflects interest rate, length
of time to maturity and write-off of premium or accrual of
discount. (Also referred to as “yield to maturity”.)

This appendix was prepared by Donald Levitan and Meilida J.
Ordway (representing her opinions and not necessarily those of
the Department of Revenue) and updated by Allan Tosti.
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APPENDIX H: FINANCE GCOMMITTEE CHECKLIST

The following is offered as a selected compilation of issues
that a Finance Committee might address in its budget delib-
erations. Each Finance Committee is urged to use this list as
a starting point and to develop a list that fits its town.

The proposed budget, as well as other town financial consid-
erations, are prepared and presented in a manner that permits
comprehension by the voters.

The proposed and approved budget is placed in the Library as
well as in Town Hall and on the town website, allowing easy
voter access.

There is an established budgetary process and calendar. All
units of town government follow an identical process and
timetable.

All units of town government receive the same budget request

package.

Financial reports are prepared on a regular calendar basis;
monthly is desired but at a minimum on a quarterly basis.

There exist established financial policies regarding:

e free cash

e reserve funds

¢ stabilization fund (if one exists)
* cash management

* debt management

* investment management

* banking relations,

¢ etc..

An accounting chart of accounts for expenditure items exists.

The budget is considered and approved on a program/depart-
mental basis.

Departmental budgets are on the mark, relatively speaking,
in that they run on a constant basis, with neither a substan-
tial surplus nor deficit.

All town fees and charges are realistic and “fair”, cover the
cost of delivering the service, and are listed in the budget
request.

Records are maintained that allow comparison of actual costs
to budgeted (projected) costs. These records allow for the

analysis of both unit costs and performance.

All financial documentation graphics and charts are summa-
rized narratively.

A multi-year revenue-expenditure forecast exists and is up-
dated at least every year.

A cash management program exists and is regularly updated
during the year.

In all financial documentation there is a consistency in
choice, base, and use of statistics and graphics.

The property tax collection rate is higher than 95%.

The town receives its “fair share” of federal and state aid
grants as compared to similar towns in the general area.

Town funds available for investment are invested at the high-
est rate consistent with liquidity and safety.
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There is an existing inventory of fixed assets by location, age,
condition, and cost of maintenance that is regularly updated.

A five year Capital Improvement Program exists that follows
the criteria of the Government Finance Officers Association.

The specifications for major purchases are reviewed by ex-
perts.

All programs should be examined on a regular basis as to
their continued need and service level.

All programs should be examined on a regular basis to ascer-
tain if there is another more efficient and cost effective way of
delivering the service.

Proposed budgetary increases and decreases are to be an-
alyzed by service implication(s) rather than as objects of
expenditure.

What would happen to a departmental budget if the budget
were reduced:

5%?, or

10%?

What are the criteria, and the basis for choice, to evaluate
programs?

How many people benefit from a program? Can they be
“categorized”?

How much do other towns in the general area spend on
similar programs?

The accounting system is either conforming to UMAS or is
moving towards UMAS.

An annual audit is prepared, and items identified in the man-
agement letter are followed up.

There exists a job classification, salary, and benefit plans that
are comprehensive and competitive as well as a multi-year

personnel census.

Purchasing is closely coordinated, centralized, or performed
in concert with other governmental entities.

Reserves should be maintained at no less than 5% of the

general fund operating revenues.

This appendix was prepared by Donald Levitan and updated by
Allan Tosti.
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APPENDIX 1 FINANGE COMMITTEE RESOURCES:

COMMITTEE LIBRARY

It is impossible for a professional in any endeavor to conduct

business without access to appropriate data and reference ma-
terial. Finance committees should develop their own libraries
of town data and be aware of local and national resources for
information and assistance.

Below is a suggested list of materials for the library of each
town finance committee. Material produced by the Depart-
ment of Revenue, Division of Local Services (DLS), may be
obtained from them. Committees may obtain most other
material from town offices, the Massachusetts Municipal
Association (MMA), or from a given town’s public library.
Many publications may be obtained on various websites.

TowN DOCUMENTS AND INFORMATION
* annual municipal audit (for last five years)

* bond prospectus

*  Capital Improvement Program and capital budget
* cash flow analysis

*  Cherry Sheet (for the last five years)

* finance committee report (for the last five years)

¢ Free Cash certification (for the last five years)

* investment policies and analysis

* property classification report

* annual report (for the last five years)

* bylaws

* town charter

* manual on town meeting, etc.

* operating and capital budgets (for the last five years), and
budget forms, calendar, and instructions

* tax recapitulation data (for the last five years)

* Schedule A (for the last five years)

(In addition, comparable information from a town of similar
socio-economic and financial characteristics may be useful.)

MATERIALS AVAILABLE FROM DLS (www.
MASS.GOV/DLS)

Assessment Publications

Accounting Publications

Cherry Sheet Manual, forms and reports

City & Town

Costing Municipal Services

Developing a Capital Improvements Program

Levy Limits: A Primer on Prop 2 1/2

A Guide to Financial Management for Town Officials
Informational Guideline Releases and Index

In Our Opinion

Laws Relating to Municipal Finance and Taxation, Munici-
pal Bulletin 38

Manual for a Collector of Taxes

Manual for a Treasurer

Municipal Calendar and Fiscal Calendar
Revenue/Expenditure Forecasting Software

OTHER DOCUMENTS AND PUBLICATIONS

Bresler, Citizens Primer on Town Meeting, Commonwealth of
Massachusetts

Levitan, Your Massachusetts Government

Finance Committee Handbook, ATFC

Municipal Financial Data, Massachusetts Taxpayers Founda-
tion

An Issuer’s Guide to the Rating Process, Moody’s

Municipal Finance Criteria, Standard & Poor’s

Handbook for Massachusetts Selectmen, 4th Edition, MMA
State Constitution

Town Meeting Time, A Handbook of Parliamentary Law,
3rd Edition, Massachusetts Moderators’ Association
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Guide to Sound Fiscal Management for Municipalities,
Pioneer Institute

THE MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF
REVENUE AND THE D1visiON OF LocAL
SERVICES

The state Department of Revenue (DOR), Division of Local
Services (DLS) provides technical assistance to municipal
officials on a broad range of topics concerning local finance
and taxation. DLS also exercises supervisory and regulatory
functions under various statutory provisions. Assistance is
provided through their four bureaus.

Bureau of Accounts — certifies tax rates for the towns and
cities and is responsible under Proposition 2 1/2 for assuring
compliance with property tax levy limits. This bureau also
monitors, supervises and assists municipalities, counties and
special districts in ensuring that their financial management
and accounting practices comply with state statutes.

Bureau of Local Assessment — supervises property valuation
and assessment as well as oversees the implementation of the
Classification Statutes.

Municipal Data Management and Technical Assistance
Bureau — is responsible for the distribution of local aid,
operation of the Municipal Data Bank, and coordination of
technical assistance.

Municipal Finance Law Bureau — is responsible for the
interpretation of laws and statutes on municipal finance and
taxation.

In addition, DLS publishes timely and useful publications
dealing with the management of local government and pro-
vides information through the Internet at www.mass.gov/dls.
These home pages offer local officials the opportunity to view
or download various DLS publications and information.

Besides having its main office in Boston, DLS also maintains
two field offices in Worcester and Springfield:

67 Millbrook Street
Suite 330

Worcester, MA 01608
Tel: 508-792-7300
Fax: 508-421-2310

436 Dwight Street
Room 401

Springfield, MA 01103
Tel: 413-452-3970

Fax: 413-452-3989

P.O. Box 9569
Boston, MA 02114
Tel: 617-626-2300
Fax: 617-626-2330

THE MASSACHUSETTS MUNICIPAL
DIRECTORY

The Massachusetts Municipal Association (MMA), of which
the Massachusetts Association of Town Finance Committee
is a constituent agency, annually provides each town and
usually each selectman with The Massachusetts Municipal
Directory. This directory provides a listing of municipal offi-
cials, including addresses, web site addresses, telephone and
fax numbers. The directory encompasses:

* town and city governments;

° county governments;

* regional planning councils;

¢ selected state government officers;

¢ selected federal government offices;

* Massachusetts professional organizations;
* national professional organizations;

* state legislators by community; and

¢ state and federal holidays.

NATIONAL PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

The following is a partial listing of those national profession-
al organizations that direct themselves to local government
issues:

American Association of School Administrators
1615 Duke St. Alexandria,

VA 22314

(703) 528-0700

American Public Works Association
1275 K Street NW

Washington, DC 20005

(202) .408-9541
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American Society for Public Administration
1301 Pennsylvania Ave

Washington, DC 20005

(202) 393-7878

Government Finance Officers Association
203 N. LaSalle Street

Chicago, IL 60601

(312)977-4806

International Association of Assessing Officers
314 West 10th Street

Kansas City, MO 64105

(800) 616-4226

International City/County Management Association
777 North Capitol Street NE

Washington, DC 20002

(202) 289-4263

International Personnel Management Association
1617 Duke Street

Alexandria, VA 22314

(703) 549-7100

National Association of Towns and Townships
1130 Connecticut Avenue N'W

Washington, DC 20036

(866) 830-0008

National League of Cities
1301 Pennsylvania Ave. N'W
Washington, DC 20004
(202) 626-3000

National School Boards Association
1680 Duke St.

Alexandria, VA 22314

(703) 838-6722
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APPENDIX J: THE ASSOCIATION OF TOWN FINANCE
COMMITTEES & BYLAWS

HisToRrYy

The Association of Town Finance Committees (ATFC) was
founded in 1934 by Danforth W. Comins, of Brookline, who
served as its executive secretary from 1944 to 1959. Stu-

ard DeBard, of Hingham, served in that role from 1960 to
1994. Since 1994, the Massachusetts Municipal Association
(MMA) has provided administrative support to the ATFC.

Today the ATFC includes over 90% of towns out of the
Commonwealth’s 297 municipalities with town meeting

as its members in good standing. The ultimate goal of the
association is to have all eligible Massachusetts town finance
committees as ATFC members.

PURPOSE

The purpose of the ATFC is to assist all finance committees
in their duties. To that end, the association engages in the
education and training of its members, publishes and distrib-
utes materials’ including this handbook, and holds meetings
and workshops for its members.

The association attempts to promote the common good and
general welfare by taking positions, alone or in conjunction
with other organizations, on state and federal legislation
relating to municipal finances. The association strives to be
non-partisan in its positions and procedure.

(GOVERNING BOARD

The Governing Board is made up of twelve members elected
from among the ATFC membership: four officers, six direc-
tors, and two past presidents. The officers of the association
are: a president, a first vice president, a second vice president
and a treasurer. Both the president and first vice president
serve as full members of the MMA'’s Board of Directors.

Many individuals have served on the ATFC Governing
Board for several years, moving up from the position of di-
rector to president, and then continuing on as past president.
These dedicated members deserve much of the credit for what
the organization is today. A list of the most recent presidents
are listed in the table on the next page.

The Board usually meets 7 times a year in a central location
to accommodate as many of the board members as possible.
The annual meeting is held in the fall of each year in a loca-
tion convenient to all the members. In the spring workshops
on a variety of topics are hosted throughout the State.

The association is governed by its bylaws, which can be
amended by a two-thirds vote of members present at the
annual meeting.
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Revised November 2009

ARTICLEI

Name

The name of this voluntary non-profit, association shall be
“Association of Town Finance Committees,” herein called the
“Association.”

ARTICLE II

Purposes

The purpose of the Association shall be to assist all finance
committees in their duties. The Association shall engage

in the education of members of finance and capital budget
committees, however named, of municipalities in Massachu-
setts, shall publish and distribute materials, and shall hold
meetings and workshops for its members. It shall promote
the common good and general welfare by taking positions

on state and federal legislation relating to municipal finances
and may also do this in conjunction with other organizations.
The Association shall be non-partisan in its attitudes and pro-
cedures and shall not discriminate with regard to race, color,
creed, national origin, disability, sex or age.

ARTICLE III
The Governing Board (the “Board) shall be made up of

twelve members as follows: four elected officers, six directors,
two past presidents. The officers shall consist of:

A. President who shall preside at all meetings of the Associ-
ation and execute any documents required by the bylaws or
the acts of the Association;

B. First Vice President;
C. Second Vice President;
D. Treasurer.

Either the First Vice President or the Second Vice President
shall assist the President and preside in his/her absence. The
Board shall meet at the call of the President or any two mem-
bers of the Board. The President shall appoint a nominating
committee. The Board shall request an audit of the Treasur-

er’s books as they deem necessary and may make recommen-
dations to the annual meeting for changes in the constitution
and by-laws or work of the Association. Each Board member
shall be at the time of his or her election a member of a capi-
tal or finance committee and taking into account maximum
geographic representation. The President shall not be eligible
for re-election to a third consecutive term. The Board shall
be elected at the Annual Meeting for the term of one year to
commence on the succeeding January 1. They shall fill any
vacancy in their number for the unexpired term.

Board members who are no longer serving on their finance

or capital budget committee shall be required to resign from
the Board. However, such resignation shall not take effect
until the end of their current term. Past presidents may
continue to serve on the Board regardless of his or her status
as a member of a local finance or capital planning committee.
The Board may ask a member to step down from his or her
position due to lack of attendance at Board meetings.

The Treasurer shall furnish such bond as the Board may
require. The Board and employees shall be entitled to reim-
bursement for out-of-pocket expenses under such policies as
determined by the Board.

ARTICLE IV

The finance committee, or the selectmen, when acting as
such, of every town in Massachusetts shall be a member for
each year in which its town pays dues.

Capital outlay or long-range financial planning committees,
which are not subcommittees of finance committees, shall be
eligible for membership on payment of separate dues.

Members of committees in good standing who are present at
any scheduled meeting shall be entitled to one vote for each
such individual.

Other persons may be elected Honorary Members by the
Board. Honorary members shall not vote or hold office and
shall be exempt from paying dues.

ARTICLEV
Dues

Dues for each fiscal year shall be established by the Board at
its first regular meeting following the Annual Meeting. The
fixed amount shall be prorated among the different munici-
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palities according to the following population categories here-
in described, rounded to the nearest dollar. In addition, the
Board shall determine separate dues for capital committees.

Dues shall be billed July 1 in each year for the fiscal year
starting on that date. Unless dues are paid on, or a firm
agreement has been made with the ATFC by December 1 of
each year, a town will be suspended from membership. The
fiscal year shall end June 30.

ARTICLE VI
Office

The Association staff shall conduct the routine activities of
the Association, and shall furnish such administrative ser-
vices as assigned by the Board.

ARTICLE VII
Meetings

There shall be such meetings as the Board shall determine.
Meetings of the Divisions of the Association shall be held

at such times as determined by their respective officers. A
quorum at Board meetings shall consist of five members of
the Board. No action shall be taken by the Board without

a quorum. The Annual Meeting shall be held in the fall of
each year at such time and place as determined by the Board.

ARTICLE VIII

Nominations

In addition to the list to be submitted by the Board, other

members may be nominated for any office upon the receipt
by the Association staff at least five days before the Annual
Meeting a nomination signed by individuals from three or
more member towns.

ARTICLE IX
Amendments
This Constitution and Bylaws of the Association may be

amended by a two-thirds vote of members present at the
Annual Meeting.
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Past PRESIDENTS OF THE AssOCIATION OF TowN FINANCE COMMITTEES

1983 Sheldon J. Thayer Harwichport
1984 Lewis C. Restuccia Nahant
1985 Robert L. Ashton Lynnfield
1986 Patricia N. Leiby Bedford
1987 Michael D. Altfillisch Canton
1988 Edward H. Dlott Natick
1989 Samuel D. Streiff Rowley
1990 Philip Bucheck Lynnfield
1991 John E. Brennan Canton
1992 Michael J. O’Sullivan Lexington
1993 Marilyn H. Browne Plympton
1994 John J. Kent Easton
1995 Allan Tosti Arlington
1996 Nelson A. Valverde West Newbury
1997 Thomas Brady Wrentham
1998 John Tuffy Duxbury
1999 Paul Lapointe Lexington
2000 John Sanguinet Plymouth
2001 June Michaels Rockport
2002 Heidi Churchill Easton
2003 Charles Foskett Arlington
2004 Paul Tsatsos Southwick
2005 Allan Tosti Arlington
2006 Paul Joyce Dedham
2007 Robert Hicks Easton
2008 Cinder McNerney Swampscott
2009-10 Pat Brusch Belmont
20mM Kim Roy Halifax
201213 Joanne Marden Andover
2014 Jennifer Gonzalez Holbrook
2015 Mary McBride Billerica
2016 Ira Miller Sharon
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APPENDIX K: CURRENT CONTRIBUTORS

Allan Tosti, chair of the Arlington Finance Committee and Treasurer of the ATFC

Richard Carmignani, Jr., Treasurer/Collector, Dudley

Sheldon S. Cohen, independent IT consultant

Kathleen Colleary, Esq., Chief, Mass. Finance Law Bureau, Massachusetts Division of Local Services
Michael Daley, President, Financial Advisory Associates, Inc.

Douglas W. Heim, Esq., Town Counsel, Arlington

Melinda J. Ordway, Senior Program Manager and Financial Analyst, Municipal Data Management and Technical Assistance
Bureau, DLS

Richard Manley, Esq., Partner, Edwards, Wilman, Palmer

Cinder McNerney, Managing Director, First Southwest Company, a division of Hilltop Securities and member of the Swamp-
scott Finance Committee

James E. Powers, Partner, Powers and Sullivan
John Robertson, Legislative Director, Massachusetts Municipal Association

Dan Sherman, CEO, Sherman Actuarial Services, LLC

Maureen G. Valente, Town Manager, Sudbury (retired)
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PAST CONTRIBUTORS

Donald Levitan, original editor, is a former college professor. He is the author of Your Massachusetts Government.

Catherine S. Bromberg, editor, is Senior Writer and Editor at New England Medical Center and a freelance writer and original
editor.

Harvey Beth, Finance Director, Brookline(retired)

Elizabeth Bostwick, Esq.

Alice Carlozzi, Finance Committee, Amherst

Paul C. Casey, State Representative, Massachusetts General Court

Jane L. Chew, Town Clerk, Burlington

Stephen E. Cirillo, Finance Director, Brookline (retired)

Sean Cronin, Senior Deputy Director, Division of Local Services

Edward Dlott, former Director of Municipal Finance, BankBoston (deceased)
Daniel F. Donahbue, Esq., DeFazio and Donahue, Northampton

Christopher ]. Dostoomian, St. John’s Preparatory School, Danvers

Mary Ellen Norman Dunn, Business Manager, Natick Public Schools

Matthew G. Feber, Esq., Attorney, Burns & Levensen

Kevin G. Gookin, Municipal Management Consultant

Timothy Higgins, Town Administrator, Lincoln

Frederick Kingsley, Chief, Municipal Data Management and Technical Assistance Bureau, DLS (retired)
Melvin A. Kleckner, Town Administrator, Brookline

Beth Klepeis, Finance Director, Reading (retired)

Len Kopelman, Kopelman & Paige

Juliana deHaan Rice, Attorney General’s Office, Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Mark Levy, former member, Finance Committee, Brookline

Anthony T. Logalbo, Finance Director, Concord (retired)
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Anthony A. McMahon, Finance Committee, Barnstable and Treasurer, Dennis Water District
Donna A. Madden, Assistant Treasurer-Collector, Lincoln

Jennifer Magee, former Staff Associate, Association of Town Finance Committees

Katie S. McCue, A&F Director, Massachusetts Municipal Association

Richard Mountouri, Town Manager, Tewksbury (retired)

Mark. E. Morse, Esq., President, MMA Consulting Group

Melinda J. Ordway, Senior Financial Analyst, Massachusetts Division of Local Services
Marce R. Pacheco, State Senator, Massachusetts General Court

John J. Ryan, Finance Director, Lexington (retired)

James F. Russell, CPA, former partner, Arthur Anderson and Co.

Robert Spongberg, Executive Director, ARC of Cape Cod

Anthony Torissi, Finance Director, Andover (retired)

John Tuffy, Superintendent, Silver Lake RSD

Kay M. Upham, Project Manager, Massachusetts Division of Local Services

Carl F. Valente, Town Manager, Lexington

Marc Waldman, Treasurer/Collector, Wellesley

Robert J. Wright, Director of Analysis, Finance and Budget and Chief Medical Examiner, Massachusetts Department of Public
Safety

Marilyn Browne, Chief, Bureau of Assessing, Massachusetts Division of Local Services (retired)

Finance Committee Handbook | Appendix K: Current & Past Contributors



APPENDIX L: SAMPLE CHERRY SHEET

C.S. 1-ER Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Revenue FY2017
NOTICE TOASSESSORS OF ESTIMATED RECEIPTS
General Laws, Chapter 58, Section 25A

Abington
A. EDUCATION:
Distributions and Reimbursements:
Chapter 70 7579849
Schaal Transporntation 0
Charter Tuiion Reimbursement 35.720
Smart Growth 0
Offset ltems - Reserve for Direct Expenditure:
Schoal Choice Recening Tuilion 5.000
Sub-Total, All Education Items: 7,620,669
B. GENERAL GOVERNMENT:
Distributions and Relmbursemaonts:
Unrestncled General Government Aud 1.891.429
Local Share of Racing Taxes 0
Regional Public Libranes 0
Urban Rewtahzation 0
Veterans Uenefits 86,097
Examp VBS and Elderly 95 411
State Owned Land 117.819
Oflset lterm - Reserve lor Direct Expenditure:
Public Libranes 20 390
Sub-Total, All General Government: 2,213,146
C. TOTAL ESTIMATED RECEIPTS: 9,833,716
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C.S. 1-EC Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Revenue FY2017
NOTICE TOASSESSORS OF ESTIMATED CHARGES
General Laws, Chapter 59, Section 21

Abington
A, COUNTY ASSESSMENTS:
County Tax 38,882
Suffalk County Ratirement 0
Essex County Reg Comm Center 0
Sub-Total, County Assessments: 38,882

B. STATEC ASSESSMENTS AND CHARGES:

Retired Employees Health Insurance 0
Retired Teachers Health Insurance 0
Mosquiteo Control Projects 35,449
Air Pollution 4 604
Matropalitan Area Planning Council 0
Oid Coleny Planning Council 5790
RMV Non-Renewal Surcharge 27520
Sub.Total, State Assessments: 73.363

C. TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITIES:

MBTA 891,136
Boston Metro, Transit Distnct 0
Regional Transit 25172
Sub-Total, Transportation Assessments: 106,358

D. ANNUAL CHARGFS AGAINST RECFIPTS:
Special Education
STRAP Repayments

Multi-Year Repayment
Sub-Total, Annual Charges Against Receipts:

|| <

E. TUITION ASSESSMENTS:
School Chorce Sending Tustion 201,008
Chaner School Sending Tuition 496 553

Sub.Total, Tuition Assessments: 698,361

F. TOTAL ESTIMATED CHARGES: 916,964
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(B

SAMPLE TAX RATE RECAPITULATION

MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
DIVISION OF LOCAL SERVICES
BUREAU OF ACCOUNTS

TAX RATE RECAPITULATION
Fiscal Year 2017

Abington

City / Town / District

I. TAX RATE SUMMARY
la. Total amount to be raised (from page 2, lle)

Ib. Total estimated receipts and other revenue sources (from page 2, llle)
Ic. Tax Levy (la minus Ib)

Id. Distribution of Tax Rates and levies

$ 56,678,607.46

22,428,749.00

$ 34,249,858.46

CLASS (b) (c) (d) (e) (f)
Levy percentage Ic above times Valuation by class Tax Rates Levy by class
(from LA5) each percent in col (from LA-5) (c)/(d) x 1000 (d) x (e) / 1000
(b)
Residential 86.9238 29,771,278.47 1,622,413,621.00 18.35 29,771,289.95
Open Space 0.0000 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Commercial 10.0299 3,435,226.55 187,205,279.00 18.35 3,435,216.87
Industrial 0.9610 329,141.14 17,936,000.00 18.35 329,125.60
SUBTOTAL 97.9147 - 1,827,554,900.00 - 33,535,632.42
Personal 2.0853 714,212.30 38,922,400.00 18.35 714,226.04
TOTAL 100.0000 - 1,866,477,300.00 - 34,249,858.46

MUST EQUAL 1C
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MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
DIVISION OF LOCAL SERVICES
BUREAU OF ACCOUNTS

TAX RATE RECAPITULATION
Fiscal Year 2017

Abington

City / Town / District

Amounts to be raised

lla. Appropriations (col.(b) through col.(g) from page 4) 55,364,981.00
IIb. Other amounts to be raised
1. Amounts certified for tax title purposes 0.00
2. Debt and interest charges not included on page 4 0.00
3. Final court judgements 0.00
4. Total overlay deficits of prior years 0.00
5. Total cherry sheet offsets (see cherry sheet 1-ER) 25,390.00
6. Revenue deficits 0.00
7. Offset receipts deficits Ch. 44, Sec. 53E 0.00
8. CPA other unappropriated/unreserved 0.00
9. Snow and ice deficit Ch. 44, Sec. 31D 0.00
10. Other (specify on separate letter) 0.00
TOTAL lIb (Total lines 1 through 10) 25,390.00
llc. State and county cherry sheet charges (C.S. 1-EC) 916,964.00
Ild. Allowance for abatements and exemptions (overlay) 371,272.46
lle. Total amount to be raised (Total Ila through Iid) 56,678,607.46
lll. Estimated receipts and other revenue sources
llla. Estimated receipts - State
1. Cherry sheet estimated receipts (C.S. 1-ER Total) 9,833,715.00
2. Massachusetts school building authority payments 0.00
TOTAL llla 9,833,715.00
lllb. Estimated receipts - Local
1. Local receipts not allocated (page 3, col (b) Line 24) 5,659,116.00
2. Offset Receipts (Schedule A-1) 0.00
3. Enterprise Funds (Schedule A-2) 3,767,595.00
4. Community Preservation Funds (See Schedule A-4) 0.00
TOTAL llib 9,426,711.00
lllc. Revenue sources appropriated for particular purposes
1. Free cash (page 4, col (c)) 804,783.00
2. Other available funds (page 4, col (d)) 2,363,540.00
TOTAL llic 3,168,323.00
llld. Other revenue sources appropriated specifically to reduce the tax rate
1a. Free cash..appropriated on or before June 30, 2016 0.00
1b. Free cash..appropriated on or after July 1, 2016 0.00
2. Municipal light source 0.00
3. Other source : 0.00
TOTAL llid 0.00
llle. Total estimated receipts and other revenue sources 22,428,749.00
(Total llla through llid)
IV. Summary of total amount to be raised and total receipts from all sources
a. Total amount to be raised (from lle) 56,678,607.46
b. Total estimated receipts and other revenue sources (from llle) 22,428,749.00
c. Total real and personal property tax levy (from Ic) 34,249,858.46
d. Total receipts from all sources (total IVb plus IVc) 56,678,607.46
NOTE : The information was Approved on 12/2/2016
printed on 12/2/2016 8:10:42 AM page 2 of 4
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MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
DIVISION OF LOCAL SERVICES
BUREAU OF ACCOUNTS

TAX RATE RECAPITULATION

Fiscal Year 2017

Abington

City / Town / District

LOCAL RECEIPTS NOT ALLOCATED *

Receipt Type Description (a) (b)
Actual Receipts Estimated Receipts
Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2017
==> 1. MOTOR VEHICLE EXCISE 1,829,948.00 1,823,000.00
2. OTHER EXCISE
==> a.Meals 296,118.00 273,000.00
=> b.Room 0.00 0.00
=> c.Other 0.00 0.00
==> 3. PENALTIES AND INTEREST ON TAXES AND EXCISES 236,521.00 223,021.00
==> 4. PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES 0.00 0.00
5. CHARGES FOR SERVICES - WATER 2,788,104.00 2,660,104.00
6. CHARGES FOR SERVICES - SEWER 0.00 0.00
7. CHARGES FOR SERVICES - HOSPITAL 0.00 0.00
8. CHARGES FOR SERVICES - SOLID WASTE FEES 0.00 0.00
9. OTHER CHARGES FOR SERVICES 0.00 0.00
10. FEES 92,338.00 90,000.00
11. RENTALS 0.00 0.00
12. DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE - SCHOOLS 0.00 0.00
13. DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE - LIBRARIES 0.00 0.00
14. DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE - CEMETERIES 0.00 0.00
15. DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE - RECREATION 0.00 0.00
16. OTHER DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE 0.00 0.00
17. LICENSES AND PERMITS 384,361.00 361,991.00
18. SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 0.00 0.00
==> 19. FINES AND FORFEITS 27,426.00 25,000.00
==> 20. INVESTMENT INCOME 168,747.00 63,000.00
==> 21. MEDICAID REIMBURSEMENT 154,382.00 90,000.00
==> 22. MISCELLANEOUS RECURRING (PLEASE SPECIFY) 40,812.00 50,000.00
23. MISCELLANEOUS NON-RECURRING (PLEASE SPECIFY) 204,118.00 0.00
24. Totals 6,222,875.00 5,659,116.00

| hereby certify that the actual receipts as shown in column (a) are, to the best of my knowledge correct and complete, and | further certify that | have examined
the entries made on page 4 of the Fiscal 2017 tax rate recapitulation form by the City, Town or District Clerk and hereby acknowledge that such entries correctly
reflect the appropriations made and the sources from which such appropriations are to be met.

Accounting Officer

| hereby certify that the actual receipts as shown in column (a) are, to the best of my knowledge correct and complete,

and | further certify that | have examined the entries made on page 4 of the above-indicated fiscal year tax rate recapitulation
form by the City / Town / District Clerk and hereby acknowledge that such entries correctly reflect the appropriations made
and the sources from which such appropriations are to be met.

Suzanne Moquin, Town Accountant , Abington , smoquin@abingtonma.gov 781-982-2100 | 11/3/2016 9:19 AM

Comment:

* Do not include receipts in columns (a) or (b) that were voted by the City / Town / District Council or Town Meeting as offset receipts on Schedule A-1, enterprise
funds on Schedule A-2, or revolving funds on Schedule A-3. Written documentation should be submitted to support increases / decreases of estimated receipts to
actual receipts.

==> Written documentation should be submitted to support increases/ decreases of FY 2017 estimated receipts to FY 2016 estimated receipts to be used in
calculating the Municipal Revenue Growth Factor (MRGF).

NOTE : The information was Approved on 12/2/2016

printed on 12/2/2016 8:10:43 AM page 3 of 4
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MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
DIVISION OF LOCAL SERVICES
BUREAU OF ACCOUNTS

TAX RATE RECAPITULATION
Fiscal Year 2017

Abington

City / Town / District

APPROPRIATIONS
City/Town Fy* (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) U] @
Council e
or Total From Raise and From Free From Other From Offset From From
Town Meeting Appropriations Appropriate Cash Available Receipts Enterprise Community
Dates Of Each (See B-1) Funds (See A-1) Funds Preservation
Meeting (See B-2) (See A-2) Funds
(See A-4)
06/06/2016 2017 52,501,753.00 48,861,055.00 165,995.00 139,100.00 0.00 3,335,603.00 0.00
06/16/2016 2016 2,863,228.00 0.00 638,788.00 2,224,440.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total  55,364,981.00 48,861,055.00 804,783.00 2,363,540.00 0.00 3,335,603.00 0.00

* Enter the fiscal year to which the appropriation relates, i.e., fiscal year 2016 or fiscal 2017.

** Appropriations included in column (b) must not be reduced by local receipts or any other funding source.
Appropriations must be entered gross to avoid a duplication in the use of estimated or other sources of receipts.
*** Include only revolving funds pursuant to Chapter 44, Section 53 E 1/2.

AUTHORIZATIONS
MEMO ONLY
(h) (U}
P
Revolving, Borrowing
Funds Authorization
(See A-3) (Other)
239,500.00 575,000.00
0.00 0.00
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